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MLP – The leading independent consulting company 

MLP is Germany’s leading independent consulting company. Sup-
ported by comprehensive research, the Group provides a holistic 
consulting approach that covers all economic and financial ques-
tions for private and corporate clients, as well as institutional  
investors. The key aspect of the consulting approach is the inde-
pendence from insurance companies, banks and investment firms. 
The MLP Group manages total assets of around € 24.5 billion and 
supports more than 830,000 private and 5,000 corporate clients 
or employers. The financial services and wealth management con-
sulting company was founded in 1971 and holds a banking  
licence.

The concept of the founders, which still remains the basis of the 
current business model, is to provide long-term consulting for  
academics and other discerning clients in the fields of provision, 
financial investment, health insurance, non-life insurance, loans 
and mortgages and banking. Private individuals with assets of over 
€ 5 million and institutional clients benefit from extensive wealth 
management and consulting services as well as receiving econom-
ic forecasts and ratings provided by the subsidiaries of the Feri 
Group. Supported by its subsidiary TPC, MLP also provides compa-
nies within dependent consulting and conceptual services in all issues 
pertaining to occupational pension schemes and remuneration.  

MLP key figures – multi-year overview

All figures in € million 2013 2012¹ 2011¹ 2010¹ 2009 2008 2007 2006

Continuing operations

Total revenue 501.1 568.0 545.5 522.6 532.1 595.2 629.8 588.5

Revenue 480.5 544.6 526.7 497.3 503.8 552.3 588.2 554.2

Other revenue 20.6 23.5 18.8 25.3 28.4 42.9 41.6 34.4

Operating EBIT 
(before one-off exceptional costs) 32.8 73.9 50.7 47.0 42.2 56.2 113.9 95.1

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 32.8 73.9 17.3 47.0 42.2 56.2 113.9 95.1

EBIT-Margin (%) 6.5 % 13.0 % 3.2 % 9.0 % 7.9 % 9.4 % 18.1 % 16.2 %

Earnings from continuing operations 25.5 52.9 11.2 34.1 27.2 30.7 77.5 76.5

Earnings per share (diluted) in € 0.24 0.49 0.10 0.32 0.25 0.30 0.77 0.73

MLP Group

Net profit (total) 25.5 52.9 11.5 34.1 15.8 24.6 62.1 71.8

Earnings per share (diluted) in € 0.24 0.49 0.11 0.31 0.15 0.24 0.62 0.69²

Dividend per share in € 0.16³ 0.32 0.60 0.30 0.25 0.28 0.50 0.40

Cash flow from operating activities 67.6 22.4 53.8 91.0 72.5 81.0 23.4 87.5

Capital expenditure 22.4 14.5 7.8 3.9 4.0 12.2 16.2 20.0

Shareholders’ equity 374.5 384.2 399.6 421.2 410.0 425.9 339.7 324.9

Equity ratio 24.4 % 25.7 % 26.8 % 27.6 % 27.4 % 27.8 % 23.9 % 26.6 %

Balance sheet total 1,536.9 1,493.5 1,489.8 1,524.0 1,498.4 1,534.0 1,270.2 1,270.2

 

Clients⁴ 830,300 816,200 794,500 774,500 785,500 728,000 701,000 666,000

Consultants⁴ 1,998 2,076 2,132 2,273 2,383 2,413 2,535 2,481

Branch offices⁴ 169 174 178 192 238 241 251 246

Employees 1,559 1,524 1,584 1,672 1,900 1,986 1,819 1,558

 

Arranged new business4  

Old-age provision 
(premium sum in € billion) 3.6 4.8 5.2 5.0 5.1 6.6 6.8 6.8

Loans and mortgages 1,513.0 1,301.0 1,327.0 1,219.0 1,119.0 919.0 1,162.0 1,195.0

Assets under management in € billion 24.5 21.2 20.2 19.8 17.0 14.0 12.7 –

 
¹	Previous year's values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.
²	Basic 
³	Subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting on June 5, 2014
⁴Continuing operations



Creating 
more 
clarity

The markets presented MLP with major challenges in 2013, particularly in the 
field of old-age provision. Although many clients throughout the sector have 
already been displaying reservations about signing long-term contracts since 
the outbreak of the financial crisis in 2008, the framework conditions became 
even more difficult in the last financial year – primarily due to the ongoing 
low interest rate environment and the comprehensive public debates on life 
insurers and their products. This served to further unsettle clients and ulti-
mately led to a significant decline in sales revenue for MLP in this field of 
consulting. 

In our Annual Report, we are therefore addressing the most important ques-
tions and discussions in and around the topic of old-age provision – and  
creating clarity. 

MLP is convinced that private and occupational pension provision has a posi-
tive future. Due to demographic developments and the dwindling statutory 
pension level, there is a massive need for these products and this need is  
constantly growing. At the same time, the significance of lifelong pension 
payments, which only insurance solutions can provide, is increasing. The field 
of old-age provision therefore remains a permanent and key pillar for MLP – 
and an important growth field for the future. 
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The Executive Board

Dr. Uwe Schroeder-Wildberg
Chairman and CEO MLP AG

Strategy, 
Internal audit, 
Communication/Investor relations, 
Marketing, 
Human resources, 
Legal affairs

Appointed until December 31, 2017

Manfred Bauer
Member of the Executive Board of 
MLP AG

Product management

Appointed until April 30, 2015

Letter to our shareholders

 
MLP experienced a difficult year. For the first time in com-
pany history, we recorded significant declines in two core 
fields of business – old-age provision and health insurance 
– at the same time. General reservations, coupled with 
temporary additional burdens in our markets, had a more 
pronounced negative effect on our sales revenues than 
anticipated. Set against this background, our total revenue 
decreased by 11.8% to € 501.1 million in 2013 (€ 568.0 
million).
 
It should, however, be noted that the fields of old-age pro-
vision and health insurance together represented around 
90% of our commission income up to 2005. If we had 
maintained the same business structure, the kind of year 
we encountered in 2013 would have hit us very hard. Yet 

in 2013, we were able to successfully compensate for sig-
nificant portions of the decrease in revenue through other 
business segments. At the same time, we still managed to 
record substantial profits on the basis of our successful cost 
management policy. Although we are not satisfied with this, 
it does show that we have a tight rein on those things we 
can directly influence. The one thing we cannot influence 
is our environment. 
 
The downturns in the fields of old-age provision and health 
insurance are developments affecting the whole industry, 
and market conditions took another significant turn for the 
worse in 2013. Nobody is immune to these effects – and 
this is also true for MLP. The first half of the year for the 
insurance segments was largely characterised by the intro-
duction of the new unisex tariffs. This led to rather modest 
business development, particularly in the first six months, 
as consultants throughout the sector first had to familiarise 
themselves with the new product world. In addition to this, 
the reservations that we have been encountering for years 
among clients when it comes to signing long-term contracts 
in the field of old-age provision were made significantly 
more acute by the ongoing low interest rate environment. An 
unprecedented level of public discussions on life insurance 
products also contributed to this. The “wait and see” attitude 
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Reinhard Loose
Member of the Executive Board of 
MLP AG

Controlling, 
IT and Purchasing, 
Accounting, 
Risk management

Appointed until January 31, 2019

Muhyddin Suleiman
Member of the Executive Board of 
MLP AG

Sales

Until March 31, 2014

of many clients in the field of health insurance was primarily 
stimulated by the discussions on potential introduction of a 
so-called “citizens’ insurance” and thereby the possible end 
of comprehensive private insurance.
 
At the same time, MLP witnessed several very positive devel-
opments in the reporting year. We recorded new highs in 
the field of wealth management and also the field of loans 
and mortgages. At the same time we enjoyed significant 
gains in the field of non-life insurance. This represents 
excellent performance on the part of our consultants and 
employees. It also shows that our strategic further develop-
ment towards establishing a broader revenue basis was the 
right decision and offers us key advantages, particularly in 
this environment.
 
In terms of cost control, too, we have continued the suc-
cessful development of the last few years. Having reduced 
administration costs by around € 60 million between 2008 
and 2012, we had anticipated an increase of around € 8 mil-
lion for 2013 due to one-off capital expenditure of the same 
amount. However, we actually succeeded in compensating 
for the additional capital expenditure through a strict system 
of cost management in other places – and were even able 
to further reduce costs slightly. Yet despite this, earnings 

before interest and tax (EBIT) decreased significantly to 
€ 32.8 million (€ 73.9 million) due to the declines in sales 
revenue in the fields of old-age provision and health insur-
ance. Net profit decreased to € 25.5million (€ 52.9 million). 
 
In the light of the business development, the Executive 
Board and Supervisory Board will therefore propose a 
dividend of € 0.16 per share (€ 0.32) to the Annual General 
Meeting. With a pay-out ratio of 68%, we are within the 
announced range of between 60% and 70%. MLP will use 
the remaining net profit for the period to maintain a good 
level of capitalisation in order to meet the new regulatory 
requirements. We are also planning comprehensive invest-
ments in technology and are set to become significantly 
more active in the field of acquisitions. With our proposed 
dividend, we therefore strike a good balance between allow-
ing our shareholders to participate in our profits and further 
strengthening our company.
 
2013 was not just a year of difficult markets – but also a 
year in which we pushed forward a whole range of targeted 
initiatives to improve our operating performance. For 
example, we now offer alternative entry models for new con-
sultants in the form of trainee programmes and combined 
degree programmes to help young people launch an exciting 
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career in this segment. For the first time ever, these grant 
applicants are now given the opportunity to experience MLP 
first-hand before deciding on a career as a self-employed 
consultant. Based on experience, we know that most candi-
dates who get to know our company are impressed by our 
business model and corporate culture. Establishing new 
offices in the university segment is closely linked to the 
innovations in the field of recruiting. We are keen to make 
even more effective use of the massive potential associated 
with the increased number of students. To further support 
our consultants, we also established the MLPdialog service 
centre in 2013. This centre is responsible for handling tasks 
such as scheduling customer meetings and processing stan-
dardised existing business. This improved segregation of 
duties provides our consultants with even greater freedom. 
Our new consulting application, which we developed in 
2013, also pursues this objective.
 
As these four examples show, we once again played an 
active part in shaping our own future in 2013. We will 
continue along this path in future. Despite the difficult 
environment, MLP continues to pursue the objective of 
achieving increases in sales revenues and earnings again 
in the future. The Executive Board therefore launched a 
comprehensive initiative with the following four strategic 
objectives: to further broaden the company’s revenue basis, 
to consistently implement a digitalisation strategy, to build 
on its technological leadership and to win new consultants.
 
The concrete measures include the option for MLP consul-
tants to offer – when requested by clients – property to a 
broad base of clients for their own use or for use by third 

parties. Quality assurance is performed by the subsidiary 
FERI EuroRating Services here. Building on the successful 
development of the last few years, MLP will also extend its 
business with corporate clients by a visible expertise in the 
field of non-life insurance. Further expansion of the real 
asset portfolio offered is also planned at our subsidiary FERI. 
Acquisitions are examined both at FERI and in the business 
with corporate clients. Within the scope of the digitalisation 
strategy, MLP is planning to expand its Internet presence 
in future as a way of winning more clients in the university 
segment. The option to use online approval procedures for 
basic banking and insurance solutions is also in planning. 
In the field of recruiting, MLP will consistently continue 
along the path taken in 2013 to offer new entry models for 
consultants while opening new offices at selected locations 
in the university segment. All of these measures will be 
supported by an ongoing efficiency management.
 
Dear shareholders, having facilitated significant further 
development at MLP in the last few years with expansion 
of wealth management activities and establishment of 
the occupational pension provision segment, we are now 
looking to build on this basis – and will further accelerate 
the transformation. The aim is to shield MLP even more 
effectively from short-term market influences.
 
In the financial year 2014, MLP will continue to keep a tight 
rein on administration costs, although – as was the case in 
2013 – it will still accrue temporary expenses of around € 6 
million within the scope of the growth initiative. Including 
this figure, MLP anticipates total administration costs of 
approximately € 255 million.
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On the revenue side, 2013 clearly showed that negative 
market developments, and the uncertainties regarding fur-
ther operating developments associated with this, increased 
significantly. This also increases volatility and makes it very 
difficult to submit a concrete forecast. In the most likely 
scenario, MLP expects the framework conditions in the 
old-age provision and health insurance segments to relax 
slightly in 2014. Additional revenue potential from the real 
estate business, as well as the absence of negative impacts 
caused by the introduction of unisex tariffs will also help 
in this regard. In this most likely scenario, MLP anticipates 
generating EBIT of around € 65 million and is therefore at 
the lower end of the planned corridor of between € 65 and 
€ 78 million.
 
The ongoing, in some cases highly critical, public discussions 
regarding potential further reduction of the guaranteed 
interest rate for life and pension insurance policies represent 
another risk factor for the further development. Should 
this motivate clients to react with similar reservations as 
in 2013, MLP would anticipate generating EBIT of at least 
€ 50 million in a lower scenario. On the other hand, should 
the environment improve more significantly than currently 
anticipated, an increase in EBIT to up to € 75 million is 
conceivable in the upper scenario.
 
With this outlook, we not only clearly express the increased 
risks in our environment, but also underline the fact that 
MLP intends to once again record significant growth in 2014.
 
We would be delighted if you – our shareholders – would 
continue to accompany us on this journey. I would like to 

express my sincere thanks, also on behalf of my colleagues 
on the Executive Board, for the trust you showed in our 
company in the last financial year.
 
I would also like to take this opportunity to thank all MLP 
consultants and employees in the Group for their excellent 
commitment in this difficult environment. They form the 
basis for the successful further development enjoyed by MLP 
in the last few years – and for the successes of the future.
 
Yours sincerely,

Dr. Uwe Schroeder-Wildberg
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In the last few months, we have seen intensive discussions as  
to whether life insurers are stable and capable of meeting their  
commitments in the long term. The historically low interest rate  
has provided the background to these discussions. 
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Richtig ist, dass es keine konkreten Anhaltspunkte dafür gibt, dass 
die Versicherer ihr Garantieversprechen nicht mehr halten könnten. 
Sie sind durch eine solide Aufstellung und nachhaltige Ausrichtung 
gut durch die Finanzkrise gekommen. Eine umfassende Untersu-
chung der Ratingagentur Assekurata, die sich auf die Qualitätsbeur-
teilung von Versicherungsunternehmen spezialisiert hat, zeigt bei-
spielsweise: Selbst bei einer sehr langen Niedrigzinsperiode von 
zehn Jahren können die Versicherer ihre Garantiezusagen erfüllen. 

Fakt
Ja! Denn es gibt keine konkreten Anhaltspunkte dafür, dass die Versicherer ihr  
Garantieversprechen nicht mehr halten könnten. Sie sind durch eine solide Aufstel-
lung sehr gut durch die Finanzkrise gekommen. Beispielsweise zeigt eine umfas-
sende Untersuchung der Ratingagentur Assekurata, die sich auf die Qualitätsbeur-
teilung von Versicherungsunternehmen spezialisiert hat, dass selbst bei einer sehr 
langen Niedrigzinsperiode von zehn Jahren die Versicherer ihre Garantiezusagen 
erfüllen können. Auch die Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht geht 
davon aus, dass Lebensversicherer und Pensionskassen kurz- und mittelfristig ihre 
Leistungsversprechen erfüllen können.  

Fakt

To filter out the best offers, MLP 
employs an extensive partner and 
product selection process, which  
involves thoroughly testing insurers 
and their products. The strength of a 
company’s balance sheet, for example, 
plays an important part. As a result, 
MLP consultants can rely on a quality- 
assured portfolio of providers.

Advantage

Yes! There are no concrete pointers to indicate that guaranteed commitments can no 
longer be maintained. Due to its solid position and basis, the insurance industry made it 
through the financial crisis very well. For example, a comprehensive survey performed 
by ratings agency Assekurata, which specialises in assessing the quality of insurance 
companies, shows that insurers are capable of meeting their commitments, even with a 
ten year period of low interest rates. The Federal Financial Supervisory Authority also 
believes that life insurers and pension schemes will be able to meet their service com-
mitments in the short term and mid term. In the current environment, however, we are 
starting to see greater differences between strong and weak insurance providers. This 
makes it all the more important to perform an in-depth examination of the companies 
and their products.

Fact
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The Supervisory Board

Report by the Supervisory 
Board
 
In the financial year 2013, the Supervisory Board invested 
much time and effort in dealing with the development of the 
company and performed its duties of supervision in their 
entirety. It regularly advised and monitored the Executive 
Board in its management of the company.
 
During the course of the last financial year, the Supervisory 
Board paid particular attention to the economic develop-
ment, financial situation, prospects and further strategy 
of the company, and supported the Executive Board in 
this regard. Its work in the financial year 2013 focused in 
particular on supporting the Executive Board in the stra-
tegic development of the company, implementing further 
measures to increase efficiency, improving the company’s 
opportunity and risk position and representing the company 
in the context of claims asserted by former shareholders 
in FERI AG, as well as implementing negative declaratory 
relief initiated by the company to defend itself against 
these claims.

The Supervisory and Executive Boards met regularly in 
the reporting year for discussions and joint consultations 
regarding business development, strategy and key events 
within the company. The Supervisory Board was directly 
involved in all decisions of fundamental importance to 
the company. The Executive Board regularly provided the 
Supervisory Board with written and oral reports in a timely 
and comprehensive manner on all relevant issues related to 
corporate planning, strategic development, the business situ-
ation and the position and overall development of the Group 
as a whole, including the risk situation, risk management, 
risk-bearing ability and compliance. The Supervisory Board 
was able to confirm the correctness of the company manage-
ment by the Executive Board. In 2013, the Executive Board 
also reported to and advised the Supervisory Board on the 
content and anticipated effects of legislative or regulatory 
proposals at national German or EU level, such as Basel III 
or the Act on Promoting and Regulating Fee-Based Advice on 
Financial Instruments (“Honoraranlageberatungsgesetz”).
 
The Supervisory Board held five regular meetings and one 
constitutive meeting in the financial year 2013 which were 
attended by all members in person. The Supervisory Board 
was also informed by the Executive Board of particularly 
important or urgent projects outside of the regular meetings. 

Dr. Peter Lütke-Bornefeld
Chairman

Elected until 2018

Dr. h. c. Manfred Lautenschläger
Vice Chairman

Elected until 2018

Alexander Beer 
Employees’ Representative

Elected until 2018
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Where necessary, Supervisory Board resolutions were also 
passed as circular resolutions.
 
In addition to this, one constitutive meeting of the Personnel 
Committee, one regular meeting and one constitutive meet-
ing of the Audit Committee and one constitutive meeting 
of the Nomination Committee were held, which were each 
attended by all respective committee members.
 
Furthermore, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board met 
with the Chairman of the Executive Board on a regular basis 
to discuss specific issues. The Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board regularly informed the other members about the 
content of these meetings with the Executive Board.

 
Supervisory Board meetings and important resolutions

Following preparations in the meeting of the Audit Com-
mittee, the Supervisory Board meeting on March 21, 
2013 focused on the audit and approval of the financial 
statements and the consolidated financial statements as of 
December 31, 2012. The auditors participated in the meet-
ing and gave detailed reports on the course and outcome of 
their audit of the financial statements and the consolidated 
financial statements. Following in-depth discussion, the 

Supervisory Board approved both the financial statements 
and the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 
2012. In addition to this, the Supervisory Board approved 
the proposed resolutions for the company’s Regular Annual 
General Meeting. In the March meeting, motions passed 
included the extension of the employment contract of Mr. 
Reinhard Loose and his reappointment as member of the 
Executive Board for five further years – i.e. until January 31, 
2019.
 
The regular Supervisory Board meeting on May 14, 2013 
focused primarily on discussing the results and business 
development from the first quarter of 2013. As required by 
the German Stock Corporation Act and the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code, the Supervisory Board also reviewed 
the appropriateness of Executive Board remuneration.
 
Following the appointment of Dr. Peter Lütke-Bornefeld, 
Dr. h. c. Manfred Lautenschläger, Dr. Claus-Michael Dill and 
Mr. Johannes Maret, as well as the employees of the MLP 
Group with voting rights, Mr. Burkhard Schlingermann and 
Mr. Alexander, as members of the Supervisory Board at the 
Regular Annual General Meeting of MLP AG on June 6, 2013, 
the constitutive Supervisory Board meeting was held on the 
same day. In this meeting, Dr. Peter Lütke-Bornefeld was 

report by the supervisory board

Dr. Claus-Michael Dill

Elected until 2018

Burkhard Schlingermann
Employees’ Representative

Elected until 2018

Johannes Maret

Elected until 2018
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elected as Chairman and Dr. h. c. Manfred Lautenschläger 
was elected as Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board.
 
The results of the second quarter, the business development 
in the first half of the year, reporting on the internal audit 
and risk controlling (including report on the notion of mate-
riality, risk strategy and risk-bearing capacity concept) were 
all on the agenda of the regular Supervisory Board meeting 
on August 12, 2013.

The November meeting focused on the business results of 
the third quarter and the first nine months of the current 
financial year.
 
At the meeting on December 12, 2013, discussions focused 
on the resolution regarding the Declaration of Compliance as 
per § 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (“Aktienge-
setz”), alongside adherence to the regulations of the German 
Corporate Governance Code (GCGC). Extensive reporting 
was provided on the corporate governance process and 
the current Declaration of Compliance. Furthermore, the 
Supervisory Board addressed in detail and approved the 
strategy and budget of both the Group and the company 
for the financial year 2014.

 
Supervisory Board committees

The Supervisory Board was regularly informed of the work 
carried out by its committees in 2013.
 
The Personnel Committee convened once in the reporting 
period. The purpose of the meeting was to establish the 
Personnel Committee, to which Dr. Peter Lütke-Bornefeld 
(Chairman of the Personnel Committee), Dr. h. c. Manfred 
Lautenschläger, Mr. Johannes Maret and Mr. Burkhard 
Schlingermann now belong.
 
The Audit Committee held one regular meeting in the finan-
cial year 2013. Representatives of the audit firm also took 
part in the meeting, providing the committee with detailed 
reports. In the presence of the auditors, the Chairman of the 
Executive Board and the Chief Financial Officer, the Audit 
Committee discussed the financial statements of MLP AG 
and the MLP Group as well as the proposed appropriation 
of earnings. Furthermore, the relationship to the auditor, 
proposals for selecting the auditor, auditor fees, audit assign-
ment and monitoring of the auditor’s independence were 
the subject of detailed consultations. The Audit Committee 
received regular reports on the work of the Internal Audit 
and of the Compliance and Risk Management department 
and was informed on legal and regulatory risks and risks 
to reputation. In addition to this, the Audit Committee 
also held its constitutive meeting. This Committee now 

comprises Dr. Claus-Michael Dill (Chairman of the Audit 
Committee), Dr.  h. c. Manfred Lautenschläger, Dr.  Peter 
Lütke-Bornefeld and Mr. Alexander Beer.

 The Nomination Committee did not hold any regular meet-
ings in the financial year 2013, as the election nominations 
for the shareholder representatives to be newly elected to 
the Supervisory Board had already been drawn up during 
the plenary meeting of the Supervisory Board in December 
2012. However, the Nomination Committee did hold its con-
stitutive meeting in 2013. This Committee now comprises 
Dr.  Peter Lütke-Bornefeld (Chairman of the Nomination 
Committee), Dr. h. c. Manfred Lautenschläger, Mr. Johannes 
Maret and Dr. Claus-Michael Dill.

 
Corporate governance

The Supervisory Board regularly deals with the application 
of the corporate governance principles.
 
Last year, the Supervisory Board dedicated its meeting on 
December 12, 2013 in particular to in-depth discussions on 
the amendments to the German Corporate Governance Code 
in the version of May 13, 2013.
 
In the meeting held on December 12, 2013, the Supervisory 
Board examined the efficiency of its actions based on an 
evaluation form made available to the members of the 
Supervisory Board in good time prior to the meeting. The 
Supervisory Board also discussed procedures in the Super-
visory Board, the information flow between the Committees 
and the Supervisory Board, and the timeliness and sufficient 
content of reporting by the Executive Board to the Supervi-
sory Board on this occasion. Measures aimed at increasing 
efficiency were analysed.
 
At the same meeting, MLP AG’s Supervisory Board also 
assured itself that the company had met the recommen-
dations of the German Corporate Governance Code in line 
with its Declaration of Compliance pursuant to § 161 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (“Aktiengesetz”) in the last 
financial year and will in future continue to comply strictly 
with the recommendations of the Government Commis-
sion on the German Corporate Governance Code (version 
dated May 13, 2013). In December, the Supervisory Board 
and Executive Board issued a Declaration of Compliance 
pursuant to § 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act 
(“Aktiengesetz”) for the financial year 2013 and made it 
permanently available to the shareholders via its website.
 
No conflicts of interest arose in the reporting period. A 
summary of corporate governance at MLP, including the 
Declaration of Compliance from December 12, 2013, can be 
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found in the Executive and Supervisory Board’s corporate 
governance report. All relevant information is also available 
on our homepage at www.mlp-ag.com.

 
Audit of the annual financial statements and consolidat-
ed financial statements for 2013

The financial statements and the joint management report 
of MLP AG as of December 31, 2013 have been compiled by 
the Executive Board pursuant to the German Commercial 
Code (“Handelsgesetzbuch”). The consolidated financial 
statements and the joint management report as of December 
31, 2013 were drafted as per § 315a of the German Commer-
cial Code (“Handelsgesetzbuch”) in line with international 
financial reporting standards (IFRS) as applied in the EU. 
As of December 31, 2013, KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungs-
gesellschaft, Berlin audited the financial statements and 
joint management report of MLP AG in accordance with the 
principles of commercial law, as well as the Group financial 
statements and joint management report in accordance 
with the principles of IFRS, issuing an unqualified audi-
tor’s opinion in each case. The auditor performed the audit 
in compliance with the basic principles of sound auditing 
practices determined by the German Institute of Auditors.
 
The financial statements, together with the joint manage-
ment report, the auditor’s reports and the Executive Board’s 
proposal for use of the unappropriated profit were made 
available to all Supervisory Board members in good time.
 
The Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board examined 
these documents in detail and reported to the Supervisory 
Board on its audit. The auditor also reported on the key 
results of the audit and on the fact that there are no signif-
icant weaknesses in either the internal monitoring system 
or the risk management system. The Audit Committee also 
examined the risk management system, the accounting 
processes and the effectiveness of the internal monitoring, 
risk management and auditing systems, as well as the rela-
tionship to the auditor, the proposals for selection of the 
auditor, the auditor’s remuneration, the audit assignment 
and monitoring of the auditor’s independence, as well 
as the additional services performed by the auditor. The 
Supervisory Board also checked and discussed the documen-
tation and reports in detail. In the presence of KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Berlin, which reported on 
the key findings of its audit, the audit reports were examined 
in detail in the Supervisory Board meeting held on March 
20, 2014. At this meeting, the Executive Board explained 
the financial statements of MLP AG and of the Group, the 
risk management system, the accounting processes and the 
effectiveness of the internal monitoring, risk management 
system, audit system and of the compliance, as well as giving 
detailed reports on the scope, focuses and costs of the audit.

The Supervisory Board concurred with the outcome of the 
auditor’s audit and, on the basis of the final outcome of 
the Audit Committee’s audit and its own audit, found no 
grounds for raising an objection. Accordingly, at its meet-
ing on March 20, 2014, the Supervisory Board approved 
the annual financial statements and the MLP AG joint 
management report, as well as the consolidated financial 
statements and the joint management report prepared by 
the Executive Board in accordance with IFRS. The annual 
financial statements are therefore adopted.
 
After performing its own examinations, the Supervisory 
Board agreed with the Executive Board’s proposal to pay out 
a dividend of € 0.16 per share for the financial year 2013. 
The equity capital and liquidity situation, future regulatory 
requirements and the company’s budget, as well as the share-
holders’ interest in an appropriate dividend were included 
and weighed up against one another in its considerations.
 
The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Executive 
Board, the Management of the respective Group companies, 
as well as all employees and consultants of the MLP Group 
for their exemplary personal commitment and achievements 
in the financial year 2013. The Supervisory Board would 
also like to thank Ms. Maria Bähr and Mr. Norbert Kohler, 
the two employees’ representatives who stood down in June 
2013, for their trusting cooperation over the years.
 
Wiesloch, March 2014
 
The Supervisory Board

Dr. Peter Lütke-Bornefeld
Chairman
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In the course of the discussions concerning a better and stronger 
investor protection, among others, consumer protection agencies 
are advocating an increase in fee-based consulting. 
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Altersvorsorge ist kompliziert und einfach zugleich. Zentrale Grundregel: frühzeitig und 
regelmäßig sparen – um sich so ein Polster für die Rentenzeit aufzubauen. Selbstver-
ständlich kommt es auch darauf an, die richtige Lösung für den jeweiligen Bedarf zu 
finden. Das beginnt mit der passenden staatlichen Förderung und geht bis zur Auswahl 
eines Produkts, das der persönlichen Risikoneigung entspricht. Kompetente Berater über-
setzen diese Komplexität in der Beratung in geeignete Konzepte.    

MLP offers the market’s leading qualifi-
cation and further training options at its 
company-owned Corporate University, 
which has received multiple awards. In 
addition to this, we employ numerous 
measures to secure the high quality of 
our consulting activities. We offer fee-
based consulting where our clients request 
this – for example for loans or as a part 
of occupational pension provision con-
cepts.  

Advantage

No! The type of remuneration has little to do with the quality of consulting provided. 
In other words, there are unfortunately just as many bad fee-based consultants as con-
sultants who are paid in commission. The key issues in terms of consulting quality are 
transparency, consultant training and sound product selection. In addition to this, there 
has traditionally been a general lack of willingness to pay for fee-based consulting in 
many fields, especially in the insurance sector. 

Fact



In the course of the discussions concerning a better and stronger 
investor protection, among others, consumer protection agencies 
are advocating an increase in fee-based consulting. 

No! The type of remuneration has little to do with the quality of consulting provided. 
In other words: Just as there are bad fee-based consultants, unfortunately there are also 
bad consultants who are paid in commission. The key issues in terms of consulting  
quality are transparency, consultant training and sound product selection. In addition to 
this, there has traditionally been a general lack of willingness to pay for fee-based  
consulting in many fields, especially in the insurance sector. 

Fact



MLP offers the market’s leading qualifi-
cation and further training options at its 
company-owned Corporate University, 
which has received multiple awards. In 
addition to this, we employ numerous 
measures to secure the high quality of 
our consulting activities. We offer fee-
based consulting where our clients request 
this – for example for loans or as a part of 
occupational pension provision concepts.  

Advantage
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Joint Management Report
 

In addition to the MLP Group, the following joint management report also encompasses MLP 
AG in accordance with § 315 (3) in connection with § 298 (3) of the German Commercial Code 
(“Handelsgesetzbuch”). In addition to this, the management report was adapted to the new 
requirements of the German Accounting Standards (DRS) 20.
 
The values disclosed in the following have been rounded to one decimal place. As a result, dif-
ferences to reported total amounts may arise when adding up the individual values.
 
The Previous year’s values of the consolidated income statement and the consolidated balance 
sheet have been adapted and are disclosed accordingly in the following tables. Information on 
this is provided in Note 3. 

FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES OF THE GROUP
 
Business model
 
MLP – The leading independent consulting firm

MLP is Germany’s leading independent consulting firm. Supported by comprehensive research, 
the Group provides a holistic consulting approach that covers all financial questions for private 
and corporate clients, as well as institutional investors. The key pillar of the consulting approach 
is its independence from insurance companies, banks and investment firms.  

 

Since we were founded in 1971, we have pursued a clear corporate strategy: to provide academics 
and other discerning clients with long-term, holistic, independent financial and investment con-
sulting services, covering all aspects of old-age provision, wealth management, health insurance, 
general insurance, financing and banking. MLP has been listed on the stock exchange since 1988.
 

Diversified financial and 
investment adviser

Diversified business model

MLP – A well-established, full-scope consulting firm

PRIVATE CLIENTS
CORPORATE AND 

INSTITUTIONAL CLIENTS
RATING

INDEPENDENT PRODUCT AND INVESTMENT RESEARCH
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Our objective when advising clients is to establish long-term relationships and focus primarily 
on our clients and their individual requirements. Every MLP consultant specialises in a certain 
academic professional group and therefore has a precise understanding of the individual ques-
tions and objectives associated with that particular group. Our clients mainly include econo-
mists, physicians, dentists, pharmacists, architects, tax advisers, auditors, solicitors, engineers, 
IT specialists and scientists.
 
FERI caters to private individuals with assets of more than € 5 million and institutional clients, 
offering services in three business segments: Rating & Research, Investment Management and 
Institutional & Family Office. FERI offers a broad spectrum of wealth management services in 
the investment management business segment – from development of tailor-made investment 
strategies and their implementation through to regular risk management and control. Highly 
diversified portfolio concepts, systematically utilising alternative asset classes are characteristic. 
In terms of consulting, FERI also offers asset structuring concepts and asset controlling, as well 
as the selection of asset managers or special service providers. FERI EuroRating Services AG 
has been observing and analysing capital markets, investment concepts and asset managers for 
decades. With its independent ratings and analyses, it provides an important foundation for 
wealth management throughout the Group. As fund administrator, FERI Trust (Luxembourg) 
S.A. coordinates the entire fund structuring and fund floating process. A new joint venture, 
which was newly founded in the reporting year to focus on US real estate, is also set to grant 
wealthy private clients and institutional investors targeted access to the US real estate market.
 
Supported by its subsidiary TPC GmbH, MLP offers companies, corporate groups and associa-
tions independent consulting services, covering all aspects of occupational pension provision 
and remuneration. Companies benefit from a full portfolio of services – ranging from needs 
analyses, individual concept development and implementation, right through to continuous 
inspection and adjustment of existing occupational old-age provision systems. A key focus is on 
providing consulting services to small and medium-sized companies from various sectors, as well 
as employer consulting services to tax advisers, auditors, solicitors, physicians and architects.
 
MLP places great emphasis on the use of objective and transparent criteria when independently 
selecting partners and products. After analysing general client needs and requirements of specific 
target groups, we first check the quality of providers in the market. A great deal of information 
flows into the partner selection process, including external assessments from independent ratings 
institutes such as Assekurata. MLP evaluates insurance companies with regard to their balance 
sheet KPIs, the strength of their equity base, the quality of their business relations and their 
market share. Beside this, the service quality of product partners is another important criterion. 
In the reporting year, MLP therefore chose to survey more than 1,700 consultants on the service 
quality of just under 50 insurers within the scope of its Service Awards. This was the eighth 
year in succession that MLP has done this. The selection of partners is followed by an in-depth 
product analysis. Face-to-face consulting is then performed on the basis of the individual needs 
analysis of our clients, which ultimately leads to a product recommendation.

 

Focus on discerning clients

Wealth management with  
independent research, as 
well as ratings services 
through the FERI Group

Industry concepts in the 
field of occupational pension 
provision

Transparent partner and 
product selection process
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Back in 2009, we worked together with the Institute for Financial and Actuarial Sciences (ifa) 
at the University of Ulm to develop and then implement an innovative method of comparison 
(risk-return profiles) which allows old-age provision products to be assigned to various risk classes 
with the aim of increasing transparency in the field of old-age provision. Using this approach, 
MLP has already started implementing measures that the German government will, among 
other things, in future require as the basis for the product information sheets to be introduced 
within the scope of the Old-Age Provision Reform Act (“Altersvorsorge-Verbesserungsgesetz”).
 
When selecting high-grade investment opportunities, MLP can rely on the many years of exper-
tise and experience held by FERI EuroRating Services AG. This subsidiary has been observing 
and analysing capital markets, investment concepts and asset managers for decades. With its 
independent ratings and analyses, it provides an important foundation for investment consult-
ing in the Group.
 
To be able to guarantee sustainably high quality consulting services, the qualifications and further 
training of MLP consultants take top priority within our business model. You can find further 
information on qualifications and further training at MLP in the “Goals and strategies” chapter.
 
Business development in the MLP Group is significantly affected by the development of the 
sector environment in the individual business segments of old-age provision, health insurance 
and wealth management. You can find more detailed information on these in the chapter entitled 
“Economic report” – “Industry situation and competitive environment”.
 
The registered office of MLP is in Wiesloch, Baden-Württemberg, Germany, where all internal 
departments are bundled. In addition to this, we are represented by our consultants and offices 
in all German urban centres, including all important university locations. To further increase 
our visibility at our locations and further improve processes for administrative and organiza-
tional duties, additional consulting centres were established in the reporting year. We bring 
together the various independent offices at one physical location here. Further relocations are 
planned over the course of the next few years. As of December 31, 2013, MLP operated 169 own 
representative offices (2012: 174) with 1,998 consultants across the Group (2012: 2,076). These 
consultants operate as self-employed commercial agents.
 
The FERI Group employs around 240 people and, beside its HQ in Bad Homburg vor der Höhe, 
also operates further locations in Dusseldorf, Munich, St. Gallen, Vienna and Luxembourg.

Risk-return profile in the 
field of old-age provision

Independent ratings in 
the field of investment 

consulting

Top priority for qualifications 
and further training

Factors affecting business 
development

Increased presence

Partner and product selection at MLP

General 
client requirements Providers in the market Client requirements

Documentation

Products in the market

ANALYSIS OF 
REQUIREMENTS:
assessment of general 
client requirements 
regarding financial 
products

4321
PROVIDER ANALYSIS:
quality check and 
selection of product 
partners

INDIVIDUAL 
CONSULTING

PRODUCT ANALYSIS:
comprehensive 
assessment of the 
offering and identifi- 
cation of suitable 
products

Client knowledge Provider portfolio Product recommendationProduct overview
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BERLIN

HAMBURG

BREMEN

HANOVER

COLOGNE

DUSSELDORF

FRANKFURT

DARMSTADT

HEIDELBERG
WIESLOCH

KARLSRUHE

STUTTGART

NUREMBERG

MUNICH

AACHEN

Locations of the MLP Group
in Germany

>_ 5 BRANCH OFFICES

MLP HEADQUARTERS (FDL/AG)

ZSH

< 5 BRANCH OFFICES

TPC

FERI HEADQUARTER

* Plus further direct and indirect subsidiaries

Current Group structure of operating companies 

ZSH GmbH
Finanzdienstleistungen FERI Trust GmbH

CORESIS Management GmbH

MLPdialog GmbH FERI Institutional & Familiy 
Office GmbH

FERI Trust (Luxemburg) S.A.

TPC GmbH FEREAL AG

FERI Trust AG (Switzerland)

MLP Hyp GmbH FERI EuroRating Services AG

UST Immobilien GmbH

MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG*
100% 100%

100% 100 %

100%

100% 100%

25%

49,8% 100%

32,5%

100% 100%

100%

FERI AG*

MLP AG*

Legal corporate structure and Executive Bodies

MLP is organised as a holding, in which central management duties are performed by the Group’s 
parent company, MLP AG. The two subsidiaries MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG and FERI AG 
are then positioned directly beneath this (see graphic). This organisation reflects the Group’s 
strategic goals and client requirements.
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MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG holds a banking licence and is registered as an insurance broker 
for the brokerage of insurance contracts. Acting as the client’s administrator, MLP examines 
the broad scope of offers in the market and selects the most suitable product solutions for each 
individual client. MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG includes TPC GmbH (TPC; formerly TPC THE 
PENSION CONSULTANCY), Hamburg, ZSH GmbH Finanzdienstleistungen (ZSH), Heidelberg, 
MLPdialog GmbH (MLPdialog; formerly Academic Networks GmbH), Wiesloch and MLP Hyp 
GmbH (MLP Hyp), Wiesloch, which we operate together with the mortgage financing broker 
Interhyp AG, Munich.

The main fields of business conducted by FERI AG (FERI), Bad Homburg vor der Höhe, are 
investment management for institutional and private clients through FERI Trust GmbH, con-
sulting business/family office for institutional and private clients through FERI Institutional & 
Family Office GmbH, as well as rating & research services through FERI EuroRating Services 
AG. The fields of investment management (alternative investments) and services, as well as 
risk management are bundled at FEREAL AG. The main domestic and overseas companies and 
investments include FERI Trust (Luxembourg) S.A. in the field of fund administration and 
FERI Trust AG (Switzerland), which acts as the asset manager and consultancy for private and 
institutional clients in Switzerland, as well as the stakes held in CORESIS Management GmbH, 
which specialises in German real estate, and UST Immobilien GmbH, which focuses on the US 
real estate market.
 
In its business model, MLP is influenced by economic developments in Germany, as the company 
generates or initiates almost all of its revenue in this country. Particularly important indicators 
in this regard are economic growth, developments on the employment market, salary levels 
and the savings rate. In addition to this, the results of operations are significantly affected by 
market conditions in the business segments of old-age provision, health insurance and wealth 
management.
 

Organisation and administration

The Executive Board at MLP AG comprised four members in the financial year 2013. 
There were no changes in the reporting year. Beside the Chairman of the Board, Dr. Uwe  
Schroeder-Wildberg, Manfred Bauer (Product Management), Reinhard Loose (Finance) and 
Muhyddin Suleiman (Sales) also sit on the Executive Board. The Supervisory Board, which is 
required to monitor the Executive Board under German law, comprised six members. The Annual 
General Meeting, held on June 6, 2013, reappointed the shareholder representatives for a further 
five years in office. New employees’ representatives Burkhard Schlingermann and Alexander 
Beer have each held a position on the Supervisory Board since this date.
 
On March 21, 2013, the Supervisory Board at MLP AG unanimously voted to extend the Executive 
Board appointment and current employment contract of CFO Reinhard Loose until January 31, 
2019. As CFO, Reinhard Loose continues to hold responsibility for the Controlling, Accounting, 
Risk Management, IT and Purchasing divisions.
 
The Executive Board at FERI AG was extended in the reporting period to include one more mem-
ber, increasing its size to four members. Frank W. Straatmann, Head of Private Clients at FERI 
Trust GmbH, was appointed as the new member of the Executive Board. Beside the Chairman 
of the Board, Arnd Thorn, Dr. Matthias Klöpper (Finance) and Dr. Heinz-Werner Rapp (Chief 
Investment Officer) also sit on the Executive Board at FERI AG.

 

MLP holds a banking licence
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Goals and strategies
 
Company objectives

Our goals are to achieve a sustainable increase in company value and to expand on our market 
position. To this end, MLP is engaged in a system of active value management. We are targeting 
the sustainable increase in company value through consistent achievement of positive operat-
ing results. To achieve this, we intentionally and consistently focus our strategic alignment on 
particularly lucrative client segments. You can read more about this in the following section.
 
 
Strategy

The Executive Board performs a regular business strategy process once a year and unscheduled 
processes whenever necessary. Unscheduled processes might, for example, become necessary 
following major acquisitions or when significant changes have occurred in the market environ-
ment. MLP’s corporate strategy is derived from its corporate mission, which is reviewed and 
updated by the Executive Board on an annual basis. The current internal and external framework 
conditions, as well as influential factors are then analysed and summarised using established 
processes (we have published our corporate mission on our company website at www.mlp-ag.
com). Once this is complete, the company’s strategic alignment for the coming financial year 
is formulated. Following formulation of the strategy, strategic courses are set, i.e. the concrete 
fields of action for strategic implementation. Building on this, individual measures are defined 
for each strategic course which should contribute to its respective achievement. Implementation 
and monitoring are performed using standardised processes and documents, as well as regular 
reports to the Executive Board.

To achieve our paramount objectives of establishing a “sustainable increase in company value” 
and “expanding our market position,”, our primary focus here is to be the number one for our 
clients – i.e. the first contact for all financial questions and concerns. The consistent implementa-
tion of the comprehensive consulting approach is a clear USP of MLP and helps us differentiate 
ourselves from the other players in the market. 
 
To further strengthen the comprehensive consulting we provide to our clients for all financial 
questions and concerns, we have established additional fields of core expertise and extended our 
business model in the last few years. With the continuous strengthening of the wealth manage-
ment and occupational pension provision sectors and the expansion of formerly minor fields of 
consulting, such as non-life insurance and loans and mortgages, MLP has created additional stable 
pillars that will help secure the company’s long-term success while working towards our goals.
 
In 2013, we were able to further increase the relative share of wealth management in total 
commission income to 30%. This represents around 7% more than in the previous year and 
around 27% more than in 2005 – the year in which we began our expansion in the field of 
wealth management. Strengthening this section even further, something we are driving forward 
together with the FERI Group, is also of great strategic importance in 2014. Our aim here is to 
consistently drive forward further diversification of our business model.
 
The most important strategic goals of the FERI Group for the next few years include growth in 
all business segments – both in organic terms and by making smaller acquisitions. The expansion 
of the scope of services provided, for example through innovative investment concepts, sits at 
the heart of the corporate strategy. In the reporting period, FERI was able to win new clients in 
all business segments and also expand its ratings activities. Alongside the familiar country and 
fund ratings, FERI has also been offering ratings for structured securities and mortgage covered 
bonds (“Pfandbriefe”) in the field of credit rating since 2013.
 

Strategy process

Number one among our 
clients

Diversification stepped up 
significantly
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Through the stake it acquired in UST Immobilien GmbH in 2013, FERI now also offers private 
and institutional clients investment opportunities in the US real estate market. This will allow 
us to benefit from the promising growth prospects of the US real estate market.
 
FEREAL AG, which was established by merging the Private Equity subsection at FERI Trust 
GmbH with FERI Investment Services GmbH, is set to be expanded to a capital management 
company and to become a provider of issuing, structuring and consulting services in the real 
and alternative assets sector.
 
In the field of occupational pension provision, we have continually increased our share of new 
business, starting at 3% in 2005 up to 12% in the reporting period. Expansion of the growth 
field of occupational pension provision will remain in focus in 2014.
 
Further diversification of our business model is also supported by the fact that we will be sig-
nificantly expanding our quality-assured real-estate portfolio as an additional service alongside 
property financing from 2014 onwards.
 
In the private client target group of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, current forecasts submitted 
by the Federal Institute for Vocational Training (BIBB) are predicting an increase in the number 
of academics to around 8.7 million by 2030. This increase will be achieved against a decline in the 
general working population as a result of the demographic shift. The ever increasing proportion 
of the population with a university degree, coupled with a greater labour force participation rate 
of women, will lead to a significant increase in the number of potential new clients for MLP.
 
An important step in achieving our paramount objectives lies in opening new offices to focus 
primarily on students and graduates. We established two new offices in 2013 and more are set to 
follow over the course of the next few years. These new offices will allow us to tap the potential 
associated with increasing student numbers more effectively.
 
Important growth stimuli will also result in the long term from demographic developments 
in Germany. Alongside this, we also believe that there is an increasing need for high-quality 
consulting in the field of wealth management because the average age of our private clients is 
currently around 41 – an age above which the demand for wealth management services typically 
increases within the scope of personal life planning. The need for consulting services among 
institutional clients also remains high – as the low interest environment is placing massive 
investment pressure on insurers, pension schemes and foundations. The demand for alternative 
strategies is also on the rise, as these are some of the few attractive and risk-adjusted investment 
opportunities. The ever stricter regulation of the financial sector and the far-reaching loss of 
confidence among investors are also leading to an increased need for independent research and 
rating services, such as those offered by FERI EuroRating Services AG.
 
From today’s perspective, we will not make any acquisitions in our core business at MLP Finanz-
dienstleistungen AG, which focuses on providing private clients with consulting services and 
support. This is because the market is highly fragmented and compared to MLP other market 
members often have very diversified target client groups, significant disparities in the qualifica-
tions of their consultants and inconsistent corporate cultures. These factors would require highly 
cost-intensive and time-intensive integration for relatively small target companies. However, MLP 
Finanzdienstleistungen AG could envisage making acquisitions of small companies that possess 
special technology solutions or which could expand the existing added value chain. Building on 

Target group continues  
to grow

Acquisitions possible,  
primarily at FERI
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the successful establishment of the occupational pension provision business segment over the 
last few years, further strengthening of the business with corporate clients is also conceivable.
 
In addition to this, we could in principle envisage making further minor acquisitions or setting 
up joint ventures in the market of the FERI Group – both in the business with wealthy private 
clients and institutional investors. The MLP Group will continue to actively develop the acqui-
sition market in this regard to facilitate profitable inorganic growth.
 
To ensure that we can meet our company objectives, we continue to place great emphasis on 
continuous optimisation of our processes and a concomitant controlling system. You can find 
more detailed information on this in the chapter entitled “Control system”.
 
Due to the challenging market environment, MLP is supplementing its growth strategy with 
a consistent efficiency management programme. MLP has been able to further improve its 
competitive position by lowering its administration costs by € 61 million since 2008. MLP will 
continue its continuous efficiency management programme over the course of the next few 
years to ensure that administration costs remain under control. As was already the case in the 
financial year 2013, however, MLP will still allow higher expenses on a one-off basis – either 
to make important investments for the company’s future or to relieve expenses in subsequent 
financial years through non-recurring start-up costs.
 
The Group’s capital base and liquidity are good. You can find details on this in the chapter enti-
tled “Financial position”. MLP’s goal is to be well capitalised, even under the new bank capital 
standards (please refer to the chapter “Future industry situation and competitive environment”), 
while remaining both willing and able to make investments and acquisitions.  

Our employees and consultants are our most important capital. With the comprehensive finan-
cial advice that it provides, MLP operates in a complex and constantly changing market and 
competitive environment, in which it needs to repeatedly convince its clientele of the benefits 
associated with its services. High quality qualifications and further training are an indispensable 
prerequisite for successful implementation of our strategy of being the number one for our clients. 
Qualifications and further training – in connection with winning new consultants – therefore 
represent a very important success factor for MLP.

The MLP Corporate University (CU), based in Wiesloch, sits at the very heart of our consultant 
qualification and training program. Following an extensive certification process, the CU was 
the first institution of its kind to receive the international “Certified Corporate University” seal 
of approval from the International Agency for Quality Assurance in the university area. Among 
other things, this FIBAA certification makes study programmes internationally comparable and 
simplifies recognition of curricula and degrees among universities. The training offered by the 
CU therefore complies with the international requirements of the European Credit Transfer and 
Accumulation System (ECTS).

The certification will make it easier for further training courses held at the CU to be in rec-
ognised in bachelor’s and master’s degree courses at state universities. In cooperation with state 
universities, MLP is therefore planning to offer degree courses in future. The CU has already 
been accredited by the Financial Planning Standards Board Deutschland e.V. for training to 
the Certified Financial Planner (CFP) standard since 2012 – since which time more than 100 
consultants have successfully gained the CFP qualification.

Competitiveness  
sustainably improved 
through cost reductions

Qualifications, further  
training and winning  
consultants
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The CFP qualification is just one module in MLP’s wide-ranging portfolio of training courses, in 
which all consultants start with the training programme to become a certified insurance expert 
(IHK Chamber of Commerce) and then gain Senior Financial Consultant status within the next 
21 months. In addition to this, the CU offers training in numerous other fields, ranging from 
finance to personal development, as well as complete subject blocks leading to certificates or 
licenses. With this approach, we will continue to secure the continuous further development of 
our office managers, consultants and employees.

Keeping existing consultants loyal to the company and winning new consultants that comply 
with our high quality standards are closely related to our training and further training activities. 
To ensure that we have enough consultants to cover our long-term needs, MLP set up three new 
junior staff programmes in 2013. The new trainee programme is aimed primarily at high-school 
leavers and university students, who spend between one week and six months working in var-
ious departments within the company, depending on the option selected. A financial training 
programme and a dual study programme, which involves studying and working in sales, are also 
new. The three new junior staff programmes offer young people an excellent opportunity to get 
to know MLP before choosing to pursue a career as a consultant. They allow junior staff to get 
a good feel for the company’s business model and corporate culture. A second positive aspect is 
that MLP can use the entry-level employment models as a highly effective tool to ensure that the 
company wins the right personalities as consultants. To provide sustainable, long-term support 
for recruiting, the “Career at MLP” campaign was launched at the end of 2013 as an accompany-
ing measure. We expect these measures to provide positive stimulus for coming financial years. 
However, the key in winning over consultants to the MLP business model is quality.

Client satisfaction represents another important success factor. We are committed to the highest 
quality. We expect this of our own services and those provided by our partners. To continually 
improve benefits for our clients, we place great emphasis on the constant further development 
of our services, products and processes.

The launch of the MLP Client Navigator in the reporting year was an important measure for 
continuous further development and improvement of our client support. Following on from 
a successful pilot phase, MLP was one of the first financial services providers to successfully 
launch a feedback system for clients at consultant and office level. Around 200,000 clients were 
able to submit a web-based rating for the first time in autumn 2013. The newly created indica-
tor of client satisfaction, which is to be used twice a year in future, supports us in sustainably 
improving the quality of our consulting services. It creates the basis for us to use the level of 
satisfaction displayed by our clients even more effectively as a control mechanism, both centrally 
and at the local offices. Further projects that provide our consultants with IT-based support are 
described in detail in the chapter entitled “Goals and strategies”.

In addition to the established services, our newly created MLPdialog GmbH service centre has 
been supporting our consultants since mid–2013, for example when it comes to scheduling client 
meetings and taking over standardised existing business, such as insurance policy renewals or 
issues in the field of motor vehicle insurance. With this step, we have set important conditions 
that allow our consultants to focus more of their time and efforts on providing their clients with 
intensive support and consulting services.

In the reporting year, with the completed introduction of so-called MLP consulting centres 
MLP further significantly improved services for clients and consultants. MLP was merging 
its individual offices at numerous locations to create centrally located consulting centres with 
very modern facilities. This step not only offers improvements in terms of administrative and 

Client support
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organisational processes, it will also allow MLP to significantly increase local awareness for its 
products and services. We are also set to introduce further consulting centres at numerous other 
locations over the course of the next few years.

MLP supports its consultants with extensive information technology (IT). This secures compli-
ance with all legal and regulatory stipulations in terms of consulting and documentation, and 
thereby contributes to the most efficient use of resources required in the consulting process. 
Pioneering projects were initiated in this field for the entire company in the reporting year.

One of the most important projects in 2013 was the development of a uniform consulting 
application, which in future will provide our consultants with even more support for financial 
and wealth planning services. All previous consulting tools are consolidated in this application, 
which is scheduled to be introduced in 2014. The uniform surface and an end-to-end consulting 
process, which also includes the product selection, the documentation and the application, will 
further simplify the work performed by our consultants. By avoiding duplicate data entry, we 
will also streamline administrative procedures.

In parallel with this, the virtualisation of the IT workplace for consultants and employees was 
prepared in 2013. This is set to be rolled out across the board from the first quarter of 2014. The 
infrastructure required for this has been established and the corresponding quality assurance 
checks performed.

In terms of client support, the client management program (CRM) has been further optimised 
to offer our consultants even better options when advising and supporting clients. Thanks to the 
aforementioned expansion of our new IT solutions, we therefore anticipate a reduced workload 
for our consultants.

To accompany this, MLP also drove forward the ongoing development of its online strategy 
concept in the reporting year. The aim here is to further reinforce our presence on the Internet 
and improve communication options with clients through use of modern applications. This will 
allow us to cater more effectively to the requirements of our clients, while also optimally combin-
ing MLP’s strength in providing individual consulting services with the benefits of the Internet.

Overall, we expect the importance of modern IT systems to increase significantly for consulting 
firms such as MLP over the course of the next few years. Only by automating processes with 
little added value and expanding our digital presence can we further increase the quality and 
transparency of our consulting and also keep a tight rein on our costs.

The degree of recognition and trust in the “MLP” brand represents an important success factor. 
To continuously further develop our degree of recognition, image and social reputation, while at 
the same time supporting paramount company objectives, MLP performed numerous marketing 
and sponsoring activities in the reporting year. In addition to this, MLP maintained extensive 
social commitments as a responsible company. Selected activities are described in further detail 
in the following. The aim here is to at least maintain our current degree of recognition.

In May 2013, MLP launched a new advertising campaign throughout Germany under the heading 
of “Open dialogue on the topic of wealth management” (“Offene Worte zum Vermögensman-
agement”). The aim of this campaign is to strengthen perception of MLP’s expertise in the field 
of wealth management – and thereby drive forward the continuous process of diversifying 
our business divisions even further. MLP explains its consulting approach here, building on 
attention-grabbing statements such as “you can often save savings” (“Sparen können Sie sich 
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Marketing and  
communication

joint management report 27



oft sparen” or “developments in capital markets are unpredictable” (“Entwicklungen am Kaptal-
markt sind nicht vorhersehbar”). Several different visuals have been printed in wide-coverage 
magazines and posted on online media to support this. The advertising campaign was also 
accompanied by a comprehensive series of events. Indeed, MLP organised more than 50 events 
throughout Germany, which were attended by well-known asset managers and fund managers 
as guest speakers.

In the reporting period, FERI AG also launched various measures to improve brand positioning 
on the basis of the new guiding principle “Recognise more. Achieve more” (“Mehr erkennen. Mehr 
erreichen”). Among other things, the corporate design was revised and a new image brochure 
produced. FERI is constantly seeking to further improve its reputation through introduction of 
innovative and, in some cases, unique consulting services – such as an asset protection concept 
for large family estates in cooperation with the European Business School, Oestrich-Winkel.

Taking 4th place in Germany, FERI was once again successful in the latest Private Banking 
Market Survey performed by the “Fuchsbriefe” publishing house in the reporting period. FERI 
is also in 2nd place in the all-time rankings.

With a new marketing package for recruiting, MLP has been positioning itself as a potential 
employer with an even stronger presence since autumn 2013. The “Careers at MLP” campaign, 
which was launched in October, comprises comprehensive new advertising materials, such as 
brochures and flyers on the qualification and further training opportunities at MLP. In this 
context, a recruiting tour was held at more than 25 university locations. The maxim here was: 
“How do you want to work and live in the future?” (“Wie willst Du später arbeiten und leben?”)
The campaign is supported by the accompanying website at www.triff-deine-entscheidung.de.

Within the scope of a new publication strategy, the MLP client magazine “Forum” has been 
appearing completely in electronic form since 2013. In this electronic version, articles are 
supplemented by multimedia graphics, videos and service tools. The e-magazine is available at 
www.forum-mlp.de and as an app for tablets with Apple or Android operating system. Closely 
networking with the MLP advertising campaign, two of the client magazine’s issues in the 
reporting year addressed the topics of capital accumulation and wealth management. The MLP 
website at www.mlp.de recorded around 7 million hits in 2013, with users showing particular 
interest in the calculation tools and videos on offer.

In cooperation with the Allensbach Institute, MLP presented the 7th MLP Health Report back at 
the start of 2013. This report surveyed both citizens and physicians on the German healthcare 
system. The study, which provided comprehensive results on issues such as long-term care 
provision, the situation in the nation’s hospitals and the lack of physicians, enjoyed an excellent 
response. Media throughout Germany addressed the Health Report in more than 200 articles, 
thereby supporting MLP’s reputation as an expert on the healthcare system and consultant for 
physicians and dentists in the public perception.

In mid-May 2013, MLP presented its eighth annual Service Awards to product partners in the 
old-age provision, health insurance and non-life insurance segments. In addition to this, the 
Investment Award in the field of wealth management was presented in five categories. In total, 
MLP surveyed more than 1,700 consultants on the service quality of just under 50 insurers. 
Alongside their overall satisfaction, 14 detailed criteria were also rated, including professional 
competence, response speed and ease of contact.
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In the field of sponsoring, MLP concentrated on initiatives in the sporting and cultural arena. 
The focus of these activities is our commitment to basketball. The “MLP Academics Heidelberg” 
basketball team, which MLP has been supporting as title sponsor since 2012, started their season 
2013/2014 in the Pro-A league in September 2013. In the reporting year, we also once again 
supported the MLP Golf Journal Trophy as title sponsor.

The 17th international “Heidelberger Frühling” festival of classic music was held early in 2013. 
MLP is now the main sponsor of this event. The renowned cultural festival encompasses more 
than 130 events and this year’s event also set a new attendance record.
  
Student sponsorship plays a key part at MLP – and this year was no different. 30 students of math-
ematics, engineering, science and IT were selected from around 1,000 applicants for the “MINT 
Excellence” scholarship programme, which was established in 2012. The successful students will 
each receive € 750 per semester in sponsorship for two years and will also be included in an 
exclusive network with many additional benefits, including specialist workshops and lectures.

Within the scope of “Medical Excellence”, one of the most comprehensive scholarship pro-
grammes for physicians and dentists in Germany, 15 students were selected to receive schol-
arships in the reporting year, each of whom will receive € 500 per semester for three years. In 
addition to this, four subject-specific special scholarships were awarded, each of which comes 
with € 500 per month for six months with a view to funding a research semester for example. 
The application process for the two sponsorship programmes is run by the foundation set up by 
company founder, Dr. h. c. Manfred Lautenschläger, while MLP is responsible for implementation.

Aside from this, MLP is a sponsor of the “Deutschlandstipendium” initiative of the Federal 
Ministry of Education and Research. Within this framework, students displaying potential for 
excellence during their studies and later career receive financial support.

A total of 14 students were selected for the international “Join the Best” trainee programme early 
in the year. These students fended off 1,600 applications to win the highly coveted places and 
now have the opportunity to take up high-level internships at internationally renowned overseas 
corporate groups with the financial support of MLP. MLP has been working with its partners 
since 2004 to provide support for young academics that are keen to gain experience in foreign 
countries. The application phase for the tenth round of the international trainee programme 
closed in December 2013. On the occasion of the tenth anniversary, MLP will also be awarding 
ten further internships at enterprises with international operations in the coming year.

MLP has been committed to providing university sponsorship for many years. The conferences 
on higher education politics, which have been offered since 2005, allow participants to attend 
top level presentations and podium discussions, as well as providing a platform for exchange. 
On June 17, 2013, MLP was once again co-organiser of the “ZEIT”-conference “Universities and 
Education”. Within this framework, experts from the fields of politics, science and the economy 
discussed the status quo and opportunities for improving the standard of education. The event 
took place at the Free University of Berlin and was very well attended by around 300 participants.

Through our commitment and activities in the areas of marketing and communication, we will 
continue to respond to our social responsibility and increase the recognition of the MLP brand.

  

Commitment in the world of 
higher education
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Control system
 
The MLP Group employs comprehensive planning and control systems. We use benchmark 
analyses to compare internal quantitative and qualitative data on the performance of our busi-
ness with key market figures published. Based on these developments, we then derive actions 
for our corporate management. We also continually monitor developments in the competitive 
environment.

   
Corporate management

Earnings before interest and tax at the Group level (EBIT) and total revenue (sales revenue) rep-
resent the central control parameters at MLP for overall business development in the individual 
business segments. Since our consulting firm operates largely without the need for borrowed 
capital and has low capital intensity, we are able to concentrate on these control parameters in 
our forecasts. We require profitable growth and sustainable development of earnings in order 
to achieve our objective of increasing company value. For the holding segment, we focus exclu-
sively on EBIT as the key controlling figure.

Revenue per consultant (productivity), revenue per client and assets under management repre-
sent further KPIs. Added to this is the number of clients and consultants.

Through the uniform management of strategic, operating and sales controlling, as well as the 
concepts of reporting and analysis in one department, we achieve a high degree of transparency 
and quality of control-specific ratios.

The objective of our corporate management is for all consultants and employees to actively 
support MLP’s strategic goals and pledge to meet our service commitment. Our established 
central, strategic control instrument is the so-called “ISA” (Integrated Strategic Agenda). Using 
this tool, Group objectives are broken down to company level and then to individual division 
level. This ensures end-to-end incorporation of all organisational units and integration into the 
planning and management process.

The ISA grants all business segments the opportunity to get actively involved in the planning of 
objevtives. This promotes motivation among everyone involved and increases planning quality 
throughout the organisation. At the end of the obligatory ISA process (applied consistently 
throughout the Group), the degree of achieving the objectives is measured for each single unit. 
ISA provides the Executive Board with a high degree of transparency in the value-added process.
  
Controlling provides daily reporting on the new contracts signed and registered at the branch 
offices in all fields of business, as well as qualitative KPIs. The current figures are compared both 
against the projected figures and the actual figures from the previous year. A continuous flow of 
information is key here. This is achieved by employees working in sales controlling providing 
management with information in the form of weekly and monthly reports. These reports are 
then used in decision-making processes and are an important instrument for the continuous 
monitoring of our business success.

In addition to this, regional developments in the sales regions form the focus of analysis in quar-
terly meetings. The aim here is to grant everyone involved – from the Executive Board, through 
divisional board members, all the way down to the individual offices – a uniform presentation 
of the success achieved in sales.

EBIT and sales revenue as top 
key performance indicators

High degree of transparency

Comprehensive sales  
controlling
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All other subsidiaries also submit monthly reporting, in which all key value drivers are presented.

To permanently monitor and control costs with the greatest possible accuracy within the scope 
of our efforts to further increase efficiency, cost centre representatives have been appointed 
for each business segment.

Risk management is permanently anchored in MLP’s corporate management strategy. The mem-
bers of the Executive Board, general managers of the Group companies and division leaders are 
responsible for detecting and classifying risks as quickly as possible. Among other things, the 
focus here is on determining whether our reaction to trends and market changes are appropriate 
and fast enough. Since the division leaders are responsible for the ISA as well as for the costs, 
this allows us to establish a practical link between risk management and operating controlling. 
The Executive Board receives regular risk reports on the Group’s risk-bearing ability and risk 
burden. Our streamlined company organisation and short decision-making chains help the 
Executive Board to react quickly when necessary. You can find further information on this in 
the chapter entitled “Risk and disclosure report”.

   
Key figures and early indicators used by corporate controlling

We regularly use simulation scenarios to be able to assess the success of our business. Alongside 
the control parameters already mentioned, an important indicator in this regard is the “brokered 
new business” KPI in the various business segments. Brokered new business forms the basis of 
our revenue from commission and fees and, at the same time, shows how well our operating 
business is performing in the current year.

The relevant key figures for the individual business segments are:
1.	Old-age provision: New business with life, pension and occupational disability insurance 

policies
2.	Health insurance: Monthly health insurance premium commitment per client
3.	Non-life insurance: Annual insurance premium commitment per client
4.	Loans and mortgages: Loan amount

Assets under management are also included under wealth management, representing the sum 
of cash inflows and outflows, as well as the performance.

Our objective here is first to win over the best consultants in the industry to our business model 
and then keep them loyal to our company in the long term – for the benefit of our clients. We 
therefore also continually monitor our turnover rate and aim at an annual staff-turnover among 
our self-employed consultants of a maximum of between 12% and 15%. Our high-grade qualifi-
cation and further training programme, as well as the comprehensive support provided to our 
consultants by Head Office have proven important factors for winning consultants and keeping 
them loyal to the company. This support was further extended in the reporting year thanks to 
the new MLPdialog GmbH service centre.

Following a successful pilot phase, MLP was also one of the first financial services providers 
to successfully launch a feedback system for clients at consultant and office level in 2013 with 
the so-called Client Navigator.

You can find detailed information on this in the chapter entitled “Goals and strategies”.

   

Risk management:  
Important management and 
control element

Consultant turnover remains 
at a low level
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Research and development

Since our consulting firm is a service provider, we are not engaged in any research or develop-
ment in the classic sense.

ECONOMIC REPORT

Overall economic climate

Framework conditions

The MLP Group generates or initiates almost all of its revenue in Germany. The following there-
fore focuses primarily on the economic development in Germany, as this plays an important part 
when assessing the success of MLP’s business. Particularly important indicators in this regard 
are economic growth, developments on the employment market, changes to salary levels and 
the savings rate.

  
Overall economic situation

The eurozone was unable to secure any improvement to its poor economic environment in 2013 
and slipped into recession just as in 2012. According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), 
the economy in the eurozone shrank again with negative growth of –0.4% in the reporting year.

Although the expansive monetary policy of the European Central Bank (ECB) served to signifi-
cantly calm the consequences of the European debt crisis in 2013, the effects of the deflated 
economy in the eurozone could still be clearly felt in the German economy. After the domestic 
economy enjoyed growth of 4.0% and 3.3% respectively in the years 2010 and 2011, according to 
figures from the German Federal Statistical Office the inflation-adjusted gross domestic product 
(GDP) only rose by 0.4% in 2013 following an increase of 0.7% in 2012.

  
		

The German economy was again largely driven by stable domestic demand in 2013. The Consumer 
Sentiment Index of the German Consumer Research Association (GfK) increased markedly in 
the course of the reporting year and reached its highest level in six years by the end of the year. 
This index is considered the most important indicator of behaviour among German consumers 
and of economic stability. Companies in Germany agreed with this optimistic assessment, and 
the ifo business climate index rose to its highest level since early 2011 in December 2013.

  

Consumer confidence 
reaches highest levels

Source: German Federal Statistical Office; rate of change in GDP, price-adjusted

2013 0.4

2012

3.32011

 
Economic growth in Germany (all figures in %)

0.7
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Despite the economic uncertainties caused by the European debt crisis, the situation in the 
German employment market displayed largely stable development over the course of the year. 
According to data published by Germany’s Federal Employment Agency, the average number 
of persons registered as unemployed in 2013 increased slightly to around 2.95 million persons, 
which represents an unemployment rate of 6.9% (previous year: 6.8%). The employment market 
continued to especially offer opportunities for skilled employees. According to the Institute for 
Employment Research at the German Federal Employment Agency (IAB), academics had a sig-
nificantly lower unemployment rate in 2012 than the average among the population at just 2.5%.

The stable employment situation also had a positive effect on the income of German citizens in 
2013. According to figures published by the German government, disposable incomes increased 
by 2.1% in 2013 and real net wages and salaries increased by 0.6% per employee. The savings 
rate in Germany, on the other hand, decreased in the last financial year to a record low of 8.5% 
– the lowest level in 12 years (2012: 10.3%).

   

Employment and income 
levels stable

Industry situation and competitive environment

84% of the company’s revenue is generated from the following three core fields of business: 
old-age provision, health insurance and wealth management. The following therefore describes 
the influential factors with an effect on the results of operations in these areas in 2013.

  
Old-age provision

The reporting year 2013 was characterised by an even greater sense of uncertainty in Germany’s 
market for old-age provision. The European debt crisis, the ongoing low-interest-rate phase – the 
ECB reduced the prime rate to a record low of 0.25% in November 2013 – and the intensive 
public discussion regarding the consequences of this for life insurance policies led to a high 
degree of reservation among clients throughout the sector when it came to signing long-term 
old-age provision contracts. The fact that most Germans are fully aware of the fundamental 
importance and necessity of private and occupational pension provision did little to affect this.

The increasing reservations are, for example, documented in a study performed by the Allensbach 
Institute. According to the results of this study, almost half of everyone in active employment 
(47%) is no longer interested in extending their private old-age provision – the highest figure 
in ten years. Every third person in active employment who is generally willing to invest in 
additional provision concepts is concerned about the low interest rates. As a result of this, the 
number of people in active employment requesting advice on old-age provision concepts in 
the last twelve months reached its lowest level since 2008. The results of a study conducted by 
Postbank indicate that many young employees are speculating on inheritances over the course 
of the next few years and integrating these as a fixed component of their old-age provision plans, 
instead of themselves taking active steps to secure their own old-age provision. Based on this, 
more than one in four employees aged between 16 and 29 (27%) expects to be able to benefit 
from some form of inheritance within the scope of their old-age provision plan, while 26% of 
employees aged between 30 and 49 expect to receive a significant inheritance.

The aforementioned study conducted by Postbank on “Old-age provision in Germany 2013/2014” 
also concluded that, due to the low interest rates and uncertain environment, many citizens 
are currently putting their money into property rather than investing in long-term provision 
contracts. Based on this, one in three persons in active employment is currently choosing to 

Interest rate level puts a 
dampener on willingness for 
provision investments

Property acquisition in focus
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invest in their own home within the scope of their old-age provision planning. Building savings 
contracts (21%) and rental property (13%) then take 2nd and 3rd place respectively as the next 
most popular forms of investment. Only 5%, on the other hand, choose life insurance policies 
with lump-sum payouts (see graphic). Two thirds of all Germans even believe that purchasing 
their own home is now the ideal form of old-age provision.

  
    

These generally difficult framework conditions were also reflected in the market trend of the 
various old-age provision products in 2013. The state is offering citizens various incentives in 
the form of tax breaks and allowances to encourage them to save for their own old age. This is 
broken down into three tiers as follows:

1.	Basic provision: Statutory pension and basic pension
2.	Supplementary pension provision: Riester pension and occupational pension provision
3.	Other supplementary insurance provision: Pension and life insurances, capital market products

Alongside the statutory pension, basic provision (1st tier) also includes the basic pension or 
Rürup pension, whose premiums can be offset against income tax. The basic pension is also open 
to freelancers and self-employed people that are not obliged to pay into the statutory pension 
insurance fund. In 2013, over the course of the year taxpayers were able to offset up to 76% of 
capital invested into a basic provision policy from a total amount of up to € 20,000, or € 40,000 
for married couples. Despite this considerable tax incentive, in 2013 the basic pension failed 
to win the acceptance hoped for by the legislator among the German population. According to 
data published by the German Insurance Association (GDV), only 118,700 new basic pension 
contracts had been signed by the cut-off date on December 31, 2013 (2012: 178,200). This cor-
responds to a decline of 33.4%.

The supplementary pension provision (2nd tier) is essentially made up of occupational pension 
provision and the Riester pension. Sales figures for new Riester contracts displayed a downward 
trend across-the-board in the reporting year. According to statistics provided by the German 
Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs, the total number of all Riester contracts actu-
ally fell in the first quarter of 2013 for the first time since state-subsidised old-age provision 
investment options were introduced. 112,000 new contracts were concluded by the end of the 
3rd quarter of 2013 (2012 as a whole: 370,000). The primary focuses here were in the field of 
“Wohn-Riester” (home-annuity contracts).
  

Reservations at all three tiers

Number of Riester pension 
policies declining for the 

first time

Source: Postbank study on old-age provision in Germany 2013/2014
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On the other hand, the importance of occupational pension provision as a key pillar of private 
old-age provision continued to grow in 2013. According to the study conducted by Postbank, 
more than half of those in active employment consider occupational pension provision to be 
the ideal form of insurance cover for their old age. Companies share this opinion: due to demo-
graphic developments on the employment market and the battle for specialists and managers 
that results from this, many employers are extending their offers in this field as a way of winning 
new employees and keeping existing employees loyal to the company. Yet despite this, there 
was still a sense that many were adopting a “wait and see” approach with regard to occupational 
pension provision in the reporting year.

The massive reservations being displayed by consumers with regard to signing long-term old-
age provision contracts could also be observed in 3rd tier pension and life insurance policies. 
For example, the number of new contracts concluded in the field of classic life and pension 
insurance decreased by 19.8% in the reporting year to 1,087,090.

Driven by the growing number of German citizens requiring nursing care, the fields of long-
term care provision and, above all, long-term care annuity insurance have become increasingly 
important in the last two years. You can find more detailed information on the topic of nursing 
care provision in the following section entitled “Health insurance”.

Beside the difficult market environment and the ongoing low-interest-rate phase, the switchover 
to unisex tariffs (which have been in place since December 2012) had a negative impact on busi-
ness development in the field of old-age provision throughout the industry. This was because 
many clients had already signed a contract prior to the switchover in 2012 and consultants first 
had to familiarise themselves with the new products at the start of 2013.

According to data published by the German Insurance Association (GDV e.V.), the premium 
sum of new business brokered throughout the sector fell by 11.6% in 2013 to € 144.5 billion.

   

Occupational pension  
provision increasingly 
important

Long-term care annuity 
insurances on the rise

Switchover to unisex tariffs 
an additional challenge

 
New Riester pension contracts (2003 to 2013)

* As of September 30, 2013
Source: German Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs
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Health insurance

The market for health insurance was also characterised by difficult framework conditions in 
2013. Similarly to the field of old-age provision, the first half of the year was largely defined by 
the switchover to the new unisex tariff system throughout the industry. After this, the intensive 
public discussions on the future of private health insurance (PKV) held in the run-up to Germany’s 
Bundestag elections and the lengthy coalition negotiations generated an increasing sense of 
uncertainty and reservation among German citizens with regard to private health provision.

In light of the low interest environment, many private health insurance funds have reduced 
their assumed interest rate for pension accounting reserves from 3.5% to 2.75% or even 2.5% 
in the course of the switchover to unisex tariffs. This led to further changes to the premium 
structure in the market, which in turn generated a further sense of uncertainty among clients.

Introduction of the so-called emergency tariff for holders of statutory and private health insur-
ance policies that have not been able to pay their health insurance premiums represented an 
important new aspect of the healthcare system in 2013. With the “Act to eliminate social over-
load owing to health insurance contribution arrears”, unpaid premiums and penalties for late 
payments were reduced for everyone previously not holding any health insurance policy who 
registered with a health insurance fund by no later than December 31, 2013.

Regardless of the short-term challenges, the general population has a very positive attitude 
towards private health insurance. In contrast with this, however, many Germans remain sceptical 
regarding the performance and sustainability of the statutory health insurance system. Indeed, 
in a survey performed by the market research institute TNS-Emnid, one third of all statutory 
insurance policy holders indicated that they would like to make the switch to private health 
insurance. This corresponds to 20 million people.

The MLP Health Report 2013, which MLP produced in cooperation with the Allensbach Institute, 
also indicated a high degree of support for the private health insurance. Based on this report, 
83% of private insurance policy holders are happy with the level of coverage their policy offers 
them, whereas only 60% of statutory insurance policy holders said the same. In addition to this, 
34% of statutory insurance policy holders are worried about not receiving necessary treatment 
due to a lack of available funds.

Key topics for the health insurance sector in Germany also included the need for nursing care 
and long term care provision, which were more on the radar of the general population, not least 
due to the introduction of a state-supported private long term care insurance with daily cash 
benefits (“Pflege-Bahr”) on January 1, 2013. According to data published by the Association of 
Private Health Insurers, the sector already brokered 400,000 contracts in the last financial year 
– yet still sees significant growth potential for the future (please refer to the chapter entitled 
“Future industry situation and competitive environment”).

Many German citizens are aware of the importance of securing additional private provision 
to cover the risk of needing nursing care. According to a long-term study performed by R+V 
under the heading of “Fears in Germany for 2013”, 55% are worried about requiring nursing 
care when they get older. At the same time, 70% admit to not knowing whether they actually 
have adequate coverage in the event of requiring nursing care. 78% of German citizens believe 
that statutory long-term care insurance is not sufficient to cover the actual costs of care. This is 
based on a representative survey performed by Süddeutsche Krankenversicherung.

Our impression is that the overall development displayed by the market for private health insur-
ance in 2013 was rather reserved. These reservations can largely be attributed to the political 

Reduction in the assumed 
interest rate for pension 

accounting reserves

Emergency tariff  
for everyone
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”Pflege-Bahr” enjoys  
increasing acceptance

annual report mlp 201336



uncertainties associated with Germany’s Bundestag elections. No concrete sector figures were 
yet available when this report was drafted.

   
Wealth management

Based on the latest figures of the German Bundesbank, private households in Germany primarily 
chose to invest in secure accounts with daily access to their funds. Having accumulated € 157 
billion in financial assets in 2012, the highest nominal level for 20 years, private households 
continued to save in 2013. The monetary assets of private households therefore reached a new 
record level of € 5,070 billion at the end of the 3rd quarter of 2013. Around € 73 billion was 
deposited in the first nine months of the reporting year. Most of this took the form of demand 
deposits, including cash.

   

According to the 2013 Wealth Barometer of the Deutsche Sparkassen- und Giroverband, around 
one third of investors (32%) have already adapted their savings strategy to the low interest rates 
or are planning to do so. Above all, households with a large income are changing their invest-
ment strategy and shifting funds around. Alongside property, shares and investment funds are 
enjoying a slight increase in popularity. 11% of respondents currently consider shares to be the 
best form of investment for capital accumulation, while 9% rate investment funds as the best 
option and 3% prefer real estate funds.

Investors also preferred low-risk products within investment funds in the reporting year. 
According to the German Association of Investment and Asset Management e.V. (BVI), mixed 
funds recorded by far the highest inflows of all mutual funds at € 18.2 billion as of December 31, 
2013, followed by fixed income funds at € 8.8 billion. Mutual equity funds, on the other hand, 
proved less popular and investors withdrew a total of € 6.6 billion from these funds in 2013.

   

Source: German Bundesbank, dated: October 28, 2013

Cash and deposits

Pension and life insurance policies

Investment funds

Shares

Fixed income securities

Other

 
Private monetary assets of German citizens (all figures in € billion)
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Source: German Association of Investment and Asset Management e. V. (BVI)
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The market for providing consulting and asset management services to high net worth indi-
viduals and institutional investors has become more complex and contested since the financial 
and economic crisis. The competitive environment is characterised by ongoing consolidation 
in the fields of private banking and wealth management. Germany is considered to be the mar-
ket with the greatest potential in Europe. But the environment in the capital markets has been 
characterised by crises and a loss of confidence over the last few years, although it did display 
slight improvement in 2013, due in part to stabilisation of the financial markets. However, 
the decision-making cycles of investors remain long and the willingness to sign new contracts 
remains fairly low. In light of the low interest environment, institutional investors in particular 
are looking beyond classic liquid assets for a return and increasingly requesting information 
on alternative investments.

The assets of institutional investors enjoyed positive overall development, causing investments 
in special funds to increase by 9.2% from € 982 billion to € 1,071 billion. The total assets under 
management by the German investment industry at the end of the 2013 were € 2,105 billion 
(2012: € 2,037 billion).

Real estate once again proved very popular among German investors looking for fixed asset 
investments in 2013. According to the results of the 2013 Wealth Barometer study performed 
by the Deutsche Sparkassen- und Giroverband, property is the clear winner in the low interest 
rate environment. 50% of respondents consider purchasing their own home to be the ideal 
form of investment for capital accumulation, compared with just 45% in the previous year’s 
survey. Building savings contract (26%), as well houses and apartments purchased to let (24%) 
are also popular.

Competition and regulation

The competitive situation in the German market for financial services did not change significantly 
for the MLP Group in 2013 compared to the previous year. The sector remains very heterogeneous 
and is characterised by a high level of competitive pressure and a trend towards consolidation. 
The providers include numerous banks, insurance companies and free finance brokers. How-
ever, the quality of consulting provided by these providers can vary quite markedly. The MLP 
Group remains in an excellent position in this competitive environment. Our independence 
from product providers and our comprehensive consulting expertise allow us to offer key USPs.

To sustainably increase the degree of transparency and consulting quality in the market, the 
legislator has already implemented various regulatory changes in the last few years. These 
changes also had a lasting effect on the framework conditions in the last financial year, and their 
implementation will continue to drive forward consolidation of the market.

The new employee and complaints register at the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority 
(BaFin) was already introduced on November 1, 2012. When clients have received false advice, 
the Supervisory Authority now has various sanctioning options at its disposal – including 
temporary professional suspension in the case of serious infringements. The regulations apply 
to institutes such as MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG that have authority to act as a credit or 
financial services institution. The requirements have been implemented in full at MLP.

Ongoing consolidation in 
management of large estates

Positive overall development

Desire to invest in  
real estate continues

Altered framework  
conditions

Requirements of the BaFin 
register implemented
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In the field of investment consulting, MLP has already been using the new industry standard for 
product information sheets since September 2013. The recommendations, drawn up jointly by 
the industry, consumer protection organisations, the political arena and BaFin, contain uniform 
and easily comprehensible terminology which is defined in a dedicated glossary.

Aside from this, stricter professional requirements for investment advisors, compliance offi-
cers and sales managers have been in place since May 2013. MLP already complies with these 
requirements thanks to the established qualifications and further training offered at its Corpo-
rate University.

On the basis of the Act Reforming the Laws on Intermediaries for Financial Investments and 
on Investment Products, commercial brokers who, unlike MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, do 
not hold a banking licence, have had to comply with extensive provisions since January 2013 
when providing consulting services on open-end and closed-end funds. These include profes-
sional requirements, as well as duties to inform, advise and document. The changes will make 
it harder for less quality-driven providers to do business and thereby provide further stimulus 
for the ongoing consolidation of the market.

Since July 22, 2013, alternative investment fund managers have had to comply with various new 
legislation on the basis of the AIFM Implementation Act. They are now subject to supervision 
by the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin). Furthermore, private investors can no 
longer acquire shares in hedge funds. The aim of this legislation is to provide minor investors 
with better protection from high-risk investments. With this step, an EU Directive has been 
implemented in German law through introduction of the Capital Investment Code (KAGB).

The MLP Group was an early adopter of numerous requirements that the legislator is now 
stipulating with new sets of rules and standards. We consider this to provide us with a clear 
competitive advantage over other market members. FEREAL AG is to be extended to a capital 
management company that complies with the requirements of the Capital Investment Code 
(KAGB) introduced in July.

Independent financial consultants, including MLP, continued to play a key part in the broker-
age of old-age provision products in Germany in the last financial year. According to the 2013 
sales channel survey performed by corporate consultant Towers Watson, independent brokers 
were the third most important specialist consulting sector in the industry in the sale of life and 
pension insurance policies. Based on the latest figures, the share of brokered new business was 
26.2%. At 27.3%, banks are in second place, while tied agents are still in first place with a share 
of 30.3% (see graphic).

The latest figures from Towers Watson indicate that independent consultants such as MLP 
also play a key role in the brokerage of private health insurance policies. With a market share 
of 45% in the field of fully comprehensive private health insurance, independent consultants 
now represent the second most important group of advisers after tied agents, who work for just 
one single insurance company.

Professional requirements 
now even stricter

New stipulations based on 
the Capital Investment Code 
(KAGB)

Demand for independent 
consulting services remains 
high
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Set against the background of these developments, we can say that we feel confident moving 
forward into the future and consider ourselves to be very well positioned as a leading indepen-
dent consulting firm (see the “Forecast” chapter).

Business performance

Due to the worsened market conditions already described, total revenue displayed a clear down-
ward trend in the past financial year. Although we were able to set new records in the fields of 
wealth management and loans & mortgages, as well as sustainably increase sales revenue in the 
field of non-life insurance, these pleasing developments were more than compensated by the even 
tougher market conditions in the fields of health insurance and, in particular, old-age provision.

  
Changes in corporate structure

The MLPdialog unit was spun off from TPC GmbH in the period under review. To this end, the 
existing 100% subsidiary of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Academic Networks GmbH, was 
reactivated and renamed MLPdialog GmbH. MLPdialog GmbH now provides our consultants 
with even greater support as a service centre. You can find more detailed information on this 
in the chapter entitled “Goals and strategies”.

FERI founded a joint venture in the period under review that operates under the name of UST 
Immobilien GmbH in Darmstadt and in which FERI holds a 32.5% stake. Following acquisition 
of all shares, the subsidiary Heubeck-FERI Pension Asset Consulting GmbH was merged with 
FERI Institutional & Family Office GmbH in the period under review. FEREAL AG was estab-

 
Market shares of various sales channels for life insurance products in Germany,  
2010 to 2012 (all figures in %, relative to new business)

Source: Towers Watson 20112012 2010
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lished by merging the Private Equity subsection at FERI Trust GmbH with FERI Investment 
Services GmbH and combines the expertise in the real and alternative assets arena. It will apply 
for a licence to operate as a capital management company in 2014 in order to comply with the 
requirements of the Capital Investment Code (KAGB), which was introduced in July 2013.

Aside from this, there were no significant changes to the corporate structure of the MLP Group 
in the reporting year.

Consultants

Qualifications and further training also played a very important role in the financial year 2013. 
After all, the qualification of our consultants and employees is the essential prerequisite for the 
long-term success of our company. Numerous seminars and events serve to underline this. For 
example, our Corporate University held some 780 events on approximately 250 topics in 2013. 
Training was offered on a total of 25,000 attendance days, as well as in numerous online sem-
inars. This commitment is also reflected by the capital expenditure associated with this. In the 
last financial year, we spent more than € 7 million on qualifying and training our consultants, 
which was roughly the same amount as in the previous year.

The loyalty displayed by our existing consultants in the reporting year was also encouraging, 
as underlined by the turnover rate. This rate was just 9.5% in 2013 - and thereby well below 
our target range of a maximum of between 12% and 15%. We established new junior staff 
programmes in the reporting year as a way of winning new consultants. These programmes 
are likely to have a positive effect in the mid-term. In 2013, our total number of consultants 
decreased from 2,081 to 1,998. 

In the following description of the MLP Group’s financial position, net assets and results of 
operations pursuant to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the previous year’s 
figures are given in brackets.

   
Results of operations

Significant events that affect business

Set against the background of the tough market conditions already described, total revenue 
declined by 11.8% from € 568.0 million to € 501.1 million. The drop in revenue from commis-
sion and fees from € 518.0 million to € 457.7 million had a significant influence on this. Due to 
the low interest rate, revenue from the interest rate business declined 14.3% to € 22.8 million 
(€ 26.6 million). Other revenue decreased from € 23.5 million to € 20.6 million. Lower income 
from the reversal of write-downs was the primary reason for this decrease.

In the field of old-age provision, framework conditions have been difficult since the outbreak 
of the financial crisis in 2008 and the subsequent European debt crisis. Many citizens are there-
fore currently unwilling to sign any long-term contracts. In the last few months, discussions 
regarding the low interest rate environment, coupled with extensive negative reporting on 
life insurers and their products, have temporarily led to a further deterioration of the market 
environment. Set against this background, MLP also recorded a decrease in revenue in this field 
of consulting from € 287.3 million to € 219.9 million. New business also declined accordingly 
from € 4.8 billion to € 3.6 billion. A share of 12% is attributable to the field of occupational 
pension provision here (13%).

Downward trend in total 
revenue
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Revenue in the field of health insurance also displayed a downward trend. In this field of con-
sulting, political uncertainty and negative press motivated many clients to adopt a “wait and see” 
attitude. Revenue decreased from € 63.9 million to € 47.8 million as a result of this.

The non-life insurance segment, on the other hand, enjoyed positive development. Sales revenue 
rose from € 31.1 million to € 32.5 million, representing an increase of 4.5%. In line with the 
industry trend, MLP also recorded excellent development in the field of property financing. The 
relocation of MLP Hyp GmbH from Schwetzingen to the site of the company HQ in Wiesloch 
allowed us to integrate our expertise in the field of loans and mortgages even more effectively. The 
volume of brokered loans reached a new record of € 1.5 billion in 2013 (€ 1.3 billion). Revenue 
from this segment increased by 8.2% to € 14.5 million (€ 13.4 million). This was supplemented 
by investment income of € 0.9 million for the joint venture MLP Hyp (€ 1.0 million).

  
New business

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Old-age provision 
(premium sum in € billion) 3.6 4.8 5.2 5.0 5.1

Loans and mortgages
(volume in € million) 1,513 1,301 1,327 1,219 1,119

A clear upwards trend can also be observed in the field of wealth management. With an increase 
of 17.1% from € 117.9 million to € 138.1 million, revenue in this segment set a new record. 
Alongside the good development at MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, the positive business 
development at FERI was a significant driver of this success. Our subsidiary benefited from 
the shift in asset classes towards alternative investments and real assets in the course of the 
debt crisis, as well as from increased demand for solutions in the field of risk management and 
asset protection strategies. Demand for fundamental analyses and ratings of investment mar-
kets also increased in the course of the financial and economic crisis. In the reporting period, 
FERI recorded positive business development in all three business segments of Consultancy, 
Investment Management and Rating&Research. Assets under management rose by 15.6% to  
€ 24.5 billion (€ 21.2 billion). 
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Significant increase in  
wealth management
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In the financial year 2013, MLP successfully continued its efficiency management programme. 
Administration costs (defined as the sum of personnel expenses, depreciation and amortisation 
and other operating expenses) fell in the reporting period from € 251.9 million to € 250.6 million 
– despite MLP accruing temporary expenses of around € 8 million for future investments, as 
announced. Administration costs are therefore some € 60 million below their 2008 level – the 
year in which we started our efficiency programme.

Due to the decline in revenue, EBIT for 2013 decreased to € 32.8 million (€ 73.9 million). The 
EBIT margin was 6.5% (13.0%). As a result of a decrease in revenue from commission and fees, 
productivity (revenue per consultant in the financial services segment) declined to € 192,500 
(€ 224,400).

Analysis of the change in revenue

In the past financial year, our revenue decreased by 11.8% to € 480.5 million (€ 544.6 million). 
Other revenue also displayed a downward trend to € 20.6 million (€ 23.5 million). This was 
essentially due to lower income from the reversal of provisions. Total revenue decreased from 
€ 568.0 million to € 501.1 million.

Revenue development on the one hand was affected by the drop in commission income from 
€ 518.0 million to € 457.7 million. Due to the lower interest rate, revenue from the interest rate 
business also declined by 14.3% to € 22.8 million (€ 26.6 million). The field of old-age provi-
sion continues to generate the greatest share of commission income, while the field of wealth 
management recorded the strongest growth. The following table provides a detailed overview.

   
Breakdown of revenue

All figures in €  million 2013 2012 Change in %

Old-age provision 219.9 287.3 –23.5%

Wealth management 138.1 117.9 17.1%

Health insurance 47.8 63.9 –25.2%

Non-life insurance 32.5 31.1 4.5%

Loans and mortgages 14.5 13.4 8.2%

Other commission and fees 4.9 4.6 6.5%

Commission and fees 457.7 518.0 –11.6%

Interest income 22.8 26.6 –14.3%

Total 480.5 544.6 –11.8%

Successful cost management

Development of total revenue (all figures in € million)

2012

2013

Revenue Other revenue

501.1480.5 20.6

568.0544.6 23.5
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Analysis of expenses

Commission expenses primarily comprise performance-linked commission payments to our 
consultants. They represent the largest single item under expenses and displayed a downward 
trend in the last financial year due to the low commission income. Commissions paid in the FERI 
segment, which increased further in the reporting year, also played an increasingly important 
role. These result from the successful development of the Luxembourg-based subsidiary that 
specialises in fund administration. Total commissions paid decreased from € 235.8 million to  
€ 214.2 million. We therefore recorded a commission result of € 243.5 million (€ 282.2 million).

Interest expenses fell from € 7.4 million to € 4.4 million due to the ongoing decline in interest 
rates. Our total net interest also decreased slightly from € 19.2 million to € 18.4 million.

Gross profit decreased from € 324.8 million to € 282.5 million in the reporting period.

Administration costs displayed a slight downward trend in the reporting year, which serves to 
confirm successful continuation of our efficiency management programme. Despite temporary 
expenses for important future investments of around € 8 million, costs were slightly below the 
previous year’s level at € 250.6 million (€ 251.9 million).

On an individual item basis, personnel expenses increased from € 102.5 million to € 106.2 
million, essentially due to expansion of the new MLPdialog service centre and general salary 
increases. Depreciation and amortisation decreased from € 12.6 million to € 11.8 million. At  
€ 132.6 million (€ 136.8 million), other operating expenses also continued to display a downward 
trend. Among other things, this can be attributed to lower expenses for the IT infrastructure, 
as well as lower costs for EDP consulting services.

   
Breakdown of expenses

All figures in €  million 2013
In % of total 

expenses 2012
 In % of total 

expenses Change in %

Commission expenses 214.2 45.7% 235.8 47.6% –9.2%

Interest expenses 4.4 0.9% 7.4 1.5% –40.5%

Personnel expenses 106.2 22.6% 102.5 20.7% 3.6%

Depreciation and amortisation 11.8 2.5% 12.6 2.5% –6.3%

Other operating expenses 132.6 28.3% 136.8 27.6% –3.1%

Total  469.2  495.1 –5.2%

Administration costs  
under control
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MLP Hyp recorded satisfactory business development. We hold a 49.8% stake in this company, 
which is operated as a joint venture together with the mortgage broker Interhyp. Our allotted 
earnings from the company decreased slightly from € 1.0 million to € 0.9 million, which is 
reflected in the earnings from shares accounted for using the equity method.
 
Under the influence of the downward trend in commission income, EBIT also declined to € 32.8 
million (€ 73.9 million) in the financial year. The EBIT margin also decreased to 6.5% (13.0%).

  

The finance cost was reduced from € 1.0 million to € 0.3 million in the last financial year. This 
was largely due to the drop in other interest and similar income from € 1.9 million to € 1.4 
million. The downward trend in interest rates provides the background for this. Earnings before 
tax (EBT) decreased to € 33.1 million (€ 74.9 million). The tax rate fell from 29.4% to 23.0%, 
primarily due to a higher relative proportion of earnings generated by FERI’s Luxembourg-based 
subsidiary. Income tax expenditure was € 7.6 million (€ 22.0 million).

The following table provides an overview of the earnings structure, as well as the development 
of earnings and margins.

  
Structure and changes in earnings 

All figures in €  million 2013 2012 Change in %

Total revenue 501.1 568.0 –11.8%

Gross profit¹ 282.5 324.8 –13.0%

Gross profit margin (%) 56.4% 57.2% –1.4%

EBIT 32.8 73.9 –55.6%

EBIT margin (%) 6.5% 13.0% –50.0%

Finance cost 0.3 1.0 –70.0%

EBT 33.1 74.9 –55.8%

EBT margin (%) 6.6% 13.2% –50.0%

Income taxes –7.6 –22.0 65.5%

Net profit 25.5 52.9 –51.8%

Net margin (%) 5.1% 9.3% –45.2%

¹ Definition: Gross profit results from total revenue less commission expenses and interest expenses

EBIT reaches € 32.8 million

EBIT development (all figures in € million)

2012

2013 32.8

73.9
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Group net profit decreased to € 25.5 million in the period under review (€ 52.9 million). The 
basic earnings per share are therefore € 0.24 (€ 0.49), while the diluted earnings per share are 
€ 0.24 (€ 0.49).

  
Group net profit

All figures in € million 2013 2012 Change in %

Continuing operations 25.5 52.9 –51.8%

GROUP 25.5 52.9 –51.8%

Earnings per share in € (basic) 0.24 0.49 –51.0%

Earnings per share in € (diluted) 0.24 0.49 –51.0%

Number of shares in millions (basic) 107.9 107.9 0.0%

 

Appropriation of profits

We already returned to our long-term dividend policy of paying between 60% and 70% of our 
net profit to our shareholders for the financial year 2012. We paid our shareholders € 0.32 per 
share in the form of a regular dividend for the financial year 2012. The total dividend paid was 
therefore € 34.5 million. We did not purchase any treasury stock during the reporting period.

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board will therefore propose a dividend of € 0.16 per share 
to the Annual General Meeting on June 5, 2014. This corresponds to a distribution rate of 68%.

  

Proposed dividend of  
€ 0.16 per share

Financial position

Aims of financial management

The financial management of the MLP Group is performed by the central Treasury department 
in cooperation with the Controlling and Risk Management departments. Our primary objective 
here is to secure the liquidity of the Group at all times, control the risks involved using the vari-
ous financial instruments and optimise Group-wide cash management. To this end, we employ 
a system of rolling liquidity planning with a time frame of 15 to 18 months.

There were no significant liabilities or receivables in foreign currencies during the reporting 
period, as we generate almost 100% of total income in the eurozone. It is therefore not neces-
sary for us to hedge net items in foreign currencies by means of hedging instruments. You can 
find details on the financial risks in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in the 
“Financial risk management” chapter.
 

Financing analysis 

The MLP business model is therefore less capital intensive and generates high cash flows. How-
ever, increased capital has been budgeted for the next few years in order to meet the revised 
definition of equity and stricter requirements of Basel III.

No significant liabilities 
or receivables in foreign 

currencies
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The Group’s equity capital backing and liquidity remain good. Shareholders’ equity decreased 
slightly from € 384.2 million to € 374.5 million in the reporting period. The main factor having 
an impact on this development were dividend payments for the financial year 2012 of € 34.5 
million and the net profit for the financial year 2013 of € 25.5 million. As a result of this, the 
equity ratio decreased from 25.7% to 24.4%. Overall, MLP continues to enjoy a good equity 
capital backing.

At present, we are not using any borrowed funds in the form of securities or promissory note 
bond issues to finance the Group long-term. Our non-current assets are partially financed by 
non-current liabilities. Current liabilities to clients and banks from the banking business also 
represent further refinancing funds, which are generally available to us in the long term. Total 
liabilities due to clients and financial institutions from the banking business of € 956.4 million 
(€ 881.6 million) are essentially made up of client deposits which have no financing function for 
the Group. These liabilities are offset on the assets side by € 981.7 million in receivables from 
clients and financial institutions from the banking business (€ 941.9 million).

As provisions only account for 5.5% (5.6%) of the balance sheet total, they have no significant 
financing function for the Group.

Other liabilities markedly fell from € 130.7 million to € 106.6 million in the reporting period, 
whereby current liabilities stand at € 103.2 million (€ 125.7 million). These are essentially lia-
bilities from operating activities. Current liabilities are offset on the assets side of the balance 
sheet by cash and cash equivalents of € 46.4 million (€ 40.7 million), financial investments of  
€ 146.1 million (€ 137.1 million), as well as other current assets of € 92.9 million (€ 121.9 million).

On the balance sheet date, December 31, 2013, financial commitments of € 14.5 million from 
rental and leasing agreements were in place (€ 15.3 million). These mainly constitute liabilities 
from the renting of our offices, as well as leasing of motor vehicles and office machines. These 
can result in potential total liabilities of € 50.6 million by the year 2019 (€ 58.7 million).

Liquidity analysis

Cash flow from operating activities increased to € 67.6 compared to € 22.4 million in the same 
period of the previous year. Here, significant cash flows result from the deposit business with 
our clients and from the investment of these funds.

Cash flow from investing activities of continuing operations changed from € 50,2 million to 
€ –32.4 million. In the reporting period, net time deposits of € 30.0 million were reinvested, 
whereas in the same period of the previous year net time deposits of € 45.0 million with a term 
of more than three months were not reinvested.

Cash flow from financing activities is affected by dividend payments for the financial year 2012.

  

Good equity base
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Condensed statement of cash flow

All figures in € million 2013 2012

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 60.7 51.4

Cash flow from operating activities 67.6 22.4

Cash flow from investing activities –32.4 50.2

Cash flow from financing activities –34.5 –64.7

Change in cash and cash equivalents 0.7 7.9

Change in cash and cash equivalents due to changes to the scope of consolidation – 1.4

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 61.4 60.7

As of the balance sheet date of December 31, 2013, the MLP Group had around € 147 million 
(€ 180 million) in cash holdings. A good level of liquid funds therefore remains available. Thus 
there are sufficient cash reserves available to the MLP Group. Alongside cash holdings, free 
lines of credit are also in place. In 2013, the MLP Group was capable of meeting its payment 
obligations at all times.

Capital expenditure

MLP generally finances capital expenditures from current cash flow. In the last financial year, 
the total investment volume increased significantly over the previous year to € 22.4 million  
(€ 14.5 million). The increase essentially results from investments in the future that were made 
in the last financial year, in particular in IT systems to support sales.

  
Capital expenditure

All figures in € million 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Intangible assets 19.5  7.8 4.3 2.3 2.4

Goodwill – – – – –

Software (created internally) 0.4  0.4 0.4 0.5 0.5

Software (purchased) 0.6  0.4 0.2 0.3 0.4

Other intangible assets 0.0 0.0  – – –

Payments on account and 
assets under construction 18.5  7.0 3.6 1.4 1.5

Property, plant and equipment 2.9  6.7 3.5 1.6 1.6

Land, leasehold rights and 
buildings 0.4  0.4 0.2 0.1 0.2

Other fixtures, fittings and 
office equipment 1.8  5.4 3.2 1.1 1.2

Payments on account and 
assets under construction 0.8 0.9 0.0 0.4 0.2

Total capital expenditures 22.4  14.5 7.8 3.9 4.0
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The overwhelming majority of investments in the last financial year were made in the Financial 
Services segment (€ 21.2 million). For the most part these investments were made into IT systems 
to support sales and also into operating and office equipment. They contribute to the continuous 
improvement of consulting support and client service (please refer to the chapter entitled “Goals 
and strategies”). Alongside capitalisable investments we use other resources for these projects, 
which are recognised as expenses in the income statement. In the FERI segment, we invested € 
0.9 million in operating and office equipment as well as intangible assets in the reporting year.

  
Capital expenditure by segment

Total capital expenditure Change  
in %

All figures in € million 2013 2012

Financial services 21.2  13.5 57.0%

FERI 0.9  0.9 0.0%

Holding 0.4  0.1 >100.0%

Total 22.4  14.5 55.2%

Net Assets

Analysis of the asset and liability structure

As of December 31, 2013, the balance sheet total of the MLP Group rose by € 43.4 million or 
2.9% to € 1,536.9 million (€ 1,493.5 million).

Intangible assets increased from € 141.7 to € 155.3 million due to higher capital expenditures. 
Fixed assets were reduced within the scope of depreciation and amortisation from € 68.8 million 
to € 65.8 million. Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups decreased from € 10.5 mil-
lion to € 0.0 million. This is due to the successful sale of a property, as well as reclassification of 
a second property to the “Investment property” item. This item now has a value of € 7.3 million.

Receivables from clients and from financial institutions in the banking business increased in 
total by € 39.8 million to € 981.7 million (€ 941.9 million) in the reporting year. These invest-
ments are essentially refinanced through the deposits of our clients (liabilities due to clients in 
the banking business) and thereby reflect the increased level of client deposits. Around 65% 
(66%) of receivables have a term to maturity of less than one year. We have also increasingly 
extended the field of mortgage and medical practice financing.

Financial assets rose from € 137.1 million to € 146.1 million in the past financial year. Cash and 
cash equivalents rose to € 46.4 million (€ 40.7 million). The primary reason behind these two 
developments is the profit transfer of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG for the financial year 
2012. However, the dividend distribution to our shareholders had the opposite effect. You can 
find more detailed information on the change in cash and cash equivalents in the “Financial 
position” chapter.

Increase in balance sheet 
total

Financial investments  
slightly on the rise
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Other receivables and assets decreased from € 139.7 million to € 109.2 million in the reporting 
year. This item essentially comprises commission receivables from insurance companies resulting 
from the brokerage of insurance products.

The equity capital backing of the MLP Group remains good. As of December 31, 2013, share-
holders’ equity decreased slightly from € 384.2 million to € 374.5 million. As a result of this, the 
equity ratio also decreased from 25.7% to 24.4%. Based on Group net profit of € 25.5 million, 
we achieved a return on equity of 6.6% (13.3%).

At € 85.1 million (€ 83.7 million), provisions were just above the previous year’s level. Greater 
provisions for client support commission were offset by lower provisions for cancellation risks.

In the course of the reporting year, client deposits (liabilities due to clients in the banking 
business) increased by 8.7% from € 871.1 million to € 946.5 million. This increase is largely 
attributable to short-term deposits held in bank accounts, credit cards and instant access savings 
accounts. Liabilities due to banks dropped slightly from € 10.5 million to € 9.9 million.

Other liabilities fell from € 130.7 million to € 106.6 million in the last financial year. This item 
essentially comprises current liabilities due to our consultants and office managers based on 
open commission claims (please also refer to the section entitled “Financial position”).

General statement on the economic situation

MLP faced challenges due to poor market conditions in the last financial year. For the first time 
ever, the two core fields of business old-age provision and health insurance both displayed 
downward developments at the same time. Alongside uncertainty associated with the European 
debt crisis and a lower savings rate, the ongoing low-interest-rate phase and negative press on 
life and pension insurance policies in the media in particular led to even stronger reservations 
in terms of signing long-term contracts in the field of old-age provision. Many clients showed 
reservations in the field of health insurance. These were largely due to Germany’s pending gen-
eral election and the fact that the final government was not in place until the end of the year, 
as well as negative market reporting.

However, we were able to significantly absorb this decline in revenue through other business 
areas. This underlines just how important it was to further develop our business model. At the 
same time, we benefited from the successful cost management programme we have operated 
in the last few years, which also enabled MLP to generate substantial profit in 2013.

The corporate management considers the Group’s economic situation to be positive, both at the 
end of the reporting period and at the time of preparing the Group management report. Our 
financial position also remains positive. Liquidity remains at a good level. The equity capital 
backing also remains good.

Equity capital backing 
remains good

Further increase in client 
deposits

annual report mlp 201350



Comparison of the actual and forecast development of business

At the start of 2013, we provided a quantitative forecast for the development of Group EBIT. 
Based on this, MLP expected to record EBIT in the range from € 65 million to € 78 million 
for the financial years 2013 to 2015. Due to temporarily increased expenses – which included 
investments in important future fields of business – we expected from the beginning EBIT to 
remain at the lower end of this corridor in the financial year 2013.

We also made a qualitative estimate regarding the development of sales revenue. Based on this, 
MLP anticipates stagnating or slightly decreasing revenue in the field of old-age provision for 
2013. In the field of health insurance, we expected revenue to remain at roughly the same level 
as recorded in 2012. For the field of wealth management, we expected to generate an increase in 
sales revenues. At the same time, however, we highlighted the risks for the further development 
associated with the challenging market conditions.

In the field of wealth management, we surpassed our own expectations. In the fields of old-age 
provision and health insurance, revenue is significantly below the previous year’s level and 
also below plan. This is due to market conditions, which became even more difficult in both of 
these business segments.

In terms of administration costs, we announced at the beginning of the financial year that 
increased one-off expenses of around € 8.0 million would be accrued on the basis of the 2012 
cost level. Despite these temporary costs, the administration costs for 2013 are slightly below the 
previous year. The development was therefore more positive than we predicted at the start of year.

Due to the aforementioned worsening of market conditions in the fields of old-age provision and 
health insurance, we announced back in November 2013 that we would not be able to achieve 
our targeted year-end EBIT of at least € 65 million and at the year-end are well below the level 
originally forecasted.

  
Segment report

Financial services segment

Total revenue in the financial services segment declined from € 483.6 million to € 398.1 million 
in 2013. This was essentially due to lower commission income in the health insurance and old-
age provision segments. Income from the interest rate business was down slightly due to the 
low interest rate.

Total revenue and EBIT in the financial services segment (all figures in € million)

2013

Total revenue EBIT

398.1
29.2

2012
483.6

72.2
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Due to the decline in total revenue, commission expenses, which are largely variable, decreased 
from € 199.4 million to € 162.6 million. At € 4.4 million (€ 7.4 million), interest expenses also 
decreased due to the low interest rate.

At € 72.2 million, personnel expenses were slightly above the previous year’s level (€ 71.3 million). 
Other operating expenses declined from € 126.2 million to € 123.3 million. Depreciation/amor-
tisation and impairment fell from € 7.3 million compared to € 8.0 million in the previous year.

Overall, EBIT decreased significantly from € 72.2 million to € 29.2 million due to the decline 
in revenue. The EBIT margin was 7.3% (14.9%). At € 0.3 million, the finance cost remained at 
the previous year’s level (€ 0.3 million). EBT therefore reached € 29.5 million (€ 72.5 million).

FERI segment

The FERI segment shows the activities of the FERI Group. Total revenue increased considerably 
to € 106.0 million in the reporting year (€ 88.7 million). This was essentially the result of the suc-
cessful development of the Luxembourg-based subsidiary that specialises in fund administration.

Commission expenses increased from € 41.0 million to € 55.9 million due to the rise in revenue 
in Luxembourg. Administration costs were slightly higher than in the previous year. Personnel 
expenses increased from € 26.1 million to € 29.0 million, with some of the additional expenses 
being attributable to one-off costs. At € 2.0 million (€ 2.0 million) and € 11.1 million (€ 11.2 
million) respectively, depreciation and amortisation, as well as other operating expenses remained 
at the previous year’s level.

Overall, EBIT declined slightly from € 8.4 million to € 8.0 million.

Holding segment

Total revenue in the Holding segment amounted to € 12.6 million (€ 11.6 million) in the last 
financial year. This can essentially be attributed to the leasing of buildings to affiliated companies.

Total revenue and EBIT in the FERI segment (all figures in € million)

2013

Total revenue EBIT

8.0

2012
88.7

8.4

106.0
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At € 5.0 million, personnel expenses were slightly below the previous year’s level (€ 5.1 million). 
At € 2.5 million, depreciation/amortisation and impairment remained unchanged (€ 2.5 million). 
Other operating expenses decreased to € 9.4 million from € 10.4 million in the previous year.

The finance cost fell from € 0.5 million to € –0.1 million, largely due to lower interest rates on 
bank balances and time deposits.

We therefore recorded EBT of € –4.4 million in the Holding segment, following € –5.9 million 
in the previous year.

Personnel and social report

As MLP is a knowledge-based service provider, qualified and motivated employees and consul-
tants represent the most important foundations for sustainable company success and for achiev-
ing the company targets described in the chapter entitled “Goals and strategies”. As was already 
the case in the previous year, the focus of our personnel strategy in 2013 therefore remained on 
continuous further development of our personnel work at both individual and corporate level. 
This continuity is also an important signal that helps establish trust among employees.

In the 2013 reporting year, an average of 1,559 employees worked in the MLP Group. This figure 
represents 35 employees or 2.3% more than in 2012. The slight increase can largely be attributed 
to recruiting staff for the newly established MLPdialog GmbH, which we extended as a service 
centre for our consultants in 2013. At 4.3%, the natural employee turnover rate at the company 
HQ was below the market average (2012: 6.2%).

The proportion of employees in temporary employment was 1.4% as of December 31, 2013, 
which is the same level as in previous years. The number of temporary staff and marginal part-
time employees was 165, compared to 169 in the previous year. In addition to this, 542 persons 
also worked on a part-time basis in the Financial Services, FERI and Holding segments. A total 
of 67 women took maternity leave in 2013, while 136 employees took parental leave.

The following table shows the development of average employee numbers in the individual 
business units over the last few years:

   
Development of the average number of employees by segment (without MLP consultants)

Segment 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Financial services 1,306 1,265  1,324 1,407 1,624

FERI 244 251  249 251 265

Holding 9 8  12 14 11

Total 1,559 1,524  1,584 1,672 1,900

More personnel due to new 
service centre
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Personnel expenses rose by 3.6% to € 106.2 million in the reporting year. This item comprises 
€ 92.2 million for salaries and wages (previous year: € 88.6 million), € 11.6 million for social 
security contributions (previous year: € 11.4 million) and employer-based old-age provision 
allowances of € 2.4 million (previous year: € 2.4 million).

The average age of the employees in the MLP Group is currently just under 40 (previous year: 39).

   

Personnel work is a strategically important topic for MLP. As an independent financial and invest-
ment consulting firm, we can only meet our own strict quality standards when our employees 
are extremely well trained and highly motivated. This is why we have permanently anchored 
the process for selection and continuous development of our employees in our corporate mis-
sion. We secure a high-quality qualification and further training programme through our own 
Corporate University (CU) at the site of our HQ in Wiesloch. You can find detailed information 
on this in the chapter entitled “Goals and strategies”.

In March 2013, MLP performed an employee and consultant survey. A total of 3,257 persons 
took part in this survey by completing a comprehensive online questionnaire. The results of 
the survey formed the basis for implementation of numerous HR projects that we successfully 
initiated in 2013.

To offer our employees even better development opportunities, the existing junior staff promo-
tion programme was revised in the reporting year and then relaunched as a new programme for 
junior staff striving for a specialist or management career at MLP. The goal of the “Top Talents 
Programme” is to systematically identify talented junior staff from within the company and 
then provide these with targeted and sustainable development opportunities for future specialist 
and management duties.

The “Top Talents Programme” was launched in September 2013 with 23 employees. The partic-
ipants each receive intensive training across multiple modules over a total of one and half years 
to prepare them for future tasks. Among other things, the focus here is on leadership behaviour, 
as well as project and conflict management. At the same time, the newly established supporting 
events promote networking within the Group.

To further develop the framework conditions and make them even more attractive for our 
employees, we intensified our efforts in setting up a new and transparent remuneration system.

Young workforce

Employee survey as the basis 
for HR projects

New junior staff programme 
launched

Greater transparency of 
remuneration

Employee age structure in the Group in 2013

>_ 60

< 20

20–29

30–39

40–49

50–59

0.6%

17.6%

30.1%

33.9%

2.7%

15.0%
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In April 2013, a newly concluded company agreement on working hours replaced the previous 
flexitime system. The objective of this new system was to combine the concerns of employees 
with reliable service standards for both consultants and clients – while at the same time guar-
anteeing a high degree of flexibility.

We consider it extremely important to support all MLP employees in combining their family 
life with their career. With our catalogue of fringe benefits, we offer our employees many use-
ful options, including childcare and nursery allowances, a holiday camp, counselling services, 
consulting and support in looking after loved ones, active return management for young parents 
preparing to go back to work and a comprehensive range of services from our occupational 
health provision. In concrete terms, in 2013 we extended the opportunities for paid time off 
in the event of an employee’s child becoming sick and when staff need to look after their own 
parents requiring nursing care.

We will continue to use the Continuous Improvement Process introduced throughout the compa-
ny in 2012 to increase awareness for more efficient design of processes and structures in future. 
In this approach, specially trained employees from many different disciplines identify local 
improvement potential and then encourage implementation of measures to tap this potential.

MLP works intensively on winning talents and experts and then keeping them loyal to the 
company. We also received recognition from the outside world for our commitment as an 
employer in the reporting year, receiving the “Germany’s TOP employer” award for the seventh 
time in succession in 2013. Especially our working conditions and development opportunities 
received top marks from the independent Corporate Research Foundation Institute (CRF), one 
of the leading research companies in the field of employer certification and employer branding.

Providing our employees and managers with requirements-based support will also remain the 
task of personnel development in future – especially since the world of work is changing so 
rapidly. An important step in this field that was already prepared and set up in the reporting 
year is the change of the IT workplace, which is scheduled for the start of 2014 (please also refer 
to the chapter entitled “Goals and strategies”). An extensive training concept was implemented 
to ensure that all employees and consultants are ideally prepared for this change.

In competing for qualified junior staff, in the reporting year we aimed our efforts at winning 
potential trainees and those attending dual courses of study in the Rhein-Neckar metropolitan 
region. Through cooperations and information events at local schools, we succeeded in signifi-
cantly increasing the number of applicants compared to the previous year. In 2013, some 23 
trainees and 16 dual-study programme students (previous year: 20 and 16 respectively) began 
16 different training and degree courses at MLP. Supporting marketing measures, such as a 
recruiting initiative with new Internet presence and roadshow provided positive stimulus in 
this connection. You can find detailed information on this in the chapter entitled “Goals and 
strategies”.

The Executive Board would like to take this opportunity to express its sincere thanks to all 
employees and consultants for the trust, cooperation and excellent commitment they showed 
in the financial year. You played a key part in helping us record a successful financial year in 
2013, despite a market environment that proved challenging in many segments.

New regulations on working 
times

Combining family life with 
a career

Award as “TOP employer”

State-of-the-art workplaces

Number of applicants on 
the rise

A big thank you to our 
employees
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We would also like to thank the works council for its constructive collaboration which, among 
other things, is documented by the signing of four works agreements. The key now is to main-
tain this open and responsible dialogue as effectively as possible in future for the benefit of all 
employees.

   
EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE REPORTING DATE
  
There were no appreciable events after the balance sheet date affecting the MLP Group’s finan-
cial or asset situation.

   
REMUNERATION REPORT
  
The effective remuneration system provides for a fixed basic annual salary and also variable 
remuneration (in the form of a bonus) (see Table). The basic figure for the bonus payment is 
determined based on the income statement of the MLP Group in accordance with the respec-
tive (international) accounting standards applied in the Group. The EBIT of the MLP Group in 
the past financial year for which the bonus is to be paid forms the basis of assessment here. 
The key figure is therefore the earnings before tax (EBT) that would result without deduction 
of profit-sharing payments. If continuing operations and discontinued operations were to be 
recognised in the financial year, the basis of assessment was formed by the total of the EBITs of 
operations to be continued and discontinued respectively. No costs and income directly related 
to the discontinuation/sale of business segments are included in the basis of assessment. If the 
employment contract begins or ends in the course of the financial year, the basic bonus figure 
is reduced pro rata temporis.

A portion of 45% of the bonus calculated in this way is to be paid as an immediate payment 
following presentation of the company’s adopted financial statements. The remaining 55% is 
only to be paid as a “deferred payment” after presentation of the financial statements for the 
financial year two years after the year of the immediate payment. The level of the deferred pay-
ment effectively to be paid to the member of the Executive Board is also subject to upwards or 
downwards adjustment, depending on the ratio of the average EBIT recorded in the three years 
following the base year to the EBIT in the base year.

In contractually more closely specified boundaries, the immediate payment and the deferred 
payment are also subject to an adjustment right, which can be used at the discretion of the 
Supervisory Board. Here, the Supervisory Board is authorised, at its reasonable discretion, to 
increase or reduce the immediate payment by up to 30% and the deferred payment by up to 
10% based on its assessment of the individual performance of the respective member of the 
Executive Board or extraordinary developments.

In addition to this, the service contract provides for a cap of the immediate payment and the 
deferred payment in €. For both bonus parts, a maximum of 150% of the basic figure is stipu-
lated as the cap with an assumed EBIT of € 100 million.

Under the remuneration system, the members of the Executive Board are entitled to unrestricted 
use of a company car and payments from a life and disability insurance policy.

Principles of Executive Board 
remuneration
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The members of the Executive Board, Dr. Uwe Schroeder-Wildberg and Mr. Muhyddin Suleiman, 
continue to hold individual occupational benefit plans. An old-age pension upon reaching 62 years 
of age, a disability pension, a widow’s pension and orphan’s benefits have been guaranteed. The 
amount of the agreed benefit is 60% of the last fixed monthly salary received, or is fixed separately 
on the basis of amendments to the service contracts. However, the members of the Group Executive 
Board, Manfred Bauer and Reinhard Loose, receive employer-financed, defined contribution benefits 
in an occupational pension scheme.

The service contracts of all members of the Group Executive Board comprise change-of-control 
clauses granting the right to termination for cause in the event that

•• the company’s share of voting rights changes in accordance with §§ 21, 22 of the German Securities 
Trading Act (“Wertpapierhandelsgesetz”).

•• the company is reorganised in line with the provisions of the German Reorganisation of Com-
panies Act (“Umwandlungsgesetz”). This does not apply if the company changes its corporate 
form, outsourcings in line with § 123 (3) of the German Reorganisation of Companies Act or for 
mergers in accordance with the provisions of the Reorganisation of Companies Act, in which the 
company is the incorporating legal entity.

Since the amendment of the service contracts of Executive Board members in the financial year 
2011, a member of the Executive Board resigning on the basis of the aforementioned conditions 
is entitled to maximum compensation of two times a year’s fixed salary, on the condition that the 
termination takes place more than two years before the end of the contract. After that, the regula-
tions apply on a pro-rata-temporis basis.

  
Individualised Executive Board remuneration for the financial year 2013

All figures in €’000

Fixed 
remuneration 

component

Variable 
remuneration 

component 
(immediate 

payment) Total

Dr. Uwe Schroeder-Wildberg 584 178 762

Manfred Bauer 384 142 526

Reinhard Loose 373 124 497

Muhyddin Suleiman 384 142 526

Total 1,725 586 2,311

Individualised Executive Board remuneration for the financial year 2012

All figures in €’000

Fixed 
remuneration 

component

Variable 
remuneration 

component/ 
(immediate 

payment) Total

Dr. Uwe Schroeder-Wildberg 528 348 876

Manfred Bauer 385 278 663

Reinhard Loose 334 244 578

Muhyddin Suleiman 379 278 658

Total 1,627 1,148 2,775
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The following amounts were also recognised as expenses in connection with deferred payments 
in the financial year 2013: Dr. Uwe Schroeder-Wildberg € 449 thsd (€ 218 thsd), Manfred Bauer 
€ 206 thsd (€ 314 thsd), Reinhard Loose € 196 thsd (€ 251 thsd), Muhyddin Suleiman € 304 
thsd (€ 231 thsd). Adjustments from the previous years are included in the values.

As of December 31, 2013, pension provisions totalling € 13,598 thsd (previous year: € 13,306 
thsd) were in place for former members of the Executive Board.

Remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board

In addition to compensation for their expenses for the financial year, the members of the Super-
visory Board receive a fixed annual remuneration of € 40,000 in accordance with the Articles 
of Association. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board receives twice and his deputy one and 
a half times this amount. Additional, special remuneration is granted for work on the Audit 
Committee and the Personnel Committee. This comes to € 25,000 for the Audit Committee 
and € 15,000 for the Personnel Committee. The chairman of the respective committee receives 
twice the stated level of remuneration. The fixed portion of remuneration is paid after the end 
of the financial year. No member of the Supervisory Board receives any variable or share-based 
remuneration payments.

In the Supervisory Board elections held on April 17, 2013, the following employees’ repre-
sentatives were appointed as members of the Supervisory Board at MLP AG: Mr. Burkhard  
Schlingermann and Mr. Alexander Beer. They succeed Mrs. Maria Bähr and Mr. Norbert Kohler 
in this role. Their term in office began at the end of the Annual General Meeting on June 6, 
2013 and ends with conclusion of the 2018 Annual General Meeting. Dr. Peter Lütke-Bornefeld,  
Dr. h. c. Manfred Lautenschläger, Johannes Maret and Dr. Claus-Michael Dill were reappointed 
for a further five years.

  
Individualised Supervisory Board remuneration

All figures in €’000 (without tax)
Remuneration 

2013
Remuneration 

2012

Dr. Peter Lütke-Bornefeld (Chairman) 135 135

Dr. h. c. Manfred Lautenschläger (Vice Chairman) 100 100

Dr. Claus-Michael Dill 96 105

Johannes Maret 66 80

Norbert Kohler 17 40

Maria Bähr 17 40

Burkard Schlingermann 31 –

Alexander Beer 37 –

Total 500 500

In the financial year 2013 € 23 thsd (previous year: € 21 thsd) was paid as compensation for 
expenses and training measures.
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RISK AND OPPORTUNITY REPORT

Risk and disclosure report

Legal foundations and application scope

With the Solvency Ordinance (“Solvabilitätsverordnung”, SolvV), the European minimum capital 
standards prescribed in the 2006/48/EU Banking Directive, the 2006/49/EU Capital Adequacy 
Directive – together referred to as the Capital Requirements Directive (CRD) – and the equivalent 
stipulations of Basel II were all implemented as national legislation in Germany. The Solvency 
Ordinance (SolvV) substantiates the appropriateness of equity capital backing held by institutes 
that is required by § 10 of the German Banking Act (“Kreditwesengesetz”, KWG). This Directive 
has now been revised on the basis of several amendment stages of Basel II and CRD revisions, 
with which parts of Basel II were implemented as European law and also applied as German law.

Disclosures are made in accordance with § 2a (6) of the German Banking Act (KWG) on a 
consolidated basis. As the depository institution, MLP Finanzdienstleitungen AG represents 
the controlling company of the supervisory Financial Holding Group as per § 10a (3) of the 
German Banking Act (KWG), on the basis of which the supervisory risk reporting is performed 
in accordance with § 26a of the German Banking Act (KWG) and in connection with §§ 319 to 
337 of the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV).

MLP and FERI apply the waiver rule according to § 2a of the German Banking Act (KWG) for 
the Financial Holding Group in line with § 10 of the German Banking Act (KWG). Both MLP 
Finanzdienstleistungen AG and FERI Trust GmbH have demonstrated that they have fulfilled 
the conditions stipulated by § 2a (6) No. 1 and No. 2 of the German Banking Act (KWG) of the 
Deutsche Bundesbank and the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin).

Pursuant to § 10a of the German Banking Act (KWG), the supervisory scope of consolidation of 
the MLP Financial Holding Group consists of MLP AG, Wiesloch, MLP Finanzdienstleistungen 
AG, Wiesloch, ZSH GmbH Finanzdienstleistungen, Heidelberg, FERI AG, Bad Homburg v. d. 
Höhe, FERI Trust GmbH, Bad Homburg v. d. Höhe, FERI Institutional & Family Office GmbH, 
Bad Homburg v. d. Höhe, FEREAL AG, Bad Homburg v. d. Höhe (since September 30, 2013 
including FERI Investment Services GmbH, which was merged with FEREAL AG) and FERI 
Trust (Luxembourg) S.A., Luxembourg.

Within the scope of risk management, FERI EuroRating Services AG, Bad Homburg v. d. Höhe 
is also incorporated in the scope of consolidation pursuant to § 25a (1a) of the German Banking 
Act (KWG) (“MaRisk scope of consolidation”).

The disclosures and references made to legislative texts and ordinances within the scope of the 
risk and disclosure report refer to the versions valid on December 31, 2013 in each case.
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Scopes of consolidation – differences between the IFRS, supervisory and MaRisk  
(minimum risk management requirements) scope of consolidation

Segment Company
IFRS scope of 
consolidation

MaRisk scope of 
consolidation 
(§ 25a of the 

German Banking 
Act (KWG))

Supervisory scope 
of consolidation  

(§ 10a of the  
German Banking  

Act (KWG))

Holding segment MLP AG X X X

Financial services 
segment

MLP FDL AG X X X

TPC GmbH X X¹

ZSH GmbH X X X

MLPdialog GmbH X

MLP Hyp GmbH X

FERI segment

FERI AG X X X

FERI Trust GmbH X X X

FERI Trust (Luxembourg) S.A. X X X

AIF Komplementär GmbH X¹

FEREAL AG X X X

FPE Private Equity 
Beteiligungs-Treuhand GmbH X¹

FPE Private Equity 
Koordinations GmbH X¹

FPE Direct Coordination 
GmbH X¹

FERI Private Equity GmbH & 
Co. KG X¹

FERI Private Equity Nr. 2 
GmbH & Co. KG X¹

FERI EuroRating Services AG X X

FERI Trust (Schweiz) AG X¹

FERI Institutional & Family 
Office GmbH X X X

AIF Register Treuhand GmbH X¹

Supervisory scope of consolidation: ¹ Exemption as per § 31 (3) Sentence 2 of the German Banking Act (KWG)

The relevant supervisory disclosures as per § 26a of the German Banking Act (KWG) made with-
in the scope of the risk reporting of the MLP Financial Holding Group are designated as such.

Risk management system

Objective
Entrepreneurial activity invariably involves taking risks. For MLP Financial Holding Group, 
“risk” means the danger of possible losses or lost profits. This danger can be attributable to 
internal or external factors. Since it will not be possible to eliminate all risks, a risk that is 
commensurate with the expected return must be targeted. The aim is to identify risks as early 
as possible in order to react to them quickly and appropriately. Our risk management system 
currently records risks in particular. In addition to this, we also focus on business opportunities. 
Particularly in Product Management and Purchasing, business opportunities in the market are 
identified in a targeted process for the individual product segments. Implementation is then 
tested and initiated, taking into account the chances of success and the associated risks. You 
can find a detailed description of the significant opportunities for the MLP Financial Holding 
Group in the separate opportunity report.
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MLP’s group-wide early risk detection and monitoring system is used as the basis for a group-wide 
active risk management. This system ensures appropriate identification, assessment, controlling, 
monitoring and communication of the major risks. Risk management is a key component of the 
value-driven management and planning system in the MLP Financial Holding Group. Moreover, 
the Group’s risk culture is continuously consolidated and efforts are made to communicate 
information relevant to risk across all business segments.
 

Risk policies

The Executive Board of the controlling company defines the business strategy, as well as a con-
sistent risk strategy for the MLP Financial Holding Group. The Group-wide risk propensity is 
derived from the risk strategy, taking into account the risk-bearing ability. On this basis, frame-
work conditions for risk management in the MLP Financial Holding Group are then defined. 
The readiness to take risks is regularly checked and adjusted as necessary.

The following basic principles are consistent with the business strategy and describe the central 
framework conditions for the risk management at the MLP Financial Holding Group:

The Executive Board is responsible for proper organisation of the business and its further 
development:
This responsibility includes defining appropriate strategies and setting up appropriate internal 
control procedures in particular - thereby assuming responsibility for all significant elements of 
risk management. The task of defining the business and risk strategy cannot be delegated. It is 
the responsibility of the Executive Board to implement the strategies, assess the risks associated 
with them and also put in place and monitor measures to ensure that these risks are limited.

The Executive Board bears responsibility for the risk strategy:
The Executive Board of the controlling company defines the risk strategy for the MLP Financial 
Holding Group, including the significant elements and assumptions on risk-bearing ability. The 
risk strategy reflects the risk propensity or “risk tolerance” based on the targeted risk/earnings 
ratio. The Executive Board ensures that a comprehensive approach, incorporating all key risk 
types, is incorporated in the companies and that suitable steps are taken to implement the risk 
strategy.

MLP promotes a strong awareness of risks and lives a pronounced risk culture:
A strong awareness of risks across all divisions and a corresponding risk culture are encour-
aged through appropriate organisational structures. Risk awareness that goes beyond each 
department’s or person’s own field of responsibility is essential. The effectiveness of the risk 
management system is continuously monitored and any adjustments that become necessary 
are implemented as quickly as possible. Appropriate data security and quality standards are 
established and subjected to continuous checks.
 
MLP pursues a strategy of comprehensive risk communication and risk reporting:
Detected risks are reported to the responsible management level openly and without restric-
tion. The Executive Board is informed in a comprehensive and timely manner (if necessary ad 
hoc) of the risk profile of the relevant risks, and profit and losses at the MLP Financial Holding 
Group. The Supervisory Board receives the information required to perform its legal obligations. 
Internal risk communication and risk reporting is supplemented by comprehensive, external 
publications that cater to the interests of MLP AG shareholders and the capital market and also 
comply with the supervisory requirements.
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Risk capital management and stress tests
Risk capital management is an integral part of the Group management system in the MLP Finan-
cial Holding Group. Active control of the economic capital adequacy based on the results of risk 
assessments and in compliance with the supervisory requirements ensures that risk-taking is 
always in line with capital backing.

Risks are only accepted within limits derived from aspects of the risk-bearing ability to achieve 
adequate returns, taking into account risk/earning factors. In particular this prevents risks that 
could threaten the continuity of the business model. 
 
The Executive Board defines the risk capital based on business policy targets and controls the 
risk profile in an appropriate ratio to the risk coverage fund. The focus is on the key risks for the 
MLP Financial Holding Group, which are identified at least once a year within the scope of a risk 
inventory (risk profile) performed throughout the Group. Here, the key risk indicators determined 
using standardised procedures are compared against threshold values applied throughout the 
Group. The Group-wide risk profile represents the basis for both risk capital management and 
the risk management and controlling processes. With reference to the minimum requirements 
of risk management systems (MaRisk), we take into account the proportionality principle with 
regard to implementation of § 25a of the German Banking Act (KWG).

The key risk types of counterparty default, market price, liquidity and operational risks are in 
particular quantified within the scope of the risk-bearing ability. The strategic and reputation risks 
(other risks) also represent significant risk types, although these are currently not quantified. All 
key risk types in all segments (Financial Services, Holding and FERI) are therefore significant.

In accordance with the guideline entitled “Prudential assessment of internal banking risk-bear-
ing capacity concepts” (published on December 7, 2011 by the Federal Financial Supervisory 
Authority), the internal assessment of the appropriateness of equity capital backing is performed 
based on the principles of continuation (going-concern approach) in the standard scenario, as 
well as the principles of liquidation in stress situations.

In the going-concern approach, the focus is on securing continued existence of the bank. In 
the liquidation approach, the objective is to protect the bank’s external providers of equity and 
owners.

As it has the largest business volume and greatest earning power, MLP Finanzdienstleistungen 
AG bears the greatest risks within the Financial Holding Group. This is also reflected in the 
allocation of 80% of the risk coverage fund to the Financial Services segment.

In controlling the financial risk capital, the regulatory requirements of capital adequacy (regu-
latory capital adequacy in line with the German Banking Act (KWG), Solvency Ordinance and 
Large Exposure and Million Loans Regulation) are additional conditions that are to be strictly 
complied with.
 

Risk capital management - 
risk-bearing ability
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Stress tests are also performed on a regular and ad hoc basis for special analysis of the effects of 
unusual yet still plausible events. Comprehensive analyses have therefore been implemented, 
both at the level of the individual risk types and across all risk types. The effects of potential 
concentrations of risks are also taken into account here.

When performing the standardised stress tests, the key risk drivers are scaled in such a way that 
they reflect disproportionately negative economic situations. The implemented stress tests can 
then be used to check whether the risk-bearing ability of the MLP Financial Holding Group can 
still be secured even under unfavourable economic framework conditions. The market value 
effects on the financial situation, the liquidity situation and the results of operations are also 
investigated in this connection.

Organisation
In the sense of § 25a (1a) of the German Banking Act (KWG) and in conjunction with AT 4.5 
of the Minimum Requirements for Risk Management (MaRisk), the Executive Board at MLP 
Finanzdienstleistungen AG ensured appropriate control and monitoring of the significant risks 
at Group level through suitable processes (AT 4.5 Tz. 1 MaRisk). This approach encompasses 
in particular

•• defining Group-wide strategies,

•• securing the Group’s risk-bearing ability,

•• establishing structural and organisational regulations for the Group,

•• implementing Group-wide risk management and controlling processes
	 and

•• setting up an Internal Audit department, which will operate throughout the Group.

In order to evaluate the risks of the MLP Financial Holding Group, MLP Finanzdienstleistungen 
AG, acting as a controlling company, obtains an overview of the risks in the Financial Holding 
Group on a regular and ad hoc basis. Based on the risks identified in the individual companies 
and their relative weighting, the “MaRisk scope of consolidation” is formed, which defines the 
scope of the Group-wide risk management system. In principle, all risks identified as significant 
within the Group by the controlling company are taken into account - regardless of whether 
the risks are caused by companies subject to mandatory consolidation in the sense of § 10a of 
the German Banking Act (KWG) or by other companies that do not fall within the scope of the 
Minimum Requirements for Risk Management (MaRisk). Group-wide regulations and policies 
for establishing Group-wide risk management at MLP are defined taking into account the type, 
scope, complexity and risk content, as well as the different application options provided by 
corporate law on an individual basis.

Our risk management concept follows clearly defined basic principles that are applied as binding 
throughout the entire Group and whose compliance is continuously checked. A crucial element 
of these principles is a clear organisational and operational distinction between the individual 
functions and activities of risk management.

We have defined and documented the organisation of risk management and the associated tasks 
and responsibilities in accordance with supervisory requirements, both at Group level and at the 
level of the Group companies. For risk management at Group level, appropriate organisational 
precautions which also define the framework for risk management design at the level of the 
individual Group companies are taken by MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG as a higher-level 
entity. The operational and organisational structure is regularly checked and assessed through 
internal audits and adapted to internal and external developments as they happen.

Stress tests

Group-wide risk  
management

Functional separation
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The Group Risk Manager is responsible for the risk monitoring and control activities in the 
MLP Financial Holding Group. He is kept continuously informed of the risk situation in the 
Financial Holding Group and gives regular reports on this to the entire Executive Board and 
Supervisory Board.

To be able to address risk topics early on and sustainably throughout the Group, while also 
increasing risk awareness, a risk controlling function has been set up at MLP. This function is 
responsible for independent monitoring and communication of risks. The company management 
is to involve the head of this function in any and all important risk policy-related decisions.

The Executive Board has also set up a compliance function, the duties of which include identifi-
cation of the key legal provisions and requirements, non-compliance with which can potentially 
jeopardise the assets of the MLP Financial Holding Group.
 
Risk management in the MLP Financial Holding Group and its local operating implementation 
in the business units is performed on the basis of the risk strategy. The units responsible for 
risk management reach decisions for conscious acceptance, reduction, transfer or avoidance of 
risks, observing the framework conditions specified centrally.

Risk controlling is responsible for the identification and assessment of risks, as well as for 
monitoring upper loss limits. This is accompanied by reporting the risks to the Executive Board 
and the business units that control the risks. Suitable early detection systems support risk mon-
itoring, identify potential problems early on and thereby enable prompt planning of measures.

Appropriate guidelines and an efficient monitoring process also ensure that the regulatory 
requirements for risk management and controlling are met by the Group companies.

The methods used at the MLP Financial Holding Group to assess risks are in line with the current 
level of knowledge and are aligned with practices in the banking sector as well as recommen-
dations of the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority. The results determined on the basis of 
the risk models are entirely suitable for controlling the risks. The measurement concepts are 
subject to regular checks by risk controlling, as well as internal and external audits. However, 
despite careful model development and regular checks, it is conceivable for circumstances to 
occur that lead to greater losses than those forecast by the risk models.

Controlling is responsible for continuously monitoring trends in earnings. This involves com-
paring revenue and earnings levels with the corresponding planned figures and thereby creating 
continuous transparency for the Executive Board.

The analysis time line of strategic controlling covers the next two to four years. In this connection 
sales and profit trends are analysed (in particular taking into account changes in economic or legal 
framework conditions) and transformed into target figures for the individual business segments. 

Group Risk Manager

Risk controlling function

Compliance function

Risk management and  
controlling processes

Controlling monitors  
earnings trends
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Group accounting is the central contact for all accounting questions, both at individual company 
and Group level. Financial accounting acts as the central processing point for all accounting-re-
lated information. Job descriptions, substitution plans and work instructions are all in place to 
support the correct procedure. Process descriptions and various checklists are also available for 
further support. All regulations and instructions are published in the organisation manual, which 
is continuously updated and can be accessed by all employees. Functional separations, as well 
as ongoing and subsequent checks based on the “four-eyes principle”, are in place to prevent 
any misuse or fraud. Continuous further training of employees ensures that all accounting is 
performed in line with current legislation.

The internal audit department, which assumes monitoring and control tasks in major Group 
companies on the basis of outsourcing contracts, as well as MLP FDL AG in the form of a 
controlling company in accordance with § 10a (3) of the German Banking Act (KWG), consti-
tutes an important element of the internal monitoring system. The internal audit department 
performs regular, systematic risk-oriented inspections with regard to compliance with legal, 
supervisory and internal specifications. The department also monitors the functional separation 
and effectiveness of the risk management system, and performs follow-up procedures on audit 
recommendations. The minimum requirements for risk management governing the internal 
audit function are complied with throughout the Group. 
 
The internal audit department operates in an independent capacity throughout the Group on 
behalf of the Executive Board.

A substantial risk reporting scheme forms the basis for appropriate and successful corporate 
management. This is complemented by an extensive system of internal reporting, which provides 
the key decision-makers with prompt information on the current risk situation. Risk reports 
are generated at fixed intervals or, if necessary, produced ad-hoc. In addition, planning, simu-
lation and control instruments show possible positive and negative developments to the most 
important value and controlling parameters of the business model and their effect on the net 
assets, financial position and results of operations.

Risk reports are submitted to the controlling units, the Executive Board and the Supervisory 
Board. Those receiving the reports are informed promptly and comprehensively of changes to 
relevant influential factors.
 

Statement of risks

The MLP Financial Holding Group is exposed to various financial risks. These in particular 
comprise counterparty default, market price and liquidity risks.

Important changes to the risks compared to the previous year resulted from the increasing 
importance of FERI Trust (Luxembourg) S.A. within the MLP Financial Holding Group due to 
growing volumes of receivables and business it handles, as well as an increasing profit contri-
bution, which is largely achieved from business with one client.

Alongside financial risks, there are also operational and other risks, such as strategic and rep-
utation risks.

   

Internal controlling system in 
the accounting process

Internal audits

Risk reporting
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Financial risks
The counterparty default risk is the risk of a loss or lost profit due to the defaulting of or deteri-
oration in creditworthiness of a business partner. The credit risk includes the contracting party 
risk (re-covering risk and advance performance and counterparty settlement risk), as well as 
the risks related to specific countries which, however, are only of secondary importance to the 
MLP Financial Holding Group.

As of the balance sheet date of December 31, 2013, gross loans of the MLP Financial Holding 
Group amounted to € 1,755.1 million (previous year: 1,733.6 million). In this connection, gross 
loans are defined as the exposure value before the recognition of collateral (in the standardised 
approach to credit risk incl. allowances for losses on individual accounts) in accordance with 
the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV).

The counterparty default risks of the MLP Financial Holding Group are essentially made up 
of the client credit business under the company’s own liability, the company’s own business 
and the commission receivables against our product partners. There are no significant risks 
related to specific countries, as 98.05% of debtors are located in the Federal Republic of Germa-
ny (previous year: 97.97%). The other regions (1.95%, previous year: 2.03%) mainly concern 
Luxembourg and France.

The identification of potential concentrations of risks constitutes another key component of 
credit risk management. Those risks which come about due to an uneven distribution of busi-
ness partners in credit relations or other business relations or which are caused by sectoral/
geographical business focuses and are capable of generating such great losses that the solvency 
of an institute may be threatened are classed as concentrations of risk in the credit portfolio. 
To be able to identify concentrations of risk in the lending business early on, the portfolio is 
analysed using various approaches, such as investigations based on sector, size and risk classes 
or security categories. Concentrations of risk are also given special consideration in the stress 
tests specific to the risk types.

To minimise potential concentrations of risk before they can even occur, the MLP Financial 
Holding Group follows a strategy of diversification and risk avoidance. Thus, investments are 
diversified into bonds, debentures and other financial instruments across various sectors. We 
have defined binding investment limits for the individual sectors and issuers via our capital 
investment directive. These limits were observed at all times over the course of the year.

In the consumer business, potential concentrations in ratings classes with high failure rates 
should be avoided. This is achieved by focusing on commission-based products and the retail 
products of credit cards and accounts in connection with the targeted client segments. In addition 
to this, avoidance of major individual risks is a further central component of the credit policy 
in place at the MLP Financial Holding Group. Focusing on the target group of academics and 
other discerning private clients allows an attractive profit margin to be achieved.

Counterparty default risks

Concentration of risk

annual report mlp 201366



The sectors are divided into the following groups in accordance with § 327 (2) No. 3 of the 
Solvency Ordinance (SolvV): 

   
Main sectors

Loans, commitments and 
other non-derivative off-

balance-sheet assets

Securities Derivative 
financial instruments

Main sectors in € million 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Domestic banks 570.4 556.3 64.2 81.3 0.0 0.0

Deutsche Bundesbank 10.3 13.5 – – – – 

Foreign banks 11.4 16.5 – 4.9 – – 

Insurance companies 59.0 19.0 – 16.1 – – 

Other financing institutions 5.0 6.9 – 1.0 – – 

Other companies 618.9 745.5 11.0 – – – 

Self-employed persons 161.0 134.6 – – – – 

Employees 150.3 69.7 – – – – 

Other private individuals 57.3 47.0 – – – – 

Foreign companies and private individuals 22.8 18.7 13.5 2.6 – – 

Total 1,666.4 1,627.7 88.7 105.9 0.0 0.0

The contractually fixed terms to maturity in accordance with § 327 (2) No. 4 of the Solvency 
Ordinance (SolvV) are listed in the following overview: 
 
   
Residual terms

Loans, commitments and 
other non-derivative off-

balance-sheet assets

Securities Derivative 
financial instruments

Residual terms in € million 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

< 1 year 912.9 922.9 26.3 31.1 – –

1 year – 5 years 338.5 317.7 49.2 56.1 0.0 0.0

> 5 years to open-ended 415.0 387.0 13.2 18.7 – –

Total 1,666.4 1,627.7 88.7 105.9 0.0 0.0

The responsibilities in the credit business, from application, through authorisation, to completion 
and including regular monitoring with regular creditworthiness analyses, have been defined 
and documented in the organisational guidelines. Decision-making authority is laid down in 
the authority regulations, which themselves are based on the risk content of the transactions.

We also monitor and control any potential default risks from advances paid to consultants and 
office managers via a layered warning system, in which any incidents are quickly detected and 
active receivables management is guaranteed.
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Loan approval, in particular in the client credit business, takes the form of credit limits being 
granted for the individual borrower or borrower unit. Individual credit decisions are reached 
by specialised employees that follow clearly defined guidelines based on the size, creditworthi-
ness and collateral of the respective borrower. A special scoring process allows fast decisions 
to be made, in particular for credit cards and accounts in the retail lending business, while also 
securing consistently high quality.

The basis of our credit decisions is always the creditworthiness of the borrower. Collateral does 
not have any influence on the borrower’s rating. Depending on the structure of a transaction, 
collateral can however be of significance for the risk assessment of a commitment.

All forms of traditional loan collateral are essentially used throughout. This specifically includes 
mortgages on residential and commercial property, warranties, sureties, life insurance policies, 
financial collateral, as well as assigned receivables. As a rule, privileged mortgages, warranties 
and financial collateral are used for supervisory recognition under the Solvency Ordinance. 
Receivables and physical collateral are currently not taken into account.

Eligible financial collateral of the MLP Financial Holding Group within the scope of retail 
business pursuant to § 336 and in connection with § 154 (1) No. 1 of the Solvency Ordinance 
(SolvV) is only included in the risk assessment pursuant to the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV) at 
a negligible level.

As a whole, the potential credit loss risks are continuously determined and evaluated by sim-
ulating the allowances for bad debt as a percentage of the credit volume that carries risks. For 
accounts that are regarded as carrying acute risk, we build up appropriate allowances for bad 
debt. Loans that are recognised as being problematic are transferred to certain specialist depart-
ments and managed by experts.

The non-performing and defaulted receivables in accordance with § 327 (2) No. 5 of the Solvency 
Ordinance (SolvV) are divided into main industries or groups of debtors. MLP defines the trans-
actions of a client as non-performing if a default incident occurs in accordance with § 125 of the 
Solvency Ordinance (SolvV), irrespective of whether any allowances for losses have been formed. 
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Non-performing and defaulted loans

Main sectors 
in € million 
(previous year)

Total 
availment of 

non-performing 
and defaulted 

loans (including 
impairment)

Specific 
allowance 

for 
doubtful 
accounts

General 
allowance 

for bad 
debts

General 
allowance 

for 
doubtful 
accounts

Provision 
allowance

Net allocation/
reversals for 
specific and 

general 
allowance 

for doubtful 
accounts/

provisions
Direct 

write-offs

Income from 
receivables 
which have 

already been 
written off

Defaulted 
loans

 (excluding 
impairment)

Self-employed 
persons 17.1 (18.8) 4.5 (5.3) 0.1 (3.2) 3.3 (0.0) – (–) 1.5 (–3.6) 1.4 (3.0) – (0.0) – (–)

Employees 
and other 
individuals 15.3 (18.2)  4.5 (6.0)  5.7 (7.6) 2.4 (1.4)  0.4 (0.4) 0.9 (–2.7)  0.2 (1.3)  0.3 (0.3) 0.3 (0.3)

Total 32.4 (37.0)  9.0 (11.4)  5.8 (10.9) 5.7 (1.4)  0.4 (0.4)  2.3 (–6.3)  1.6 (4.3)  0.3 (0.3) 0.3 (0.3)

The non-performing and defaulted loans are exclusively in the Federal Republic of Germany.

The development of the allowances for losses is as follows in accordance with § 327 (2) No. 6 
of the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV):

 
Development of the allowances for losses

Amount in € million 
(previous year)

Opening 
balance Reclassification Allocations Reversals Utilisation

Other 
Changes

Closing 
balance

Specific allowance 
for doubtful accounts 11.3 (15.5) – (–) 1.5 (1.1) 0.7 (0.7) 3.2 (4.5) – (–) 9.0 (11.4)

General allowance 
for bad debts 10.9 (12.5) –3.1 (–) 0.4 (0.3) 0.0 (1.4) 2.4 (0.4) – (–) 5.8 (10.9)

General allowance 
for doubtful accounts 1.4 (1.2) 3.1 (–) 1.6 (0.3) 0.4 (0.0) – (–) – (–) 5.7 (1.4)

Provisions  0.4 (1.1) – (–) – (0.0)  0.0 (0.6) – (0.2) 0.0 (0.1) 0.4 (0.4)

Total 24.0 (30.3) – (–) 3.6 (1.6)  1.2 (2.8) 5.6 (5.1) 0.0 (0.1) 20.8 (24.0)

In addition to the above-described risks, there is an issuer’s risk from the bonds, debentures 
and other financial instruments acquired. We reduce the risk of default among issuers, whose 
securities we have acquired within the scope of capital investment management - also in light 
of current market trends - through the specified creditworthiness requirements of our capital 
investment directive. Where available, the MLP Financial Holding Group also bases its deci-
sions in the field of financial investments on external ratings. Within the scope of internal risk 
management, the MLP Financial Holding Group uses the state, bank and company ratings of 
the agencies Moody’s, Fitch and Standard & Poor’s for the relevant receivables classes.

The individual receivables classes are assigned a risk weighting in line with the Solvency Ordi-
nance. This process is illustrated below in accordance with § 328 of the Solvency Ordinance 
(SolvV): 
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Risk weighting per receivables class

Risk weighting in %

Total outstanding receivables in accordance 
with standard approach

before credit risk reduction
 (in € million)

after credit risk reduction 
(in € million)

2013 2012 2013 2012

0 80.2 82.7 80.2 82.7

10 1.2 23.8 1.2 23.8

20 666.6 640.7 666.2 640.3

35 46.2 27.7 45.5 27.1

50 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2

70 – – – –

75 306.2 276.6 288.9 255.7

90 – – – –

100 504.1 532.7 503.8 532.7

115 – – – –

150 11.3 29.2 8.8 26.9

190 – – – –

250 – – – –

290 – – – –

350 – – – –

370 – – – –

1250 – –  – –

Alienation of capital 1,616.1 1,613.6 1,594.9 1,589.4

The MLP Financial Holding Group records investments in the asset ledger in line with § 332 
No. 2a - b of the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV). The investments recorded in the asset ledger 
encompass investment instruments of affiliated companies of € 294 million (previous year: 
€ 289 million), as well as listed securities of € 4.7 million (previous year: € 5.5 million). The 
investments and the shares in affiliated companies are not listed on the stock exchange. The 
investments in the asset ledger are therefore disclosed according to the principle of lower of 
cost or market applicable to fixed assets.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses from investments in line with § 332 No. 2c – d of the 
Solvency Ordinance (SolvV) break down as follows:

   
Realised and unrealised gains and losses from investments

in € million

Realised gains/losses from sales/ 
liquidations

Latent revaluation gains (losses)

in total amounts thereof included in 
tier 2 capital

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Total –0.1 –0.3 –0.2 –1.3 0.0 0.0
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The MLP Financial Holding Group has derivative counterparty default risk and netting positions 
as per § 326 of the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV) (interest rate swap). The face value of these 
swaps is € 5 million (previous year: € 5 million). The negative replacement value is € 0.2 million 
(previous year: € 0.3 million).

The credit value at risk is approximated using simplified formulae of capital adequacy require-
ments in line with the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV) for calculating the economic counterparty 
default risk and for the purpose of internally controlling the counterparty default risks. In general 
various methods are available for this in accordance with the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV). In 
terms of the calculation methods, differentiation is made between the standardised approach to 
credit risk (KSA) and the approach based on internal ratings (IRBA). Depending on the rating 
status of the receivables due to the MLP Financial Holding Group, the internal control system 
is based on the various supervisory calculation methods.

In our view, the counterparty default risks at the MLP Financial Holding Group are being allowed 
for appropriately.

Market price risks

The MLP Financial Holding Group understands market price risks as the uncertainty regarding 
changes in market prices and rates (including interest, share prices, exchange rates and raw 
material prices), the correlations between them and their volatility. The market price risks are 
made up of the market price risk in the narrow sense and the market liquidity risk.

Interest rate and price risks represent the sub-categories of the market price risk which are 
important for us.

Interest rate risks essentially come about from incomplete congruency of interest rate agreements 
between the loans granted and their refinancing. Market price risks are also caused by internal 
business activities. These maturity transformation risks are continuously monitored and assessed 
in compliance with supervisory requirements (stress scenarios). There are currently only very 
minor open risk items in foreign currency.

In order to reduce the cash flow-relevant interest risk, we use derivative financial instruments 
(interest rate swaps) on a small scale. The interest rate swaps do not serve any speculative pur-
poses, but are rather intended to hedge interest risks. They are not subject to hedge accounting.

Possible effects of different interest development scenarios are portrayed via planning and sim-
ulation calculations. The risks and their effects are made transparent based on assumptions of 
multilayer interest scenarios. In this context, cash value changes of all items in the asset ledger are 
shown in relation to the equity, with the application of the changes in interest rates prescribed by 
the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority. The simulation is performed by automated means 
for all the interest-bearing and interest-sensitive items. It is in this manner that the controlling 
of the interest risk is ensured. The change in value determined in the reporting period always 
remained significantly below the threshold of 20% of equity - a threshold which, if exceeded, 
would give us the status of an institute with increased interest risk.

Interest rate risks
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In accordance with § 333 of the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV), the interest risks in the asset ledger 
of the MLP Financial Holding Group, which are calculated monthly, are as follows:

  
Interest rate risks

Amount in € million

Interest rate shock/parallel shift

Change in value + 200 BP Change in value – 200 BP

2013 2012 2013 2012

Total 1.1 3.5 0.6 –1.0

Shares, bonds, promissory note bonds and funds held can be subject to an exchange risk due to 
fluctuations in the market interest rate or changes in creditworthiness. Through constant moni-
toring and evaluation of our portfolio, possible effects on results caused by strong exchange rate 
fluctuations can be addressed early on. We thereby ensure a prompt reaction to market changes. 
We use a value-at-risk calculation when performing risk measurements. The nominal change 
in value of share price-based securities is determined for the significant price risks. A holding 
period of 250 trading days and a confidence level of 97.0% are assumed here.

The recognition of equity requirements for market risks in accordance with § 330 of the Solvency 
Ordinance (SolvV) is not relevant to the MLP Financial Holding Group.

There are minor risks relating to foreign currency or commodities. In the year under review, no 
speculative use was made of financial instruments – such as securitisation transactions – with a 
view to making profits in the short term, nor is this envisaged for the future. The MLP Finanz-
dienstleistungen AG continues to hold the status of a non-trading book institute.

Liquidity risks

The MLP Financial Holding Group understands liquidity risks to mean uncertainty in terms 
of the availability of funds to meet payment obligations or reduce risk items which is either 
insufficient or which can only be secured by accepting unfavourable terms. Liquidity risks can 
result from both internal and external risk factors.

The fundamental principles of liquidity control and planning are defined in the internal guide-
lines. In controlling the liquidity risk, we employ two different approaches, operational and 
structural.

Price risks
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The central instruments and control variables of operational liquidity control at the MLP Financial 
Holding Group include itemisation of financial assets and refinancing sources in the company’s 
own business as per the balance sheet date within the scope of cash management, but also the 
liquidity and observation ratios of the liquidity regulation. In addition to this, within the scope 
of liquidity control the volume of daily net cash inflows and outflows is observed and incorpo-
rated into the risk assessment based on the liquidity at risk. The liquidity at risk (LaR) describes 
the anticipated cash payment surplus (net funding requirement) which will not be exceeded at 
a defined level of probability within a given period of time. Sufficient funds were available to 
cover short-term liquidity requirements at any time.

The funding matrix is the central instrument of structural liquidity control at the MLP Financial 
Holding Group and also a preliminary step towards economic analysis of additional refinanc-
ing costs. It indicates for each time frame whether there is a surplus or possible shortfall of 
financing means and thereby allows open liquidity items to be controlled. The liquidity value 
at risk, which indicates the additional refinancing costs required to close open liquidity items, 
is another key instrument of structural liquidity control and is also used in risk capital manage-
ment. When determining the liquidity value at risk as of December 31, 2013, net cash inflows 
for the year were in line with forecasts and no additional refinancing costs are thus expected 
to occur. If, contrary to expectations, net cash outflows should occur, sufficient cash reserves 
are available. The liquidity risk in the MLP Financial Holding Group results primarily from 
MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG as the deposit-taking bank. The refinancing structure is based 
largely on client deposits. There are no plans to issue any promissory note bonds or securities. 
Appropriate short and medium-term credit lines have also been agreed to safeguard against a 
possible short-term liquidity shortfall.

Alongside the assumed development in standard scenarios, we have also defined stress scenarios 
to simulate potential increases in liquidity requirements as a result of a negative change in the 
market environment. These enable us to introduce any countermeasures deemed necessary in 
good time.

Operational risks

Operational risk is the risk of losses caused by inadequacy or failure of internal procedures and 
systems, people or by external events. This definition includes legal risks.

Operational risks are identified and assessed locally throughout the Group in the individual 
organisational units. To this end, a risk inventory is performed at least once a year. Within 
this scope, experts from all specialist departments examine and assess the operational risks on 
the basis of self-assessments. They are broken down into an assessment of risk potential for 
identification and evaluation of the main risks and into suggested measures derived from this.

The frequency of occurrence and potential extent of damages presented by the risk scenario 
being examined are determined when assessing an identified operational risk. Both empirical 
values and projections for the upcoming period of one year are applied here. The risks identified 
are managed using corresponding risk control strategies.

In addition to this, any loss/damage occurring at the MLP Financial Holding Group is continu-
ously recorded and analysed. Collecting all loss/damage data allows loss events to be identified 
and evaluated as a way of detecting trends and any concentration of operational risks. The 
results are collated and checked for feasibility by risk controlling and then made available to 
the Executive Board and the controlling units.

Operational liquidity control

Structural liquidity control
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The MLP Financial Holding Group currently uses the basic indicator approach in line with §§ 
270 et seq. of the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV) As per § 331 of the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV), 
the procedure used to determine the equity needed to back operational risks is explained in the 
following: Within the scope of the basic indicator approach, the supervisory capital charge for 
the operational risk is determined using a fixed calculation scheme. On this basis the capital 
charge is 15% of the average gross proceeds of the last three financial years, whereby only 
positive gross proceeds are taken into account.

The operational and organisational structure at the MLP Financial Holding Group is compre-
hensively documented and laid down in our organisation guidelines. Reduction of operational 
risks from internal procedures along with the reduction in the frequency and level of losses is 
primarily achieved through continuous improvement of business processes and the expansion 
of the internal monitoring system. Further safeguarding measures include risk transfer through 
the conclusion of insurance policies and consciously avoiding risky products. In order to secure 
the continuation of business operations, comprehensive emergency and business continuity 
plans are also in place for the most important areas and processes.

Within the scope of business continuity management (BCM), critical company processes are 
identified, the failure of which could have significant influence on the Group’s business oper-
ations. To this end, suitable measures are defined in the form of central alternative actions. In 
the event of an emergency, these measures allow business operations to continue, albeit with 
reduced performance. The critical processes and the effectiveness of the defined measures are 
subject to regular monitoring and continuous development. BCM documentation is available 
to the business segments and employees in the organisation manual.

The MLP Financial Holding Group places great value on having qualified employees and man-
agers, particularly in the back-office areas. Staff resources and sufficient qualification/training 
of employees are secured by the responsible specialist departments. We reduce the risk of staff 
shortages through appropriate personnel planning and targeted personnel marketing measures.

Employees working with confidential information undertake to observe the respective regula-
tions and handle the information responsibly. A clear separation of management and control 
functions restricts the risk of breaching internal and external regulations. Defined substitute 
and successor regulations guarantee that the necessary procedures are still securely maintained, 
even when employees are unexpectedly unavailable for work.

 A possible error in client consulting, investment and acquisition brokerage or finance portfolio 
management and associated claims for damages can present a consulting and liability risk. We 
minimise potential consulting risks by maintaining consistently high quality consulting which 
we ensure, for example, through IT-supported consulting tools. Consultations with our clients 
and the results coming from this are comprehensively documented. A high standard of train-
ing is guaranteed by our own Corporate University, at which each of our consultants initially 
attends extra-occupational training to become a Senior Financial Consultant. Our Corporate 
University has received the seal of approval with distinction from the European Foundation for 
Management Development (EFMD) and was also certified by the Foundation for International 
Business Administration Accreditation (FIBAA) in 2013.

Capital charge according to 
the basic indicator approach

Risks from internal  
procedures

Human resources risks
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To effectively minimise possible IT risks, the MLP Financial Holding Group pursues appropri-
ate strategies. When selecting our IT systems, we generally opt for industry-specific standard 
software from reputable providers. If necessary, business-specific proprietary IT applications 
are developed by qualified specialists. Extensive tests performed at specialist process level and 
system level followed by the established final acceptance processes before going live ensure that 
our IT systems operate correctly. Our data processing centre is outsourced to leading service 
providers with various sites, back-up systems and a defined contingency plan (BCM). This secures 
our data against possible loss, thereby ensuring availability and consistency. We protect our IT 
systems against unauthorised access through access and authorisation concepts, extensive virus 
protection, as well as other comprehensive security measures.

As business processes are focused on the brokerage and banking business, on cost optimisation 
and on scalability, the MLP Financial Holding Group makes use of external partners for standard 
services. All significant outsourcing activities are closely intertwined with risk management and 
thereby incorporated in the risk management and controlling processes. Responsibilities for 
outsourced processes are clearly set out at the MLP Financial Holding Group. This ensures that 
any potential organisational, structural or process-based risks that may occur due to outsourced 
business activities are closely controlled.

In addition to this, corresponding insurance policies have been concluded where appropriate to 
minimise risks from external events such as fraud, burglary, theft or damage due to force majeure.

Internal security measures are also set up in such a way that any attempts at fraud, burglary or 
theft are thwarted before they begin.

Risks arising for the MLP Financial Holding Group from fraudulent or other criminal conduct 
are identified and regularly assessed within the scope of the risk analysis performed to identify 
potential hazards caused by criminal conduct (both internal and external). Both the risk assess-
ment and the individual measures implemented to avoid criminal conduct are performed by 
the relevant section at company HQ pursuant to § 25c of the German Banking Act (KWG) and 
are also incorporated into the operational risk inventory process.

In line with Section 4.4.2 of Germany’s “MaRisk” minimum risk management requirements, the 
significant legal provisions and stipulations for the MLP Financial Holding Group were identified 
in 2013 within the scope of the requirements of the Compliance function. Failure to comply with 
these provisions and requirements could pose a considerable threat to the assets of the MLP 
Group. As per Germany’s “MaRisk” minimum risk management requirements, the Compliance 
function works towards implementation of effective procedures, alongside corresponding con-
trol measures by the respectively competent departments, to comply with the significant legal 
stipulations and internal regulations and provides regular reports, including ad-hoc reports 
when and where necessary, on its activities to the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board.

To ensure maintenance of critical processes in all cases, the potential consequences of external 
events are examined within the scope of the Business Continuity Management system and 
corresponding plans of action drawn up.

IT risks

Risks from external events
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Our legal department controls legal risks. In addition to consulting on corporate decisions and 
designing business processes, its tasks include following and assessing current legal disputes. 
Possible legal risks are routinely detected and possible solutions for minimising, limiting or 
preventing such risks are shown. The legal department coordinates the commissioning and inte-
gration of external lawyers. Within the scope of risk mitigation, the legal department checks and 
monitors the existing insurance coverage and initiates any adjustments which may be necessary.

According to our review, the pending or threatening legal proceedings against the MLP Financial 
Holding Group do not represent risks which could endanger the Group’s continued existence. 
The Executive Board at MLP AG is convinced that the legal claims filed since August 2007 with 
virtually the same wording and originating from a single firm of lawyers will not be successful. 
These claims have been filed for 32 clients for damages due to the issuing of allegedly erroneous 
capital market information between 2000 and 2002. Two of them have already been withdrawn.

In addition to this, MLP AG filed a lawsuit against several former shareholders in FERI AG for 
negative declaratory relief in January 2012. The aim of this lawsuit is to attain judicial assessment 
confirming that the claims asserted by the former shareholders are not valid. In the meantime the 
defendants have filed counterclaims within the scope of the case and are seeking to substantiate 
their alleged claims. It is the opinion of MLP that the claims made following the acquisition of 
outstanding shares in FERI AG in April 2011 are unfounded and have no legal basis.

Changes that emerge in tax law are continually checked and examined with regard to any effects 
they may have on the MLP Financial Holding Group. The company’s compliance with fiscal 
requirements is checked by internal and external experts in accordance with the tax regulations 
and the documents pertaining to these issued by the tax authority.

Other risks

Reputation risks are defined as risks that occur due to a loss of image by the MLP Financial 
Holding Group, either as a whole or by a single or several operating units, among eligible parties, 
shareholders, clients, employees, business partners or the general public. We are in particular 
subjected to the risk that public trust in our Group may be negatively influenced through public 
reporting of a transaction, a business partner or a business practice in which a client is involved. 
We minimise potential consulting risks by maintaining consistently high quality consulting 
which we ensure, for example, through IT-supported consulting tools. Consultations with our 
clients and the results arising from these are comprehensively documented.

   

Legal risks

Taxation risks

Reputation risks
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General business risks
Changes in economic and political factors can affect the business model and the development of 
the MLP Financial Holding Group. We therefore constantly monitor national and international 
developments in the political, economic and regulatory arenas as well as business developments 
and requirements on the financial services market. The knowledge bundled at FERI EuroRating 
Services AG offers us particular support in this regard.

The consequences of the European debt crisis have been significantly calmed by the expansive 
monetary policy of the European Central Bank (ECB). However, the effects of the rather slow 
improvement to the global economic situation on Germany – where the MLP Financial Holding 
Group generates a very large percentage of its revenue – were still discernible. According to 
calculations of the German Federal Statistical Office, the inflation-adjusted increase in gross 
domestic product (GDP) was just 0.4%, following 0.7% in 2012. This can largely be attributed 
to stable domestic demand.

Despite the economic uncertainties caused by the European debt crisis, the employment situation 
on the German employment market proved favourable and stable, especially for well-trained 
specialists. This also had a positive influence on the net income of households, which increased 
compared to the previous year.

Due to an improved economic situation in the eurozone, the leading economic research institutes 
are now predicting growth of 1.6% for Germany in 2014. This is helped by continuing very stable 
domestic demand. Export prospects are also likely to once again display positive development 
thanks to the gradual recovery of the eurozone.

For the MLP Financial Holding Group we do not expect any radical changes to the market con-
ditions in the field of old-age provision. This is largely due to the ongoing period of low interest 
rates and current discussions regarding life insurance products.

Although the population is fully aware of the topic of old age poverty and real income gains are 
to be expected, our private client target group of academics remains reluctant to sign long-term 
provision and savings plans. 

The financial services sector in Germany remains very heterogeneous and is characterised by 
a high level of competitive pressure. The battle to win clients, particularly private clients, has 
intensified. A large number of new or revised regulations, as well as identifiable trends in client 
behaviour are factors which can have a significant influence on the business of the MLP Finan-
cial Holding Group. The ever stricter regulations are increasing pressure, above all on smaller 
providers, which will lead to further consolidation of the market.

However, we are well prepared for the changes that lie ahead. The quality of our consulting ser-
vices, our focus on selected client groups, our independence and our early adoption of numerous 
legal and regulatory requirements put us in a strong market position.

The MLP Financial Holding Group is in a good position thanks to sustainable diversification of 
its business activities. The uncertainty associated with the European debt crisis and the ongoing 
period of low interest rates – including the ECB’s decision to reduce the prime rate to 0.25% – 
continue to present significant issues regarding development of the old-age provision segment. 
Private clients in particular remain very insecure and are therefore continuing to display reser-
vations in signing long-term contracts.

Overall economic risks

Business environment and 
sector-related risks
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Corporate strategy risks largely consist in the erroneous assessment of market trends and, in 
consequence, the erroneous alignment of business activities. Strategic risks also emanate from 
unexpected changes in market and environmental conditions with negative effects on the results 
of operations.

Corporate strategy control is primarily the responsibility of the Executive Board. Changes and 
developments on the national and international markets and the business environment are 
analysed on the basis of continual observation of the competitive environment and decisions are 
derived with a view to securing and building on the Group’s corporate success in the long term.

Target values are laid down based on a projected assessment of success factors. The achievement 
of these values is constantly monitored. In this way the Group’s strategic positioning regularly 
undergoes critical scrutiny through comparison of target and actual values.

With its focus on providing independent and holistic advice to academics and other discerning 
clients, MLP is well positioned in the market. Our mission and goal is to be the number one 
among our clients – i.e. their first point of contact for all questions regarding holistic financial 
management.

The strong market position among students and academics guarantees continuous expansion 
of our client base through the acquisition of new clients. In addition to this, the long-standing 
and close business relationships we maintain with our clients guarantee further penetration 
within our existing client base.

To ensure that we can continue providing our clients with qualified, top-level advice, we place 
great emphasis on selecting and training our consultants. Linking a sufficient number of com-
petent consultants to the company over the long term and ensuring low consultant turnover are 
important prerequisites for the future growth of the MLP Financial Holding Group.

In light of the ever challenging market environment, above all in the field of old-age provision 
but also in terms of the rapidly changing regulatory environment, we are underpinning our 
strategy of profitable growth with a comprehensive efficiency management.

All key value drivers in MLP’s business model are subject to continuous analysis and active 
management via a comprehensive system of central and local controlling. The Group strategy 
and the measures it involves, all of which are set out by the Executive Board, are reflected within 
the scope of budget and long-term planning as a way of analysing their effects on the business 
situation. Continuous reporting is performed to record the anticipated course of business, so 
that action can be taken quickly in the event of any negative deviations.

No quantification of other risks is currently performed within the scope of internal risk man-
agement. However, to adequately accommodate the risks resulting from this, an adequate buffer 
is included in the risk-bearing ability.

Corporate strategy risks
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Results of the analysis of risk-bearing ability

The MLP Financial Holding Group pursues a going-concern approach with a confidence level 
of 97% when controlling risks. This is based on protection of the minimum capital backing 
required by law and thereby continuation of the business operations of the MLP Financial Hold-
ing Group. Free equity capital that is available after meeting the regulatory ratios for minimum 
capitalisation and a buffer are in place to serve as risk coverage potential.

The Executive Board set up a risk coverage fund of € 120 million available in 2013 in order 
to cover the risk types which we consider to be significant, namely the counterparty default 
risk, market price risk, liquidity risk, as well as operational and other risks. At 43% and 41% 
respectively, counterparty default risks and operational risks take up the majority of the risk 
coverage fund available. MLP Financial services allocates 80% of the risk capital by segment.

At no point did our limit utilisations reach the threshold of 90%. In fact, we are far from any 
critical utilisation. The MLP Financial Holding Group thus displayed a solid risk-bearing ability 
throughout 2013.

Key banking regulatory figures and Solvency Ordinance

The MLP Financial Holding Group is obliged to back its weighted risk assets with at least 8% 
equity (equity ratio). The backing of risk assets with core capital (tier 1 capital) generally requires 
a minimum ratio of 4%. These requirements have not changed in the financial year 2013. The 
same applies for MLP’s internal processes, objectives and measures for investment control.

Pursuant to § 31 (3) Sentence 1, 2 of the German Banking Act (KWG), the companies listed in 
the following were not included in the summary as per §§ 10 a (6) – (12), 12 a (1) Sentence 1 and 
13 b (3) and (4) of the German Banking Act (KWG) in the sense of §§ 10 a (1) – (5) and 13 b (2) 
of the German Banking Act (KWG) or included in the condensed monthly financial statement 
pursuant to § 25 (2) of the German Banking Act (KWG) (RS 06/2008 BA). The Federal Financial 
Supervisory Authority (BaFin) was informed accordingly:

•• FERI Private Equity GmbH & Co. KG, Germany

•• FERI Private Equity Nr. 2 GmbH & Co. KG, Germany

•• FERI Trust AG (Switzerland), Switzerland

•• FPE Direct Coordination GmbH, Germany

•• FPE Private Equity Beteiligungs-Treuhand GmbH, Germany

•• FPE Private Equity Koordinations GmbH, Germany

•• TPC GmbH, Germany

•• AIF Komplementär GmbH, Germany (since 12/2013)

•• AIF Register Treuhand GmbH, Germany (since 12/2013)
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The equity structure of MLP is as follows in accordance with § 324 of the Solvency Ordinance 
(SolvV): 

   
Equity components

Equity components (in € million) 2013 2012

Paid-in capital (business capital, share capital, capital stock, endowment capital and 
business assets) excluding cumulative preference shares 141.2 141.1

General reserves 361.1 347.0

Net accumulated losses from investments – –

Unappropriated profit, interim profit – –

Investments in accordance with § 10 (6) Sentence 1 No. 1 of the German Banking Act 
(KWG) (investment carrying amounts) –287.3 –282.9

Investments of silent partners – –

Special items for general bank risks in line with § 340g of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB) 4.5 2.5

Unblocked assets recognised by the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) – –

Deductible items according to § 10 (2a) Sentence 2 of the German Banking Act (KWG) –25.5 –14.8

Remaining goodwill according to § 10a (6) Sentence 9 of the German Banking Act (KWG) 51.1 73.0

Impairment shortfalls and anticipated losses according to § 10 (6a) No. 1 and 2 of the 
German Banking Act (KWG) – –

Total core capital according to § 10 (2a) of the German Banking Act (KWG) 245.1 265.9

Total tier 2 capital according to § 10 (2b) of the German Banking Act (KWG) after de-
duction of deductible items in line with § 10 (2b) Sentence 2 of the German Banking 
Act (KWG) and tier 3 capital in line with § 10 (2c) of the German Banking Act (KWG) – –

For informative purposes: Total of deductible items in line with § 10 (2b) Sentence 2 of 
the German Banking Act (KWG) – –

Total modified disposable shareholders‘ equity according to § 10 (1d) Sentence 1 of 
the German Banking Act (KWG) and the eligible tier 3 capital in line with § 10 (2c) of 
the German Banking Act (KWG) 245.1 265.9

On the basis of the Basle II implementation strategy for the calculation of shareholders’ equity 
requirements (Basle Pillar 1), MLP Financial Holding Group employs the standardised approach 
to credit risk (KSA) for the credit risk and the basis indicator approach (BIA) for the operational 
risk in accordance with the German Banking Act (KWG) and the Solvency Ordinance.

MLP fulfilled all legal requirements relating to shareholders’ equity backing in line with § 325 of 
the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV) throughout the entire financial year 2013. The capital backing 
of the most important companies of MLP are as follows: 
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Capital ratios of principal companies

Consolidated group of banks

Total capital ratio 
in %

Core capital ratio 
in %

2013 2012 2013 2012

MLP AG 93.39 78.13 93.39 78.13

MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG* 6.44 7.70 6.44 7.70

ZSH GmbH Finanzdienstleistungen 5.35 6.75 5.35 6.75

FERI AG –94.41 –77.43 –94.41 –77.43

FERI Trust GmbH 9.12 8.82 9.12 8.82

FERI Institutional & Family Office GmbH 0.57 0.48 0.57 0.48

FERI Trust (Luxembourg) S.A. 4.74 7.09 4.74 7.09

FEREAL AG** 0.76 –3.70 0.76 –3.70

* Controlling institution 
** Since September 30, 2013 (including FERI Investment Services GmbH, which was merged with FEREAL AG)

The capital adequacy requirements resulting from use of the standard approach to credit risks 
(KSA) and the basic indicator approach (BIA) to operational risks are structured as follows: 
 
   
Capital adequacy requirements

Capital adequacy requirements (in € million) 2013 2012

Central governments – –

Regional governments and local government bodies – –

Other authorities – –

Multilateral development banks – –

International organisations – –

Institutions 10.7 10.8

Backed debentures emitted by financial institutions 0.1 0.2

Companies 24.3 24.1

Retail business 17.3 15.3

Items collateralised by property 1.3 0.7

Fund shares 0.2 0.2

Other items 10.8 11.4

Overdue items 1.1 3.2

Risks from book values of investments in companies

Book values of investments in the standard approach 5.0 6.8

Operational risks

Operational risks according to the basic indicator approach 49.8 50.7

Total 120.5 123.4
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Summary

MLP’s business development is essentially influenced by financial, operational and general 
business risks. We use our risk management system for the identification, assessment, control, 
monitoring and communication of our key risks in terms of both current and future devel-
opments. The information provided ensured prompt introduction and prioritisation of risk 
management measures without exception.

Both the MLP Financial Holding Group as a whole and the Group companies always acted within 
the scope of their financial risk-bearing ability in 2013. In addition, the supervisory requirements 
were met in full at all times. There are currently no discernible risks that could threaten MLP’s 
continued existence. And we do not expect to see any negative development in the coming year.

Our Business Continuity Management also ensures regulated business operations in the event 
of any disruptions. Our risk monitoring and control systems and the consistent alignment of 
our business model to our risk-bearing ability enable us to ensure that the risks taken in our 
business activities are backed with adequate risk capital.

The risk management system is subject to continuous further development, in particular with 
regard to developing the volume and complexity of our business. The effectiveness of our risk 
management system and its supervisory implementation are also checked cyclically by both 
external and internal auditors.

The above-mentioned risks, and such risks which are not yet known to us or are currently 
considered insignificant, could have a negative impact on our forecasts detailed in the outlook.

No risks are known at MLP which could have a significant influence on the continued existence 
of the MLP Financial Holding Group. 

  
Opportunity report

Opportunity management

The objective of the integrated opportunity management approach employed by the MLP Group 
is to secure systematic and early identification of opportunities and their assessment.

This takes place within the scope of a standardised business strategy process, performed by 
the Executive Board once a year and also whenever necessary. Unscheduled processes might, 
for example, become necessary following major acquisitions or when significant changes have 
occurred in the market environment. MLP’s corporate strategy, and the opportunities associ-
ated with this, are derived from its corporate mission, which is examined and updated by the 
Executive Board on an annual basis. The current internal and external framework conditions, as 
well as influential factors are then analysed and summarised using established processes. Once 
this is complete, the company’s strategic alignment for the coming financial year is formulated 
(please refer to the chapter entitled “Goals and strategies”).
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A comprehensive analysis of the environment always forms the basis of this process. Among 
other things, this includes the macroeconomic and regulatory framework conditions, develop-
ments in the product area and also the competition. With regard to client and sales potential, 
we also use available market data alongside our own assessments. The analysis culminates in a 
comprehensive SWOT analysis (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, threats).

MLP’s system of opportunity management is accompanied by continuous observation of the 
market and competitive environment from the company’s various perspectives. This process 
is organised locally in the responsible departments, which regularly report their findings to 
the respective member of the Executive Board. Product Management is a key player here, as it 
determines opportunities through intensive contact with product providers and industry experts, 
mostly in the form of product innovations. In addition to this, the Market & Innovation team 
works continuously on further developing MLP’s consulting services, while Marketing engages 
in comprehensive market research. Other important protagonists in terms of opportunity man-
agement are Controlling, which examines the market, to detect potential acquisition opportu-
nities, as well as the organisational units of Communication & Policy, Risk Management and 
Compliance, which examine potential regulatory changes early on. 

 
Prospects

The opportunities in terms of the corporate strategy can be subject to both external and internal 
influences. However, our system of opportunity management is based closely on our corporate 
strategy.

The economic forecasts for the years 2014 to 2015 suggest only limited opportunities for MLP. 
Although the economy is set to grow further, the aforementioned reservations on the part of 
clients when it comes to signing long-term savings contracts comes in addition. In the mid to 
long term, however, the greater need for private and also occupational pension provision should 
increase demand for these two products significantly again – particularly among MLP’s target 
groups. Should the German economy enjoy better development than assumed in our forecast, 
this will only have an indirect influence on short-term operating developments. However, should 
the reservations when it comes to signing long-term contracts disappear altogether (contrary to 
our expectations), this would have direct positive effects for MLP.

The ever stricter regulation of the financial services sector in Germany, with the objective of 
increasing investor protection, presents both challenges and opportunities for MLP. Stricter 
regulatory requirements will initially lead to additional costs and reduced productivity, as 
administrative costs increase and processes in the company have to be adapted. However, the 
regulation also tightens the quality standards required of market members. This will accelerate 
consolidation of the market, as individual brokers will not be able to comply with the stricter 
requirements. The supply side of the market will reduce in size overall. With our consulting 
approach, which focuses on clients and their needs, we are able to clearly differentiate ourselves 
in the marketplace. In addition to this, we were quick to align our operations to the new frame-
work conditions over the last few years, which will enable us to benefit from this development 
in the mid term.

Opportunities from changing 
framework conditions
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We see corporate strategy opportunities primarily in MLP’s positioning as an independent, 
well-established, full-scope consulting firm, a position which has been strengthened over the 
last few years. Alongside support for private clients, we now also have a strong focus on our 
business with corporate clients and institutional investors. In cooperation with our Group com-
panies TPC and FERI, we will further expand our portfolio for corporate clients and institutional 
investors in the areas of investment, risk management and occupational pension provision. If, 
as has been discussed in the political arena in the last few months, the German state decided to 
provide greater support, particularly in the field of occupational pension provision, this could 
certainly generate additional opportunities for MLP.

Interlinking these areas with one another and with the consumer business will furthermore 
enable us to create corresponding revenue potential. In the consumer business itself, MLP has 
an important USP thanks to holistic positioning. Further developing these opportunities offers 
important potential for the next few years. Additional increases are also possible, particularly in 
the field of wealth management, in which MLP clearly distances itself from the market through 
its highly transparent price model.

Within the scope of opportunity management, MLP examines the market for potential acqui-
sitions, including at its subsidiary FERI. In the event of an acquisition, opportunities can arise 
which can increase revenue potential.

As a pure service provider, our operational tasks comprise sales, product selection and sales 
support.

In the field of sales, our client potential in the consumer business will increase even further over 
the course of the next few years. The need for well-trained employees in Germany is increasing, 
which in turn improves the basic conditions for our client group of academics. At the same time, 
the number of academics capable of and seeking employment is also set to rise in the mid term, 
which will lead to greater new client potential for MLP.

We are also keen to use a more targeted penetration of our client base to achieve growth, in 
particular in the field of wealth management. Since our clients are generally very well-educated 
and thereby have excellent income prospects, they have a continuous need for sound financial 
advice and hold corresponding revenue potential.

The consumer business is not the only area in which we see opportunities for winning and sup-
porting new clients. There is also a high demand for independent, professional consulting in the 
business with institutional clients, which we have now bundled at our subsidiary FERI, as well 
as with corporate clients. Institutional clients are, in particular, currently seeking to make more 
investments. Moreover, the increasing regulation of the financial sector means there is a greater 
demand for research and rating services which we also offer via FERI EuroRating Services AG.

Further business performance opportunities can also arise from the increase in the number 
of our consultants and a corresponding increase in their productivity. However, winning new 
consultants remains difficult. Competition to find qualified financial consultants is extremely 
intensive. At the same time, regulatory requirements and our own quality standard are raising 
the entry bar for new consultants. Should the number of consultants increase much more than 
we anticipate, this could lead to a positive deviation from the forecast operating results.

Corporate strategy  
opportunities

Business performance  
opportunities   
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Over the last few years, we have introduced and implemented various measures to increase 
the productivity of our consultants. These include further development of our consulting pro-
grammes, even greater support for our consultants – for example in product selection – and 
even more effective service from the back-office in Wiesloch. The newly created MLPdialog 
service centre also makes an important contribution to this. The goal of these measures is to 
allow our consultants to focus on their core task, namely advising and supporting their clients. 
This provides important revenue potential for the future.

The counterparty default risk measures are based on assumptions regarding future developments 
of macroeconomic circumstances, as well as developments on the credit markets. Economic 
framework conditions of this kind may develop more positively than anticipated, which could 
lead to lower potential losses than quantified by the risk measures. Any such potentially positive 
effects would present opportunities for MLP, which could be used to reduce risks.

These opportunities could in particular present themselves if the loss rates of non-performing 
loans in future are lower than assumed within the scope of risk quantification. In addition to 
this, positive developments in terms of loss rates might lead to a lower risk value than initially 
quantified. Downward developments of exposure values in the portfolio can also lead to oppor-
tunities in the counterparty default risk. This can, for example, be caused by debtors paying off 
their loans faster than expected based on the contracts in place.

In terms of market price risks (uncertainty regarding changes in market prices, including 
interest rates, share prices, exchange rates and raw material prices, as well as the correlations 
and volatilities that exist between these), opportunities can also arise in the event of market 
developments that are more favourable than anticipated.

We have not identified any other opportunities which could result in significant positive devel-
opment of MLP’s economic situation in future.

MLP sees several significant opportunities. These affect multiple fields, in particular the frame-
work conditions, the corporate strategy and business performance factors, as well as financial 
risks. The opportunities described, as well as those which are not yet known to us or are currently 
considered insignificant, could have a positive effect on our forecast.

 

Opportunities from  
financial risks

Summary
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FORECAST

Future overall economic development

The leading economic research institutes expect the German economy to pick up again from 
2014 onwards. Set against the background of an improved economic situation in the eurozone, 
the German Council of Economic Experts is anticipating growth of 1.6% for Germany in its 
annual report for 2014. The economic experts at the Organisation for Economic Cooperation 
and Development (OECD) are also optimistic regarding developments in Germany. Based on 
estimates published by the OECD, gross domestic product is likely to increase by 1.7% in 2014 
and as much as 2.2% in 2015. The economy will primarily be driven by domestic demand that 
remains very stable. The step-by-step recovery in the eurozone is also likely to once again improve 
export prospects for Germany.

In the course of the economic recovery, the Institute for Employment Research of the German 
Federal Employment Agency (IAB) expects the moderate upward trend in terms of employment 
to continue. Based on the forecast, the number of employees paying mandatory social security 
contributions is likely to increase by around 370,000 to 29.73 million in 2014 and thereby set a 
new record. Following a slight increase in unemployment in 2013, the experts at the IAB expect 
the number of unemployed to drop again slightly in 2014 by 40,000 to 2.9 million persons. In 
its annual report, the German Council of Economic Experts is predicting that the disposable 
income of private households in Germany will increase nominally by 3.4% in 2014. Set against 
the background of an anticipated price increase rate of less than 2%, this will lead to real income 
gains. Indeed, the OECD is forecasting an increase in disposable income of 3.1% for 2014 and 
3.5% for 2015.

We expect a slight improvement in market conditions in the field of old-age provision for 2014. 
However, the environment remains primarily characterised by the ongoing low-interest-rate 
phase and the discussions around life insurance products. This situation will continuingly lead 
to a sense of reservation among clients when it comes to signing long-term contracts – despite 
the fact that there is a massive need for private and occupational pension provision. Market 
conditions should also start to improve slowly in the private health insurance sector, whereas 
public discussions could lead to just slight improvements. Based on current framework condi-
tions, however, future developments are accompanied by an even greater sense of uncertainty.

  

Employment and income 
levels will rise

General statement: Low 
interest environment and 
reservations continue to 

dominate

Future industry situation and competitive environment
 
Old-age provision

The average age of German residents is already higher than every other country in the EU. 
According to data published by the German Federal Institute for Population Research (BiB) in 
Wiesbaden, the average age of the population in the country is currently 45. The average age of 
the residents of all 28 EU member states, on the other hand, is 41.5.

In future, private and occupational pension provision are likely to assume an increasingly 
important social role in Germany. This is because the statutory pension alone will generally be 
inadequate for maintaining the attained standard of living during retirement. Indeed, according 
to a recent study performed by the Ruhr University in Bochum for Fidelity Worldwide, there 
is a risk that Germans reaching retirement age may actually have to face a much larger income 
shortfall than previously anticipated. In contrast with previous estimates – as highlighted by the 
key results of the study – anyone wishing to retire should no longer consider achieving 70% of 
their income as an acceptable pension, but should instead target 87% of their last net income. 
Even in the best case scenario, however, the statutory pension in Germany will only be able to 
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provide just under 60%. Based on provisional figures, the net pension level calculated for 2013 was 
only around 55% due to interruptions in contribution due to interrupted employment histories. 
In concrete terms, a “standard pensioner” will in future have a monthly shortfall of around € 
650 net – and the requirement in MLP’s target client group is significantly higher even than this.

The risk of old age poverty is now a topic being discussed among the general population. Accord-
ing to a survey performed by the Allensbach Institute, 77% of German citizens now consider 
the risk of old age poverty to be widespread, while 89% believe it is likely to become even more 
acute over the course of the next few years. A survey conducted by the German Trade Union 
Confederation (DGB) also confirms this. According to the results, only around 19% of respon-
dents expect to receive a pension that will allow them to live well or very well when they retire.

The ongoing low-interest-rate phase is the primary cause for concern among Germans seeking 
to make provisions for their old age. According to the 2013 Wealth Barometer of the Deutsche 
Sparkassen- und Giroverband, around half of the respondents (53%) are worried that their old-
age provision could end up lower than planned in light of the low interest rate phase.

Despite the widespread awareness of the problem among the German population, people are still 
failing to make sufficient arrangements for old-age provision. This can primarily be seen in the 
current reservations being encountered when it comes to signing long-term contracts. As a result 
of this, high-quality consulting is becoming increasingly important in helping consumers get to 
grips with this complex topic - a situation from which MLP should greatly benefit in the mid-
term. MLP clearly differentiates itself from competitors through its holistic provision concepts 
and independent product selection process. You can find further information on the systematic 
partner and product selection process employed by MLP in the chapter entitled “Business model”.

In the short-term, however, the old-age provision market will continue to be characterised by the 
discussions concerning the low-interest-rate phase, which became even more intensive in 2013, 
together with the potential consequences for life insurance products. This could be negatively 
reinforced by the debate that has been raging since the start of the year on the potential further 
reduction of the maximum technical interest rate for life and pension insurance policies.

MLP primarily sees additional potential for 2014 in the field of old-age provision products 
with a low capital market component, for example occupational disability insurance or long 
term care annuity insurances. In 2014 legal amendments result from the scope of the Old-Age 
Provision Reform Act (“Altersvorsorgeverbeserungsgesetz”, AltvVerbG), which provides for 
tax incentives for independent occupational disability insurance policies. In future, it will be 
possible to offset the premiums paid into these insurance policies against income tax as special 
expenses, if they guarantee a lifelong pension in the event of successful claims. Until now, only 
combined supplementary pension and occupational disability insurance products have been 
tax-privileged, whereby more than 50% of the premiums had to be allocated to the old-age 
provision component. The Old-Age Provision Reform Act (AltvVerbG) also prescribes several 
new provisions for “Wohn-Riester” (home-annuity contracts) for 2014, which further increase 
the flexibility and thereby the attractiveness of this product for the consumer.

This also applies to the field of occupational pension provision. When competing for skilled and 
managerial staff, employers are increasingly using occupational pension provision models as a 
recruiting argument. A European comparison indicates that Germany is still lagging far behind. 
Although a survey performed by Fidelity Worldwide Investment indicates that in Denmark 
17% and in the Netherlands a third of old-age provision contributions come from occupational 
pension provision plans, the quota in Germany is just 4%. Based on expert estimates of Fidelity, 
the ratio should actually be 25% to 30% to close the pension provision gap.

Low interest rates adversely 
affect old-age provision 
plans

Amendments to  
occupational disability  
insurance and “Wohn-
Riester” (home-annuity 
contracts)

Company pension schemes 
need to catch up
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Health insurance

Further reforms are to be expected in the German healthcare system over the course of the next 
few years. The driving force behind these is also the demographic shift, which is set to drive up 
the costs of statutory health and long-term care insurance. We see great potential in the mid-term 
here, as we believe that many policy holders will continue to look for sustainable and attractive 
alternatives, for example by switching to private health insurance or seeking to improve their 
individual cover with private supplementary insurance policies. The fact that the grand coalition 
does not provide for any introduction of a “citizens’ insurance” in its coalition agreement could 
have a positive effect in the short-term. Alongside the negative press, the discussions on this 
led to a “wait and see” attitude throughout the sector in 2013.

A study performed by Continentale health insurance comes to similar conclusions. It states 
that 64% of statutory insurance policy holders believe that at least in future they will no longer 
have access to adequate medical provision, while 28% believe that private provision is already 
necessary today in order to be properly covered. More than half of the respondents (53%) believe 
that this will be the case in future – an increase of 15% over the previous year. Overall, more 
than 80% therefore consider private insurance coverage to be necessary. 

   

As with occupational pension provision, we also expect the topic of occupational health provision 
to become increasingly important over the course of the next few years. This is underlined by 
the Continentale study, which assumes that greater focus is likely to be placed on occupational 
health management in future if employers wish to maintain a good reputation among potential 
employees. Indeed, 81% of those employees who have not received any offers of this kind to 
date would welcome medical and health-promoting measures from their employer. The range of 
measures stretches from workplace design and preventive healthcare, through sports programmes 
and stress management, to financing of additional health insurance services such as medical 
checkups, overseas healthcare coverage or supplementary insurance for inpatient treatment. MLP 
offers occupational health insurance solutions within the scope of comprehensive consulting 
and will continue to expand this segment in the coming year.

Reforms stimulate demand

Private supplementary 
coverage necessary

Preventive health care at the 
workplace is becoming  
increasingly important

Development of the German healthcare system (all figures in %)

Good healthcare cover only 
through private provision

Good healthcare cover costs a lot 
of money on top of the state 
health insurance system premium

Large proportion no longer 
benefits from medical advances

Insufficient level of care 
provided by the statutory 
healthcare system

Current figure Forecast figureSource: Continentale Krankenversicherung a.G.

16 48

4625

28 53

40 47
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The debate on proper nursing care provision will continue to gain ground in 2014. Based on 
current calculations of Germany’s Federal Ministry for Health, the number of those requiring 
nursing care is set to increase continuously to 4.23 million by the year 2050 – an increase of 
around 67% from today’s level (see graphic). Every third German citizen over the age of 80 
already requires nursing care.

We expect this to increase awareness among the population that the costs of long-term care 
present a poverty risk. Based on the results of the latest Health Monitor, a report published by 
the Bertelsmann Foundation and Barmer GEK, around 72% of respondents already consider 
themselves to be very well, well or adequately informed regarding the topic of long-term care. 
Around ten years ago, this figure was just 48%. Added to this is the fact that many Germans 
have already come into contact with the topic of nursing care in their personal environment 
(60%). Every fifth German citizen has in the past or is still personally providing care for a family 
member. For 2014, the Association of Private Health Insurers therefore expects the number of 
state-supported supplementary long-term care insurance policies to reach the 600,000 mark. We 
also expect further products based on private long-term care provision to offer major growth 
potential in future.

In addition to this, we expect the reduction of the assumed interest rate for pension accounting 
reserves already performed in large sections of the private health insurance sector for new con-
tracts in 2013 to lead to revised premiums for existing policies. This will lead to a high demand 
for explanation and consulting among the population.

Wealth management

The need for high-grade wealth management services is set to increase in the long term. In its 
“Global Wealth 2013” survey, the Boston Consulting Group expects global assets to increase by 
just under 5% annually and exceed US$ 170 trillion by 2017. For Western Europe, the survey 
forecasts annual asset growth of around 2.5%. According to the “Global Wealth Report 2013” 
published by Allianz, the average German citizen has net assets of € 41,950. This figure is almost 
7% more than in 2011 and 18% more than prior to the onset of the financial crisis in 2008. 
According to a survey performed by corporate consultancy Capgemini, the number of dollar 
millionaires in Germany increased by 6.7% to 1.015 million in 2012. Based on these figures, 
German citizens are now wealthier than ever before.

Long-term care provision 
offers significant growth 
potential

2013 2.5

2020 2.8

2030 3.2

2040

2050

3.6

4.2

Development of the number of citizens requiring nursing care (in millions)

Source: German Federal Ministry for Health, 2013
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For institutional investors and high net-worth families, the need for professional wealth man-
agement and consulting services is on the rise, above all in the field of alternative investments. 
According to the BAI Investor Survey, 60% of investors surveyed intend to significantly increase 
the funds they allocate to alternative investments in the next 12 months.

The security of funds invested continues to be the top priority for German investors. Accord-
ing to a survey performed by investment bank Goldman Sachs, security is the most important 
investment criterion for around three quarters of private investors, followed a long way back by 
liquidity (12.9%) and ROI (9.4%). Respondents consider inflation to be the greatest risk when 
investing money, followed by the European debt crisis and other political risks.

Security is also very important for high net-worth families in the field of wealth management. 
Although this clientele generally used to focus on achieving the best possible return in the past, 
a sense of heightened risk awareness can today be observed. According to a survey performed 
by the Centre for Family Office at the EBS Business School, almost half of all family offices 
surveyed confirmed that asset owners have become more averse to taking risks, while one 
third places greater emphasis on preservation of assets when examining the risk/opportunity 
profile of financial products. This increases the need for sustainable and holistic wealth and 
risk management.

We expect to see major account and fund shifts in the next few years. According to a survey 
performed by the German Pension Institute (DIA), private households will inherit around € 2.6 
trillion by the year 2020 in Germany alone. A study conducted by Postbank came to the conclu-
sion that inheritance in Germany is likely to reach its highest ever level over the course of the 
next few years. Inheritances of at least € 100,000 are in particular set to increase by 50%. The 
study also concludes that more than one in five inheritances will involve a value of € 100,000 
or higher in future. Property is the key driver behind this increase in inherited assets. Houses, 
land and apartments will form part of around two thirds of all inheritances in future.

According to the Institute for Small and Medium Sized Business Research (“Institut für Mit-
telstandsforschung”), the number of business transfers will increase significantly by the year 
2020. In the course of companies being handed down from one generation to the next, more 
and more family estates are managed separately. While in the past it was perfectly normal for 
company and private assets to be managed together, today’s generation of business owners is 
increasingly keen to ensure clear separation here.

Over the course of the next few years, we therefore expect to see an increased need for consulting 
services in the field of professional wealth management among all of the Group’s target client 
groups. Since the average age of MLP’s clients is currently around 41, we also expect the topics 
of wealth management and property financing to become increasingly important for many of 
our existing clients. We therefore see potential for future growth in both of these segments.

Overall, we expect to see stagnating or slightly positive developments in the wealth management 
market over the course of the next few years – among other things due to the aforementioned 
risk aversion on the part of investors.

Security remains the  
top priority

Significant increase in  
inherited assets

Company successions as a 
growing market
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Competition and regulation

The entire market for financial services and the insurance sector are facing consolidation. 
According to a recent survey performed by PricewaterhouseCoopers, statutory health insurance 
funds are likely to face significant cost increases, above all in the fields of out-patient healthcare 
provision, in-patient care and psychiatric care. These are due to demographic developments in 
Germany. In order to reduce costs, the statutory health insurance funds consider an increase in 
the efficiency of the healthcare system and a consolidation of the market to be necessary. Two 
thirds of respondents believe that 40 to 100 statutory health insurers will be enough in future. 
There are currently 134 statutory health insurance funds operating in Germany.

Similar consolidation processes are also to be expected throughout the entire insurance market 
in the long term – set primarily against the background of the Solvency II provisions set out 
by the EU, which provides for new supervisory and equity regulations for the insurance sector 
in Europe.

The competitive environment in the wealth management sector is also characterised by ongoing 
consolidation in the fields of private banking and wealth management. Germany is considered 
to be the market with the greatest potential in Europe, in which both national and international 
service providers are competing. The stricter regulations are placing greater pressure on pro-
viders, particularly smaller players, so more pronounced consolidation effects should also be 
expected in future.

At the same time, also among consulting firms in the consumer business there is an increasing 
focus on large and financially strong providers such as MLP.

In recent years, the legislator has begun to exert greater influence on regulating the market for 
financial services, and thereby also on MLP’s market. This increasing regulation will continue 
to significantly affect the market in the future at both national and EU level – also due to ever 
tighter deadlines for complying with new directives.

Germany’s Fee-Based Investment Advice Act (“Honoraranlageberatungsgesetz”), which is due 
to come into force in August 2014 and will change the rules for fee-based investment advisory 
services, represents another regulatory step for the sector. MLP adapted its compensation struc-
ture for investment advisory services as early as the start of 2012. Since then and in contrast 
to most banks, MLP clients are now credited in new business with all trailer commissions that 
MLP receives from investment companies for the brokerage of investment assets. MLP therefore 
already complies with the most important prerequisite for registration as a fee-based investment 
consultancy. Whether we choose to make use of this option depends on the final version of the 
act that is drafted in the upcoming ordinance process.

MLP is generally open to fee-based consulting. We already offer fee-based services in the fields 
where our clients show corresponding demand. These include consulting on medical practice 
and mortgage financing, certain areas of occupational pension provision and the services offered 
by our subsidiary FERI. However, we remain firmly convinced that the quality of investment 
advice does not depend on the type of compensation, but rather by the standard of consultant 
training, the quality of the product selection and transparency for the client. We already consider 
ourselves to be well-positioned in this regard through our business model, the outstanding qual-
ifications and further training of our consultants and our partner and product selection process.

Conditions established 
for fee-based investment 
advisory services

Fee-based consulting  
already part of the offer
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In addition to this, introduction of the Markets in Financial Instruments II (MiFiD II) and 
Insurance Mediation (IMD II) European directives is planned in the next few years. Negotiations 
between parliament, the council and the commission are currently taking place for both new 
provisions. However, they are unlikely to be implemented as national legislation before 2016.

Multiple rulings were already stipulated in the summer of 2013 which implement the new 
worldwide bank capital standards (Basel III) as EU law following on from the financial and 
economic crisis. The regulatory package for implementation of Basel III in the European Union 
therefore comes into force on January 1, 2014 with the CRD IV Implementation Act. Among 
other things, the amendments require equity ratios to be increased by 2019, while harmonised 
EU-wide liquidity requirements are also to be met for the first time. This should provide greater 
equity for the transactions conducted by the banks, which in turn will allow the banks to cover 
potential losses more effectively and thereby lend them greater resilience in times of crisis. As 
an institute with a banking licence, these regulations also apply to MLP Finanzdienstleistungen 
AG and thereby to the MLP Group.

The planned 4th Anti-Money-Laundering Directive of the European Commission is set to further 
tighten the regulatory requirements for the entire industry in future, and thereby also for MLP. 
The draft will tighten the legislation of the current directive in many areas.

In summary, we consider our current competitive situation as good, thanks largely to the 
sustainable diversification of our business model. We were also early adopters of numerous 
requirements that will become binding law in future. Thanks to its position as an independent 
financial and investment consulting firm with banking licence, MLP distances itself clearly 
from the rest of the market.

The 2013 Sales Channel Survey recently published by corporate consultancy Towers Watson 
confirms the sustainability of this positioning. In this survey, 41% of insurers stated that they 
expect independent brokers to play a more important role in the field of old-age provision in 
future (see graphic).

The industry experts at Towers Watson also came to similar conclusions for the sales channels 
in the field of health insurance. Based on the latest estimates, the market share of independent 
consultants in this sector is likely to grow significantly over the next few years and actually 
overtake the tied agent in the field of comprehensive private health insurance for the first time 
within the next one to two years.

   

Stricter bank regulation 
comes into force

Sales channel survey shows 
significant growth potential
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Anticipated business development

MLP is a future-oriented company that expects a significant positive development in the results 
of operations in the mid-term and long-term. As presented in the “Economic Report”, market 
burdens in the financial year 2013, as especially seen in the fourth quarter being, again added 
to the uncertainty being felt in the sector. This makes it more difficult to provide an accurate 
forecast of business development. Due to the extraordinary adverse market environment in 
the two fields of consulting, namely old-age provision and health insurance, we have decided 
to use a scenario-based approach in the forecast. In the following, we first provide a detailed 
presentation of what we consider to be the most likely scenario, assuming initial improvements 
to the general conditions:

Based on this, the market environment in the field of old-age provision remains largely charac-
terised by reservations on the part of clients when it comes to signing long-term contracts. These 
reservations can in turn be attributed to the low-interest-rate phase and intensive discussions on 
the consequences of this for life insurance products. However, there will still be opportunities, 
above all for products with a low capital market component. These include occupational disability 
insurance policies, which are now on the radar of more and more citizens and will be supported 
by extended tax breaks within the scope of the Old-Age Provision Reform Act (AltvVerbG) in 
the coming financial year. Furthermore, long term care annuity insurance, i.e. insurance cover 
against the risk of needing care based on a pension insurance policy, will become increasingly 
important. Having become a focus for clients over the last two years, we anticipate increasing 
acceptance of this field of consulting. We also consider the field of occupational pension pro-
vision to hold considerable potential, as it is able to decouple in certain areas from the general 
reservations regarding old-age provision products. The current political discussions regarding 

 
Significance of individual sales channels in the brokerage of life insurance policies  
over the course of the next five years (all figures in %)
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further legislative strengthening of occupational pension provision are also having a positive 
effect. Although most clients are likely to remain cautious, we expect to see a slight improve-
ment in market conditions in the field of private old-age provision, which will also be supported 
by new products with alternative guarantee concepts in the current low interest environment.

The private health insurance sector should experience a reduction in the degree of uncertainty, 
as no further systematic switchover to “citizens’ insurance” is now to be anticipated. Alongside 
the negative press, the discussions on this led to a “wait and see” attitude among many clients 
in the financial year 2013. The topic of long-term care is also becoming increasingly important, 
largely due to the daily long-term care allowance product. Added to this is the fact that the two 
fields of old-age provision and health insurance were severely affected by the introduction of 
new unisex tariffs on December 21, 2012. This led to rather modest business development in 
these two fields in the first half of 2013, as consultants throughout the sector first had to famil-
iarise themselves with the new product world. This negative effect will no longer apply in the 
coming financial year.

Due to the comparatively low base value in 2013, MLP anticipates a significant increase in sales 
revenues in the field of old-age provision for 2014 in this scenario and a continuation at the same 
level in the subsequent year. From today’s perspective and on the basis of the aforementioned 
effects, MLP also expects to record significant growth for 2014 and slight growth in 2015 in the 
field of health insurance.

We are also optimistic about business in the field of wealth management. Despite the risk-
averse attitude being displayed by many investors, we expect to see stagnating development or 
possibly modest growth in the market. Further potential is to be found in the future-oriented 
approach and further strengthening of the portfolio of real assets which has been initiated in 
the FERI Group. In the consumer business at MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, we expect wealth 
management to become significantly more important for many clients due to the age structure. 
Following the successful developments of the last few years, we therefore also expect to record a 
slight increase in sales revenues in the field of wealth management in both 2014 and 2015. This 
is supplemented by additional potential in the field of real estate. Due to the high level of client 
demand, we will significantly expand our quality-assured property portfolio as an additional 
service alongside financing. Based on our planning, this will lead to a significant increase in 
other commission and fees. The developments stated in this basic scenario for the individual 
fields of consulting would lead to significantly increased total revenue in 2014 and a further 
slight increase in total revenue in 2015.

MLP has significantly reduced its administration costs in the last few years. The baseline achieved 
by the end of the financial year 2012 provides excellent foundations for us to generate sufficient 
earning power, even in difficult market conditions. MLP will continue its continuous efficiency 
management over the course of the next few years to ensure that administration costs remain 
under control. As was already the case in the financial year 2103, however, MLP will still allow 
higher expenses on a one-off basis – either to make important investments for the company’s 
future or to relieve expenses in subsequent financial years through non-recurring start-up costs. 
Around € 6 million in temporary expenses will be accrued in the financial year 2014, among other 
things due to the expansion of online offers for clients, comprehensive recruiting programmes 
and IT projects. Including this amount, we expect administration costs of around € 255 million 
for 2014 and slightly lower costs for 2015. 

Continuous efficiency  
management programme
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Forecast: EBIT of around € 65 million in the basic scenario

In the last Annual Report, we defined a target corridor for EBIT of between € 65 and € 78 million 
for the years 2013 to 2015, whereby the 2013 earnings are likely to be more toward the lower 
of these two figures. Due to even greater market burdens, MLP was unable to reach the levels 
stated in this forecast in the last financial year.

However, MLP’s goal remains to record EBIT in the corridor between € 65 and € 78 million in 
the two coming financial years. The Group has the necessary structure in place both on the cost 
side and the revenue side to achieve this level of earnings.

In the basic scenario, which we described in the previous sections, we expect the framework 
conditions to improve slightly. Assuming this is the case, we expect to record EBIT at the lower 
end of the corridor of around € 65 million for 2014. On that basis and from today’s perspective, 
we expect a further slight increase in EBIT for 2015.

However, the fourth quarter of 2013 clearly showed that all business developments are subject 
to a great deal of uncertainty in the current framework conditions. This situation has been 
made even more acute by the extremely critical public discussions since the start of the year on 
potentially reducing the guaranteed interest rate for life and pension insurance policies even 
further. Even if this inclines clients to show similar reservations as in 2013, the market condi-
tions in the fields of old-age provision and health insurance will still change since the negative 
effect associated with the new unisex policies from the first half of 2013 would no longer be 
present. As is also the case in the basic scenario, significant additional revenue potential results 
from an increased property portfolio. Added to this is the slight increase in revenue anticipated 
in the field of wealth management. In this scenario, MLP would anticipate EBIT of at least  
€ 50 million in 2014.

311.7

295.4

279.1
274.3**

251.9 250.6
255.0

*	 Definition: Personnel expenses, depreciation and amortisation and other operating expenses
** Adjusted to include one-off expenses

Development of administration costs* (all figures in € million)

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014e2008

Including € 6 
million temporary 
expenses in 2014

Cost basis for the 
coming years
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If the market environment were to improve significantly, on the other hand, MLP would antic-
ipate an increase in EBIT to up to € 75 million in 2014. This third, upper scenario, however, 
assumes that in addition to the described sales potential, the health insurance market develops 
extremely positively and that the reservations being displayed by clients when it comes to capital 
market products in the field of private old-age provision largely dissipate. We applied the same 
cost development for the upper and lower scenario as for the basic scenario.

With our outlook, we are underlining our claim of once again intending to significantly increase 
our earnings in all scenarios starting from 2013.

As was also the case in recent financial years, we anticipate a slightly negative finance cost in 
2014, followed by a slightly positive figure in subsequent year. On the basis of the forecast EBIT, 
the tax rate should be around 28% to 29% in the next two financial years.

The market has been characterised by consolidation over the last few years. From today’s per-
spective, we will not make any acquisitions in our core business at MLP Finanzdienstleistungen 
AG (please refer to the chapter entitled “Goals and strategies”). However, MLP Finanzdienst- 
leistungen AG could envisage making acquisitions of smaller companies that possess special 
technology solutions or which could expand the existing added value chain. Building on the 
successful establishment of the occupational pension provision business segment in the last 
few years, further strengthening of the business with corporate clients is also conceivable, for 
example a takeover in the field of non-life insurance products for companies. In addition to this, 
we could generally envisage making acquisitions or entering into joint ventures in the market 
of our subsidiary FERI AG.

From today’s perspective, we are not planning any significant changes to the corporate policy 
in the next two financial years.

As a general rule, our dividend policy is aligned to the respective financial and earnings position, 
as well as the company’s future liquidity requirements. Since MLP employs a non-capital-inten-
sive business model, we intend to maintain an attractive and consistent dividend policy for the 
future. However, the next two years are likely to require increased capital in order to comply 
with the revised definition of equity and stricter requirements of Basel III (please refer to the 
chapter entitled “Future industry situation and competitive environment”), so the Group will 
use a portion of its earnings for the purpose of accumulation.

Set against this background, we announced in 2011 that we would be returning to our long-stand-
ing dividend payout ratio of between 60% and 70% of Group net profit. Based on this dividend 
payout policy, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board will therefore propose a dividend of 
€ 0.16 per share at the Annual General Meeting on June 5, 2014. This corresponds to a payout 
ratio of 68% of Group net profit. For the coming financial years, we will continue to aim for a 
payout ratio of 60% to 70% of Group net profit.

Qualifications and further training will continue to play an important role in the future. The 
training received by our new consultants will also continue to go beyond the legally prescribed 
level. In addition to this, we will offer our consultants extensive further training opportunities 
also in the future. By adopting this approach, we expect the attendance days and online seminars 
at our CU to either remain at a level comparable to the previous year or increase slightly. This 
also applies to the total budget for qualifications and further training.

Acquisitions possible,  
primarily at FERI

Dividends of € 0.16 per share

Qualifications and further 
training remain in focus
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Our target upper limit for consultant turnover remains between 12% and 15%. We also antici-
pate some initial positive stimuli in 2014 from our intensified activities to win new consultants 
we initiated in 2013. Our mid-term objective is to increase the number of consultants slightly.

Planned financing activities and investments

The MLP Group held sufficient shareholders’ equity and cash holdings as of the balance sheet 
date. Our business model is not capital-intensive and generates high cash flows. From today’s 
perspective, this provides sufficient internal financing capacity for the forecast period 2014 
to 2015. This therefore makes us largely non-reliant on developments in the capital markets. 
Even increasing interest rates or more restrictive issuing of loans by banks would not have a 
negative effect on our financing options or liquidity. We will use our cash flow to allow share-
holders to participate in the company’s success, to strengthen the Group’s financial power and 
for investments.

Our investment volume in the last financial year was € 22.4 million, which is € 8.0 million more 
than in the previous year. The primary focuses were investments in IT, in particular to prepare 
our new consulting application and to virtualise the IT workplace. You can find more detailed 
information on this in the chapter entitled “Goals and strategies”. Following the planned roll-
out of these innovations at the start of 2014, capital expenditure will be slightly lower in the 
coming financial year. The financial services segment remains the focus of investments. We will 
continue to employ funds here to improve the quality of client support and consulting. Within 
these projects, we will use further funds that will flow directly into our income statement as 
expenses. We expect to be able to finance all investments from cash flow.

Return on equity developed from 13.3% to 6.6% in the financial year 2013. Despite the planned 
retention of portions of earnings at a payout ratio of 60% to 70%, we anticipate a slight increase 
in the return on equity for the next two financial years in connection with the forecast trend 
in earnings.

The Group’s liquidity declined from € 180 million to € 147 million in the financial year 2013. 
However, the overall liquidity situation remains good. Liquidity will be reduced by the intended 
dividend payment of € 17.3 million for the financial year 2013. It will increase again in the 
second half of 2014 thanks to the typical year-end business. Acquisitions which we finance with 
cash holdings would also have a negative effect on the Group’s liquidity. We do not expect any 
liquidity squeezes for the next two financial years.

General statement by corporate management on the expected development of the Group

Due to the further worsened market conditions, we were unable to meet our own expectations 
in the financial year 2013. This adverse environment is also making it difficult to provide a 
concrete forecast, so we have chosen to present our further business prospects in three sce-
narios. In our basic scenario, we assume an initial improvement of the framework conditions. 
Assuming this is the case, we expect to record EBIT at the lower end of the corridor of around 
€ 65 million for 2014. 
 
We have a good financial strength and, in combination with our positioning as an independent 
consulting firm, this will enable us to further expand our competitive position. We therefore 
expect to see a significant positive overall development within the Group.

 

Investment volume  
significantly increased

Good level of liquid funds 
available

More difficult market  
conditions in 2013

Positive development of the 
Group anticipated
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SUPPLEMENTARY DATA FOR MLP AG (DISCLOSURES BASED ON HGB)
 
In contrast with the consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of MLP AG are 
not prepared to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), but rather to the rules of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB).

 
Business and general conditions

General company situation

MLP AG is the holding company for the MLP Group. The company’s primary role is to manage 
the Corporate Group. It defines strategic goals and ensures coordinated and aligned corporate 
policy within the Group. The subsidiary MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG is the Group’s consult-
ing company for private and corporate clients. It holds a banking licence and, as an insurance 
broker, is registered for brokering insurance policies. The second subsidiary FERI AG (including 
its own subsidiaries) primarily looks after wealthy private clients and institutional investors.

The economic framework conditions, the industry situation and the competitive environment 
are essentially the same as those of the MLP Group and are described in detail in the sections 
entitled “Overall economic climate” and “Industry situation and competitive environment”.

Business development at MLP AG

There were several changes to the corporate structure at the subsidiaries of MLP AG in the 
reporting period. These are described in the management report of the MLP Group.

Due to the profit and loss transfer agreements in place, business developments at MLP AG are 
largely determined by the economic development of its investments, the performance of which 
is also described in the Group report. 

   
Results of operations

In the financial year 2013, MLP AG recorded other operating income of € 12.6 million, following 
€ 11.6 million in the previous year. This essentially includes income from the rental of buildings 
to affiliated companies. 

At € 5.7 million, personnel expenses remained at the previous year’s level (€ 5.7 million). Depre-
ciation expenses for fixed assets of € 4.3 million were also at the same level as the previous 
year (€ 4.3 million)

Other operating expenses declined from € 10.0 million to € 8.9 million in the reporting period. 
This can be attributed to significantly lower consulting costs, as well as lower fee expenses, 
which came about last year within the scope of the negative declaratory action case against 
former shareholders in FERI. You can find detailed notes on this in the chapter entitled “Risk 
and disclosure report".
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The results of operations of MLP AG are influenced to a great extent by the business development 
of its largest subsidiary MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG. As is also the case with FERI AG, a profit 
and loss transfer agreement is in place with this company that is reflected in the finance cost.

The finance cost dropped from € 75.3 million to € 30.9 million in the reporting period. This 
decline can largely be attributed to the even more difficult market conditions for the business 
of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG in the fields of health insurance and old-age provision and 
a lower volume from the profit/loss transfer agreement associated with this.

Earnings before tax therefore declined from € 67.0 million to € 24.6 million. At € 5.4 million  
(€ 18.0 million), the tax expenditure was significantly lower than in the previous financial year. 
The net profit recorded was therefore € 19.0 million.

 
Net Assets

As of December 31, 2013, the balance sheet total of MLP AG decreased by € 13.4 million relative 
to the previous year to € 405.6 million (€ 419.0 million).

On the assets side of the balance sheet, the item “Fixed assets” declined slightly from € 53.0 
million to € 49.1 million. This was essentially due to depreciation and amortisation expenses.

Financial investments also decreased slightly in the reporting year to € 229.4 million (€ 239.4 
million). While the shares in affiliated companies remained unchanged, long-term securities that 
reached maturity were allocated to other forms of investment. This item was therefore reduced 
by € 10.0 million to € 0.0 million, which explains a compensatory effect in the item “Cash on 
hand and on deposit with the Deutsche Bundesbank, bank deposits and cheques”.

Receivables and other assets decreased from € 82.7 million to € 54.6 million in the reporting 
period. This includes receivables from affiliated companies, which declined from € 75.3 million 
to € 32.8 million. These largely comprise receivables from MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG and 
FERI AG from the profit and loss transfer agreements in place with these companies. Other 
assets developed in the opposite direction, increasing from € 7.4 million to € 21.7 million in 
the last financial year. These in particular include advance tax payments, from which we expect 
refund claims.

The item “Cash on hand and on deposit with the Deutsche Bundesbank, bank deposits and 
cheques” increased significantly from € 43.3 million to € 71.5 million. This can be attributed to 
redeployment of investments from the item “Long-term securities”, as well as the profit transfers 
of the subsidiaries for the financial year 2012. The dividend payout to our shareholders had 
the opposite effect.

On the equity side of the balance sheet, shareholders’ equity decreased slightly from € 400.0 
million to € 384.5 million. The dividend payout for the financial year 2012 of € 34.5 million and 
the net profit of € 19.0 million recorded in 2013 had a significant influence on this development.
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Provisions increased over the previous year to € 17.3 million (€ 14.5 million), whereby other 
provisions rose from € 3.3 million to € 4.9 million. Provisions for pensions and similar obliga-
tions increased from € 8.2 million to € 9.0 million. Tax provisions increased from € 3.0 million 
to € 3.4 million.

 
Financial position and dividends

As of the balance sheet date, December 31, 2013, MLP AG had cash holdings (cash on hand and 
on deposit with the Deutsche Bundesbank, bank deposits and cheques) of € 71.5 million (€ 43.3 
million). This increase is essentially the result of the profit transfer of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen 
AG of € 68.8 million for the financial year 2012 (€ 34.1 million). Payment of the dividends for 
the financial year 2012 of € 0.32 per share with a total volume of € 34.5 million had the oppo-
site effect. The equity ratio reduced slightly from 95.5% to 94.8%. MLP AG therefore continues 
to enjoy a good equity capital backing. In addition to this, MLP AG had open lines of credit of  
€ 50.0 million as of the balance sheet date.

The liabilities of MLP AG decreased in the reporting year from € 4.5 million to € 3.8 million. 
The drop in other liabilities from € 2.1 million to € 1.2 million made the greatest contribution 
to this. The liabilities at MLP AG are all current liabilities. Cash and cash equivalents therefore 
exceed current liabilities several times over.

The dividend payments of MLP AG are made in accordance with the financial and profit situa-
tion, as well as future liquidity requirements. As announced, the payout ratio for the financial 
year 2013 will be between 60% and 70%. At the Annual General Meeting on June 5, 2014, the 
Executive Board and Supervisory Board will therefore propose a dividend of 16 cent per share. 
This corresponds to a payout ratio of 68% of the Group net profit for the period. 

 
Comparison of the actual and forecast development of business

Business development at MLP AG is essentially dependent on the business development of the 
MLP Group. We therefore make reference to the comparison of actual business development 
with the forecast development of the MLP Group.

Due to the even more difficult framework conditions in 2013, MLP AG was unable to meet its 
own targets and expectations. 

 
Employees

In the last financial year, MLP AG employed an average of 9 employees, following 8 employees 
in the previous year.

 
Remuneration report of MLP AG

The basic structure and design of the compensation system at MLP AG are the same as those 
of the MLP Group. We therefore make reference to the remuneration report of the MLP Group.
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Risks and opportunities at MLP AG

The risks and opportunities at MLP AG are essentially the same as the opportunities and risks 
of the MLP Group. We therefore make reference to the risk and disclosure report, as well as the 
opportunity report of the MLP Group.

As the parent company of the MLP Group, MLP AG is incorporated in the Group-wide risk man-
agement system. You can find further information on this in the section of the MLP Group’s 
risk and disclosure report entitled “Risk management”.

The description of the internal monitoring and risk management system with regard to the 
accounting process of MLP AG is also the same as that of the MLP Group. We therefore also 
make reference to the MLP Group’s risk and disclosure report here.

For further information with regard to the financial instruments and their deployment, we also 
make reference to the MLP Group’s risk and disclosure report and accompanying notes.

 
Events subsequent to the reporting date at MLP AG

There were no appreciable events after the balance sheet date affecting the company’s financial 
or asset situation.

Forecast for MLP AG

The development of MLP AG in its role as the holding company is largely dependent on the 
development and profit transfer of its investments. Set against this background, we make ref-
erence to the forecast for the MLP Group.

 
Explanatory report on the disclosures pursuant to § 176 (1) of the  
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and § 289 (4) of the German  
Commercial Code (HGB)

The explanatory report on acquisition-relevant disclosures applies equally to MLP AG and the 
MLP Group. We therefore make reference to the MLP Group’s explanatory report on the dis-
closures pursuant to § 176 (1) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), as well as § 289 (4) 
and § 315 (4) of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

   
Declaration on corporate governance pursuant to § 289a of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB)

The declaration on corporate governance applies equally to MLP AG and the MLP Group. We 
therefore make reference to the MLP Group’s declaration on corporate governance.
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EXPLANATORY REPORT ON THE DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO § 176 (1) OF 
THE GERMAN STOCK CORPORATION ACT (AKTG), § 289 (4) AND § 315 (4) 
OF THE GERMAN COMMERCIAL CODE (HGB) 
 
Composition of capital

As of December 31, 2013, the company’s share capital amounts to € 107,877,738 and is divided 
into 107,877,738 ordinary bearer shares with a nominal value of € 1 per share. 
 

Capital stakes

The German Securities Trading Act (“Wertpapierhandelsgesetz”) requires that any investor 
whose share of voting rights reaches, exceeds or falls below certain thresholds as the result of 
purchases, disposals or otherwise, to notify the company and the German Federal Financial 
Supervisory Authority (BaFin) thereof. The lowest threshold for the duty of notification to apply 
is 3%. Any stakes that reach or exceed 10% of voting rights must be recorded in this explanatory 
report. MLP AG has been notified of two shareholders who directly or indirectly exceeded 10% 
of the voting rights:

 

Number of 
shares* Shareholding*

Dr. h. c. Manfred Lautenschläger¹, Gaiberg 25,383,373¹ 23.53%

Angelika Lautenschläger Beteiligungen Verwaltungs GmbH 22,796,771 21.13%

* Status known to MLP AG as of December 31, 2013
¹	In accordance with § 22 (1) Sentence 1 No. 1 of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG), 22,796,771 voting rights (= 21.13% of the  
	 share capital of MLP AG) held by Angelika Lautenschläger Beteiligungen Verwaltungs GmbH are attributable to Dr. h. c. Manfred Lautenschläger.

System of control of any employee share scheme where the control rights are not exercised 
directly by the employees

Where MLP AG has in the past issued shares to employees within the scope of its employee par-
ticipation programme, these shares were transferred to the employees directly. Said employees 
can or could then exercise the control rights granted by the shares issued directly in line with 
the legal requirements and the company’s Articles of Association. 
 

Legal stipulations and provisions of the Articles of Association regarding the appointment 
and replacement of members of the Executive Board

The appointment and replacement of members of the Executive Board are governed by §§ 84 and 
85 of the German Stock Corporation Act (“Aktiengesetz”). The company’s Articles of Association 
specify that the Executive Board must comprise at least two people. The members of the Executive 
Board are appointed for a maximum of five years. A further appointment or extension of the 
time in office, each for a maximum of five years, is permitted. The Supervisory Board can termi-
nate the appointment of a member of the board before the time in office expires for important 
reasons. Such reason could be a gross breach of duty, inability to manage the company properly 
or a vote of no confidence by the Annual General Meeting. The Supervisory Board decides on 
the number of board members, their appointment and the withdrawal of their appointment 
as well as the conclusion, alteration and termination of the employment contracts with board 
members. The Supervisory Board can appoint one Chairman and one or more Vice Chairmen.
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Amendments to the company’s Articles of Association

In accordance with § 179 (1) of the German Stock Corporation Act (“Aktiengesetz”), each amend-
ment to the Articles of Association requires a resolution by the Annual General Meeting. In 
deviation from § 179 (2) Sentence 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act (“Aktiengesetz”), § 17 
(4) of the company’s Articles of Association stipulates that resolutions on amendments to the 
Articles of Association can be passed by the Annual General Meeting with a simple majority of 
the share capital votes entitled to vote on the resolution, unless a greater majority is required 
due to overriding legal requirements. However, the Supervisory Board is authorised, pursuant 
to § 21 of the company’s Articles of Association, to make amendments to the company’s Articles 
of Association that affect the version. 

Authority of the Executive Board to issue or buy back shares

A resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting on May 20, 2010 authorised the Executive 
Board, with the Supervisory Board’s approval, to increase the company’s share capital by up 
to € 22 million in total by May 19, 2015 by issuing on one or more occasions new ordinary 
bearer shares in exchange for cash or non-cash contributions and, with the Supervisory Board’s 
approval, to exclude the shareholders’ subscription rights for the issuance of shares in exchange 
for non-cash contributions.

If the share capital is increased in exchange for cash contributions, the shareholders are to 
be granted a subscription right. However, the Executive Board has been authorised, with the 
approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude the subscription right of the shareholders if the 
issue price does not fall significantly short of the stock market price of company shares with 
the same structure. However, this authorisation is subject to the condition that shares issued in 
exclusion of subscription rights as per § 186 (3) Sentence 4 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act (“Aktiengesetz”) do not exceed 10% of the share capital, either at the time of coming into 
effect or at the time they are exercised (authorised capital).

A resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting on June 6, 2013 also authorised the company, 
as per § 71 (1) No. 8 of the German Stock Corporation Act (“Aktiengesetz”) to purchase as much 
as 10% of the share capital during the authorisation period up to June 5, 2018. No shares were 
bought by the company on the basis of this authorisation up to December 31, 2013. 

Settlement agreements between the company and Executive Board or employees in the 
event of a takeover bid

The contracts of employment between the company and the Chairman of the Board, Dr. Uwe 
Schroeder-Wildberg, and Executive Board members Mr. Manfred Bauer, Mr. Reinhard Loose 
and Mr. Muhyddin Suleiman contain a clause stating that said members are entitled to termi-
nate their contracts with a notice period of one month in the event that a third party who had 
a share in MLP of less than 10% at the time at which the contracts were concluded acquires a 
share of at least 50% of the voting rights. If any of these Executive Board members chooses to 
exercise this right to terminate, MLP is obliged to pay said member remuneration corresponding 
to four times (4x) the respective fixed annual salary if the contract has not been terminated as 
a result of the change in control, provided that the respective contract is terminated more than 
two years before it reaches its normal termination date. For all members of the Executive Board, 
the remuneration to be paid in the event of a “change of control” corresponds to no more than 
twice the average remuneration, based on the total remuneration of the last full financial year 
prior to termination of their contract and the total anticipated remuneration for the year still 
in progress when their contract is terminated. The service contract of Dr. Schroeder-Wildberg 
is set to run until December 31, 2017, the service contract of Mr. Bauer is set to run until April 
30, 2015, the service contract of Mr. Reinhard Loose is set to run until January 31, 2019 and the 
service contract of Mr. Suleiman is set to run until September 3, 2017. In the case of a termina-
tion of contract within two years before the scheduled termination date, the severance payment 
will only be paid pro rata temporis.
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More and more citizens now believe that life insurance products are 
no longer capable of providing adequate old-age provision due to the 
low interest rate. 
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Richtig ist, dass es keine konkreten Anhaltspunkte dafür gibt, dass 
die Versicherer ihr Garantieversprechen nicht mehr halten könnten. 
Sie sind durch eine solide Aufstellung und nachhaltige Ausrichtung 
gut durch die Finanzkrise gekommen. Eine umfassende Untersu-
chung der Ratingagentur Assekurata, die sich auf die Qualitätsbeur-
teilung von Versicherungsunternehmen spezialisiert hat, zeigt bei-
spielsweise: Selbst bei einer sehr langen Niedrigzinsperiode von 
zehn Jahren können die Versicherer ihre Garantiezusagen erfüllen. 

Fakt
Ja! Denn es gibt keine konkreten Anhaltspunkte dafür, dass die Versicherer ihr  
Garantieversprechen nicht mehr halten könnten. Sie sind durch eine solide Aufstel-
lung sehr gut durch die Finanzkrise gekommen. Beispielsweise zeigt eine umfas-
sende Untersuchung der Ratingagentur Assekurata, die sich auf die Qualitätsbeur-
teilung von Versicherungsunternehmen spezialisiert hat, dass selbst bei einer sehr 
langen Niedrigzinsperiode von zehn Jahren die Versicherer ihre Garantiezusagen 
erfüllen können. Auch die Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht geht 
davon aus, dass Lebensversicherer und Pensionskassen kurz- und mittelfristig ihre 
Leistungsversprechen erfüllen können.  

Fakt

It is important for the provisions put in 
place by clients to be aligned with their 
actual requirements – in concrete terms 
to be based on their risk appetite. To 
this end, MLP works with so-called 
risk-return profiles. These allow clients 
to see at a glance the potential returns 
offered by various concepts – and the 
risks associated with these. On this  
basis, we then work together with our 
clients to draw up the most suitable pro- 
vision solution for the given situation. 

Advantage

Although life and pension insurance policies cannot be decoupled from the general 
interest rate level, the return they generate also comprises current net profit and final 
payouts, alongside the guaranteed interest rate. The average overall rate of return 
among the various insurers in 2o13 was 3.61% – which is actually pretty good for a 
low-risk investment in the current environment. After all, past investments that pro-
vided a better return can also be used to partially bridge the current low interest 
phase. The key advantage of insurance products lies in the fact that everything is 
equalised across the collective. Alongside classic forms, there are also numerous forms 
of unit-linked insurance products, sometimes with and sometimes without guarantees. 
However, a greater proportion is generally invested in the capital markets. 

Fact



More and more citizens now believe that life insurance products are 
no longer capable of providing adequate old-age provision due to the 
low interest rate. 

Although life and pension insurance policies cannot be decoupled from the general 
interest rate level, the return they generate also comprises current net profit and final 
payouts, alongside the guaranteed interest rate. The average overall rate of return 
among the various insurers in 2o13 was 3.61% – which is actually pretty good for a 
low-risk investment in the current environment. After all, past investments that pro-
vided a better return can also be used to partially bridge the current low interest 
phase. The key advantage of insurance products lies in the fact that everything is 
equalised across the collective. Alongside classic forms, there are also numerous forms 
of unit-linked insurance products, sometimes with and sometimes without guarantees. 
However, a greater proportion is generally invested in the capital markets. 

Fact



It is important for the provisions put in 
place by clients to be aligned with their 
actual requirements – in concrete terms 
to be based on their risk appetite. To 
this end, MLP works with so-called 
risk-return profiles. These allow clients 
to see at a glance the potential returns 
offered by various concepts – and the 
risks associated with these. On this  
basis, we then work together with our 
clients to draw up the most suitable pro- 
vision solution for the given situation. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT – DECLARATION OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE (§ 289A OF THE GERMAN COMMERCIAL CODE (“HANDELS-
GESETZBUCH”)
 
Corporate governance report – Declaration on corporate governance
 
Every year, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board report on the company’s corporate 
governance in the Annual Report as required by the German Corporate Governance Code. The 
following statements and details are provided as a Declaration on Corporate Governance in the 
sense of § 289a of the German Commercial Code (“Handelsgesetzbuch”).

Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
 
Text of the Declaration of Compliance

Pursuant to § 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (“Aktiengesetz”), the Executive Board 
and Supervisory Board of MLP AG hereby declare that the company has complied with the rec-
ommendations of the “German Corporate Governance Code” government commission (version 
dated May 13, 2013) since the last Declaration of Compliance was issued. Only the recommen-
dations specified in Section 4.1.5, Section 4.2.2 (2) Sentence 2, Section 4.2.3 (4) and (5), Section 
4.2.3 Sentence 10, Section 5.1.2 Sentences 2 and 7, Section 5.4.1 Sentence 2, and Section 5.4.1. 
(2) and (3) were not followed.
 
The reasons for these deviations from the recommendations are as follows:

 
Section 4.1.5 (compliance with diversity at management level)

Based on the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, the Executive Board 
must pay attention to diversity when filling management positions and aim for an appropriate 
consideration of women.

Throughout the current financial year, the Executive Board has strengthened its efforts to secure 
diversity when filling management positions and in particular aim for an appropriate consider-
ation of women at the management levels within the company. The Executive Board at MLP AG 
has already implemented measures in the past with the objective of making it easier for staff 
to combine their career with a family. It also reviewed these measures further in the financial 
year 2013 to determine their effectiveness and then passed a complete concept in November 
2013 to ensure that appropriate consideration is given to women in the company’s management 
ranks, taking into account the company’s specific situation. Guidelines on diversity-compliant 
staff promotion also form part of this concept, although these still need to be finalised in 2014. 
No criteria for specific selection decisions when filling vacant positions have therefore been 
defined to date.

The measures are therefore not yet fully compliant with every aspect of the requirements of 
Section 4.1.5 of the Code. As was also the case in the financial year 2013, MLP has taken the 
prudent approach of declaring not to follow this recommendation in the financial year 2014.
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Section 4.2.2 (2) Sentence 2 (vertical remuneration comparison)

Based on the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, the Supervisory 
Board should also pay attention to the ratio of Executive Board remuneration to the remuneration 
of the senior management level and the overall workforce over time, whereby the Supervisory 
Board itself specifies how the senior management level and the relevant workforce are to be 
defined for the purpose of comparison.
 
When determining the total remuneration of an individual member of the Executive Board, the 
Supervisory Board always ensures that this is appropriate based on the performance and duties 
of the respective member of the Executive Board, as well as the company situation, and does 
not exceed typical remuneration at this level. The Supervisory Board has regularly reviewed 
the appropriateness of Executive Board remuneration in the past. Within the scope of these 
reviews, the Supervisory Board has also taken into account the vertical appropriateness of Exec-
utive Board remuneration, namely its relation to the remuneration granted to the company’s 
next management levels. The Supervisory Board has yet to take into consideration the ratio of 
Executive Board remuneration to remuneration of the senior management level and the entire 
workforce over time. It has also yet to specify how the senior management level and the relevant 
workforce are to be defined for the purpose of comparison. However, the Supervisory Board 
does intend to incorporate these additional aspects in its regular reviews of the appropriateness 
of Executive Board remuneration in the financial year 2014 and thereby comply in full with the 
aforementioned recommendation.
 
The measures are therefore not yet fully compliant with every aspect of the requirements of 
Section 4.2.2 (2) Sentence 2 of the Code. As was also the case in the financial year 2013, MLP 
declares not to follow this recommendation in the financial year 2014.
 
 
Section 4.2.3 (4) and (5) (severance payment cap)

As per the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, attention must be paid 
when concluding Executive Board member contracts to ensure that any payments to members 
of the Executive Board do not exceed the value of two years’ remuneration including fringe 
benefits (severance payment cap) of these Executive Board members, should their position be 
terminated prematurely without serious cause. If the employment contract is terminated for 
an important reason, for which the member of the Executive Board in question is responsible, 
no payments are made to said member of the Executive Board. Calculation of the severance 
payment cap should be based on the total remuneration of the previous financial year and, if 
available and appropriate, also the total anticipated remuneration of the current financial year. 
In the event of premature termination of Executive Board membership due to a change of 
control, any commitment for payments should not exceed 150% of the severance payment cap.
 
MLP switched over all service contracts with the members of the Executive Board to a new 
remuneration system in the course of the financial year 2011. Since this switchover, MLP has 
complied with the aforementioned recommendations.
 
There is no entitlement to severance payment in the case of termination of contract by mutual 
agreement. For contractual reasons, provisions regulating severance payment arrangements 
concerning the termination of contracts by mutual agreement can in any case only be seen as 
a guideline. And the parties involved are free to deviate from these provisions at any time with 
mutual consent. For this reason, any provisions of this nature would be no more than a formality.

As was also the case in 2013, MLP has therefore once again elected not to comply with this 
recommendation in 2014. 
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Section 4.2.3 Sentence 10 (specification of the targeted level of benefits)

Based on the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, the Supervisory 
Board should specify the targeted level of benefits in each case when making benefit obligations 
– including the total service time on the Executive Board – and then take into account both the 
annual and long-term costs associated with these benefits for the company.
 
The new remuneration system introduced by the Supervisory Board within the context of 
implementing the stipulations of the Appropriateness of Management Board Remuneration 
Act (“Gesetz zur Angemessenheit der Vorstandsvergütung”) provides for a contribution-based 
commitment to grant benefits when appointing new members of the Executive Board. The 
level of specific contributions to be made by the company are specified in financial terms for 
each respective member of the Executive Board. They do not hold the risk of any unexpected 
knock-on effects for the company, since the respective member of the Executive Board actually 
bears the investment risk in relation to the company. In the course of implementing the new 
remuneration system, a decision was therefore taken to dispense with the notion of switching 
over any employer’s pension commitments for members of the Executive Board which provide 
a fixed benefit above a contractually defined age limit to a purely contribution-based system at 
the time of contract changeover. With specific regard to these employer’s pension commitments, 
which are to remain in place, the company does not comply in full with this recommendation.
 
Therefore the Supervisory Board is of the opinion that the implementation progress made to 
date is not yet sufficient to fulfil the requirements of Section 4.2.3 Sentence 10 of the Code in 
full. As was also the case in the financial year 2013, MLP declares still not to follow this recom-
mendation in the financial year 2014.

 
Section 5.1.2 Sentence 2 (diversity in the composition of the Executive Board)

Based on the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, the Supervisory 
Board should also pay attention to diversity in the composition of the Executive Board and in 
particular aim for an appropriate consideration of women. 
 
The Supervisory Board at MLP AG aims at increasing its efforts in respecting diversity and, in 
particular, ensuring appropriate consideration of women in future appointments of Executive 
Board members. The Supervisory Board gives specific consideration to applications from suitable 
women in its selection procedures. It continued to address this topic in the financial year 2013 
and will implement further measures so that appropriate consideration is also given to women 
on the company’s Executive Board, following on from the Group-wide overall concept already 
passed by the Executive Board for implementation of the recommendation in the Code pursuant 
to Section 4.1.5 (taking into account diversity when filling managerial positions), considering 
the company’s specific situation. Irrespective of this, the Supervisory Board at MLP AG intends 
to continue basing its selection decisions primarily on personal and professional qualifications.
 
The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that the implementation progress made to date is not 
yet sufficient to fulfil the requirements of Section 5.1.2 Sentence 2 of the Code in full. As was 
also the case in the financial year 2013, MLP has taken the prudent approach of declaring not 
to follow this recommendation in the financial year 2014.

Section 5.1.2 Sentence 7 (age limit for members of the Executive Board)

Based on the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, an age limit should 
be set for members of the Executive Board.
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MLP did not follow this recommendation in 2013. No age limit is set for members of the Execu-
tive Board at MLP. The appointment of members of the Executive Board should be based solely 
on their knowledge, skills and specialist experience. As was the case in 2013, MLP has therefore 
also opted not to follow this recommendation in 2014.

 
Section 5.4.1 Sentence 2 (age limit for members of the Supervisory Board)

Based on the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, an age limit should 
be set and taken into account when considering proposals for the election of Supervisory Board 
members.
 
MLP did not follow this recommendation in 2013. No age limit is set for members of the Super-
visory Board at MLP. In light of the knowledge, skills and specialist experience stipulated in 
Section 5.4.1 Sentence 1 of the Code, it makes little sense to specify an age limit. As was also the 
case in 2013, MLP has therefore once again elected not to follow this recommendation in 2014.

 
Section 5.4.1 (2) and (3) (specification of concrete objectives for the composition of the 
Supervisory Board)

Based on the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, the Supervisory 
Board is to stipulate concrete objectives regarding its composition. As well as giving consider-
ation to the company’s specific situation, these objectives also take into account the company’s 
international operations, any potential conflicts of interest, the number of independent members 
of the Supervisory Board in the sense of Section 5.4.2, an age limit to be specified for members 
of the Supervisory Board and diversity. These concrete objectives should, in particular, stipulate 
an appropriate degree of female representation. Recommendations by the Supervisory Board to 
the respective selection committees should also take these objectives into account. The objectives 
and present status of implementation are to be published in the corporate governance report.
 
MLP did not follow this recommendation in 2013. In its meetings during the financial years 2010 
and 2012, the Supervisory Board at MLP AG addressed the topic of setting concrete targets for the 
composition of the Supervisory Board, paying particular attention to diversity. The Nomination 
Committee for the Supervisory Board has set itself the target of filling at least 25% of Supervi-
sory Board member positions on the shareholder side with suitable female members, assuming 
the candidates possess equivalent professional and personal suitability. However, largely due to 
the low number of members that sit on the Supervisory Board as per the company’s Articles of 
Association, the Supervisory Board does not currently consider it prudent to specify a concrete 
timetable for implementation of this objective. Therefore, it is currently also not possible to report 
on any concrete measures for the achievement of objectives in the corporate governance report.
 
As was the case in the financial year 2013, MLP therefore chose not to follow this recommen-
dation in the financial year 2014.
 
In December 2013, the Executive and Supervisory Boards issued the above Declaration of Com-
pliance pursuant to § 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (“Aktiengesetz”) and made it 
permanently available to shareholders via the company’s website. You can also view the text of 
the Declaration of Compliance of December 12, 2013 at www.mlp-ag.com.
 
You can also find more information on the topic of corporate governance at MLP on the afore-
mentioned homepage.
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Corporate governance
 
By mainly complying with the stipulations of the German Corporate Governance Code in the 
version of May 13, 2013, MLP continues to reinforce the confidence of its shareholders, clients, 
employees and other stakeholders in the management of the company. Responsible management 
geared toward long-term added value is a high priority for us. The Executive and Supervisory 
Boards ensure that MLP continues to review and develop corporate governance across the Group.
 

Management and controlling structure

As the management body of an “Aktiengesellschaft” (public limited company), the Executive 
Board runs the business and is tied to the interests and business principles of the company 
within the scope of corporation law. The responsibilities and duties of the Executive Board 
are laid down in the German Stock Corporation Act (“Aktiengesetz”), in MLP AG’s Articles of 
Association, as well as in a set of rules of procedures and the schedule of responsibilities of the 
Executive Board attached to it.
 
The members of the Executive Board hold joint responsibility for the entire management. 
Decisions made by the Executive Board are reached during Executive Board meetings held 
at regular intervals. Resolutions are drafted as ordinary resolutions with majority votes and 
recorded accordingly.
 
The members of the Executive Board are Dr. Uwe Schroeder-Wildberg (Chairman), Mr. Manfred 
Bauer, Mr. Reinhard Loose and Mr. Muhyddin Suleiman.
 
The Supervisory Board advises and monitors the Executive Board. The responsibilities and duties 
of the Supervisory Board are derived from the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), MLP AG’s 
Articles of Association and a set of rules of procedures for the Supervisory Board.

Resolutions of the Supervisory Board are made during meetings convened by the Chairman 
of the Supervisory Board and require a majority vote. The Supervisory Board is informed of 
particularly important or urgent projects outside of the regular meetings. Where necessary, 
resolutions can also take the form of circular resolutions or be passed via telephone. A transcript 
of each meeting is drafted.
 
The Supervisory Board currently consists of six members. These are four shareholder repre-
sentatives, elected by the Annual General Meeting in 2013, and two employees’ representa-
tives, elected by employees in 2013. The members of the Supervisory Board are currently Dr. 
Peter Lütke-Bornefeld (Chairman of the Supervisory Board), Dr. h.c. Manfred Lautenschläger, 
Dr. Claus-Michael Dill, Mr. Hans Maret, Mr. Burkhard Schlingermann (employees’ representative) 
and Mr. Alexander Beer (employees’ representative).
 
Based on the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, the Supervisory 
Board is to stipulate concrete objectives regarding its composition, which, whilst considering 
the company’s specific situation, take into account the company’s international operations, any 
potential conflicts of interest, the number of independent members of the Supervisory Board, 
an age limit to be specified for members of the Supervisory Board and diversity.
 

Responsible and value 
adding management

Executive Board

Supervisory Board

Supervisory Board  
composition

annual report mlp 2013110



The Supervisory Board has set itself concrete targets for its composition. One item worthy of 
particular note here is a requirements profile for Supervisory Board candidates, which was already 
passed in the financial year 2012 and which summarises the knowledge, skills, professional 
experience and personal aptitude characteristics necessary for candidates to be considered. In 
addition to this, determinations regarding the number of independent members and taking 
diversity into account were also made.
 
The Supervisory Board considers itself as already consisting of a suitable number of independent 
members who have no business or personal relationship with the company or members of the 
Executive Board which could form grounds for a conflict of interest. The Supervisory Board 
has set itself the goal of having at least three shareholder representatives as members of the 
Supervisory Board who are “independent” in the sense of § 100 (5) of the German Stock Cor-
poration Act (“Aktiengesetz”). This goal has already been achieved. The Supervisory Board has 
also set itself the additional goal of filling at least 25% of Supervisory Board member positions 
on the shareholder side with suitable female members, in the presence of candidates of equal 
professional and personal suitability. However, largely due to the low number of members that 
sit on the Supervisory Board as per the company’s Articles of Association, the Supervisory Board 
does not currently consider it prudent to specify a concrete timetable for implementation of this 
objective. The Supervisory Board also examined the knowledge and experience required of the 
Supervisory Board members and of the Chairman of the Audit Committee under the German 
Corporate Governance Code with regard to reporting and internal control procedures. The 
Chairman of the MLP AG Audit Committee fully complies with these requirements.
 
In the absence of the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board also reviewed the efficiency of its 
own activities in 2013. Particular attention was paid to the efficiency of the procedures in the 
Supervisory Board, the information flow between the committees and the Supervisory Board 
and the timeliness and sufficient content of reporting by the Executive Board to the Supervisory 
Board. Further measures aimed at increasing efficiency were drafted in the course of intensive 
discussions.
 
The Supervisory Board of MLP AG has set up committees in order to improve the effectiveness 
of its work. The Personnel Committee prepares the resolutions on HR issues concerning Exec-
utive Board members with the company. The Audit Committee is responsible for auditing the 
accounting processes, risk management issues and the auditing system itself, as well as ensuring 
the independence of the auditors, awarding the audit contract to the auditors, determining the 
focal points of the audits and agreements on fees. The Committee also discusses the annual 
financial statements, the consolidated financial statements and the management reports of 
MLP AG and the MLP Group and submits a recommendation for resolution to the Supervisory 
Board. The Supervisory Board has also formed a Nomination Committee, composed exclusively 
of shareholder representatives, that proposes suitable Supervisory Board candidates for recom-
mendation to the Annual General Meeting and addresses the requirements that these candidates 
must meet. The members of the Personnel Committee are Dr. Peter Lütke-Bornefeld (Chairman 
of the Personnel Committee), Dr. h.c. Manfred Lautenschläger, Mr. Johannes Maret and Mr. 
Burkhard Schlingermann. The Audit Committee comprises Dr. Claus-Michael Dill (Chairman 
of the Audit Committee), Dr. h.c. Manfred Lautenschläger, Dr. Peter Lütke-Bornefeld and Mr. 
Alexander Beer. The Nomination Committee now comprises Dr. Peter Lütke-Bornefeld (Chair-
man of the Nomination Committee), Dr. h.c. Manfred Lautenschläger, Mr. Johannes Maret and 
Dr. Claus-Michael Dill.
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In 2013, the Executive and Supervisory Boards of MLP AG again dealt intensively with the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code and further new legislation significant to the work performed 
by the Supervisory Board and its committees. The amendments to the Code passed on May 
13, 2013 were the object of intensive discussions by the Supervisory Board. The changes were 
analysed and corresponding adjustments to the internal regulations and procedures followed 
by the Supervisory Board were either suggested or submitted for verification.
 
Intensive dialogue between the Executive and Supervisory Boards forms the basis of transparent 
and responsible company management. The Executive Board of MLP AG provides the Supervisory 
Board with regular, timely and comprehensive information on the Group’s position, including 
information on its risk situation, risk management and compliance. The Supervisory Board is 
informed of particularly important or urgent projects outside of the regular meetings. Further-
more, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board meets with the Executive Board on a regular basis 
to discuss specific issues. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board informs the other members 
of the Supervisory Board in detail about the content of his meetings with the Executive Board. 
The Supervisory Board discussed the Group’s corporate planning and plans for strategic growth 
with the Executive Board.
 
Significant legal transactions by the Executive Board require the consent of the Supervisory 
Board. A set of rules of procedures issued by the Supervisory Board in particular governs the 
distribution of business, powers of approval and co-operation with the Executive Board. Further 
details on the co-operation between Executive Board and Supervisory Board can be found in the 
report by the Supervisory Board.

Further disclosures on the Supervisory Board’s activities can be found in the report by the 
Supervisory Board.
 

Transparency

Shareholdings of members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards as of the balance sheet 
date
 
As of December 31, 2013, the shares held by the members of the company’s Executive and 
Supervisory Boards were distributed as follows:

Supervisory Board member

Number of 
shares as of 

Dec. 31, 2012

Number of 
shares as of 

Dec. 31, 2013

Dr. Peter Lütke-Bornefeld 75,000 100,000

Dr. h. c. Manfred Lautenschläger¹ 25,383,373 25,383,373

Johannes Maret 100,000 100,000

Dr. Claus-Michael Dill – –

Burkhard Schlingermann not relevant² 50

Alexander Beer not relevant² –

¹ Incl. additional voting rights in line with § 22 of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG)        
² No figures from the previous year are disclosed, as this person was only appointed as a member of the Supervisory Board in 2013

Corporate governance in the 
Supervisory Board
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Executive Board member

Number of 
shares as of 

Dec. 31, 2012

Number of 
shares as of 

Dec. 31, 2013

Dr. Uwe Schroeder-Wildberg – –

Manfred Bauer 11,254 11,254

Muhyddin Suleiman – –

Reinhard Loose 5,000 5,000

Directors’ Dealings

Pursuant to § 15a of the German Securities Trading Act (“Wertpapierhandelsgesetz”), persons 
discharging managerial responsibilities at an issuer of shares must notify the issuer and the 
Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin). This duty also applies to persons with a close 
relationship to such a person.

Pursuant to § 15a of the German Securities Trading Act (“Wertpapierhandelsgesetz”) one 
transaction was reported to us in the financial year 2013. This can be viewed on our website  
www.mlp-ag.com.

 
Compliance

Acting responsibly in compliance with all relevant laws and codes of conducts for the capital 
market is an integral part of our corporate culture and forms the basis for the trust that clients, 
shareholders and business partners show in us. In accordance with the stipulations of the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code, the Executive Board at MLP ensures Group-wide compliance 
with legal provisions and internal company guidelines, while also guaranteeing both a trusting 
and transparent system of corporate governance.

 The basic principles of abidance to laws, integrity and economically successful business practices 
are firmly anchored in our internal compliance guidelines. Our compliance activities are based 
on a Group-wide compliance strategy, which is specifically designed with preventive measures to 
avoid risks that could arise from non-compliance with applicable legislation, internal standards 
and processes. The primary focus here is on compliance with the applicable legal provisions 
and internal company guidelines, as well as preventing and combating illegal practices, such 
as insider trading, money laundering, financing terrorist activities, fraud or any other criminal 
conduct. In the interests of our clients, shareholders, employees and MLP itself, the Compliance 
department supports and advises the Executive Board in establishing uniform standards for 
all Group companies. Taking into account the constantly changing regulatory requirements 
and market conditions, Compliance steers the continuous further development of our internal 
behavioural standards and monitors implementation of internal and external requirements.

On the basis of a Group-wide risk analysis, the Compliance department identifies, analyses and 
evaluates the compliance risks relevant to MLP’s business operations and drafts the Compliance 
Strategy. Any risks detected are regularly assessed. The measures implemented to minimise 
these risks are then monitored continuously together with their effectiveness in our day-to-day 
business. The results of the risk analysis are incorporated into the annual inventory of opera-
tional risks within the MLP Group.

Directors’ Dealings

Compliance guidelines
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Regular training sessions, during which all employees of the MLP Group familiarise themselves 
with the relevant regulations as a way of preventing any accidental infractions while also pro-
viding support in applying our corporate guidelines, represent an important element of our 
risk prevention measures. They include in particular web-based training sessions on the topics 
of compliance and the prevention of money laundering, financing terrorist activities and crim-
inal conduct. Compliance is also available to all employees as a contact for reporting anything 
suspicious with regard to criminal activity or violations against compliance regulations. Any 
violations determined are investigated immediately, comprehensively clarified and then used to 
eliminate any weaknesses identified. The Executive Board and Supervisory Board are regularly 
informed of all relevant actions and measures taken by the Compliance department.

An extensive system of compliance rules and standards in the MLP Group explains the legal 
regulations on insider law both to members of the Executive Bodies and employees, and describes 
the internal guidelines for performing investment business. In this respect, the compliance 
guidelines serve to secure responsible handling of sensitive information at MLP and set out 
defined guidelines for advising and supporting our clients, while also providing our employees 
with the legal framework for both accepting and issuing invitations and gifts. To prevent any 
impairment of client interests, we have defined policies regarding the avoidance and monitoring 
of conflicts of interest and the acceptance and granting of benefits. These policies are regularly 
reviewed and adapted to changing requirements.
 
 
Corporate management practices

MLP redefined its core values a few years ago, a process in which a large number of employees 
and consultants were involved. “Performance” and “Trust” were identified as values which the 
corporate mission relies and builds on. You can find details on our corporate mission on our 
homepage at www.mlp-ag.com. In a third step, the following management principles were then 
derived from this for MLP.

MLP managers:

•• are committed to the interests of MLP clients

•• live out the core values of “Performance” and “Trust"

•• implement agreed targets and decisions consistently

•• are proactive in shaping the future

•• work together openly as team players

•• ensure systematic development of managers and staff

As a contribution to the discussion on the quality of financial advice in Germany, MLP presented 
a Consulting Code in the form of guidelines for client consulting in 2009. This code summarises 
MLP’s consulting and client support standards, many of which have already been in use at the 
company for several years. The aim is to increase transparency for clients, interested parties 
and the general public. All guidelines are based on MLP’s company values, which shape the 
relationship between employees, consultants and all stakeholders. Our “Guidelines on consulting 
and supporting private clients” are published on our company website at www.mlp-ag.com.
 
As per the recommendation in Section 4.1.5. of the Corporate Governance Code, the Executive 
Board has further intensified its efforts to secure diversity when filling management positions. 
It will also test the effectiveness of the adopted measures in the financial year 2013 and either 
make any changes deemed necessary or implement additional measures to ensure that women 

Defined company values
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are given appropriate consideration at the management levels of the company, taking into 
account the company’s specific situation.

An explanation of the business and risk strategy as well as the risk management system can be 
found in the chapter “Risk and disclosure report” of the Annual Report.
 
 
Information

By law, the shareholders are involved in all fundamentally important decisions at MLP AG, such 
as decisions on amendments to the Articles of Association and the issue of new shares. In order 
to help shareholders assert their rights, MLP offers them the option of having their voting rights 
exercised in writing by non-discretionary proxies appointed by the company or by postal vote. 
We report on the main content of the Annual General Meeting on our website at www.mlp-ag.
com, where the Chairman’s speech can also be accessed online.
 
We also use the internet in order to provide comprehensive and timely information on the com-
pany’s position and significant changes in a way that ensures all stakeholders are treated equally. 
We provide access to both German and English versions of annual and quarterly reports, press 
releases, conference calls and presentations on our homepage at www.mlp-ag.com. Our financial 
calendar includes important events and dates for investors. Analysts’ and media conferences are 
held at least once a year. In accordance with legal provisions, ad-hoc notices are published on our 
website, where we also provide comprehensive information on corporate governance at MLP. 
We provide access to our Declaration of Compliance on our homepage for at least five years.
 
 
Accounting and audit

Group accounting is performed in line with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Berlin, was appointed as auditor by the Annual 
General Meeting. This company audited the 2013 Group financial statements and reviewed both 
the condensed financial statements and the interim management report in 2013 (pursuant to §§ 
37w (5), 37y No. 2 of the “WpHG” German Securities Trading Act). The Supervisory Board gave 
its assurance that the relations existing between the auditors and MLP or its governing bodies 
give no cause for doubting the independence of the auditor. MLP AG’s Supervisory Board not 
only discusses the annual and Group financial statements, but also examines the semi-annual 
and quarterly financial reports together with the Executive Board prior to their publication.

 

Information of all target 
groups
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Many Germans are fully aware of the growing importance of supple-
mentary old-age provision due to the ongoing demographic shift – 
particularly the younger generation. Since there are numerous differ-
ent state-supported options and the multifaceted products are often 
difficult for individuals to understand, many people simply choose to 
put off their decision „for another day“.
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MLP consultants focus on their clients. 
They first determine their exact require- 
ments and then create solutions that will 
allow these to be met most effectively. 
MLP offers its clients a high degree of 
traceability here – for example in the 
form of transparent consulting docu- 
mentation. 

Advantage

The field of old-age provision is indeed complicated – yet also simple. The key here is 
to start early and save regularly – as a way of building up the best possible cushion for 
retirement. Of course, finding the right solution to a client’s specific requirements is 
also critical. This starts with selecting the most suitable state allowances and continues 
all the way to selecting a product that corresponds to the respective client’s personal 
risk appetite. Professional consultants translate this complexity into suitable concepts 
when advising their clients.     
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Investor Relations
 
Stock market year 2013 – Development of the markets

Stock markets around the world can look back on a highly successful 2013. However, the positive 
developments were closely linked to a massive range of fluctuation, caused in particular by the 
European debt crisis and the uncertainty among investors associated with this. It was primarily 
thanks to the high degree of liquidity on the markets that the share indices around the world 
reached new record levels in the second half of the year.
 
Although good economic indicators and quarterly results had a positive influence on stock 
exchange developments, the sense of uncertainty being felt in the eurozone and, in particular, 
the support that had to be provided to Cyprus served to counteract these. These issues led to 
repeated dips at the start of the year and to a generally high degree of volatility. The expansive 
monetary policy of the US central bank, the FED, and the prospects for the low interest rates in 
Europe to remain in place long term or dip even lower caused Germany’s leading index, the DAX, 
to reach its all-time high of 8,530.89 points in May. The subsequent correction of the markets 
by around 700 points once again served to underline the nervousness being felt among many 
investors. US companies opened the reporting season for semi-annual operating results with 
healthy figures. The President of the European Central Bank (ECB), Mario Draghi, was once 
again keen to stress the importance of low interest rates for the eurozone and also indicated that 
further reductions in the prime rates may still follow. The good economic data from Germany 
and the eurozone for the second quarter, as well as the surprise announcement made by the FED 
that it is to continue its bond purchases unabated helped prices improve further on the stock 
exchanges. In a sustainable, yet volatile upward movement, the indices continued to hit new 
record levels. The repeated flare-up of the conflict in Syria led to short-term corrections on the 
markets, but this did not seem to deter investors, who remained willing to invest.
 
The DAX began a noteworthy rally in mid-October. Within just six weeks, Germany’s leading 
index gained almost 900 points. The improved economic prospects in the US, China and the 
eurozone, as well as the surprise lowering of the prime rate by the ECB to 0.25% paved the way 
for this. The nomination of Jannet Yellen – a supporter of relaxed monetary policy – as the 
successor to the President of the US central bank, Ben Bernanke, also provided positive stimulus 
here. The unresolved budget dispute in the US had a negative impact on the markets at the start 
of December. Following a short and severe correction, however, the year-end rally was equally 
dynamic. On the year’s second-to-last day of trading, the DAX reached a new all-time high of 
9,594 points. It then closed the year slightly lower at 9,552 points, which represents a gain of 
just under 26% for the year.
 
The SDAX, Germany’s small cap index, also ended the stock market year 2013 with significant 
gains. Following development characterised largely by a high degree of volatility, the small cap 
index already hit its new all-time high of 6,867 points at the start of December and then ended 
the stock market year with a slight correction to 6,788 points, representing an annual gain of 
almost 29%.
 

Increasing prices with a high 
degree of volatility

Policy of “cheap money“

Year-end rally on the  
stock exchanges

Small cap index also  
successful
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The MLP share

The stock market year 2013 was also characterised by pronounced price fluctuations for the MLP 
share. The start of the year displayed extremely dynamic development. By the end of January, 
the price had risen to € 6.64 and thereby reached its annual high after just a few weeks. Publi-
cation of the good results for 2012 and the announcement of the forecast at the end of February 
led to a phase of profit-taking, which initially caused the share price to dip to a level around  
€ 5.30. A period of renewed interest in selling then followed the dividend payout, which caused 
the share to decline to its annual low of € 4.40 by June 21. In the subsequent phase of recovery, 
the price once again exceeded the € 5 mark in mid-September, but then dipped again to a level 
around the annual low following the revision of our forecast for 2013 business development. 
From mid-November on, the share price began to increase up to the end of the year and ended 
the stock market year 2013 at a price of € 5.21, which represents an annual gain of 4.2%. The 
year-on-year increase in the average volume traded to 47,300 shares per day (31,000) represents 
another positive aspect from the perspective of investors.

 

Dividend

MLP will continue its consistent dividend policy in 2013. As announced, the distribution rate will 
be between 60% and 70%. At the Annual General Meeting on June 5, 2014, the Executive Board 
and Supervisory Board will therefore propose a dividend of € 0.16 per share. This corresponds 
to a pay-out ratio of 68% of the net profit for the period. 

 

Source: Bloomberg
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Key figures compared to previous year

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Shares in circulation at the end of the year in units 107,877,738 107,877,738 107,877,738 107,877,738 107,877,738

Share price at the beginning of the year in € 5.08 5.07 7.64 8.27 9.80

Share price at the end of the year in € 5.21 5.00 5.12 7.60 8.06

Share price high in € 6.58 6.89 7.85 8.27 10.98

Share price low in € 4.41 4.17 4.25 6.21 5.25

Market capitalisation at the end of the year in € million 562.2 539.4 552.3 819.9 869.5

Average daily turnover of shares in units 47,302 31,011 39,673 87,274 106,927

Dividend per share in € 0.16* 0.32 0.60 0.30 0.25

Total dividend in € million 17.3* 34.5 64.7 32.4 27.0

Return on dividend in % 3.1* 6.4 11.8 4.0 3.1

Earnings per share in € 0.24 0.49 0.12 0.32 0.22

Diluted earnings per share in € 0.24 0.49 0.12 0.31 0.22

* Subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting on June 5, 2014

In December, Swiss Life sold its 9.90% stake in MLP. This stake was being held purely as a 
financial investment since being reduced to below 10% in 2009. In return, FMR LLC acquired a 
7.10% stake in our company, while Fidelity Management & Research Company acquired a 4.99% 
stake. In line with the German Stock Exchange’s definition, these two institutional investors are 
not taken into consideration when determining the free float. The free float therefore increased 
from 37.7% to 47.6% in the financial year 2013. The following chart provides an overview of 
the major shareholders.

Changes to the shareholder 
structure

MLP shareholder structure

Shareholder structure in 2013
as of December 31, 2013

* Definition of freefloat on the German stock exchange; including additional voting rights  
	 pursuant to § 22 of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG)

23.53%
Dr. h. c. Manfred Lautenschläger

6.67%
Barmenia

6.27%
Allianz SE

6.03%
Angelika Lautenschläger

47.61%
Freefloat*

9.89%
HDI über Talanx
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Investor relations activities

The goal of our investor relations activities is to establish a continuous and open dialogue with 
our shareholders, potential investors and the capital market. We are keen to establish and build 
on trust among investors and support the market in assessing the value potential of our company.

To this end, we provide continuous, timely and transparent information on relevant events and 
incorporate feedback received from capital market players. We also sought active exchange with 
both private and institutional investors at regular capital market events, such as roadshows, 
conferences and our Annual General Meeting. Alongside direct contact, financial reporting is a 
key basis for our communication. The Annual Report plays a particularly important part here, 
as it provides comprehensive and transparent information on all aspects of the company.
 
The “Manager Magazin” publication presented its “Best Annual Report” awards for the 19th time 
this year. In cooperation with the University of Münster and under the academic leadership of 
Professor Bätge, two specialist evaluation teams analyse 160 annual and interim reports from 
the DAX, MDAX, SDAX and TecDAX each year. At the end of the multi-stage process, a four-
man jury of capital market experts reviews the four best reports from each segment with regard 
to conciseness, credibility and reporting efficiency. As was already the case in past years, we 
ranked among the very best and once again received a 2nd place award in the SDAX segment 
for our 2012 Annual Report.
 
Interesting information on the Group, the share and other relevant notices can be found on our 
investor relations web pages. We also provide a special investor relations newsletter service, 
whereby anyone interested can sign up to receive e-mails on important events. Anyone interested 
can also keep up-to-date with news from the company and the sector via twitter (http://twitter.
com/MLP_AG). You can find the investor relations section at: www.mlp-ag.com/investor-relations. 
Please feel free to contact us if you prefer to talk to someone in person.

 
Key figures for business valuation and statement of financial position analysis

2013 2012

Equity ratio in % 24.4 25.7 

Return on equity* in % 6.6 13.3 

Net liquidity in € million 147.0 179.7 

Market capitalisation at the end of the year
in € million  
as of Dec. 31 562.2 539.4

Total revenue  in € million 501.1 568.0 

EBIT in € million 32.8 73.9

* Calculation: Net profit in relation to shareholders’ equity at the beginning of the financial year.

Award for the MLP Annual 
Report 2012

Investor relations on the 
internet
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Following the uncertainties associated with the financial crisis, 
subsequent debt crisis and the general scepticism towards the 
financial sector, some citizens prefer to save money on their own.  



kapitel grundlegendes 123

Richtig ist, dass es keine konkreten Anhaltspunkte dafür gibt, dass 
die Versicherer ihr Garantieversprechen nicht mehr halten könnten. 
Sie sind durch eine solide Aufstellung und nachhaltige Ausrichtung 
gut durch die Finanzkrise gekommen. Eine umfassende Untersu-
chung der Ratingagentur Assekurata, die sich auf die Qualitätsbeur-
teilung von Versicherungsunternehmen spezialisiert hat, zeigt bei-
spielsweise: Selbst bei einer sehr langen Niedrigzinsperiode von 
zehn Jahren können die Versicherer ihre Garantiezusagen erfüllen. 

Fakt
Ja! Denn es gibt keine konkreten Anhaltspunkte dafür, dass die Versicherer ihr  
Garantieversprechen nicht mehr halten könnten. Sie sind durch eine solide Aufstel-
lung sehr gut durch die Finanzkrise gekommen. Beispielsweise zeigt eine umfas-
sende Untersuchung der Ratingagentur Assekurata, die sich auf die Qualitätsbeur-
teilung von Versicherungsunternehmen spezialisiert hat, dass selbst bei einer sehr 
langen Niedrigzinsperiode von zehn Jahren die Versicherer ihre Garantiezusagen 
erfüllen können. Auch die Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht geht 
davon aus, dass Lebensversicherer und Pensionskassen kurz- und mittelfristig ihre 
Leistungsversprechen erfüllen können.  

Fakt

At MLP, an old-age provision strategy 
always forms part of holistic financial 
planning. MLP consultants work together 
with their clients to develop the most 
suitable mix of provision and financing, 
having access to all products – from  
insurance solutions, all the way up to 
mutual funds. 

Advantage

Anyone simply saving money on their own has clear disadvantages. If you ask Germans 
how long they are likely to live, many will say around 81 years. According to the German 
Association of Actuaries (DAV), however, their average life expectancy is 89.6 years. 
So German citizens who choose to save for their own old-age provision on the basis of 
a life expectancy that is too low are very likely to encounter bottlenecks or a pension 
shortfall when retired. Pension insurance, on the other hand – such as a Riester or  
basic pension and occupational pension provision – guarantees a lifelong payout. It 
therefore provides a kind of safety net that no other product can offer. Aside from this, 
insurers can invest the funds on a much broader basis and have significantly more  
investment options open to them than individuals. 

Fakt



Following the uncertainties associated with the financial crisis, 
subsequent debt crisis and the general scepticism towards the 
financial sector, some citizens prefer to save money on their own.  

Anyone simply saving money on their own has clear disadvantages. If you ask Germans 
how long they are likely to live, on average they will say around 81 years. According to 
the German Association of Actuaries (DAV), however, their average life expectancy is 
89.6 years. So German citizens who choose to save for their own old-age provision on 
the basis of a life expectancy that is too low are very likely to encounter bottlenecks or 
a pension shortfall when retired. Pension insurance, on the other hand – such as a 
Riester or basic pension and occupational pension provision – guarantees a lifelong 
payout. It therefore provides a kind of safety net that no other product can offer. Aside 
from this, insurers can invest the funds on a much broader basis and have significantly 
more investment options open to them than individuals. 

Fact



At MLP, an old-age provision strategy 
always forms part of holistic financial 
planning. MLP consultants work together 
with their clients to develop the most 
suitable mix of provision and financing, 
having access to all products – from  
insurance solutions, all the way up to 
mutual funds. 

Advantage
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Income statement and statement of  
comprehensive income
 

Income statement for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2013 

All figures in €’000 Notes 2013 2012*

Revenue (9) 480,502 544,569

Other revenue (10) 20,561 23,477

Total revenue 501,063 568,046

Commission expenses (11) –214,158 –235,808

Interest expenses (12) –4,401 –7,401

Personnel expenses (13) –106,203 –102,493

Depreciation  (14) –11,811 –12,573

Other operating expenses (15) –132,632 –136,809

Earnings from investments accounted for using the equity method (16) 902 956

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 32,760 73,918

Other interest and similar income 1,358 1,928

Other interest and similar expenses –1,046 –905

Finance cost (17) 311 1,022

Earnings before tax (EBT) 33,072 74,940

Income taxes (18) –7,583 –22,007

Net profit 25,489 52,933

Of which attributable to

owners of the parent company 25,489 52,933

Earnings per share in € (19)

basic/diluted 0.24 0.49

* Previous year’s values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.

Statement of comprehensive income for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2013

All figures in €’000 2013 2012*

Net profit 25,489 52,933

Gains/losses due to the revaluation of defined benefit obligations –1,552 –3,635

Deferred taxes on non-reclassifiable gains/losses 450 1,053

Non-reclassifiable gains/losses –1,102 –2,582

Gains/losses from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale securities 509 –99

Deferred taxes on non-reclassifiable gains/losses –54 57

Reclassifiable gains/losses 455 –42

Other comprehensive income –647 –2,623

Total comprehensive income 24,842 50,310

Of which attributable to

owners of the parent company 24,842 50,310

* Previous year’s values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.
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Statement of financial position
 

Assets as of December 31, 2013

All figures in €’000 Notes Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012* Jan. 1, 2012*

Intangible assets (20) 155,267 141,713 140,331

Property, plant and equipment (21) 65,822 68,782 71,569

Investment property (22) 7,325 – 7,481

Investments accounted for using the equity method (23) 2,547 2,601 2,863

Deferred tax assets (18) 1,974 2,999 5,315

Receivables from clients in the banking business (24) 491,570 431,396 360,148

Receivables from banks in the banking business (25) 490,110 510,510 487,557

Financial assets (26) 146,082 137,118 232,024

Tax refund claims (18) 20,622 7,428 7,908

Other receivables and assets (27) 109,164 139,749 143,640

Cash and cash equivalents (28) 46,383 40,682 31,350

Assets held for sale – 10,532 –

Total 1,536,865 1,493,509 1,490,186

* Previous year’s values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2013

All figures in €’000 Notes Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012* Jan. 1, 2012*

Shareholders’ equity (29) 374,477 384,157 398,573

Provisions (30) 85,138 83,704 91,012

Deferred tax liabilities (18) 8,628 8,465 9,428

Liabilities due to clients in the banking business (31) 946,484 871,110 827,413

Liabilities due to banks in the banking business (31) 9,924 10,498 14,540

Tax liabilities (18) 5,654 4,831 1,585

Other liabilities (32) 106,560 130,745 147,635

Total 1,536,865 1,493,509 1,490,186

* Previous year’s values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.
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Statement of cash flow
 
Statement of cash flow for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2013

All figures in €’000 2013 2012*

Net profit (total) 25,489 52,933

Income taxes paid –17,887 –15,883

Interest received 24,110 29,029

Interest paid –5,105 –8,957

Earnings from investments accounted for using the equity method –902 –956

Dividends received from investments accounted for using the equity method 956 1,219

Dividends received 1 1

Depreciation/impairments/write-ups of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 11,811 12,573

Depreciation/impairments/write-ups of financial assets –23 –418

Allowances for bad debts 2,704 710

Earnings from the disposal of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment –484 –247

Earnings from the disposal of financial assets –19 0

Adjustments from income taxes, interest and other non-cash transactions –3,936 –4,070

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Receivables from banks in the banking business 20,400 7,047

Liabilities due to banks in the banking business –574 –4,042

Receivables from clients in the banking business –61,238 –72,129

Liabilities due to clients in the banking business 75,375 43,697

Other assets 18,879 5,456

Other liabilities –23,381 –14,272

Provisions 1,434 –9,261

Cash flow from financing activities 67,610 22,429

Purchase of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment –22,450 –14,524

Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 3,736 59

Repayment of/investment in time deposits –30,000 45,000

Repayment of/investment in held-to-maturity investments 16,184 18,338

Purchase of other financial assets –522 –984

Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets 645 2,344

Cash flow from financing activities –32,407 50,233

Dividends paid to shareholders of MLP AG –34,521 –64,727

Cash flow from financing activities –34,521 –64,727

Change in cash and cash equivalents 682 7,935

Change in cash and cash equivalents from changes to the scope of consolidation –  1,397

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 60,682 51,350

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 61,364 60,682

Composition of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents 46,383 39,285

Loans ≤ 3 months 15,000 20,000

Liabilities to banks due on demand (excluding the banking business) –19 –

Change in cash and cash equivalents from changes to the scope of consolidation –   1,397

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 61,364 60,682

* Previous year’s values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.

The notes on the consolidated statement of cash flow appear in Note 33.
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Statement of changes in equity

Statement of changes in equity for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2013

Equity attributable to MLP AG shareholders

All figures in €’000 Share capital Capital reserves

Gains/losses 
from changes in 
the fair value of 

available-for-sale 
securities* 

Revaluation gains/
losses related to 
defined benefit 

obligations after 
taxes Retained earnings

Total sharehol-
ders’ equity

 

As of Jan. 1, 2012 107,878 142,184 424 – 149,154 399,640

Effects due to the retrospective 
application of IAS 19 – – – –1,066 – –1,066

As of Jan. 1, 2012 (adjusted) 107,878 142,184 424 –1,066 149,154 398,574

Dividend – – – – –64,727 –64,727

Transactions with owners – – – – –64,727 –64,727

Net profit  – – – – 52,933 52,933

Other comprehensive income – – –42 –2,582 – –2,623

Total comprehensive income – – –42 –2,582 52,933 50,310

As of Dec. 31, 2012 (adjusted) 107,878 142,184 382 –3,648 137,361 384,157

As of Jan. 1, 2013 (adjusted) 107,878 142,184 382 –3,648 137,361 384,157

Dividend – – – – –34,521 –34,521

Transactions with owners – – – – –34,521  –34,521

Net profit – – – – 25,489 25,489

Other comprehensive income – – 455 –1,102 – –647

Total comprehensive income – – 455 –1,102 25,489 24,842

As of Dec. 31, 2013 107,878 142,184 837 –4,750 128,329 374,477

* Reclassifiable gains/losses

The notes on the statement of changes in equity appear in Note 29.
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Notes
 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION

1	 Information about the company 

The consolidated financial statements were prepared by MLP AG, Wiesloch, Germany, the ulti-
mate parent company of the MLP Group. MLP AG is listed in the Mannheim Commercial Register 
under the number HRB 332697 at the address Alte Heerstraße 40, 69168 Wiesloch, Germany.

Since it was founded in 1971, the MLP Group (MLP) has been operating as a broker and adviser 
for academics and other discerning clients in the fields of old-age provision including occupational 
pension provision, healthcare provision, non-life insurance, financing, wealth management and 
banking services.

 
2	 Principles governing the preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of MLP AG have been prepared in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) promulgated by the International Accounting 
Standard Board (IASB), taking into account the interpretations of the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), as they apply in the European Union (EU). In 
addition, the commercial law regulations to be observed pursuant to § 315a (1) of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB) were also taken into account. The financial year corresponds to the 
calendar year.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the historical cost 
convention with the exception that certain financial instruments are measured at fair value. 
MLP prepares its consolidated balance sheet based on liquidity. This form of presentation offers 
information that is more relevant than if it were based on the time-to-maturity factor.

The income statement is prepared in accordance with the nature of expense method.

The consolidated financial statements are drawn up in euros (€), which is the functional currency 
of the parent company. Unless otherwise specified, all amounts are stated in thousands of euros 
(€’000). Both single and cumulative figures are values with the smallest rounding difference. As 
a result, differences to reported total amounts may arise when adding up the individual values.
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3	 Amendments to the accounting policies, and new standards and interpretations

The accounting policies applied are the same as those used in the previous year, with the fol-
lowing exceptions:

In the financial year 2013 the following new or amended standards and interpretations were 
to be applied for the first time.

The IASB published its amendment to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” in June 
2011. The amendments were adopted by the EU in June 2012 (so-called endorsement). The 
amended version of IAS 1 is to be adopted for the first time for reporting periods beginning on 
or after July 1, 2012. The amendments affect the presentation of items of total comprehensive 
income. Based on the option for subsequent reclassification to profit or loss, in future these are to 
be classified into two categories. In line with the amendments, MLP now divides the individual 
OCI items into items that allow reclassification to profit or loss (reclassifiable) and into items 
that do not allow reclassification to profit or loss (non-reclassifiable). The previous year’s values 
have been adjusted accordingly.

The IASB published its amendment to IAS 12 “Income Taxes” in December 2010. In this context, 
the stipulations of SIC 21 “Income Taxes – Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets” were 
lifted. The amendments were adopted by the EU in December 2012. The amended version of IAS 
12 is to be adopted for the first time for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 
The amendment introduces a rebuttable presumption that the carrying amounts of investment 
property as per IAS 40 are generally realised through sale. This presumption does not apply to 
assets where the revaluation method is applied as per IAS 16 or IAS 38. The changes have no 
effect on the consolidated financial statements.

The IASB published its amendment to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” in June 2011. The amend-
ments were adopted by the EU in June 2012. The amended version of IAS 19 is to be adopted for 
the first time for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The revised version of 
IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” contains key amendments with regard to the recognition of pension 
obligations from defined benefit plans. With the amendment, the option of recording actuarial 
gains and losses has been removed. In addition there are extended disclosure obligations. With 
regard to phased retirement, there were no effects for MLP, as all affected persons are in the 
passive phase.

By removing the aforementioned option, actuarial gains and losses now have a direct effect on 
the consolidated financial statements. On occurrence, actuarial gains and losses must now be 
recognized immediately under other comprehensive income and have no effect on the income 
statement. The past service cost is now also to be disclosed directly as profit or loss in the year 
in which it occurs. In addition to this, the anticipated income from plan assets has previously 
been determined at the start of the accounting period, based on the subjective expectations of 
the management team with regard to the performance of the investment portfolio. Adoption 
of IAS 19 (revised 2011) means that only a typical return of pension scheme assets at the level 
of the discount interest rate of the pension obligations at the beginning of the period may now 
be applied.
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The amendments to IAS 19 are to be applied retrospectively. The previous year’s values have 
been adjusted to include the effects of the amendments to IAS 19.

Since the MLP Group has always used the so-called corridor method for recording actuarial 
gains and losses to date, the retroactive changeover essentially resulted in a higher provision. 
In addition to this, operating earnings are not affected by amortisation of the amount exceeding 
the corridor when applying the new method. Instead, the new method leads to a reduction in 
other comprehensive income. The following tables represent the key effects resulting from the 
revised regulations of IAS 19 (revised 2011):

 
Statement of financial position

Dec. 31, 2012 Jan. 1, 2012

All figures in 
€’000

Before 
adjustment Adjustment

After 
adjustment

Before 
adjustment Adjustment

After 
adjustment

Deferred tax 
assets 2,597 402 2,999 4,880 435 5,315

Total assets 1,493,108 402 1,493,509 1,489,751 435 1,490,186

Shareholders’ 
equity 387,554 –3,397 384,157 399,640 –1,066 398,573

Provisions 78,921 4,783 83,704 89,511 1,501 91,012

Pension 
schemes 11,827 4,783 16,610 12,718 1,501 14,219

Other 
provisions 67,094 – 67,094 76,793 – 76,793

Deferred tax 
liabilities 9,449 –984 8,465 9,428 – 9,428

Total liabilities 
and sharehol-
ders’ equity 1,493,108 402 1,493,509 1,489,751 435 1,490,186

Income statement

2012

All figures in €’000
Before 

adjustment Adjustment
After 

adjustment

Other operating expenses –136,601 –207 –136,809

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 74,125 –207 73,918

Other interest and similar expenses –1,465 560 –905

Finance cost 462 560 1,022

Earnings before tax (EBT) 74,587 353 74,940

Income taxes –21,905 –102 –22,007

Net profit 52,683 251 52,933

Earnings per share in €

basic/diluted 0.49 0.00 0.49
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Statement of comprehensive income

2012

All figures in €’000
Before 

adjustment Adjustment
After 

adjustment

Net profit 52,683 251 52,933

Gains/losses due to the revaluation of defined benefit obligations – –3,635 –3,635

Deferred taxes on non-reclassifiable gains/losses – 1,053 1,053

Non-reclassifiable gains/losses – –2,582 –2,582

Gains/losses from changes in the fair value of 
available-for-sale securities –99 – –99

Deferred taxes on non-reclassifiable gains/losses 57 – 57

Non-reclassifiable gains/losses –42 – –42

Other comprehensive income –42 –2,582 –2,623

Total comprehensive income 52,641 –2,331 50,310

Statement of cash flow

2012

All figures in €’000
Before 

adjustment Adjustment
After 

adjustment

Net profit 52,683 251 52,933

Adjustments from income taxes, interest and other 
non-cash transactions –2,198 –1,870 –4,070

Provisions –10,881 1,620 –9,261

Alongside changes to accounting, the notes to the consolidated financial statements have also 
been revised, e.g. in the form of sensitivity analyses.

The revised definition of termination benefits did not result in any effects on the accounting 
practices employed by the MLP Group.
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The IASB published IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” in May 2011. The new standard was 
adopted by the EU in December 2012 and is to be applied for the first time in financial years 
starting on or after January 1, 2013. All fair value measurements required in line with other 
standards must now comply with the stipulations of IFRS 13. IAS 17 and IFRS 2 are the only 
standards where dedicated rules apply. The standard replaces and expands the disclosure require-
ments with regard to measurement at fair value in other IFRS standards.

Pursuant to IFRS 13, fair value is defined as the exit price, i.e. the price that would be achieved 
when selling an asset or the price that would have to be paid to transfer a debt. As is already 
the case with fair value measurement of financial assets, a three-tier hierarchy system is to be 
introduced, which employs steps with regard to the dependence on observable market prices.

In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 13, the MLP Group has prospectively 
applied the new regulations for measurement at fair value and has not made any comparative 
information from the previous year available for new disclosures. Irrespective of this, the 
amendment did not have any significant effects on measurement of the Group’s assets and debts.

With the supplement to IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” regarding offsetting 
financial assets, the notes on offset and offsetable financial instruments have been extended. The 
amended version of IFRS 7 is to be adopted for the first time for reporting periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2013. The changes have no effect on the consolidated financial statements.

The lASB published its improvements to IFRS 2009–2011 in May 2012. The majority of the 
amendments are only compulsory for reporting periods starting on or after January 1, 2013. The 
amendments eliminate inconsistencies and clarify certain formulations. The standards IAS 1, 
IAS 16, IAS 32, IAS 34, and IFRS 1 are affected by this. The amended standards have no effect 
on the consolidated financial statements.

The following standard was adopted early in the financial year:
In May 2013, the IASB published amendments to IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets – Recoverable 
Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets”. In the course of a subsequent amendment 
from IFRS 13, a new obligatory disclosure regarding the goodwill impairment test pursuant 
to IAS 36 was unintentionally introduced. This new amendment now removes this obligatory 
disclosure. However, this amendment also results in additional disclosures if an impairment 
has actually been performed and the recoverable amount was determined on the basis of fair 
value. The amendment is to be applied for the first time for financial years starting on or after 
January 1, 2014.
 
Adoption of the following new or revised standards and interpretations was not yet binding 
for the financial year commencing on January 1, 2013. The standards were not adopted early:

a)	 EU endorsement has already taken place

The IASB published the standards IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”, IFRS 11 “Joint 
Arrangements” and IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” in May 2011. The new 
standards were adopted by the EU in December 2012 and are to be applied for the first time to 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014.
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IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” comprehensively redefines the term “control”. When 
one company controls another company, the parent company must consolidate its subsidiary. 
With the new definition, control is deemed to be in place when the potential parent company 
has decision-making powers over the potential subsidiary due to voting rights or other rights, 
participates in positive or negative variable returns from the subsidiary and can influence these 
returns through its decision-making powers.

IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements” replaces IAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures”. Based on the new 
concept, a decision must be reached as to whether the activities relate to a joint operation or a 
joint venture. A joint operation is in place when the parties sharing control have direct rights to 
the assets and obligations for the liabilities. The individual rights and obligations are disclosed 
in the consolidated financial statements on a pro rata basis. In a joint venture, on the other 
hand, the parties sharing control have rights to the net assets. This right is presented through 
application of the equity method in the consolidated financial statements. The option for pro-
portionate consolidation in the consolidated financial statements has therefore been eliminated.

IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” governs the disclosure requirements with 
regard to stakes held in other companies. The necessary disclosures are significantly more exten-
sive than the former requirements in accordance with IAS 27, IAS 28 and IAS 31.

The IASB published the amendments to the transitional provisions of IFRS 10 “Consolidated 
Financial Statements”, IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements” and IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities” in June 2012. The amendments include a clarification and additional simplifica-
tions for transitioning to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12. One such simplification is that adjusted 
comparative information is now only required for previous comparison periods. In addition to 
this, the duty to disclose comparative information for periods prior to the initial application of 
IFRS 12 has been dropped within the context of disclosures for companies with a non-consoli-
dated structure (“structured entities”).

Furthermore, in November 2012, the IASB published amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated 
Financial Statements”, IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” and IAS 27 “Separate 
Financial Statements”. The amendments were adopted by the EU in November 2013. The amend-
ments affect the way in which investment companies are recognised in the balance sheet. The 
amendments define investment companies and then generally exclude these from the obligation 
to consolidate subsidiaries pursuant to IFRS 10. Based on this, investment companies do not 
consolidate the companies they control in their IFRS consolidated financial statements. How-
ever, this exception from the general principles should not be seen as an option. Instead of full 
consolidation, they measure the investments held for trading at fair value and record periodic 
changes in fair value as profit or loss. The amendments do not have any effects for consolidated 
financial statements that include investment companies, insofar as the parent company is not 
an investment company itself.

As it stands today, MLP does not anticipate any significant effects on the scope or methods of 
consolidation from the introduction of IFRS 10, 11 and 12.

The IASB also published the amendments to the standards IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements” and IAS 28 “Shares in Associates” in May 2011. The amendments were 
adopted by the EU in December 2012. The revised standards must be applied for the first time 
to reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014.
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Due to the changes in the regulations for consolidation pursuant to IFRS 10, the revised IAS 27 
now only contains rulings on accounting for shares in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in 
separate financial statements. In this context, IAS 27 is renamed “Separate Financial Statements”.

Amendments were also made to IAS 28 within the scope of adopting IFRS 11 “Joint Arrange-
ments”. As is already the case, IAS 28 continues to govern use of the equity method. However, 
the scope of application has been significantly extended with adoption of IFRS 11, since in 
future not only investments in associated companies, but also in joint ventures must be mea-
sured using the equity method. The use of pro rata consolidation for joint ventures has therefore 
been eliminated. Another change concerns the accounting method as per IFRS 5 when only a 
portion of a stake in an associated company or joint venture is to be sold. IFRS 5 is applied to 
the stake to be sold, while the remaining stake must continue to be recorded using the equity 
method until the stake to be sold has actually been sold.

We anticipate that the amended standards will have no effect on the consolidated financial 
statements.

The IASB published its amendment to IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation” in Decem-
ber 2011. The amendments were adopted by the EU in December 2012. The amended version of 
IAS 32 is to be adopted for the first time for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2014. The aim of this amendment is to eliminate practical handling inconsistencies when off-
setting financial assets and financial liabilities. We anticipate that the amended standards will 
have no effect on the consolidated financial statements.

In June 2013, the IASB published the amendment to IAS 39 “Novation of Derivatives and Con-
tinuation of Hedge Accounting”. IAS 39 was supplemented by a simplification rule, based on 
which it is not necessary to terminate hedge accounting under certain conditions if the original 
derivative is no longer in place. The amendment is to be applied for the first time for financial 
years starting on or after January 1, 2014. MLP does not expect the amendments to have any 
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

b)	EU endorsement still pending

The IASB published its amendment to IFRS 9 (2009) “Financial Instruments” in November 2009. 
The IFRS 9 method for accounting and measurement of financial instruments will replace IAS 39.

In future, financial assets will only be classified and measured in two groups: at “Amortized 
Costs” and at “Fair Value”. The group of financial assets recognised at amortised costs comprises 
financial assets which only include the entitlement to interest and principal payments at spec-
ified times and which are also held within the scope of a business model whose objective is to 
hold assets. All other financial assets form the “Fair Value” group. Under certain conditions, 
financial assets in the first category can – as is currently the case – be assigned to the fair value 
category (fair value option).
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Changes in the value of financial assets in the Fair Value category must in principle be disclosed 
as profit or loss, although the option to record changes under other comprehensive income may 
be used for certain equity instruments. However, any dividend claims resulting from these assets 
must be disclosed as profit or loss.

All regulations for financial liabilities are adopted from IAS 39. The main difference concerns 
the recognition of changes in value of financial liabilities measured at fair value. In future, these 
must be recognized separately, whereby the portion attributable to a company’s own credit risk 
is to be recognised under other comprehensive income and the remaining portion of the change 
in value is to be recognised as profit or loss.

The objective of the new hedge accounting model under IFRS 9 is to secure a closer link between 
the risk management system and financial reporting. The types of hedging relationships which 
are still permitted are “Cash Flow Hedge Accounting”, “Fair Value Hedge Accounting” and 
“Hedging a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation”.

The scope for qualifying hedged items has also been extended. Groups of hedged items, insofar 
as the individual hedged items qualify for a designation, as well as net items and net zero items 
can now be designated. Every financial instrument that is accounted for at fair value is generally 
suitable for use as a hedging instrument. Exceptions to this include liabilities for which the fair 
value option has been applied and equity instruments recorded under the fair value through 
other comprehensive income option based on the provisions of Phase I.

IFRS 9 dispenses with the bandwidths of 80% to 125% required within the scope of measuring 
effectiveness in line with IAS 39, meaning that no retrospective effectiveness test now has to 
be performed. As is also the case for disclosure of any ineffectiveness, the prospective effective-
ness test is still necessary. The hedging relationship may only be terminated when the defined 
prerequisites have been met. This means that hedging relationships must be continued if the 
objective of risk management remains unchanged.

Extended notes to the consolidated financial statements are to be made with regard to the risk 
management strategy, the effects of risk management on future cash flows and the effects of 
hedge accounting on the financial statements.

In addition to this, recognition of own default risks for financial liabilities of the fair value 
option directly in equity under other comprehensive income is now isolated, i.e. possible without 
application of the other requirements of IFRS 9.

Hedging relationships are not to be terminated due to the transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9, 
provided the prerequisites and qualitative features continue to be fulfilled. The other rules 
pursuant to IAS 39 can continue to be optionally applied under IFRS 9.
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One effect of IFRS 9 is that companies are no longer required to provide adjusted figures for the 
previous year when applying IFRS 9 for the first time. This simplification was originally only 
permitted when adopting IFRS 9 early and before January 1, 2012. However, the simplification 
also involves additional notes to consolidated financial statements as per IFRS 7 at the time of 
transitioning.

As is the case with the provisions of IFRS 9, the timing for initial adoption of these amendments 
is still open, but is not likely to be before January 1, 2017. MLP expects that the new IFRS 9 will 
lead to significant changes with regard to the classification and measurement of financial assets.

In January 2014, the IASB published the interim standard IFRS 14 “Regulatory   Deferral 
Accounts”. The objective of this standard is to increase the comparability of financial statements 
from such companies performing rate-regulated activities. If accepted in its current form by the 
EU, the standard is to be adopted for the first time for reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2016. MLP does not expect the amendments to have any impact on its consolidated 
financial statements.

The IASB published amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” in November 2013. The 
amendments clarify the regulations addressing the assignment of employee premiums or third 
party premiums to periods of service if the premiums are linked to years of service. In addition 
to this, simplifications are provided if the premiums are not dependent on the number of years 
service. If accepted in its current form by the EU the amendment is to be adopted for the first 
time for reporting periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014. MLP does not expect the amend-
ments to have any significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2013, the IASB published IFRIC 21 “Levies”. IFRIC 21 addresses the question of rec-
ognising public levies in the balance sheet which are not income taxes in the sense of IAS 12. 
Clarification is in particular provided as to when obligations to pay levies of this kind are to be 
recognised as liabilities or provisions in the financial statements. If accepted in its current form 
by the EU the amendment is to be adopted for the first time for reporting periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2014. MLP does not expect the amendments to have any significant impact 
on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2013, the IASB published revisions to IFRS 2010–2012, as well as revisions to 
IFRS 2011–2013. The amendments affect the standards IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 8, IFRS 13, IAS 
16/IAS 38, IAS 24 and IAS 38 (revisions 2010–2012), as well as the standards IFRS 1, IFRS 3, 
IFRS 13 and IAS 40 (revisions 2011–2013). If accepted in their current form by the EU, the 
amendments are to be adopted for the first time for reporting periods beginning on or after 
July 1, 2014. The amendments eliminate inconsistencies and clarify certain formulations. The 
amended standards have no effect on the consolidated financial statements.

With the exception of the amendments to IAS 36, MLP did not adopt any standards or inter-
pretations ahead of time that have already been issued but have not yet come into force. The 
Group will apply the new/revised standards and interpretations at the latest when their adoption 
becomes binding following endorsement by the EU.
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4	 Scope of consolidation and shares in associates 

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are companies in which MLP AG holds the majority of the voting rights or exerts 
any other means of control over the financial and operating policy so as to obtain benefits from 
its activities.
 
Shares in associates
Associates are companies where MLP AG has significant influence on financial and operating 
policy, but which are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures.
 
Changes in the financial year
By resolution of the Executive Board dated February 26, 2013, the MLPdialog unit was spun 
off from TPC GmbH. To this end, the existing 100% subsidiary of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen 
AG, Academic Networks GmbH, was renamed MLPdialog GmbH. Following this, the company 
acquired the assets of TPC GmbH necessary for business (asset deal). MLPdialog GmbH has been 
included in the scope of consolidation since June 1, 2013.

On June 25, 2013, FERI AG acquired the remaining (50%) stake in Heubeck-FERI Pension Asset 
Consulting GmbH from Heubeck AG. The company was then merged with FERI Institutional 
& Family Office GmbH (FIFO).

With the agreement dated June 27, 2013, FERI AG acquired all shares in Blitz 12–409 AG, Munich, 
which was renamed FEREAL AG on June 27, 2013. FERI Investment Services GmbH (FIS) was 
then merged with FEREAL AG. Following this, the “Private Equity Investment Management” 
division was split off from FERI Trust GmbH (FT) and transferred to FEREAL AG.
 
Scope of consolidation as of the balance sheet date
Alongside MLP AG as the parent company, nine (previous year: eight) fully consolidated 
domestic subsidiaries and, as was already the case in the previous year, one fully consolidated 
foreign subsidiary and one associated company were incorporated in the consolidated financial 
statements of December 31, 2013.
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Listing of shareholdings for the consolidated financial statements as per § 313 of the  
German Commercial Code (HGB)

As of Dec. 31, 2013
Share of capital 

in %
Shareholders’ 
equity (€’000)

Net profit 
(€’000)

Fully consolidated subsidiaries

MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Wiesloch¹ 100.00 109,548 26,957

TPC GmbH, Hamburg 
(formerly TPC THE PENSION CONSULTANCY GmbH, Hamburg)¹ 100.00 314 508

ZSH GmbH Finanzdienstleistungen, Heidelberg¹ 100.00 1,190 978

MLPdialog GmbH, Wiesloch 
(formerly Academic Networks GmbH, Wiesloch) 100.00 175 781

FERI AG, Bad Homburg v.d. Höhe¹ 100.00 19,862 4,335

FERI Trust GmbH, Bad Homburg v.d. Höhe¹ 100.00 5,114 701

FERI Institutional and Family Office GmbH,  Bad Homburg v.d. Höhe¹ 100.00 51 826

FERI EuroRating Services AG, Bad Homburg v.d. Höhe¹ 100.00 958 827

FEREAL AG (formerly Blitz 12–409 AG), Bad Homburg v.d. Höhe¹ 100.00 421 364

FERI Trust (Luxembourg) S.A., Luxemburg 100.00 8,994 12,182

Associates consolidated at equity

MLP Hyp GmbH, Wiesloch (formerly Schwetzingen) 49.80 4,388 1,388

Companies not consolidated due to immateriality

MLP Consult GmbH, Wiesloch 100.00 2,415 16

FERI Trust AG (Switzerland), St. Gallen² 100.00 TCHF –677 TCHF –234

FERI Corp. (USA), New York³ 100.00 TUSD 87 TUSD –24

CORESIS Management GmbH, Bad Homburg v.d. Höhe² 25.00 184 113

FPE Private Equity Beteiligungs-Treuhand GmbH, Munich² 100.00 176 151

FPE Private Equity Koordinations GmbH, Munich² 100.00 83 58

FPE Direct Coordination GmbH, Munich² 100.00 42 17

FERI Private Equity GmbH & Co. KG, Munich² 100.00 38 –2

FERI Private Equity Nr. 2 GmbH & Co. KG, Munich² 100.00 6 –4

UST Immobilien GmbH, Bad Homburg v.d. Höhe⁴ 32.50 – –

AIF Komplementär GmbH (formerly Blitz 13–424 GmbH), Munich⁴ 41.25 – –

AAIF Register-Treuhand GmbH (formerly Blitz 13–423 GmbH), Munich⁴ 100.00 – –

¹	A profit and loss transfer agreement is in place. Figures prior to profit transfer.
²	Shareholders’ equity and net profit as of December 31, 2012.
³	Shareholders’ equity and net profit as of December 31, 2010.  
⁴Founded in 2013, financial statements are not available yet.

5	 Principles of consolidating subsidiaries and associates

The consolidated financial statements as of December 31 of the financial year include the finan-
cial statements of MLP AG and its consolidated subsidiaries as well as companies accounted for 
at equity. The financial statements of the parent company and of the subsidiaries are prepared 
in accordance with uniform accounting policies.
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Subsidiaries material to the consolidated financial statements are fully consolidated from the 
date of acquisition, i.e. from the date on which MLP AG gains control. They are deconsolidated as 
soon as the parent company loses control. For subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial 
statements for the first time, equity consolidation is performed using the acquisition method of 
accounting in line with IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”. Here, the acquisition costs for the shares 
acquired are offset against the proportionate share of equity in subsidiaries. The assets, debts 
and contingent liabilities acquired are fully incorporated into the consolidated balance sheet at 
the time of acquisition, whereby hidden reserves and liabilities are also taken into account. Any 
remaining positive differences are then disclosed as goodwill. In the event of deconsolidation, this 
goodwill is released to income. Any negative differences are recognised in the income statement 
immediately. For business combinations in which fewer than 100% of the shares are acquired, 
IFRS 3 provides the option of using either the purchased goodwill method or the full goodwill 
method. This option can be exercised each time a new company is acquired. The consolidated 
financial statements contain no effects of intra-group transactions. No intra-group income and 
expenses or receivables and liabilities between consolidated companies are offset against each 
other. Profits between consolidated companies (inter-company profits) are eliminated. Deferred 
taxes are recognised by MLP to accommodate any unrecognised differences between the IFRS 
carrying amounts and the tax values resulting from the consolidation.

Companies over which significant control can be exercised (associates) are accounted for using 
the equity method. This is generally the case when a 20% to 50% share of the voting rights is 
held. The equity method is also used for joint ventures. The shares in associates accounted for 
using the equity method are recorded at the date of addition based on their historical costs. 
The goodwill corresponds to the positive difference between the historical costs of the interest 
and the pro rata net fair value of the associate’s assets. When applying the equity method, the 
goodwill is not amortised, but in the case of indications it is tested for an impairment of the 
shares. Existing goodwill is disclosed under investments accounted for using the equity method.

All other investments, which are not consolidated for reasons of materiality, are recognised in 
the balance sheet at their acquisition costs, as market values are not available and there is no 
other reliable way to determine fair values.

 
6	 Significant discretionary decisions, estimates and changes in estimates

On occasions, the preparation of the financial statements included in IFRS consolidated financial 
statements requires discretionary decisions, assumptions and estimates, which influence the 
level of the disclosed assets and debts, the disclosures of contingent liabilities and receivables, 
the income and expenses of the reporting period and the other disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements.

The estimates include complex and subjective measurements, as well as assumptions, some of 
which are uncertain due to their very nature and can be subject to changes. The actual values 
may deviate from the estimates.
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Information on significant discretionary decisions, assumptions and estimation uncertainties 
that have the greatest impact on the amounts disclosed in the consolidated financial statements 
when applying the accounting policies is provided in the following notes: 
 

•• Notes 7 and 20 – significant assumptions applied in discounted cash flow forecasts

•• Notes 7, 24 to 27 and 37 – classification and measurement of financial instruments

•• Notes 7, 27, 30 and 36 – provisions and corresponding refund claims as well as contingent 
assets and liabilities

•• Notes 7 and 30 – measurement of defined benefit obligations

•• Notes 7 and 35 – classification of leases

•• Notes 7 and 22 – valuation of investment property

•• Notes 7, 24 and 27 – allowances for bad debts

7	 Accounting policies

Revenue recognition
Revenue is generally recognised if it is probable that MLP will derive definable economic benefit 
from it.

MLP generates revenue from commission. This commission is in turn generated in the areas 
of old-age provision, wealth management, health insurance, non-life insurance, financing and 
other consulting services.

Commission income from the brokerage of insurance policies is recognised independently of 
the inflow of funds if the Group is entitled to receive payment. The entitlement to payment auto-
matically arises when the first premium of the policy holder has been collected by the insurance 
company, but at the earliest upon conclusion of the insurance contract. Obligations to consul-
tants and office managers also arise at this point in time. MLP is entitled to time-limited trail 
commissions for the brokerage of certain contracts (especially pertaining to old-age provision). 
They are realised according to the same principles as acquisition commissions. MLP receives 
partially recurrent trailer fees for brokered old-age provision and health insurance contracts. The 
company is usually entitled to these as long as premiums are payable for underlying contracts.

MLP sets up provisions for cancellation risks based on empirical values with regard to its obli-
gation to repay commissions received if brokered insurance policies are cancelled. The change 
in provisions is disclosed under commission expenses.

In the field of old-age provision, only commission income from the brokering of life insurance 
policies is included. In the areas of non-life and health insurance, commission income comes 
solely from the brokering of corresponding insurance products.

Revenue from wealth management includes issuing premiums, custody and account mainte-
nance charges, fund management fees, as well as brokerage and trailer commission from wealth 
management mandates. Further wealth management revenue comes from research and rating 
services. Revenue is generated after service provision.
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Commission income from the brokering of loans (credit brokering commission) is attributed to 
the sales revenue from financing. MLP realises brokerage commissions for loan brokerage after 
concluding the respective loan agreement.
 
Other commission and fees are generated at the level to which consulting services are performed. 
They are paid in particular for consulting services to companies on setting up occupational 
pension provision schemes as well as consulting services in connection with medical practice 
financing and business start-ups.

In addition to this, revenue is generated from the interest rate business. Revenue from the 
interest rate business also includes interest income from the investment of funds of MLP 
Finanzdienstleistungen AG.

Revenue from the interest rate business is earned by MLP for the duration of the capital invest-
ment in line with the effective interest method. Commissions that are part of the effective interest 
return of a receivable are treated as interest income and recorded in those periods in which they 
are actually earned. They include commitment interest for giving loan commitments or taking 
over an existing liability. The company realises fees for other current handling and processing 
services (for example prematurity compensation) after providing these services.
 
Interest income from the investment of money from other Group companies is a constituent of 
the finance cost and is earned for the duration of the capital investment in line with the effective 
interest method, while dividends are recognised the moment an entitlement to payment arises.
 
Currency translation
The euro is the functional currency of all companies consolidated in MLP’s consolidated financial 
statements. Therefore, there are no significant effects from currency translation.
No subsidiaries of the MLP Group operate in hyper-inflationary economies.

Fair value
A range of accounting policies and Group disclosures require determination of the fair value for 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. For the determination of the fair value of an 
asset or liability, MLP uses data observed in the market insofar as possible. If there is no active 
market on the closing date, the fair value is determined using recognised valuation models. 
Based on the input factors used in the valuation models, the fair values are classified in various 
tiers within the fair value hierarchy as per IFRS 13:

(1)		 Fair values at hierarchy level 1 are determined using prices available in active markets for  
		  the identical financial instrument (quoted market prices).
(2)		 The fair values at hierarchy level 2 are either determined using prices on active markets  
		  for comparable but not identical financial instruments or using valuation techniques based  
		  primarily on data from observable markets.
(3)		 When using valuation techniques, which incorporate a key parameter that cannot be  
		  observed in the market, fair values are assigned to hierarchy level 3.
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If the input factors used to calculate the fair value of an asset or liability can be assigned to var-
ious tiers in the fair value hierarchy, the entire measurement of fair value is assigned to the tier 
in the fair value hierarchy that corresponds to the lowest input factor of overriding importance 
for the valuation.

The Group recognises re-assignments between the various tiers in the fair value hierarchy at the 
end of the reporting period in which the respective amendment was implemented.

You can find further information on the assumptions made when determining fair values in 
the following notes: 

•• Note 22 – investment property

•• Note 37 – additional information on financial instruments

Intangible assets
Intangible assets that have been acquired or created by the company itself are recognised as 
assets in accordance with the requirements of IAS 38 “Intangible Assets”. Alongside other criteria, 
use of the asset must provide a probable future economic advantage. It must also be possible to 
reliably determine the costs of the asset.

Intangible assets are disclosed at their acquisition or manufacturing costs minus all accumulated 
amortisation charges and all accumulated impairments. MLP does not apply the revaluation 
method. Goodwill is valued at the excess of the business combination’s acquisition cost over 
the acquired net assets on the date of addition.

Definite-lived intangible assets need to be estimated with regard to the depreciation methods 
and duration. The respective useful life periods are defined on the basis of empirical values. Due 
to changed overall economic circumstances, the amortisation period may need to be adjusted, 
which can have significant effects on the level of amortisation expenses. At MLP this mainly 
concerns client relations and software. Definite-lived intangible assets are usually written down 
on a straight-line basis over their economic life. Amortisation begins once the intangible asset 
becomes ready for use and ends as soon as the asset is derecognised or if the asset is no longer 
classified as “available for sale”. The residual value, useful life and amortisation method for a 
definite-lived intangible asset are reviewed at the end of each financial year. If the expected use-
ful life or the expected pattern of an asset’s usage has changed, MLP caters to this by adjusting 
the amortisation period or selecting a different amortisation method. MLP recognises changes 
in estimates of this nature prospectively in the balance sheet in accordance with IAS 8. The 
carrying amount of definite-lived intangible assets is checked whenever there is an indication 
that their value may have been reduced (impairment).
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Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortised. The indefinite-lived 
intangible assets are subjected to an impairment test once a year or when there are indications 
of an impairment. These tests are either performed individually or at the level of a cash gen-
erating unit. They are also reviewed once a year to establish whether their classification as an 
indefinite-lived asset is still justified. If this is not the case, the asset is handled according to 
the principles for definite-lived intangible assets from then on. The change in useful life from 
indefinite to finite is recognised prospectively in the balance sheet as a change in estimate in 
accordance with IAS 8.

Business combinations require estimates of the fair value of the assets acquired, assumed debts
and contingent liabilities purchased. Property, plant and equipment are usually valued by inde-
pendent experts, while marketable securities are shown at their stock market price. If intangible 
assets are to be valued, MLP either consults an independent external expert or calculates the 
fair value based on a suitable valuation method, generally discounted cash flows, depending 
on the type of asset and the complexity involved in calculating the value. Depending on the 
type of asset and the availability of information, various valuation techniques are applied (mar-
ket-price-oriented, capital-value-oriented and cost-oriented methods). For instance, when valuing 
trademarks and licences, the relief-from-royalty method may be appropriate, whereby the value 
of intangible assets is assessed on the basis of royalties saved for trademarks and licences held 
by the company itself.

Insofar as cash-generating units are restructured, a re-allocation of the goodwill assigned to 
these units is performed on the basis of the relative revenue values. Brands are re-allocated on 
the basis of the sustainable sales revenues.

MLP tests goodwill from business combinations for impairment at least once a year. For the 
purpose of the impairment test, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units at the acquisition 
date. The impairment test compares the carrying amount of the cash-generating units with 
their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher amount of either the fair value 
less costs of sale or the value in use of the cash-generating unit. This requires an estimate of 
the value in use of the cash-generating unit, to which the goodwill is allocated. To this end, 
corporate management must estimate the likely future cash flow of the cash-generating units. 
The calculation of the present value of anticipated future cash flows is based on assumptions 
on the development of funds under management, future sales volumes and expenses. The cash 
flow estimate is based on detailed planning periods with a planning horizon of four years. In 
addition to this, an appropriate discount rate must be selected to determine the present value 
of this cash flow.

Intangible assets generated internally are only capitalised at their cost of conversion if the 
conditions required pursuant to IAS 38 are fulfilled. The cost of conversion includes all costs 
directly attributable to the development process and appropriate portions of development-related 
overheads. If the capitalisation conditions for internally generated intangible assets are not met, 
MLP recognises the development costs as expenses in the period in which they were incurred. 
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Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost and, if applicable, less straight-line 
depreciation and impairments. MLP does not apply the revaluation method. Depreciation of the 
property, plant and equipment or components begins when an asset is ready for use. Probable 
physical wear and tear, technical obsolescence and legal/contractual limitations are taken into 
account in determining expected useful lives.

The procurement and manufacturing costs for property, plant and equipment contain greater 
expenses for initial procurements that extend the average useful life or increase the capacity. In 
the case of assets that have been sold or scrapped, the historic procurement or manufacturing 
costs and the cumulative depreciation charges are derecognised. The profits or losses resulting 
from the disposal of the assets are determined as the difference between the net disposal pro-
ceeds and the carrying amount and are recognised in the income statement as other revenue 
or other operating expenses in the period in which the item is derecognised. Maintenance and 
minor repairs are recognised in the income statement immediately.

Investment property
Investment property pursuant to IAS 40 consists of all property that is held to earn rental 
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the supply of services or for 
administrative purposes or sale in the company’s ordinary course of business. MLP measures 
investment property at amortised procurement and manufacturing costs, including incidental 
costs. Investment property is written off in accordance with the principles detailed for property, 
plant and equipment. Investment property is derecognised if it is sold or no longer used on a 
permanent basis or if no future economic benefit is expected when selling it. Gains or losses 
from the closure or the disposal of an investment property are recognised under other revenue 
or other operating expenses at the time of their closure or sale.

Rental income from investment property is realised by the Group on a straight-line basis over 
the duration of the tenancy agreement.

Impairment test
The carrying amount of all indefinite-lived intangible assets, intangible assets that are not yet 
ready for use and goodwill is tested at the end of each financial year. MLP determines whether 
there are any indications of impairment to other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment 
and investment property on each balance sheet date. If the recoverable amount for the individual 
asset cannot be determined, the estimate is made for the smallest cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of either the fair value of an asset 
less selling costs or the value in use. If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset is regarded as impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
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For the purposes of determining value in use, estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value on the basis of a pre-tax discount rate reflecting current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairments are shown in the income 
statement under “Depreciation and impairments”.

Goodwill acquired within the scope of business combinations is tested for impairments at least 
once a year and also at any time when there is indication of potential impairments on assets. For 
the purposes of impairment tests, the goodwill must be allocated from the date of acquisition 
onwards to those of the Group’s cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that 
are to benefit from the synergies from the combination. This applies irrespective of whether 
other assets or liabilities of the acquired company have been allocated to these units or groups 
of units. Each unit or group of units to which goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level 
within the Group at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and is no 
larger than one business segment in the sense of IFRS 8. The carrying amount is tested by deter-
mining the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill refers. If the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment 
loss is recognised. If the Group sells part of a cash-generating unit to which goodwill is allocated, 
the goodwill is regularly divided in proportion to the values of the sold and retained portion of 
the unit. The proportional goodwill allocated to the part that has been sold is included in the 
calculation of the profit from sale of discontinued operations.

At each closing date, MLP checks whether there are any indications that an impairment loss 
recognised in prior reporting periods no longer exists or may have decreased. If there is any such 
indication, it measures the recoverable amount. An impairment loss recognised previously is 
reversed if, since the last impairment loss was recognised and due to a change in the estimates, 
the recoverable amount is higher than the asset’s carrying amount. The reversal may not exceed 
what the amortised cost would have been if an impairment had not been recognised in the 
previous years. Such a reversal must be recognised directly in the net income for the period. 
Once impairments have been reversed, an adjustment may need to be made in future reporting 
periods so as to systematically distribute the asset’s adjusted carrying amount less any residual 
value over its remaining useful life. No reversal of impairments may be made to goodwill.

MLP has defined the following groups of cash-generating units for allocation of goodwill: The 
reportable Financial Services business segment contains the following groups of cash-generating 
units: (1) Financial Services, (2) Occupational Pension Provision and (3) ZSH. The reportable 
FERI business segment contains the following groups of cash-generating units: (1) FERI Asset 
Management, (2) FERI Consulting, (3) FERI EuroRating Services and (4) FEREAL.
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The significant assumptions that are used when calculating the recoverable amount are the 
discount rates, terminal value growth rates and growth rate of earnings before tax. The discount 
rate is based on a risk-free basic interest rate plus a company-specific risk premium, which is 
derived from the systematic market risk (beta factor) and the current market risk premium. 
The discounted cash flow model is based on future cash flows over a period of four years. Cash 
flows after this time period are extrapolated using the growth rate stated above, which is based 
on the management's estimate of the long-term average annual growth rate in earnings before 
tax. For further details, please refer to Note 20.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are also to be tested for possible impairment on a yearly basis. 
This concerns the “FERI” brand, which was acquired in 2006 within the scope of the business 
combination with the FERI Group. In view of the recognition of this brand, at present no definite 
end of its useful life can be specified. The brand is fully attributed to the group of cash-generating 
units of the “FERI” reportable business segment. A fair value minus costs of disposal has been 
established for the “FERI” brand on the basis of the relief-from-royalty method. Since this value 
exceeds the carrying amount of the “FERI” brand, no impairment loss had to be recorded, as 
was the case in the previous year. For further details, please refer to Note 20.

Leasing
MLP operates as both a lessee and lessor to third parties. MLP determines whether a contrac-
tual agreement constitutes or contains a lease on the basis of the economic substance of the 
agreement concluded. This requires an assessment of whether performance of the agreement 
is dependent upon the use of a particular asset or particular assets and whether the agreement 
confers the right to use the asset. Leases where all risks and rewards incident to ownership of 
the leased asset remain substantially with the Group as lessor are classified as operating leases. 
MLP has not signed any agreements that essentially transfer all risks and rewards associated with 
the ownership of the leased asset to the lessee (finance leases). The further notes are therefore 
limited to operating leases.

MLP signed one leasing agreement as lessor of a commercial property in Heidelberg. This 
agreement is classified as an operating lease, as MLP continues to bear the key risks and oppor-
tunities associated with ownership of the property. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating 
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and expensed over the 
term of the lease, just as rental income is recognised as expenses over the term of the lease. For 
further details, please refer to Note 22.

MLP signed multiple leasing agreements as lessee of rental properties, motor vehicles and office 
machines. The agreements are also classified as operating leases, as the lessors bear the key risks 
and opportunities associated with ownership of the property. Rental payments under operating 
leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 
The same principle applies to benefits received and receivable that serve as an incentive to enter 
into an operating lease. For further details, please refer to Note 35.
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Investments accounted for using the equity method
The acquisition costs are annually updated by taking into account the equity changes of the 
associates corresponding to MLP’s equity share. Unrealised gains and losses from transactions 
with associates are eliminated based on the percentage of shares held. The changes of the pro 
rata shareholders' equity are shown in the company’s income statement under earnings from 
investments accounted for using the equity method. Dividends received reduce the carrying 
amount. For further details, please refer to Note 23.

Financial instruments
A financial instrument is a contract that simultaneously gives rise to a financial asset at one 
entity and a financial liability or equity instrument at the other entity. In the case of regular-way 
purchases and sales, financial instruments are recognised or derecognised in the balance sheet 
on the trade date. Regular-way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 
requiring delivery of the assets within a period dictated by market regulations or conventions.
Pursuant to IAS 39, financial instruments are divided into the following categories:

•• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss,

•• Held-to-maturity investments,

•• Loans and receivables,

•• Available-for-sale financial assets,

•• Financial liabilities at amortised cost, and

•• Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. 

MLP defines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities upon initial recognition. They 
are initially recognised at their fair value. The fair value of a financial instrument is defined as 
the price paid for the sale of an asset or transfer of a liability in a standard business transac-
tion between market members on the cut-off date for valuation. Financial assets or liabilities 
that are not measured at fair value through profit and loss within the scope of the subsequent 
measurement are initially recognised plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial asset or issue of the financial liability.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss comprise the subcategories “Held for 
trading” and “Designated at fair value through profit and loss”. MLP's financial instruments are 
“designated at fair value through profit and loss” when incongruences would otherwise arise in 
their valuation or recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are measured at their 
fair value. Profits or losses from the change in fair value are recognised through profit or loss.

MLP tests the carrying amounts of the financial instruments that are not measured at fair value 
through profit and loss individually at each closing date to determine whether there is objective 
and material evidence of impairment. A financial asset is impaired and impairments are incurred 
if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset (a 'loss event') and that loss event (or events) has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset than can be reliably estimated.
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The following are classed as objective evidence that impairments have occurred to financial assets:

•• Default or delay in payments on the part of the debtor,

•• Indications that a debtor or issuer is falling into insolvency,

•• Adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers,

•• Economic framework conditions that correlate with defaults or

•• The disappearance of an active market for a security.

In addition to this, when an equity instrument held suffers a significant or extended decline 
in fair value to a level below its acquisition costs, this is considered an objective evidence of 
impairment. MLP classes a decrease in value of 20% to be “significant” and a time period of 
nine months as an “extended” decline.

MLP has classified financial assets as held-to-maturity investments. Held-to-maturity investments 
are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and a fixed term that 
MLP wishes to and is capable of retaining until maturity. So far MLP has not prematurely sold 
or reclassified any financial assets that were classified as held-to-maturity financial investments. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. If held-to-maturity investments are likely to be subject to an impairment, this will be 
recognised through profit or loss. An impairment that was previously recognised as an expense 
is reversed to income if a recovery in value can be attributed objectively to facts that have arisen 
since the original impairment charge. An increase in value is only recognised to the extent that it 
does not exceed the value of the amortised costs that would have resulted without impairment. 
The recoverable amount of securities held to maturity which is required for impairment testing 
corresponds to the present value of the expected future cash flow, discounted using the original 
effective interest rate of the financial asset. The fair value of held-to-maturity investments can 
temporarily drop below their carrying amount. Insofar as this drop is not due to credit risks, 
no impairment is recognised.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not listed on an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are valued at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. However, this excludes assets that MLP has 
measured at fair value through profit and loss upon initial recognition. For receivables from 
banking business and for other receivables and other assets, impairments on portfolio basis are 
recognised for receivables for which no specific allowances have been made. The allowances 
are determined based on the dunning level, the age of the receivables and on the basis of past 
experience.
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Any impairments are recognised in profit or loss on the corresponding impairment account. If 
a receivable is uncollectable i.e. payment is almost certainly impossible, it will be written off. 
Allowances for losses in the banking business are established on the basis of historical loss 
rates. Specific allowances for bad debts are recognised if receivables are likely to be uncollectable. 
In addition, MLP forms allowances for bad debts on a portfolio basis for remaining accounts 
receivable based on the dunning level. The allowances for other receivables and assets essen-
tially relate to receivables  from branch office managers and consultants. Value adjustments 
on receivables from active consultants are recognised through the estimation of remaining 
terms and fluctuation rates, while value adjustments on receivables from former consultants 
are recognised on the basis of historical loss rates. In cases where MLP institutes enforcement 
or where insolvency proceedings are imminent or have already started, impairments are rec-
ognised on the basis of empirical values. The same applies to receivables which are disputed 
and where legal action is pending. MLP determines any impairment of receivables from active 
and former office managers on the basis of historical loss rates. Specific allowances are made 
for non-performing, disputed and litigation receivables due from office managers. For further 
details, please refer to Notes 24 and 27.

Available-for-sale financial assets represent non-derivative financial assets which, subsequent to 
initial recognition, are measured at their fair value. Profits or losses that result from a change in 
fair value are recognised outside the income statement as other comprehensive income until the 
respective asset is derecognised. However, allowances for bad debts and profits or losses from 
currency translations are excluded from this. They are recognised directly in profit or loss. The 
reversal of profits/losses recorded under other comprehensive income in the income statement 
is performed either when the respective asset is derecognised or in the event of an impairment.

If a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognised under 
other comprehensive income and an objective reference to impairment of this asset is in place, 
this loss recognised previously directly in shareholders' equity is to be transferred from share-
holders' equity to the income statement up to the level of the determined impairment.

Impairments of an available-for-sale equity instrument recognised in profit or loss cannot be 
reversed. MLP records any further increase of the fair value under shareholders' equity with no 
effect on the operating result.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale 
increases and this increase can be related objectively to events occurring after the impairment 
was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed to equity at the appropriate level.
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MLP measures equity instruments for which no listed price exists on an active market, and whose 
fair value cannot be reliably established, at acquisition cost. If objective indicators suggest there 
is an impairment to a non-listed equity instrument measured at acquisition costs, the amount of 
impairment is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value 
of the estimated future cash flow, which are discounted at the current market rate of return of 
a comparable asset.

Subsequent to their initial recognition, financial liabilities are to be recognised at their amortised 
costs using the effective interest method. Profits or losses are recognised in the income statement 
on derecognition, as well as within the scope of amortisation charges. Subsequent to their initial 
recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are measured at their 
fair value. Profits or losses from the change in fair value are recognised through profit or loss.

MLP recognises derivative financial instruments at fair value without transaction costs upon 
initial recognition and in subsequent periods. Derivatives with positive market values are 
disclosed under "Other receivables and assets", while derivatives with negative market values 
are disclosed under "Other liabilities". The MLP Group does not make use of hedge accounting 
pursuant to IAS 39. Changes in the market value of derivatives are therefore directly recognised 
in the income statement and included in the income/expenses from the banking business.

Other receivables and assets
Non-financial assets included in other receivable and assets are measured at amortised costs.
 
Pension provisions
Old-age provision in the Group is performed on the basis of the defined-benefit and defined 
contribution old-age provision plans.

In the defined contribution plans, MLP pays premiums to statutory or private pension insurance 
institutions based on legal or contractual provisions or on a voluntary basis. After payment of 
the premiums, MLP has no further benefit obligations.

Commitments to pay premiums into defined contribution schemes are recognised as expenses 
as soon as the related service has been rendered. Pre-paid premiums are recognised as assets 
insofar as a right to reimbursement or reduction of future payments arises.

In accordance with IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”, the provisions for pension obligations from 
defined benefit plans are measured using the projected-unit credit method.

The benefit obligations are partly covered by reinsurance. Virtually all reinsurance policies fulfil 
the conditions of pension scheme assets. For this reason the claims from reinsurance policies 
are netted against corresponding pension provisions in the balance sheet as per IAS 19.

The Group’s net obligation with regard to defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each 
plan by estimating future benefits that the employees have earned in the current period and 
in earlier periods. This amount is discounted and the fair value of any pension scheme assets 
subtracted from this.
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For the measurement of pension obligations, MLP uses actuarial calculations to estimate future 
events for the calculation of the expenses, obligations and entitlements in connection with these 
plans. These calculations are based on assumptions with regard to the discount rate, mortality 
and future salary, as well as pension increases. The interest rate used to discount post-employ-
ment benefit obligations is derived from the interest rates of senior, fixed-rate corporate bonds.

Revaluations of net liabilities from defined benefit plans are recognised directly under other 
comprehensive income. The revaluation encompasses actuarial gains and losses, income from 
pension scheme assets (without interest) and the effects of any upper asset limit (without inter-
est). The Group calculates net interest expenses (income) on net liabilities (assets) from defined 
benefit plans for the reporting period through application of the discount rate used for valua-
tion of the defined benefit obligations at the start of the annual reporting period. This discount 
rate is applied to net liabilities (assets) from defined benefit plans at this time. Any changes to 
net liabilities (assets) from defined benefit plans that occur as a result of premium and benefit 
payments over the course of the reporting period are taken into account. Net interest expenses 
and other expenses for defined benefit plans are recognised as profit or loss.

If the benefits of a plan are changed or the scope of a plan is reduced, the resulting change to the 
benefit or profit/loss affecting years of service already earned is recognised directly as profit or 
loss when reducing the scope of said plan. The Group recognises profit and loss resulting from 
a defined benefit plan at the time of occurrence.

Further details of pension provisions are given in Note 30.

Other provisions
In accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets” other pro-
visions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) resulting 
from a past event, settlement is expected to result in an outflow of resources and the obligation’s 
amount can be estimated reliably. They represent uncertain obligations that are measured at 
the amount that represents the best possible estimate of the expenditure required to fulfil the 
obligations.

Insofar as the level of the provision can only be determined within a range, the most likely value 
is used. If the probability of occurrence is equal, the weighted average is taken.

Where the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions with a time of more than 
one year remaining to maturity are discounted at market interest rates that correspond to the 
risk and the time remaining to maturity.

If the Group expects to receive a reimbursement of at least part of a practically certain provision 
from an identifiable third party (e.g. in case of an existing insurance policy), MLP recognises the 
reimbursement as a separate asset. The expenditure required to set up the provision is recognised 
in the income statement after deduction of the reimbursement.
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For the liability arising due to the premature loss of brokered insurance policies whereby com-
mission that has been earned must be refunded in part, MLP sets up provisions for cancellation 
risks. MLP estimates the cancellation rate by product group, tariff and the period of the under-
lying policy that has already run on the basis of empirical values. The period in which MLP is 
obliged to refund portions of the commissions due to the premature loss of a policy is determined 
either by the statutory provisions of the German Insurance Act or the distribution agreements 
that have been concluded with the product providers. MLP will use the longer of these periods.

Uncertainties exist with regard to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and the amount 
and the date of incurrence of taxable income. Based on reasonable estimates, MLP establishes 
provisions for potential effects of field tax audits. 

Other liabilities
Non-financial liabilities disclosed under “Other liabilities” are recognised in the balance sheet 
at their settlement value.

Share-based payments
Share-based payments in line with IFRS 2 “Share-Based Payment” comprise remuneration 
systems paid for in cash.

The proportion of the fair value of share-based payments settled in cash attributable to services 
provided up to the valuation date is recognised as personnel expenses or as commission expenses 
and at the same time as a provision. The fair value determined based on the Monte-Carlo simu-
lation or another suitable valuation model is recalculated on each balance sheet date and on the 
payment date. The recognition of the anticipated expenditure arising from this system demands 
that assumptions be made about turnover and exercise rates. Any change to the fair value is to 
be recognised in profit or loss. At the payment date, the fair value of the liability corresponds 
to the amount which is to be paid to the eligible employee.

You can find further details on the share-based payments in Note 34.
 
Income taxes
Actual tax refund claims and tax liabilities for both the current period and earlier periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be refunded by or paid to the tax authorities. The amount 
is determined on the basis of the tax rates and tax legislation that apply on the respective bal-
ance sheet date.

In accordance with IAS 12 “Income taxes”, deferred taxes are recognised on the basis of the 
balance sheet liability method for all taxable unrecognised differences existing on the balance 
sheet date between the values of the IFRS consolidated balance sheet and the taxable values 
of the individual companies. The respective national income tax rates expected at the time of 
implementation due to applicable tax law or tax law amendments deemed to be certain are 
taken into account when measuring deferred taxes. Deferred taxes are recognised in the income 
statement as tax income or expenses, unless they relate to items recognised directly in equity. 
In this case, the deferred taxes are also recorded under shareholders’ equity, but with no effect 
on the operating result. Deferred taxes are not recognised if the temporary difference results 
from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets/debts in 
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a transaction (insofar as this is not a business combination) and their recognition has no effect 
either on the tax result or on IFRS earnings. Besides tax advantages from deductible temporary 
differences, deferred tax assets are also recognised for future benefits expected to arise from 
tax loss carryforwards.

Deferred tax assets are recognised if it is probable that there will be offsettable taxable income 
available at the time of reversing the deductible temporary differences or that loss carryforwards 
can be used within a limited timeframe. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet 
date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that there will be sufficient taxable 
profit against which the deferred tax assets can be used.

Deferred tax assets that have not been recognised are reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will make reali-
sation possible. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are netted against one another if 
there is an enforceable right to offset tax refund claims against tax liabilities and if the deferred 
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to the same income taxes levied by the same taxable 
entity and the same tax authority.
  
Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are potential commitments resulting from past events and whose existence 
depends on the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or multiple uncertain future events that are 
not completely in the company’s control. Contingent liabilities can also arise due to a current 
commitment that is based on past events but which was not recognised because it is not prob-
able that an outflow of resources will bring economic benefit or a sufficiently reliable estimate 
of the amount of the obligation cannot be made. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the 
balance sheet. If the outflow of resources is unlikely to provide any economic benefit for the 
company, no contingent liability is disclosed.

 
8	 Reportable business segments

The division of MLP into business segments follows the structure in place for internal reporting. 
The MLP Group is subdivided into the following reportable business segments: 

•• Financial services

•• FERI

•• Holding

In line with IFRS 8.12, MLP merged the business segments of “Financial Services”, “Occupa-
tional Pension Provision” and “ZSH” to form a single, reportable “Financial Services” business 
segment in the reporting year.

To form the reportable “FERI” business segment, MLP merged the business segments “FERI 
Asset Management”, “FERI Consulting”, “FERI EuroRating Services and “FEREAL”.
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The reportable Financial services business segment consists of consulting services for academics 
and other discerning clients, particularly with regard to insurance, investments, occupational 
pension provision schemes and loans of all kinds, as well as the brokering of contracts concerning 
these financial services. This segment also includes finance portfolio management, the trustee 
credit business and the loan and credit card business. The financial services segment incorporates 
the divisions focused on the brokerage business of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, TPC GmbH, 
ZSH GmbH Finanzdienstleistungen, MLPdialog GmbH and the associate MLP Hyp GmbH.

The business operations of the FERI business segment cover wealth and investment consulting. 
This segment consists of FERI AG, FERI Trust GmbH, FERI Trust (Luxembourg) S.A., FERI 
Institutional and Family Office GmbH, FERI EuroRating Services AG and FEREAL AG.

The Holding business segment consists of MLP AG. The main internal services and activities 
are combined in this segment.

 
Information regarding reportable business segments

Financial services FERI Holding Consolidation Total

All figures in €’000 2013 2012* 2013 2012 2013 2012* 2013 2012 2013 2012*

Revenue 384,666 466,885 100,943 83,146 – – –5,108 –5,462 480,502 544,569

of which total inter-segment revenue 4,688 4,951 420 511 – – –5,108 –5,462 – –

Other revenue 13,439 16,741 5,102 5,588 12,611 11,566 –10,590 –10,418 20,561 23,477

of which total inter-segment revenue 1,900 1,777 9 14 8,681 8,628 –10,590 –10,418 – –

Total revenue 398,106 483,626 106,045 88,734 12,611 11,566 –15,698 –15,880 501,063 568,046

Commission expenses –162,619 –199,448 –55,937 –41,028 – – 4,398 4,667 –214,158 –235,808

Interest expenses –4,403 –7,403 – – – – 2 2 –4,401 –7,401

Personnel expenses –72,163 –71,324 –29,036 –26,109 –5,004 –5,060 – – –106,203 –102,493

Depreciation –7,327 –8,047 –1,974 –1,992 –2,510 –2,534 – – –11,811 –12,573

Other operating expenses –123,258 –126,205 –11,092 –11,159 –9,354 –10,420 11,072 10,977 –132,632 –136,809

Earnings from investments accounted for using the equity method 902 956 – – – – – – 902 956

Segment earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 29,238 72,154 8,005 8,446 –4,257 –6,449 –226 –234 32,760 73,918

Other interest and similar income 535 564 312 196 580 1,261 –70 –94 1,358 1,928

Other interest and similar expenses –242 –244 –397 –307 –702 –715 295 361 –1,046 –905

Finance cost 293 320 –84 –111 –123 547 225 267 311 1,022

Earnings before tax (EBT) 29,530 72,474 7,921 8,335 –4,380 –5,902 0 33 33,072 74,940

Income taxes –7,583 –22,007

Net profit 25,489 52,933

Investments accounted for using the equity method 2,547 2,601 –  – –  – – – 2,547 2,601

Investments in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 21,156 13,472 858 916 436 137 – – 22,450 14,524

Major non-cash expenses:

Impairment charges/reversal of impairment charges for receivables and financial assets 2,646 277 21 42 – –  –  – 2,668 320

Increase/decrease of provisions/accrued liabilities 37,815 26,621 7,247 7,169 4,232 3,752  –  – 49,294 37,541

* Previous year’s values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.
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Information regarding reportable business segments

Financial services FERI Holding Consolidation Total

All figures in €’000 2013 2012* 2013 2012 2013 2012* 2013 2012 2013 2012*

Revenue 384,666 466,885 100,943 83,146 – – –5,108 –5,462 480,502 544,569

of which total inter-segment revenue 4,688 4,951 420 511 – – –5,108 –5,462 – –

Other revenue 13,439 16,741 5,102 5,588 12,611 11,566 –10,590 –10,418 20,561 23,477

of which total inter-segment revenue 1,900 1,777 9 14 8,681 8,628 –10,590 –10,418 – –

Total revenue 398,106 483,626 106,045 88,734 12,611 11,566 –15,698 –15,880 501,063 568,046

Commission expenses –162,619 –199,448 –55,937 –41,028 – – 4,398 4,667 –214,158 –235,808

Interest expenses –4,403 –7,403 – – – – 2 2 –4,401 –7,401

Personnel expenses –72,163 –71,324 –29,036 –26,109 –5,004 –5,060 – – –106,203 –102,493

Depreciation –7,327 –8,047 –1,974 –1,992 –2,510 –2,534 – – –11,811 –12,573

Other operating expenses –123,258 –126,205 –11,092 –11,159 –9,354 –10,420 11,072 10,977 –132,632 –136,809

Earnings from investments accounted for using the equity method 902 956 – – – – – – 902 956

Segment earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 29,238 72,154 8,005 8,446 –4,257 –6,449 –226 –234 32,760 73,918

Other interest and similar income 535 564 312 196 580 1,261 –70 –94 1,358 1,928

Other interest and similar expenses –242 –244 –397 –307 –702 –715 295 361 –1,046 –905

Finance cost 293 320 –84 –111 –123 547 225 267 311 1,022

Earnings before tax (EBT) 29,530 72,474 7,921 8,335 –4,380 –5,902 0 33 33,072 74,940

Income taxes –7,583 –22,007

Net profit 25,489 52,933

Investments accounted for using the equity method 2,547 2,601 –  – –  – – – 2,547 2,601

Investments in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 21,156 13,472 858 916 436 137 – – 22,450 14,524

Major non-cash expenses:

Impairment charges/reversal of impairment charges for receivables and financial assets 2,646 277 21 42 – –  –  – 2,668 320

Increase/decrease of provisions/accrued liabilities 37,815 26,621 7,247 7,169 4,232 3,752  –  – 49,294 37,541

* Previous year’s values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.

Intrasegment supplies and services are settled in principle at normal market prices. In the case 
of intra-group allocations, an appropriate general overhead surcharge is levied on the direct 
costs actually incurred.

The management makes decisions on the allocation of resources and determines segment per-
formance on the basis of the income statement for that segment. MLP employs the accounting 
policies applied in the consolidated financial statements to determine financial information on 
the segments.

All segments perform their economic activities predominantly in Germany. The FERI Asset 
Management segment also operates in Luxembourg.

Revenue of € 51,674 thsd is generated in the financial services segment with one product partner. 
The same business segment generated a revenue of € 86,173 thsd and € 57,535 thsd with two 
product partners in the previous year.
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NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT

9	 Revenue

All figures in €’000 2013 2012

Old-age provision 219,929 287,282

Wealth management 138,092 117,850

Health insurance 47,785 63,875

Non-life insurance 32,542 31,076

Loans and mortgages 14,536 13,356

Other commission and fees 4,850 4,578

Commission and fees 457,734 518,017

Revenue from the interest rate business 22,768 26,552

Total 480,502 544,569

10	 Other revenue 

All figures in €’000 2013 2012

Income from the reversal of provisions 3,850 5,123

Reversal of impairments/income from written-off receivables 1,481 2,604

Settlement payments  1,465 –

Remuneration of management 1,325 1,475

Cost transfers to commercial agents 1,303 1,760

Rent 1,232 1,268

Own work capitalised 1,151 1,259

Income from the reversal of deferred obligations 1,141 2,163

Income from investments 699 1,113

Income from securities of the participation programme 342 768

Sundry other income 6,574 5,943

Total 20,561 23,477

For more information on income from the reversal of provisions, please refer to Note 30.

The item “Reversal of impairments/income from written-off receivables” relates to the items 
“Receivables from clients in the banking business” and “Other receivables and assets”. Revenue 
is offset against allowances for bad debts, which are recorded under “Other operating expenses”.

The item “Remuneration for management” contains pre-allocated profits due to management 
tasks for private equity companies.

The sub-item “Cost transfers to commercial agents” essentially comprises income from cost 
transfers of insurance companies, services and material costs.
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Rental income essentially results from letting the property.

The item “Income from investments” can primarily be attributed to companies in the FERI 
Group which are not consolidated for reasons of materiality.

The settlement payments are the result of a comparison performed with a former shareholder 
during the financial year.

Among other things, income from cost reimbursement claims and income from the disposal 
of fixed assets, as well as offset remuneration in kind are recognised in sundry other income.

 
11	 Commission expenses

Commission expenses mainly consist of the commission payments and other remuneration 
components for the self-employed MLP consultants.

 
12	 Interest expenses

All figures in €’000 2013 2012

Interest and similar expenses

Financial instruments measured at amortised cost 4,373 7,324

Available-for-sale financial instruments 1 2

Change fair value option

Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss 27 74

Total 4,401 7,401

Interest expenses of € 4,102 thsd (previous year: € 6,920 thsd) are attributable to interest charges 
for liabilities due to clients in the banking business.

 
13	 Personnel expenses

All figures in €’000 2013 2012

Salaries and wages 92,208 88,626

Social security contributions 11,602 11,422

Expenses for old-age provisions and benefits 2,393 2,445

Total 106,203 102,493

Personnel expenses essentially include salaries and wages, remuneration and other payments to 
employees. The social security contributions include the statutory contributions to be borne by the 
company in the form of social security insurance premiums. Expenses for old-age provisions and 
benefits mainly include the employer’s shares of supplementary occupational pension provision.

 

notes to the income statement | notes 159



14 Depreciation

All figures in €’000 2013 2012

Depreciation

Intangible assets 5,950 6,458

Property, plant and equipment 5,783 6,037

Investment property 78 78

Total 11,811 12,573

The development of non-current assets is disclosed in Note 20 (intangible assets), Note 21 (prop-
erty, plant and equipment) and Note 22 (investment property).

 
15	 Other operating expenses

All figures in €’000 2013 2012*

IT operations 44,609 43,561

Rental and leasing 14,282 14,343

Consultancy 11,244 13,630

Administration operations 10,694 12,758

External services – banking business 8,352 7,183

Representation and advertising 8,118 9,130

Premiums and fees 3,808 4,821

Other external services 3,737 3,148

Training and further education 3,630 2,877

Travel expenses 2,972 2,941

Entertainment 2,522 2,513

Expenses for commercial agents 2,490 3,076

Insurance 2,326 2,683

Depreciation and impairments of other receivables and assets 2,067 616

Maintenance 2,001 1,772

Depreciation and impairments of other receivables from clients in the banking business 1,748 2,312

Audit 1,187 875

Other employee-related expenses 1,102 1,244

Supervisory Board remuneration 882 791

Sundry other operating expenses 4,858 6,535

Total 132,632 136,809

* Previous year’s values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.
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The costs of IT operations are mainly attributable to IT services and computer centre services 
that have been outsourced to an external service provider. The consulting costs are made up of 
tax advice costs, legal advice costs as well as general and IT consulting costs. The expenses for 
administration operations contain costs relating to building operations, office costs and com-
munication costs. The item “External services - banking business” mainly contains securities 
settlement and transaction costs in connection with the MLP credit card. Expenses for repre-
sentation and advertising include costs incurred due to media presence and client information 
activities. Expenses for commercial agents include costs for former consultants and the training 
allowance granted for new consultants. Amortisation and impairment on other receivables and 
other assets comprise allowances for receivables from commercial agents. Sundry other operating 
expenses essentially comprise the current service cost from the allocations to pension provisions, 
expenses for other taxes, as well as vehicle costs. 

 
16	 Earnings from investments accounted for using the equity method

Earnings from investments accounted for using the equity method were € 902 thsd in the financial 
year (previous year: € 956 thsd) and resulted from the share of earnings in MLP Hyp GmbH. In 
line with a company agreement, the profit distribution of MLP Hyp GmbH is disproportionate.

17 Finance cost

All figures in €’000 2013 2012*

Other interest and similar income 1,358 1,928

Interest expenses from financial instruments –473 –282

Interest expenses from net obligations for defined benefit plans –574 –623

Other interest and similar expenses –1,046 –905

Finance cost 311 1,022

* Previous year’s values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.

Other interest and similar income of € 166 thsd (previous year: € 810 thsd) is attributable to 
interest income from deposits with financial institutions which were not included in the banking 
business segment and € 664 thsd (previous year: € 517 thsd) is attributable to income from the 
discounting of provisions.

18	 Income taxes

All figures in €’000 2013 2012*

Income taxes 7,583 22,007

of which current taxes on income and on profit 6,165 19,670

of which deferred taxes 1,418 2,336

* Previous year’s values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.
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The current taxes on income and profit include expenses of € 434 thsd (previous year:  
€ 1,412 thsd) which relate to previous periods.

The current and deferred tax is calculated using the relevant country-specific income tax rate. 
The anticipated combined income tax rate for domestic companies is made up of corporation 
tax at 15.0% (previous year: 15.0%), the solidarity surcharge at 5.5% (previous year: 5.5%) and 
an average municipal trade tax rate of 13.15% (previous year: 13.15%) and amounts to 28.98% 
(previous year: 28.98%).

The taxation rates likely to be applicable at their time of implementation should be used to 
calculate deferred income taxes. The taxation rates used here are those that are valid or have 
been announced for the periods in question as of the balance sheet date.

The following reconciliation account shows the relationship between the earnings before tax 
and the taxes on income and profit in the financial year:

All figures in €’000 2013 2012*

Earnings before tax 33,072 74,940

Group income tax rate 28.98% 28.98%

Calculated income tax expenditure in the financial year 9,584 21,718

Tax-exempt earnings and permanent differences –3,431 –717

Non-deductible expenses 765 802

Divergent trade taxation charge 356 392

Effects of other taxation rates applicable abroad 31 –20

Income tax not relating to the period 330 –134

Tax effects from tax rate changes – –52

Other operating expenses –54 19

Income taxes 7,582 22,007

* Previous year’s values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.

The effective income tax rate applicable to the earnings before tax is 22.9% (previous year: 29.4%).

The item of tax-exempt earnings and permanent differences in earnings include profit contri-
butions from the FERI Group, the tax-free dividends of MLP Hyp GmbH and income from the 
write-up of book values of investments.

Non-deductible expenses are due to entertainment costs, gifts and other such matters.

The tax deferrals result from the balance sheet items as follows:

 

annual report mlp 2013162



Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

All figures in €’000 Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012* Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012*

Intangible assets 1,395 1,548 11,303 10,472

Property, plant and equipment – 284 3,070 2,811

Financial assets 44 380 64 49

Investment property – – 658 403

Other assets 1,807 2,002 206 252

Provisions 5,122 4,674 128 739

Liabilities 407 372 – –

Gross value 8,775 9,260 15,429 14,726

Netting of deferred tax assets and liabilities –6,801 –6,261 –6,801 –6,261

Total 1,974 2,999 8,628 8,465

* Previous year’s values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.

The deferred tax income recognised under other comprehensive income outside the income 
statement is € 395 thsd (previous year: € 1,111 thsd).

Tax refund claims include € 9,539 thsd (previous year: € 4,747 thsd) of corporation tax and 
€ 11,084 thsd (previous year: € 2,681 thsd) of trade tax, The major portion of € 20,497 thsd 
(previous year: € 7,136 thsd) is attributable to MLP AG.

Tax liabilities are made up of € 3,661 thsd (previous year: € 3,235 thsd) of corporation tax and 
€ 1,993 thsd (previous year: € 1,596 thsd) of trade tax, of which € 3,390 thsd (previous year: 
€ 2,990 thsd) is attributable to MLP AG.

The tax liabilities are due to taxes on the income and profit of the individual companies based 
on the corresponding national tax regime. Contingent tax liabilities are shown under deferred 
tax liabilities. 

 
19	 Earnings per share

The calculation for the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data

All figures in €’000 2013 2012*

Basis of the basic/diluted net profit per share 25,489 52,933

All figures in number of units

Weighted average number of shares for the diluted/basic net profit per share 107,877,738 107,877,738

* Previous year’s values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.

The basic and diluted earnings per share are € 0.24 (previous year: € 0.49). 
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NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

20	 Intangible assets

All figures in €’000 Goodwill

Software 
(created 

internally)
Software 

(purchased)

Advance 
payments and 
developments 

in progress

Other 
intangible 

assets Total

Acquisition costs

As of Jan. 1, 2012 90,616 7,772 72,101 1,764 46,778 219,030

Additions – 392 391 7,042 15 7,839

Disposals – – 0 – – 0

Transfers – – 1,056 –1,056 – –

As of Dec. 31, 2012 90,616 8,164 73,548 7,749 46,793 226,869

Additions – 410 601 18,472 21 19,505

Disposals – – –147 – – –147

Transfers – – 915 –915 – 0

As of Dec. 31, 2013 90,616 8,575 74,916 25,307 46,814 246,227

Depreciation

As of Jan. 1, 2012 3 7,137 61,475 – 10,085 78,699

Depreciation – 422 4,041 – 1,996 6,458

Disposals – – 0 – – 0

As of Dec. 31, 2012 3 7,558 65,515 – 12,080 85,156

Depreciation – 408 3,559 – 1,983 5,950

Disposals – – –147 – – –147

As of Dec. 31, 2013 3 7,966 68,927 – 14,064 90,960

Carrying amount Jan. 1, 2012 90,613 635 10,626 1,764 36,693 140,331

Carrying amount Dec. 31, 2012 90,613 606 8,032 7,749 34,712 141,713

Carrying amount Jan. 1, 2013 90,613 606 8,032 7,749 34,712 141,713

Carrying amount Dec. 31, 2013 90,613 609 5,989 25,307 32,750 155,267

Intangible assets include work performed in-house in connection with the development and 
implementation of software. They are recorded under Software (purchased), Software (created 
internally) and advance payments and developments in progress. All development and imple-
mentation costs incurred in the financial year 2013 complied in full with the criteria for capital-
isation pursuant to IAS 38 “Intangible assets” (2013: € 1,150 thsd; (previous year: € 1,259 thsd)).

Indefinite-lived intangible assets also comprise € 15,829 thsd in trademark rights for the “FERI” 
brand (previous year: € 15,829 thsd), as well as client relations and contract inventories.

As was already the case in the previous year, there was no need for an impairment of capitalised 
goodwill in the financial year 2013. The significant assumptions presented in the following were 
based on the impairment test performed. The assumptions for the respective business segments 
represent the management’s assessment and are based on both internal and external sources:
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Reportable Financial Services business segment

Financial services

Weighted average (in %) 2013 2012

Discount rate (before tax) 10.6 11.6

Growth rate of the terminal value 1.6 1.0

Planned EBT growth rate (average of the next 4 years) 25.4 4.1

Occupational pension provision

Weighted average (in %) 2013 2012

Discount rate (before tax) 10.8 11.6

Growth rate of the terminal value 1.6 1.0

Planned EBT growth rate (average of the next 4 years) 14.1 5.2

ZSH

Weighted average (in %) 2013 2012

Discount rate (before tax) 10.2 10.9

Growth rate of the terminal value 1.6 1.0

Planned EBT growth rate (average of the next 4 years) 16.4 11.6

Reportable FERI business segment

FERI Assetmanagement

Weighted average (in %) 2013 2012

Discount rate (before tax) 10.3 11.5

Growth rate of the terminal value 1.6 1.0

Planned EBT growth rate (average of the next 4 years) 7.0 9.3

FERI Consulting

Weighted average (in %) 2013 2012

Discount rate (before tax) 10.4 11.9

Growth rate of the terminal value 1.6 1.0

Planned EBT growth rate (average of the next 4 years) 36.5 58.2

FERI EuroRating Services

Weighted average (in %) 2013 2012

Discount rate (before tax) 10.6 11.4

Growth rate of the terminal value 1.6 1.0

Planned EBT growth rate (average of the next 4 years) 21.7 26.7

FEREAL

Weighted average (in %) 2013 2012

Discount rate (before tax) 11.0 –

Growth rate of the terminal value 1.6 –

Planned EBT growth rate (average of the next 4 years) 38.4 –
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The impairment test has confirmed the anticipated carrying amounts for goodwill. Within the 
scope of its impairment testing MLP carried out sensitivity analyses. The effects of a 1% increase 
in the discount interest rates and the effects of a 25% reduction in planned earnings before 
tax (EBT) relative to the approved corporate planning were investigated here. The sensitivity 
analyses showed that, from today’s perspective, there are no impairments for recorded goodwill 
at any cash-generating unit, even under these assumptions.
  
Cash-generating units were allocated the following goodwill values arising from business com-
binations:

All figures in €’000 Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012

Financial services 22,042 22,042

Occupational pension provision 9,955 9,955

ZSH 4,072 4,072

Financial services 36,069 36,069

FERI Asset Management 39,919 44,925

FERI Consulting 2,807 2,807

FERI EuroRating Services 6,812 6,812

FEREAL 5,006 –

FERI 54,544 54,544

Total 90,613 90,613

Depreciation of intangible assets are disclosed in Note 14.

Useful lives of intangible assets

Useful life as of
Dec. 31, 2013

Useful life as of
Dec. 31, 2012

Acquired software/licences 3–7 years 3–7 years

Software created internally 3 years 3–6 years

Acquired trademark rights 10–15 years 10–15 years

Client relations/contract inventories 10–25 years 5–25 years

Goodwill/brand names indefinite indefinite

There are no restraints on disposal or pledges with regard to intangible assets. Contractual 
obligations for the purchase of intangible assets have a net total of € 1,124 thsd as of December 
31, 2013 (previous year: € 520 thsd). 
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21	 Property, plant and equipment

All figures in €’000

Land, leasehold 
rights and 
buildings

Other 
fixtures, fittings 

and office 
equipment

Payments on 
account and 
assets under 
construction Total

Acquisition costs

As of Jan. 1, 2012 85,320 64,668 28 150,016

Additions 379 5,445 862 6,685

Disposals –1,679 –3,550 –26 –5,255

Transfers 753 8 –761 0

Reclassification IFRS 5 –4,102 – – –4,102

As of Dec. 31, 2012 80,670 66,571 102 147,344

Additions 351 1,761 833 2,945

Disposals –871 –3,582 – –4,452

Transfers 457 139 –596 0

As of Dec. 31, 2013 80,607 64,890 339 145,837

Depreciation

As of Jan. 1, 2012 27,194 51,252 – 78,447

Depreciation 1,981 4,056 – 6,037

Disposals –1,678 –3,271 – –4,949

Reclassification IFRS 5 –973 – – –973

As of Dec. 31, 2013 26,524 52,037 – 78,562

Depreciation 1,906 3,877 – 5,783

Write-ups – –1 – –1

Disposals –871 –3,459 – –4,329

As of Dec. 31, 2013 27,560 52,455 – 80,015

Carrying amount Jan. 1, 2012 58,125 13,416 28 71,569

Carrying amount Dec. 31, 2012 54,146 14,534 102 68,782

Carrying amount Jan. 1, 2013 54,146 14,534 102 68,782

Carrying amount Dec. 31, 2013 53,047 12,435 339 65,822

Depreciation are disclosed in Note 14. 
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Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Useful 
life/residual value

as of Dec. 31, 2013

Useful 
life/residual value

as of Dec. 31, 2012

Administration buildings

33 years to 
residual value  

(30% of original cost)

33 years to 
residual value  

(30% of original cost)

Land improvements 15–25 years 15–25 years

Leasehold improvements
Term of the 

respective lease
Term of the 

respective lease

Furniture and fittings 10–25 years 10–25 years

IT hardware, IT cabling 3–13 years 3–13 years

Office equipment, office machines 3–13 years 3–13 years

Cars 6 years 6 years

Works of art 13–15 years 13–15 years

There are no restraints or pledges with regard to property, plant and equipment. Contractual 
obligations for the purchase of property, plant and equipment amount to € 754 thsd net as of 
December 31, 2013 (previous year: € 19 thsd).

 
22	 Investment property

All figures in €’000 Investment property

Acquisition costs

As of Jan. 1, 2012 25,047

Reclassification IFRS 5 –25,047

As of Dec. 31, 2012 0

Reclassification IFRS 5 25,047

As of Dec. 31, 2013 25,047

Depreciation

As of Jan. 1, 2012 17,566

Depreciation and impairments 78

Reclassification IFRS 5 –17,644

As of Dec. 31, 2012 0

Depreciation and impairments 78

Reclassification IFRS 5 17,644

As of Dec. 31, 2013 17,722

Carrying amount Jan. 1, 2012 7,481

Carrying amount Dec. 31, 2012 0

Carrying amount Jan. 1, 2013 0

Carrying amount Dec. 31, 2013 7,325
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The property held by MLP AG concerns an office and administration building which is rented out 
under an operating lease. The minimum term of the rental agreement is 10 years. The agreement 
will therefore end no earlier than October 6, 2015. The annual rent payments are based on the 
consumer price index. Please refer to Note 35 for further information.

Due to a lack of disposal within 12 months, the property held for sale as of December 31, 2012 
was to be recognised as an investment property again. As of December 31, 2013, the property 
was valued at its amortised book value. This was lower than the fair value determined as of 
December 31, 2013.

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of investment property was determined by MLP within the scope of a gross rental 
method and was € 7,356 thsd on December 31, 2013 (previous year: € 7,440 thsd).

Based on the input factors of the valuation technique used, the fair value measurement of the 
€ 7,356 thsd in investment property was classed as a level 3 fair value.

Valuation technique and significant, non-observable input factors
 
The following table shows the valuation technique applied when determining the fair value of 
the investment property, as well as the significant, non-observable input factors used: 

Valuation technique Significant, non-observable 
input factors

Relationship between significant, 
non-observable input factors and 
measurement at fair value

Discounted cash flows: The measurement 
model takes into account the present 
value of net cash flows generated from 
the property, also incorporating the 
anticipated rental increase rate, periods 
of non-occupancy, the occupancy rate 
and other costs that the tenants do not 
pay. The anticipated net cash flows are 
discounted at risk-adjusted discount 
rates.

••  Anticipated market rental increase 
(1.3%)

•• Occupancy rate (80%)

•• Risk-adjusted discount rate (6%)

The estimated fair value would increase 
(decrease) if:

•• the anticipated market rental increase 
was higher (lower)

•• the occupancy rate was higher (lower)

•• the risk-adjusted discount rate was 
lower (higher).
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23	 Investments accounted for using the equity method

Investments accounted for using the equity method relate only to the 49.8% share in MLP Hyp 
GmbH, Wiesloch (formerly Schwetzingen), and have developed as follows:

 

All figures in €’000 2013 2012

Share as of Jan. 1  2,601 2,863

Dividend payouts –956 –1,219

Pro rata profit after tax 902 956

Share as of Dec. 31  2,547 2,601

The following table contains summarised financial information on MLP Hyp GmbH:
 
 

All figures in €’000 Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012

Revenue 8,173 7,497

Net profit/loss 1,388 1,471

Assets 5,110 5,074

Debts 723 603

Shareholders’ equity 4,388 4,471

Equity attributable to MLP (49.8%) 2,185 2,227

24	 Receivables from clients in the banking business

All figures in €’000 Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012

Originated loan 223,357 181,201

Corporate bond debts 142,500 134,500

Receivables from current accounts 39,346 52,931

Receivables from credit cards 98,181 77,357

Receivables from wealth management 660 355

Total, gross 504,044 446,345

Impairment –12,474 –14,949

Total, net 491,570 431,396

As of December 31, 2013, receivables (net) with a term of more than one year remaining to 
maturity are € 301,974 thsd (previous year: € 293,746 thsd). 
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Gross value  Of which 
financial 

assets

Financial 
assets, neither 

impaired nor 
overdue

 Financial assets, not impaired but overdue 
within the following time span

All figures in €’000 < 90 days 90–180 days > 180 days

Receivables from clients (gross) 
as per Dec. 31, 2013 504,044 504,044 488,409 1,452 226 775

Receivables from clients (gross) 
as per Dec. 31, 2012 446,345 446,345 425,682 1,468 193 815

At € 2,453 thsd (previous year: € 2,477 thsd), receivables for which no specific allowance has 
been made but which are overdue as of December 31, 2013 are secured with customary banking 
collaterals.

Receivables from clients due to originated loans are generally secured by mortgages (December 31, 
2013: € 45,779  thsd; December 31, 2012; € 27,259 thsd), assignments (December 31, 2013;  
€ 28,023 thsd, December 31, 2012: € 21,784 thsd) or liens (December 31, 2013: € 22,622 thsd, 
December 31, 2012: € 21,454  thsd). Receivables from current accounts and credit cards are 
generally not collateralised. With regard to receivables from the banking business which are 
neither impaired nor overdue, there were no signs at the closing date that debtors will not meet 
their payment obligations.

On the closing date, there were no receivables from banking business for which new terms were 
agreed and which would otherwise have been overdue or impaired (previous year: € 211 thsd).

Due to defaults of debtors, financial and non-financial assets of € 2,069 thsd (previous year:  
€ 1,965 thsd), serving as collateral for originated loans and receivables, were utilised. The assets 
mainly concern property and receivables from claimed life insurance policies.

The allowances for losses in the lending business cover all identifiable credit risks. Impairments 
are formed on a portfolio basis for the deferred loans risk. Risks are provided for by an allowance 
for losses carried under assets, and by the recognition of provisions for credit risks (see Note 30).

The allowances for losses due to receivables from clients in the banking business carried under 
assets developed as follows: 
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Allowances for losses 
on individual account

Impairment loss 
on portfolio basis

Total

All figures in €’000 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

As of Jan. 1 5,869 6,558 9,080 9,520 14,949 16,077

Allocation 277 624 1,384 509 1,661 1,132

Reclassification – 792 – – – 792

Utilisation –1,092 –1,716 –2,386 – –3,478 –1,716

Reversal –613 –388 –44 –948 –657 –1,336

As of Dec. 31 4,441 5,869 8,034 9,080 12,474 14,949

of which allowances for bad debts 
measured at amortised cost 4,441 5,869 8,034 9,080 12,474 14,949

For reasons of materiality, a decision was taken not to determine the interest income from 
impaired receivables from clients in accordance with IAS 39.A93 (Unwinding).

Taking into account direct write-offs of € 89 thsd (previous year: € 1,152 thsd) and income from 
written-off receivables of € 256 thsd (previous year: € 318 thsd), the total direct write-down 
and reversals performed in the reporting year resulted in a net cost of allowances for losses of 
€ 836 thsd (previous year: € 630 thsd).

Receivables for which specific allowances have been made amount in total to € 5,195 thsd (pre-
vious year: € 7,561 thsd). For € 373 thsd of these (previous year: € 1,679 thsd), the impairment 
was less than 50 % of the gross receivable, while the remaining volume was written down by 
more than 50 %. The allowance for bad debts comes to € 4,441 thsd (previous year: € 5,869 
thsd). This corresponds to a percentage of 86% (previous year: 78%).

Accounts receivable for which a specific allowance has been made are secured as per December 31, 
2013 with customary banking collaterals amounting to € 599 thsd (previous year: € 1,091 thsd).

Further information on receivables from clients in the banking business is disclosed in Note 37. 
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25	 Receivables from banks in the banking business

All figures in €’000 Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012

Domestic financial institutions

Due on demand 194,841 179,578

Other receivables 275,212 320,398

470,052 499,976

Foreign financial institutions

Due on demand 50 500

Other receivables 20,008 10,035

20,058 10,534

Total 490,110 510,510

As of December 31, 2013, receivables with a term of more than one year remaining to maturity 
are € 29,500 thsd (previous year: € 29,500 thsd). The receivables are not collateralised. MLP 
only places funds at banks with a first-class credit standing. At the closing date there are no 
receivables from banks which are overdue or impaired.

Further information on receivables from financial institutions in the banking business is dis-
closed in Note 37. 

26	 Financial assets

All figures in €’000 Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012

Debenture and other fixed income securities

By public-sector issuers 4,999 4,999

By other issuers 74,417 90,582

79,416 95,582

Shares and other variable yield securities

Shares and certificates 5,307 5,570

Investment fund shares 3,369 2,962

8,677 8,532

Fixed and time deposits 55,230 30,248

Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries 2,759 2,756

Total 146,082 137,118

As of December 31, 2013, MLP has portfolios amounting to €  68,112 thsd (previous year:  
€ 79,458 thsd) that are due in more than 12 months.
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As per the measurement categories for financial instruments defined in IAS 39, the financial 
investment portfolio is structured as follows:

 

All figures in €’000 Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012

Debenture and other fixed income securities

Held-to-maturity investments 74,283 90,456

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 5,133 5,126

79,416 95,582

Shares and other variable yield securities

Available-for-sale financial assets 6,948 6,692

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 1,728 1,840

8,677 8,532

Fixed and time deposits (loans and receivables) 55,230 30,248

Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries (available-for-sale financial assets) 2,759 2,756

Total 146,082 137,118

Valuation changes of € –347 thsd made to shares and other variable yield securities that are 
available for sale (previous year: € –278  thsd) were recognised directly in equity under the 
revaluation reserve. Due to the disposal of financial assets and recording of impairments, € –174 
thsd (previous year: € 377 thsd) was withdrawn from the revaluation reserve in the reporting 
period and recognised under net income for the period.

In the financial year 2013, impairments of € 66 thsd (previous year: € 0 thsd) were formed for 
available-for-sale financial assets.

In the reporting period, valuation adjustments to financial assets that are measured at fair value 
through profit and loss of € –33 thsd (previous year: € 390 thsd) were recognised in the net 
income for the period.

Assets pledged as collateral
On the closing date, no securities were pledged as collateral for liabilities arising from security 
transactions (previous year: € 1,012 thsd). The availability of liquidity facilities provided by 
Deutsche Bundesbank is collateralised by marketable securities of € 44,987 thsd (previous year: 
€ 41,122 thsd) with a face value of € 45,000 thsd (previous year: € 42,500 thsd).

For further disclosures regarding financial assets, please refer to Note 37.
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27	 Other receivables and assets

All figures in €’000 Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012

Trade accounts receivable 56,525 79,659

Receivables from commercial agents 20,703 21,937

Refund receivables from recourse claims 20,704 21,392

Advance payments 6,531 10,039

Purchase price receivables for MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Austria 2,428 3,562

Other assets 10,565 12,895

Total, gross 117,456 149,484

Impairment –8,292 –9,735

Total, net 109,164 139,749

As of December 31, 2013, receivables (net) with a term of more than one year remaining to 
maturity are € 16,281 thsd (previous year: € 17,842 thsd).

The main items included in trade accounts receivable are commission receivables from insur-
ance companies. They are generally non-interest-bearing and have an average term of payment 
of 30 days.

Receivables from sales representatives concern MLP consultants and branch office managers.

Refund receivables from recourse claims are due to MLP consultants and office managers, as 
well as insurance companies.

The item “Advance payments” comprises trail commissions paid to self-employed commercial 
agents in advance on commissions for unit-linked life insurance policies.

The purchase price receivable from the sale of the shares in MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, 
Vienna, Austria is due from FINUM.Private Finance Holding GmbH, Vienna, Austria, a subsidiary 
of Aragon AG, Wiesbaden. As specified in the contract, MLP received the second instalment of 
€ 1,267 thsd in the financial year 2013. 
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Gross value Of which 
financial 

assets

Financial 
assets, neither 

impaired nor 
overdue

Financial assets, not impaired but overdue 
within the following time span

All figures in €’000 < 90 days 90–180 days > 180 days

Other receivables and assets 
as of Dec. 31, 2013 117,456 91,443 80,830 2,819 433 1,896

Other receivables and assets 
as of Dec. 31, 2012 149,484 121,456 108,965 3,286 393 2,033

Other receivables and assets are usually not collateralised. With regard to receivables and other 
assets which are neither impaired nor overdue, there are no signs at the closing date that debt-
ors will not meet their payment obligations. On the closing date there were no receivables and 
other assets for which new terms were agreed and which would otherwise have been overdue 
or written down.

 The allowances for other receivables and assets are as follows: 

Allowances for losses 
on individual account

Impairment loss 
on portfolio basis

Total

All figures in 
€’000 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

As of Jan. 1 6,505 9,984 3,230 4,180 9,735 14,163

Utilisation –2,784 –2,827 –20 –437 –2,804 –3,264

Allocations 1,252 461 649 1 1,901 462

Reversal –111 –321 –429 –513 –540 –834

Reclassification 
of other 
statement of 
financial 
position items – –792 – – – –792

As of Dec. 31 4,863 6,505 3,429 3,230 8,292 9,735
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In cases where MLP institutes enforcement or where insolvency proceedings are imminent or 
have already started, receivables are written down based on empirical values. The same applies 
to receivables which are disputed and where legal action is pending.

As of December 31, 2013, receivables for which specific allowances have been made amount 
to a total of € 5,466 thsd (previous year: € 7,271 thsd). For € 565 thsd of these (previous year: 
€ 493 thsd) the allowance for bad debts was less than 50 % of the gross receivable, the remaining 
volume was written down by more than 50 %. The impairment loss comes to a total of € 4,863 
thsd (previous year: € 6,505 thsd). This corresponds to an average impairment rate of 89% 
(previous year: 89%).

Additional disclosures on other receivables and assets can be found in Note 37. 

28	 Cash and cash equivalents

All figures in €’000 Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012

Bank deposits 35,997 27,064

Deposits at Deutsche Bundesbank 10,299 13,526

Cash on hand 87 93

Total 46,383 40,682

Changes in cash and cash equivalents during the financial year are shown in the statement of 
cash flow. 

 
29	 Shareholders’ equity

All figures in €’000 Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012* Jan. 1, 2012*

Share capital 107,878 107,878 107,878

Capital reserves 142,184 142,184 142,184

Retained earnings

Statutory reserve 3,117 3,117 3,117

Other retained earnings and net profit 125,212 134,244 146,037

Revaluation reserve –3,913 –3,266 –642

Total 374,477 384,157 398,574

* Previous year’s values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.
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Share capital
The share capital of MLP AG is made up of 107,877,738 (previous year: 107,877,738) no-par-value 
shares.

Authorised capital
A resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting on May 20, 2010 authorised the Executive 
Board, with the consent of Supervisory Board, to increase the company’s share capital by issuing 
new ordinary bearer shares on one or more occasions by up to € 22,000,000 in exchange for 
cash or non-cash contributions. This resolution replaces the resolution approved at the Annual 
General Meeting on May 31, 2006.

Capital reserves
The capital reserves include increases/decreases in capital stock in MLP AG from previous years. 
The capital reserves are subject to the restraints on disposal as per § 150 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG).

Other retained earnings and net profit
Other equity comprises retained earnings of the MLP Group.

Revaluation reserve
At € 933 thsd (previous year: € 424 thsd), the provision includes unrealised gains and losses 
from the change in fair value of securities available for sale and deferred taxes attributable to 
this of € –96 thsd (previous year: € –42 thsd). In addition to this, the provision includes losses 
from the revaluation of defined benefit obligations of € 6,688 thsd (previous year: € 5,136 thsd) 
and deferred taxes attributable to this of € 1,938 thsd (previous year: € 1,488 thsd).

Proposed appropriation of profit
The Executive Board and Supervisory Board of MLP AG will propose a dividend of € 17,260 thsd 
(previous year: € 34,521 thsd) for the financial year 2013 at the Annual General Meeting. This 
corresponds to € 0.16 (previous year: € 0.32) per share.

 
30	 Provisions

Pension provisions
At MLP, executive members of staff have been granted direct pension benefits subject to indi-
vidual contracts in the form of defined benefit plans which guarantee the beneficiaries the 
following pension payments:

•• Old-age pension upon reaching 60, 62 or 65 years of age,

•• Disability pension,

•• Widow’s and widower’s pension of 60% of the pension of the original recipient,

•• Orphan’s benefit of 10% of the pension of the original recipient.

The benefit obligations are partially financed through reinsurance policies, which essentially 
fulfil the prerequisites of pension scheme assets.

The defined benefit obligation for retirement income, funded only by means of provisions, 
amounts to € 15,489 thsd (previous year: € 14,679 thsd). Pension insurance policies are in place 
for all other pension obligations (defined benefit obligation of € 21,386 thsd; previous year:  
€ 19,436 thsd).

annual report mlp 2013178



The change in net liability from defined benefit plans is summarized in the following table. 

 

Defined benefit obligation Fair value of pension 
scheme assets

Net liability from defined 
benefit plans

All figures in €’000 2013 2012* 2013 2012* 2013 2012*

As of Jan. 1 34,115 28,955 –17,505 –14,736 16,610 14,219

Recognised in profit or loss

Current service cost 821 1,092 – – 821 1,092

Interest charge 1,286 1,333 –713 –710 574 623

2,107 2,425 –713 –710 1,394 1,715

Recognised in other comprehensive income

Losses (gains) from revaluations

Actuarial losses (gains) from

financial assumptions 1,230 3,773 – – 1,230 3,773

experience adjustments 62 –630 – – 62 –630

Income from pension scheme assets 
without interest income – – 260 493 260 493

1,291 3,142 260 493 1,552 3,635

Other

Contributions paid by the employer – – –1,891 –2,635 –1,891 –2,635

Payments made –638 –408 238 84 –400 –324

–638 –408 –1,653 –2,551 –2,291 –2,959

As of Dec. 31 36,875 34,115 –19,610 –17,505 17,265 16,610

* Previous year’s values adjusted. The adjustments are disclosed under Note 3.

€ 1,102 thsd of the net liabilities recognised in the balance sheet (previous year: € 1,071 thsd) 
are attributable to Executive Board members active at the end of the reporting period.

In 2014 we anticipate payments with regard to net pension provisions of € 1,963 thsd (of which 
€ 407 thsd is attributable to anticipated pension payments of the company and € 1,557 thsd to 
expected premiums to reinsurance companies).

Actuarial calculations incorporate the following assumptions:

 

2013 2012

Assumed interest rate 3.6% 3.8%

Anticipated annual salary development 1.8% 2.0%

Anticipated annual pension adjustment 1.8% 2.0% or 1.8%

179notes to the statement of financial position | notes



The assumptions made regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and mor-
tality tables.

On December 31, 2013, the weighted average term of defined benefit obligations was 18.0 years 
(previous year: 16.7 years).

Sensitivity analysis
If the other assumptions all remained the same, changes to one of the key actuarial assumptions 
which would have been realistically possible on the closing date would have influenced the 
defined benefit obligations by the following amounts:

 

All figures in €’000 
Change of 
parameter

Reduction/
increase of 

defined 
obligation

Assumed interest rate 0,5% –2,930

–0,5% 3,405

Salary trend 0,5% 230

–0,5% –288

Pension trend 0,5% 2,604

–0,5% –2,285

Mortality 80% 1,853

To lower mortality, all mortality rates stated in the mortality table were reduced to 80%. By 
extending life expectancy, this leads to an increase in the scope of defined benefit obligations.
Although the analysis does not take into account the full distribution of anticipated cash flow 
based on the plan, it does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions pre-
sented.

Alongside defined benefit plans, defined contribution plans are also in place. With these types of 
plans the company pays premiums to state or private pension insurance institutions in line with 
legal or contractual regulations or on a voluntary basis. The regular premiums are recognised 
as personnel expenses in the case of employees and as operating expenses in the case of office 
managers in the respective year. In the financial year 2013 they total € 8,875 thsd (previous 
year: € 8,906 thsd).
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Other provisions are made up as follows: 
 

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012

All figures in €’000 Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

Cancellation risks 12,856 14,675 27,530 14,111 16,637 30,749

Bonus schemes 20,974 2,425 23,400 16,867 1,214 18,081

Economic loss 5,846 – 5,846 5,149 – 5,149

Share-based payments 1,065 2,267 3,331 1,254 2,361 3,616

Litigation risks/costs 1,966 336 2,302 2,968 578 3,546

Rent 788 1,033 1,821 362 914 1,276

Phased retirement 203 211 414 169 340 509

Lending business 229 138 367 259 138 397

Anniversaries 109 301 410 87 261 348

Other 1,928 523 2,451 2,892 531 3,423

Total 45,964 21,909 67,873 44,119 22,975 67,094

Other provisions have changed as follows:
 

All figures in €’000 Jan. 1, 2013 Utilisation Reversal
Compounding/

Discounting Allocation Netting Dec. 31, 2013

Cancellation risks 30,749 –4,222 – 346 658 – 27,530

Bonus schemes 18,081 –17,059 –227 –20 22,625 – 23,400

Economic loss 5,149 –1,253 –302 – 2,252 – 5,846

Share-based payments 3,616 –463 –843 27 995 – 3,331

Litigation risks/costs 3,546 –569 –1,278 38 566 – 2,302

Rent 1,276 –541 –99 –64 1,249 – 1,821

Phased retirement 509 –435 –3 22 149 172 414

Lending business 397 – –35 5 – – 367

Anniversaries 348 –70 –8 –1 141 – 410

Other 3,423 –137 –1,197  –11 373 – 2,451

Total 67,094 –24,748 –3,993 341 29,006 172 67,873

The provisions for cancellation risks allow for the risk of having to refund earned commissions 
due to a premature loss of brokered insurance policies.

The provisions for bonus schemes and share-based payments are recognised for incentive 
agreements and for profit-sharing schemes for Executive Board members, employees and 
self-employed commercial agents.

The provisions for economic loss due to liability risks are offset by claims for reimbursement 
from liability insurance policies with a value of € 5,443 thsd (previous year: € 4,481 thsd).
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The provisions classed as short-term are likely to be utilised within the next financial year. The 
payments for long-term provisions are likely to be incurred within the next two to five years. 

31	 Liabilities due to banking business

This summary includes the balance sheet items Liabilities due to clients in the banking business 
and Liabilities due to banks in the banking business.

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012

All figures in €’000 Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

Liabilities due to clients 944,527 1,957 946,484 870,854 256 871,110

Liabilities due to banks 468 9,456 9,924 667 9,831 10,498

Total 944,995 11,413 956,408 871,521 10,087 881,607

The change in liabilities due to banking business from € 881,607 thsd to € 956,408 thsd is 
essentially attributable to the increase in short-term client deposits in current accounts.

As of December 31, 2013, liabilities due to clients from savings deposits with an agreed notice 
period of three months amounted to € 13,537 thsd (previous year: € 12,873 thsd).

The liabilities due to clients or due to other banks do not comprise any large individual items.

Further information on liabilities due to banking business is disclosed in Note 37. 
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32	 Other liabilities

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012

All figures in €’000 Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

Liabilities due to commercial agents 37,423 509 37,932 58,560 1,049 59,609

Trade accounts payable 21,952 – 21,952 20,771 – 20,771

Advance payments received 10,487 – 10,487 16,115 – 16,115

Purchase price liability FERI AG 809 – 809 809 – 809

Interest derivatives 179 – 179 164 181 345

Liabilities due to other taxes 3,041 – 3,041 2,956 – 2,956

Liabilities from social security contributions 99 – 99 87 – 87

Other liabilities 29,213 2,847 32,060 26,245 3,807 30,052

Total 103,204 3,356 106,560 125,707 5,037 130,745

Liabilities due to commercial agents represent unsettled commission claims. Usually they are 
non-interest-bearing and due on the 15th of the month following the settlement with the insur-
ance company.

The item “Advance payments received” concerns paid-in-advance trail commissions from unit-
linked life insurance policies.

For more information on purchase price liabilities due to the acquisition of shares in FERI AG, 
please refer to Note 36.

Other liabilities comprise commissions withheld from MLP consultants due to cancellations 
amounting to € 4,212 thsd (previous year: € 5,396 thsd). Commissions withheld are charged 
with interest. Their term is mainly indefinite.

MLP has agreed upon, non-utilised lines of credit amounting to € 65,026 thsd (previous year: 
€ 64,102 thsd).

Further disclosures on other liabilities can be found in Note 37. 
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NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

33	 Notes on the consolidated statement of cash flow

The consolidated statement of cash flow shows how cash and cash equivalents have changed in 
the course of the year as a result of inflows and outflows of funds. As per IAS 7 “Statement of 
Cash Flows”, differentiation is made between cash flows from operating activities, from investing 
activities and from financing activities.

Cash flow from operating activities results from cash flows that cannot be defined as invest-
ing or financing activities. It is determined on the basis of net profit. As part of the indirect 
determination of cash flow, the changes in balance sheet items due to operating activities are 
adjusted by effects from changes to the scope of consolidation and currency translations. The 
changes in the respective balance sheet items can therefore only be partially aligned with the 
corresponding values in the published consolidated balance sheets. For further details, please 
refer to the “Financial position” section in the management report.

Cash flow from investing activities is essentially influenced by the investments in IT systems 
to support sales, the investment of cash and cash equivalents in time deposits, and time deposits 
which have reached maturity.

Cash flow from financing activities includes cash-relevant equity changes and loans used and 
paid back.

Cash and cash equivalents with a term to maturity of not more than three months are recorded 
under cash and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are short-term financial assets which can 
be converted into cash at any time and which are only subject to minor value fluctuation risks.

 
Cash and cash equivalents

All figures in €’000 Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012

Cash and cash equivalents 46,383 40,682

Loans ≤ 3 months 15,000 20,000

Liabilities to banks due on demand –19 –

Cash and cash equivalents 61,364 60,682

Receivables of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG due from banks are included in cash and cash 
equivalents provided they are separable as own-account investing activities. Inseparable elements 
are allocated to the operating business of the banking business segment and therefore to cash 
flow from operating activities.
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MISCELLANEOUS INFORMATION

34	 Share-based payments

Long Term Incentive Programme
In 2005 a Long-Term Incentive Programme (“LTI”) was launched for the first time. It was designed 
to include the members of the Executive Board and selected managers of the MLP Group. This is 
a company performance plan based on key figures, which takes into account both the earnings 
before tax (EBT) and changes to the share price. Performance shares (phantom shares) can be 
allocated here. These are allocated to the members of the Executive Board by the Supervisory 
Board. The payout for the 2005 tranche was made in 2008, the tranches from 2006 to 2010 have 
expired. For the tranches approved in the financial years from 2007 to 2011, the cash payout 
is determined on the basis of three times the earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) achieved 
in the financial year preceding the year of allocation (performance hurdle). For the 2010 and 
2011 tranches, an additional minimum amount is set out for the performance hurdle, which 
will replace a lower EBIT in the base year if applicable. Only when this performance hurdle 
is reached will the beneficiaries be entitled to receive a cash payout. With the changeover of 
the contracts of all members of the Executive Board to the new Executive Board remuneration 
system, effective for 2011, said members are not eligible to participate in the LTI programme 
for the 2011 tranche. With the 2011 tranche, the LTI programme was granted to managers for 
the last time and was stopped altogether from 2012 on.

The LTI programme does not provide for settlement by issuance of equity instruments.

The anticipated costs resulting from the LTI programme are valued using the Monte-Carlo 
simulation based on the fair value of the phantom shares. MLP updates the valuation of the 
fair value at every balance sheet date and on the basis of the settlement value. The company 
records the anticipated total cost of the programme pro rata temporis over the time period up 
to the first possible exercise date of the phantom shares.
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Details of the LTI can be found in the following table:

Tranche 2011

Performance shares at time of allocation (units) 121,480

of which Executive Board (units) –

of which others (units) 121,480

Performance shares as of Dec. 31, 2012 (units) 121,480

of which Executive Board (units) –

of which others (units) 121,480

Performance shares expired in 2013 –

Performance shares paid out –

Performance shares as of Dec. 31, 2013 (units) 121,480

of which Executive Board (units) –

of which others (units) 121,480

Parameters for fair value as of Dec. 31, 2013

Dividend yield (%) –

Expected volatility (%) –

Risk-free interest rate (%) –

Anticipated remaining term of option (years) –

Parameters for fair value as of Dec. 31, 2012

Dividend yield (%) 8.03

Expected volatility (%) 40.58

Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.33

Anticipated remaining term of option (years) 1

The costs included in the 2013 income statement arising from the Long Term Incentive Pro-
gramme are € 0 thsd (previous year: € 58 thsd). As of December 31, 2013 a provision of € 0 thsd 
(previous year: € 173 thsd) was recognised for the Long Term Incentive Programme. 

Participation programme
In the financial year 2008, MLP launched a participation programme for office managers, 
consultants and employees in order to keep them loyal to the company in the long-term. The 
programme grants a certain number of phantom shares (stock appreciation rights – SARs) for 
office managers and consultants based on their sales performance in the core fields of old-
age provision, health insurance and wealth management, as well as for employees based on 
their position and gross annual income. The SARs of the 2008–2011 tranches were allocated 
in 2009–2012. The assessment period for determining the number of SARs allocated was the 
calendar year prior to the respective allocation. The total term of each tranche is 12 years and is 
broken down into 3 phases of 4 years each. The first year of phase 1 represents the assessment 
period, from which the number of phantom shares to be allocated is calculated. At the start of 
the second year, the phantom shares are then allocated. Payment of the phantom shares is made 
no earlier than at the end of the first phase, i.e. 3 years after allocation of the SARs. At the end 
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of the first phase, employees can also choose not to receive payment for the SARs and instead 
continue to participate in phase 2 (turbo I phase). Only in this case will they receive additional 
bonus SARs. And anyone who is eligible but chooses not to receive payment at the end of phase 
2, but rather continue to phase 3 (turbo II phase), will be granted further bonus SARs. All SARs 
are paid no later than at the end of phase 3. In the event of termination of employment, all 
entitlements granted up to this time expire, assuming they have not been vested beforehand. 
The SARs originally granted become vested at the end of the first phase, the bonus SARs of 
turbo I phase at the end of phase 2 and those of turbo II at the end of phase 3. Participation in 
the programme ends with termination of employment or disbursement of SARs.

The level of payment is based on the value of one MLP share at the time payment is requested. 
A share price guarantee is in place for all previous tranches, although this expires if the eligible 
participant decides to continue participation in the programme beyond phase 1. If an eligible 
participant decides to receive the payout to which he or she is entitled from the tranche once 
phase 1 has expired, the value he or she receives is based on either the share price guarantee 
or the current MLP share price (whichever is the higher value) multiplied by the number of 
phantom shares held from phase 1. At all other payout times, eligible participants receive the 
current share price multiplied by the number of vested phantom shares held.

If the contractual relationship with an eligible participant ends at a time before December 31 of 
the 12th year, he or she is only entitled to receive payment for vested phantom shares earned up 
to this time. Phantom shares allocated from vesting periods not yet completed are then forfeited.

With the 2011 tranche, the participation programme was granted for the last time. It was stopped 
completely from 2012 onwards.

In terms of eligibility, the 3 phases each represent completed vesting periods. Accordingly, 
the expenses due to the SARs originally granted are distributed over phase 1 (years 1 to 4), the 
expenses due to the bonus SARs of turbo I phase over years 5 to 8 and the expenses due to 
the bonus SARs of turbo II phase over years 9 to 12 (no front-loaded recognition of expenses).
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Tranche 2008 Tranche 2009 Tranche 2010 Tranche 2011 Total

Inventory on Jan. 1, 2013 (units) 156,730 167,098 139,306 179,527 642,661

Virtual SARs allocated in 2013 
(units) –   11,958 –   –   11,958

SARs expired in 2013 (units) –278 –5,314 –4,513 –5,041 –15,146

Paid out in 2013 (units) –   –62,635 –   –   –62,635

Inventory on Dec. 31, 2013 
(units) 156,452 111,107 134,793 174,486 576,838

Guaranteed share price (€) –  –  7.80 5.36 –

Expenses recognised in 
2013 (€’000) 237 231 317 236 1,022

Income recognised in 
2013 (€’000) –15 –611 –37 –7 –670

222 –380 280 229 352

Expenses recognised in 
2012 (€’000) 101 355 305 281 1,042

Income recognised in 
2012 (€’000) –548 –92 –34 –8 –682

–447 263 271 273 360

Provision as of 
Dec. 31, 2012 (€’000) 1,005 1,237 769 433 3,442

Provision as of 
Dec. 31, 2013 (€’000) 1,227 394 1,048 662 3,331

Inventory certificates on 
Dec. 31, 2012 (units) 470,190 501,294 –   –   971,484

Inventory certificates on 
Dec. 31, 2013 (units) 469,356 333,321 108,362 –   911,039

MLP has hedged the fair value risk attached to the measurement of the liability of the 2008 and 
2009 tranches for the SARs and also the cash flow risk from the SARs allocated.

To hedge the cash flow risk, 925,000 certificates were initially acquired for the 2008 tranche 
and 600,000 certificates for the 2009 tranche, with the right to return them to the issuer at any 
time within the term of a tranche (or later) at the MLP share price valid at that time, minus a 
discount. The certificates have an unlimited term. MLP has therefore classified these certificates 
as equity instruments, which are recognised at fair value directly in equity. The fair value of the 
certificates is based directly on the price of the MLP share.

The expense and the provision from the participation programme are recognised pro rata 
temporis throughout the individual phases (vesting period). The provision is measured at fair 
value through profit and loss. The provision accrued on the respective closing date depends on 
the price of the MLP share, the number of SARs issued and the length of the remaining vesting 
period. To hedge the fair value risk associated with the measurement of the provision, MLP can 
sell the equity-based certificates listed above to the issuer and in return acquire limited term 
certificates. These represent debt instruments designated by MLP to be “measured at fair value 
through profit and loss” (fair value option).
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By selling the equity-based certificates, measurement gains so far recognised directly in equity 
are realised and expenses from the increase in liability for the participation programme are com-
pensated. The same applies to a decrease in expenses due to a drop in the price of the MLP share.

 
35	 Leasing

The Group has concluded operating leases for various motor vehicles, administration buildings 
and office machines. The average term of the contracts is three years for motor vehicles, seven 
years for buildings and four years for office machines. Some of the lease contracts also include 
extension options.

The following future minimum lease payments (face values) due to irredeemable operating 
leases were in place on the balance sheet date:
 

Due 2014 Due 2015–2018 Due from 2019 Total

Rent on buildings 13,382 28,774 6,219 48,375

Other rental/leasing liabilities 1,155 1,093 0 2,248

Total 14,537 29,867 6,219 50,623

The Group entered into a lease agreement as lessor for an administration building. MLP classifies 
this contract as an operating lease, as the risks and opportunities associated with the ownership 
of the lease object remain with the lessor. As a lessor, MLP is obliged to maintain the exterior 
of the building and the technical equipment and facilities.

The rental income generated from the rental of the property in the financial year was € 1,138 
thsd (previous year: €  1,154  thsd). The expenses accrued within the context of investment 
property were € 231 thsd (previous year: € 321 thsd).

The total of minimum leasing payments due to irredeemable operating leases breaks down as 
follows: 

Due 2014 Due 2015–2018 Due from 2019 Total

Dec. 31, 2013 1,212 909 – 2,122

Dec. 31, 2012 1,199 2,099 – 3,299

36	 Contingent assets and liabilities, as well as other liabilities

As it is composed of companies from different business segments, MLP is exposed to a variety 
of legal risks. These include, in particular, risks in the fields of warranty, taxes and litigation. 
The outcome of currently pending or future legal actions cannot be forecast with any degree of 
certainty and it follows that expenditure could be incurred as a result of unexpected decisions, 
which has not been fully covered by allowances for losses or insurance and which is liable to 

miscellaneous information | notes 189



have a material impact on the business and its results. In MLP’s opinion, decisions producing a 
major negative effect on the net assets, financial position and results of operations at the Group’s 
expense are not anticipated with regard to the currently pending legal actions.

On April 15, 2011, MLP paid in full the initially provisional purchase price stipulated in the 
purchase contract plus interest to acquire the outstanding shares in FERI AG. This purchase 
price payment was deemed provisional at the time, as the contracting parties had not yet reached 
a final agreement with regard to the level of a potentially arising additional variable purchase 
price component. MLP has no cause to assume that there are any further obligations over and 
above the cash price payment already made. In the absence of an agreement with the sellers, the 
company called upon the contractually stipulated arbitrator on October 7, 2011. The arbitrator’s 
report submitted on October 2, 2012 confirmed MLP’s assertion that the contractually prescribed 
prerequisites for an additional purchase price were not in place. Irrespective of this, several of 
the sellers asserted € 51,472 thsd in claims due to breach of duty against MLP and demanded 
payment of this amount. MLP reacted to these claims on January 20, 2012 by submitting a neg-
ative declaratory relief at the Frankfurt Regional Court. In the course of the subsequent legal 
dispute, the accused former shareholders filed counter-claims and thereby formally asserted 
their purchase price claims. With its judgement from February 18, 2014, the Frankfurt Region-
al Court dismissed the counter-claims filed against MLP and ordered the claimants to pay the 
costs. With this decision, MLP’s assertion that the claims submitted by the former shareholders 
in FERI were without any legal basis was confirmed. However, the aforementioned judgement 
has not yet become legally binding.

On the balance sheet date, actions are pending for potentially considerable damages due to 
incorrect disclosures in the capital market information published by the company. This pre-
dominantly concerns the years 2000 to 2002. However, MLP firmly believes that the actions 
will not be successful.

On the balance sheet date, there are € 2,677 thsd in contingent liabilities on account of sureties 
and warranties (face value of the obligation) (previous year: € 4,067 thsd) and irrevocable credit 
commitments (contingent liabilities) of € 41,099 thsd (previous year: € 39,037 thsd).

Reinsurance has been arranged for benefit obligations for independent commercial agents. 
Final liability for the benefit obligation lies with MLP in accordance with § 1 (1) Sentence 3 of 
the German Company Pension Law (BetrAVG). MLP does not currently anticipate any financial 
consequences as a result of this.

MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG is a member in the depositors’ guarantee fund of the Association 
of German Banks (BdB e.V.), Berlin, and in the Compensation Scheme of German Banks (EdB 
GmbH), also in Berlin. Obligations to make additional payments could potentially arise from 
the allocation obligation here.

 
37	 Additional information on financial instruments

Classifications and fair values
The carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their 
(hierarchical) tiers, are grouped into financial instrument classes and categories as shown in 
the following tables. 
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Dec. 31, 2013

Carrying 
amount

Fair value No financial 
instruments 
according to 

IAS32/39

All figures in €’000

Carrying 
amount 

corresponds 
to fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets measured at fair value 17,091 13,809 3,282 17,091

Fair Value Option 10,143 6,861 3,282 10,143

Receivables from banking business – clients 3,282 – – 3,282 – 3,282 –

Financial investments (share certificates and 
structured bonds) 6,861 – 6,861 – – 6,861 –

Available-for-sale financial assets 6,948 6,948 6,948

Financial investments (share certificates and 
investment fund shares) 6,948 – 6,948 – – 6,948 –

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 1,240,270 513,243 29,981 341,634 383,836 1,268,695

Loans and receivables 1,163,228 510,484 295,594 383,836 1,189,915

Receivables from banking business – clients 488,288 130,764 – – 383,836 514,600 –

Receivables from banking business – banks 490,110 194,891 – 295,594 – 490,485 –

Financial investments (fixed and time deposits) 55,230 55,230 – – – 55,230 –

Other receivables and assets 83,217 83,217 – – – 83,217 25,948

Cash and cash equivalents 46,383 46,383 – – – 46,383 –

Held-to-maturity investments 74,283 29,981 46,040 76,021

Financial assets (bonds) 74,283 – 29,981 46,040 – 76,021 –

Available-for-sale financial assets 2,759 2,759 2,759

Financial assets (investments) 2,759 2,759 – – – 2,759 –

Financial liabilities measured at fair value 179 179 179

Financial instruments held for trading 179 179 179

Other liabilities 179 – – 179 – 179 –

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1,044,282 1,019,123 24,771 1,043,984

Liabilities due to banking business – clients 946,484 930,991 – 15,318 – 946,309 –

Liabilities due to banking business – banks 9,924 269 – 9,453 – 9,722 –

Other liabilities 87,863 87,863 – – – 87,863 18,517

Liabilities due to financial guarantees and 
credit commitments 43,776 43,776 – – – 43,776 –
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Dec. 31, 2012

All figures in €’000
Carrying 
amount Fair value

No financial 
instruments 
according to 

IAS 32/39

Financial assets measured at fair value 17,795 17,795

Fair Value Option 11,103 11,103

Receivables from banking business – clients 4,137 4,137 –

Financial investments (share certificates and structured bonds) 6,966 6,966 –

Available-for-sale financial assets 6,692 6,692

Financial investments (share certificates and investment fund shares) 6,692 6,692 –

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 1,210,876 1,263,886

Loans and receivables 1,120,420 1,171,331

Receivables from banking business – clients 427,258 476,195 –

Receivables from banking business – banks 510,510 512,485 –

Financial investments (fixed and time deposits) 30,248 30,248 –

Other receivables and assets 111,721 111,721 28,028

Cash and cash equivalents 40,682 40,682 –

Held-to-maturity investments 90,456 92,555

Financial assets (bonds) 90,456 92,555 –

Financial assets measured at cost 2,756 2,756

Available-for-sale financial assets 2,756 2,756

Financial assets (investments) 2,756 2,756 –

Financial liabilities measured at fair value 345 345

Financial instruments held for trading 345 345

Other liabilities 345 345 –

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 987,988 985,585

Liabilities due to banking business – clients 871,110 867,761 –

Liabilities due to banking business – banks 10,498 11,443 –

Other liabilities 106,381 106,381 24,364

Liabilities due to financial guarantees and credit commitments 43,104 43,104 –

All figures in €’000  (as of Dec. 31, 2012) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets measured at fair value

Receivables from clients in the banking business – 4,137 –

Financial assets 13,658 – –

Financial liabilities - measured at fair value

Other liabilities - Interest derivatives – 345 –
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Cash and cash equivalents, receivables and liabilities due to banking business without agreed 
terms to maturity, trade receivables, receivables from companies in which the Group holds an 
interest and other assets all predominantly have short terms to maturity. Their carrying amounts 
on the balance sheet date are therefore almost identical to the fair values. The same applies to 
the trade accounts payable.

On the reporting date, MLP held financial guarantees in the form of avals of € 870 thsd. Within 
the scope of initial measurement, these financial guarantees are stated at their fair values and 
netted against the present values of agreed aval commission in accordance with IAS 39. If sub-
sequent measurement results in a higher figure, this will be recognised as a financial liability 
in accordance with IAS 37.

Determining fair value
Insofar as there is an active market, which represent the principal market for financial assets 
and financial liabilities, the respective market prices on the closing date are used as the basis for 
determining the fair value. With investment shares, the fair value corresponds to the redemption 
prices published by the capital investment companies. If there is no active market on the closing 
date, the fair value is determined using recognised valuation models.

For equity instruments of financial investments not listed on an active market, the fair value is 
generally determined on the basis of the gross rental method using non-observable parameters 
such as beta factors or risk-equivalent discount interest rates. If it is not possible to reliably deter-
mine the fair value, in particular due to a lack of necessary data on earning projections, equity 
instruments not listed on an active market are recognised at their acquisition costs, minus any 
impairments. As of the balance sheet date there is no indication of fair values being lower than 
carrying amounts. There are also no plans to dispose of these investments.

The valuation model for assets and liabilities assigned to level 2 takes into account the present 
value of the anticipated future cash inflows/outflows throughout the remaining term, which 
are discounted using a risk-free discount rate. The discount rate is based on the current yield 
curve. The anticipated cash flows are adjusted for the effects of credit and default risks. When 
determining the fair value of financial investments, on the other hand, the discount rate is 
adjusted to include a credit spread. Compensation effects from the hedged item are not taken 
into account when determining the market value of derivative financial instruments.
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The table below shows the valuation techniques that were used to determine level 3 fair values, 
as well as the significant, non-observable input factors applied: 

 

Type Valuation technique Significant, 
non-observable input factors

Relationship between significant, 
non-observable input factors and 
measurement at fair value

Receivables from banking 
business – clients with agreed 
maturity

The valuation model takes into account 
the present value of the anticipated 
future cash inflows/outflows through-
out the remaining term, which are 
discounted using a risk-free discount 
rate. The discount rate is based on the 
current yield curve. Credit and default 
risks, administration costs and expected 
return on equity are taken into account 
when determining future cash flows.

Adjustment of cash flows by:

•• Credit and counterparty default risks

•• Administration costs

•• Anticipated return on equity

The estimated fair value would increase 
(decrease) if: 

•• the credit and default risk were to 
rise (fall) 

•• the admin costs were to fall (rise) 

•• the anticipated return on equity were 
to fall (rise)

Net gains and losses from financial instruments are distributed among the categories of IAS 
39 for financial assets and financial liabilities at the amounts specified: 

 

All figures in €’000 2013 2012

Fair Value Option 178 1,743

Available-for-sale financial assets 928 2,009

Loans and receivables 21,724 25,942

Held-to-maturity investments 1,544 892

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost –4,506 –7,399

Financial instruments held for trading –199 –219

Net gains or net losses comprise gains and losses on fair value measurement through profit and 
loss, impairments and reversals of impairments, and gains and losses on the sale of the financial 
instruments concerned.

These items also include interest income and expenses, as well as dividends and income from 
financial assets derecognised in their entirety.
 
For financial instruments that were not measured at fair value through profit and loss, interest 
income of € 22,768 thsd (previous year: € 24,923 thsd) and interest costs of € 4,506 thsd (pre-
vious year: € 7,399 thsd) were incurred in the last financial year.
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For impairments we refer to the note for the items “Receivables from the banking business” 
and “Other receivables and assets”. In the reporting year and the previous year, no impairments 
were charged for financial instruments held to maturity. For the disposal of available-for-sale 
financial assets, impairments of € 49 thsd had to be recognised in the reporting year (previous 
year: € 0 thsd). Commission income and expenses that were not included in the process for 
determining the effective interest rate can primarily be attributed to early repayment penalties 
to a negligible extent.
 
For receivables from the banking business at fair value through profit and loss, the maximum 
credit risk corresponds to the carrying amount of these financial instruments. The change in the 
fair value is solely due to the changes in market conditions. For the financial instruments of the 
other categories, the maximum default risk corresponds to the carrying amount.
 
Derivative business
As a means of hedging interest rate risks (interest-dependent risk of changes to the fair value 
of originated fixed interest-bearing loans), MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG concluded three 
interest rate swaps with a total value of € 5,000 thsd. The interest rate swaps do not serve any 
speculative purposes, but are rather intended to hedge interest risks. They are not subject to 
hedge accounting.
 

All figures in 
€’000

Face value
Dec. 31, 2013

Fair value
Dec. 31, 2013

Face value
Dec. 31, 2012

Fair value
Dec. 31, 2012 Start of term End of term

Interest rate 
swap 1 1,000 –28 1,000 –64 Jan. 1, 2005 July 1, 2014

Interest rate 
swap 2 1,500 –39 1,500 –91 Jan. 1, 2005 July 1, 2014

Interest rate 
swap 3 2,500 –113 2,500 –190 Aug. 4, 2005 April 1, 2015

Total 5,000 –179 5,000 –345

The face values of derivative financial instruments stated in the table correspond to the purchas-
ing/selling values or contract values of hedged items which are economically connected with 
the swaps. They are shown gross (even if offsetting transactions exist).

As of December 31, 2013, the accumulated fair value of the interest derivatives was € –179 thsd 
(previous year: € –345 thsd). The valuation is based on the market values on the balance sheet 
date. The instruments with an accumulated negative market value totalling € 179 thsd (previous 
year: € 345 thsd) are reported under other liabilities. The changes in fair value of derivatives of 
€ 27 thsd (previous year: € –74 thsd) were recorded under earnings from the interest rate business.

If the market interest rate level had been 50 basis points higher (lower) on December 31, 2013, 
the fair value of the fixed interest-bearing loans and fixed interest-bearing refinancing, which 
have been designated as” at fair value through profit and loss”, would have been reduced by  
€ 3 thsd (previous year: increased by € 1 thsd) or increased by € 0 thsd (previous year: reduced 
by € 2 thsd). Accordingly, the net profit would then have reduced by € 3 thsd (previous year: 
increased by € 1 thsd) or increased by € 0 thsd (previous year: reduced by € 2 thsd). 
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38	 Financial risk management

With the exception of the disclosures in line with IFRS 7.36–39 (b), the disclosures on the type 
and severity of risks resulting from financial instruments (IFRS 7.31–42) are included in the 
risk report of the group management report and in Note 36.

In the maturity analysis, contractually agreed cash inflows are shown with a positive sign, 
while contractually agreed outflows of cash and cash equivalents are shown with a negative 
sign. For financial guarantees and credit commitments, the potential outflow of cash and cash 
equivalents is disclosed. The contractually agreed maturities do not correspond to the inflows 
and outflows of cash and cash equivalents actually expected – in particular in the case of the 
financial guarantees and credit commitments. Management of the default and liquidity risk is 
disclosed in the risk report of the group management report.

The tables below show the maturity structure of financial liabilities with contractually fixed 
terms to maturity:

 
Total cash flow (principal and interest) 

in €’000 as of Dec. 31, 2013 Due on demand Up to 1 year 1 to 5 years
More than 5 

years Total

Financial liabilities 968,687 62,356 5,459 4,272 1,040,774

Liabilities due to 
banking business – clients 930,991 15,503 – – 946,494

Liabilities due to 
banking business – banks 269 398 5,039 4,272 9,978

Other liabilities 37,427 46,274 420 – 84,121

of which negative market 
values from derivative 
financial instruments – 181* – – 181

Financial guarantees and 
credit commitments 43,776 – – – 43,776

Sureties and warranties 2,677 – – – 2,677

Irrevocable credit commitments 41,099 – – – 41,099

Total 1,012,463 62,356 5,459 4,272 1,084,550

*	Cash flows from derivative financial instruments are assigned to a term to maturity of up to one year since 
	 they were sold before maturity in the first quarter of 2014.
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Total cash flow (principal and interest)

in €’000 as of Dec. 31, 2012 Due on demand Up to 1 year 1 to 5 years
More than 

5 years Total

Financial liabilities 926,616 56,323 8,915 3,243 995,097

Liabilities due to 
banking business – clients 868,376 12 260 – 868,648

Liabilities due to 
banking business – banks 33 1,165 7,235 3,243 11,676

Other liabilities 58,207 55,146 1,420 – 114,773

of which negative market 
values from derivative 
financial instruments – 164 185 – 349

Financial guarantees and 
credit commitments 43,104 – – – 43,104

Sureties and warranties 4,067 – – – 4,067

Irrevocable credit commitments 39,037 – – – 39,037

Total 969,720 56,323 8,915 3,243 1,038,201

39	 Declaration of Compliance with the German Corporate Governance Code pursuant to 		
		  § 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)

The Executive and Supervisory Boards issued a declaration of compliance with the German 
Corporate Governance Code pursuant to § 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) 
and made it permanently available to the shareholders via its website, www.mlp.de and in the 
corporate governance report of this Annual Report.
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40	 Related parties

Executive Board 
Mandates in other statutory Supervisory Boards 
of companies based in Germany

Memberships in  comparable domestic and 
foreign control bodies of commercial enterprises

Dr. Uwe Schroeder-Wildberg, Heidelberg
Chairman
responsible for Internal Audit, Communication/Investor Relations, Marketing, HR, Legal, Strategy

FERI AG, Bad Homburg v.d.H. (Chairman) –

Reinhard Loose, Berlin
responsible for Controlling, IT and Purchasing, Accounting, Risk Management

– –

Manfred Bauer, Leimen
responsible for Product Management

– MLP Hyp GmbH, Wiesloch
(Supervisory Board)

Muhyddin Suleiman, Walldorf
responsible for Sales

– –

Supervisory Board
Mandates in other statutory Supervisory Boards 
of companies based in Germany

Memberships in comparable domestic and 
foreign control bodies of commercial enterprises

Dr. Peter Lütke-Bornefeld, Everswinkel
Chairman
formerly chairman of the Executive Board at General Reinsurance AG, Cologne

•• VPV Lebensversicherungs- AG, Stuttgart

•• Delvag Rückversicherungs-AG, Cologne (until May 24, 2013)

•• DB Capital & Asset Management Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH, Cologne  
(until Dec. 31, 2013)

•• VHV Vereinigte Hannoversche Versicherung a.G., Hanover

•• VHV Holding AG, Hanover (since July 17, 2013)

•• VHV Lebensversicherung AG, Hanover (since July 17, 2013)

•• Hannoversche Lebensversicherung AG, Hanover (since July 17, 2013)

•• MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Wiesloch (Chairman)

–

Dr. h. c. Manfred Lautenschläger, Gaiberg
Vice Chairman
formerly Chairman of the Executive Board at MLP AG, Wiesloch

– •• University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg (Supervisory Board)

Dr. Claus-Michael Dill, Berlin
formerly Chairman of the Executive Board at AXA Konzern AG, Cologne

•• General Reinsurance AG, Cologne (Chairman)

•• HUK-COBURG AG, Coburg

•• HUK-COBURG a.G., Coburg

•• Catlin SE, Cologne (since Sep. 1, 2013)

•• Polygon AB, Stockholm, Sweden (Non-executive Member of the Board)

•• Catlin Re AG, Zurich, Switzerland (Member of the Governing Board)  
(since July 1, 2013)

Johannes Maret, Burgbrohl
Investment Committee Member The Triton Fund, Jersey, GB

– •• Gebrüder Rhodius KG, Burgbrohl (Chairman of the Advisory Board)

•• The Triton Fund, Jersey, GB (Investment Committee Member)

•• Basler Fashion Holding GmbH, Goldbach (Chairman of the Advisory Board) 
(until Aug. 14, 2013)

•• Befesa Holding S.à.r.l., Luxembourg (Member of the Advisory Board)  
(since July 15, 2013)

Burkhard Schlingermann, Dusseldorf
Employees’ representative
Employee of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Wiesloch
Member of the works council of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Wiesloch (since June 6, 2013)

– –

Alexander Beer, Karlsruhe
Employees’ representative
Employee of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Wiesloch (since June 6, 2013)

– –

Maria Bähr, Sandhausen
Employees’ representative
Employee of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Wiesloch (until June 5, 2013)

– –

Norbert Kohler, Hockenheim
Employees’ representative
Employee of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Wiesloch (until June 5, 2013)

– –
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formerly chairman of the Executive Board at General Reinsurance AG, Cologne

•• VPV Lebensversicherungs- AG, Stuttgart

•• Delvag Rückversicherungs-AG, Cologne (until May 24, 2013)

•• DB Capital & Asset Management Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH, Cologne  
(until Dec. 31, 2013)

•• VHV Vereinigte Hannoversche Versicherung a.G., Hanover

•• VHV Holding AG, Hanover (since July 17, 2013)

•• VHV Lebensversicherung AG, Hanover (since July 17, 2013)

•• Hannoversche Lebensversicherung AG, Hanover (since July 17, 2013)

•• MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Wiesloch (Chairman)

–

Dr. h. c. Manfred Lautenschläger, Gaiberg
Vice Chairman
formerly Chairman of the Executive Board at MLP AG, Wiesloch

– •• University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg (Supervisory Board)

Dr. Claus-Michael Dill, Berlin
formerly Chairman of the Executive Board at AXA Konzern AG, Cologne

•• General Reinsurance AG, Cologne (Chairman)

•• HUK-COBURG AG, Coburg

•• HUK-COBURG a.G., Coburg

•• Catlin SE, Cologne (since Sep. 1, 2013)

•• Polygon AB, Stockholm, Sweden (Non-executive Member of the Board)

•• Catlin Re AG, Zurich, Switzerland (Member of the Governing Board)  
(since July 1, 2013)

Johannes Maret, Burgbrohl
Investment Committee Member The Triton Fund, Jersey, GB

– •• Gebrüder Rhodius KG, Burgbrohl (Chairman of the Advisory Board)

•• The Triton Fund, Jersey, GB (Investment Committee Member)

•• Basler Fashion Holding GmbH, Goldbach (Chairman of the Advisory Board) 
(until Aug. 14, 2013)

•• Befesa Holding S.à.r.l., Luxembourg (Member of the Advisory Board)  
(since July 15, 2013)

Burkhard Schlingermann, Dusseldorf
Employees’ representative
Employee of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Wiesloch
Member of the works council of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Wiesloch (since June 6, 2013)

– –

Alexander Beer, Karlsruhe
Employees’ representative
Employee of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Wiesloch (since June 6, 2013)

– –

Maria Bähr, Sandhausen
Employees’ representative
Employee of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Wiesloch (until June 5, 2013)

– –

Norbert Kohler, Hockenheim
Employees’ representative
Employee of MLP Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Wiesloch (until June 5, 2013)

– –
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Related persons
Within the scope of the ordinary business, legal transactions were made between individual 
Group companies and members of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board as well as 
related parties. The legal transactions refer to the payment transactions and securities services of 
€ 3,452 thsd (previous year: € 290 thsd). The legal transactions were completed under standard 
market or employee conditions.

As of December 31, 2013, members of the Executive Bodies had current account credit lines 
and surety loans totalling € 629 thsd (previous year: € 617 thsd). Surety loans are charged an 
interest rate of 1.0% (previous year: 1.0%) and the current account debits 6.50% to 8.45% (pre-
vious year: 7.25% to 8.45%).

The total remuneration for members of the Executive Board active on the reporting date is 
€ 3,466 thsd (previous year: € 3,789 thsd). of which € 1,725 thsd (previous year: € 1,627 thsd) 
is attributable to the fixed portion of remuneration and € 1,741 thsd (previous year: € 2,162 
thsd) is attributable to the variable portion of remuneration. In the financial year, expenses of 
€ 290 thsd (previous year: € 290 thsd) were accrued for occupational pension provision. As of 
December 31, 2013, pension provisions of € 13,598 thsd (previous year: € 13,306 thsd).

Variable portions of remuneration comprise long-term remuneration components. The mem-
bers of the Executive Board participated in the 2005 to 2010 Long-Term Incentive Programmes.

Within the scope of the Long-Term Incentive Programme, members of the Executive Board 
received performance shares (phantom shares) in the years 2005 to 2010. The performance 
shares of the 2010 tranche expired in the financial year. Participation in the Long Term Incentive 
programme was terminated with the changeover of contracts for all members of the Executive 
Board to the new Executive Board remuneration system with effect for 2011.

The costs included in the profit and loss account arising from the Long Term Incentive Pro-
gramme for Executive Board members during the financial year 2013 are € 0 thsd (previous 
year: € 0 thsd).

The members of the Supervisory Board received non-performance-related remuneration of € 500 
thsd for their activities in 2013 (previous year: € 500 thsd). In addition, € 23 thsd (previous year: 
€ 21 thsd) was paid as compensation for expenses and training measures.

For the detailed structure of the remuneration system and the remuneration of the Executive 
Board and Supervisory Board, please refer to the remuneration report in the “Corporate gover-
nance” chapter. The remuneration report is part of the management report.

Related companies
Alongside the consolidated subsidiaries, MLP AG comes into direct and indirect contact and 
has relations with a large number of companies within the scope of its ordinary business. This 
also includes subsidiaries, which are non-consolidated for reasons of materiality, as well as asso-
ciates. All business dealings are concluded at conditions and terms customary in the industry 
and which as a matter of principle do not differ from delivery and service relationships with 
other companies. The services performed for the companies listed in the following essentially 
concern remuneration for wealth management and consulting, as well as brokerage, sales and 
trailer commission.
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Transactions were carried out with major related companies, which led to the following items 
in the consolidated financial statements: 

Related companies 2013

All figures in €’000 Receivables  Liabilities Income Expenses

MLP Consult GmbH, Wiesloch – 2,052 – 13

MLP Hyp GmbH, Wiesloch (formerly Schwetzingen) 22 – 4,197 –

FERI Trust AG (Switzerland), St. Gallen 351 – 11 120

Coresis Management GmbH, 
Bad Homburg v.d. Höhe 8 – 9 761

UST Immobilien GmbH, Bad Homburg v.d. Höhe 21 – 17 –

Total 402 2,052 4,234 894

Related companies 2012

All figures in €’000 Receivables  Liabilities Income Expenses

Academic Networks GmbH, Wiesloch* 705 – – –

MLP Consult GmbH, Wiesloch 1 2,040 – 13

MLP Hyp GmbH, Wiesloch (formerly Schwetzingen) 18 – 3,803 –

FERI Trust AG (Switzerland), St. Gallen 279 – 12 –

Heubeck-FERI Pension Asset Consulting GmbH, 
Bad Homburg v.d. Höhe 89 2 678 273

Coresis Management GmbH,
Bad Homburg v.d. Höhe 11 – 27 556

Total 1,103 2,042 4,520 843

* Receivable adjusted to € 0.
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41	 Number of employees 

The average number of staff employed increased from 1,524 in 2012 to 1,559 in 2013. 

 

2013  2012  

of which 
executive 

employees

of which 
marginal part-

time employees

of which 
executive 

employees

of which 
marginal part-

time employees

Financial 
services 1,306 30 103 1,265 32 107

FERI 244 8 62 251 8 62

Holding 9 2 – 8 2 –

Total 1,559 40 165 1,524 42 169

An average of 87 people (previous year: 87) underwent vocational training in the financial year. 

 
42	 Auditor’s fees

The total fees for services performed by the auditing firm KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungs-
gesellschaft, Frankfurt in the financial year 2013 (including expenses, but excluding statutory 
value added tax) are as follows:

 

All figures in €’000 2013 2012

Audit services 582 508

Other assurance services 223 206

Tax advisory services 19 –

Other services 108 351

Total 931 1,066

The item Audit services contains the fees paid for the audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments and for the audit of the other legally stipulated financial statements of MLP AG and its 
subsidiaries. 
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43	 Disclosures on equity / capital control

A primary objective of equity control is to ensure that the legal solvency regulations for banking 
and financial services businesses, which prescribe a minimum capital adequacy, are fulfilled. 
With regard to the compliance with statutory solvency regulations as per § 2a (6) of the German 
Banking Act (KWG), MLP evaluates its minimum capital adequacy on a consolidated basis. The 
following companies belong to the relevant Financial Holding Group pursuant to § 10a (3) Sen-
tence 1 of the German Banking Act (KWG): MLP AG, Wiesloch, MLP Finanzdienstleistungen 
AG, Wiesloch, FERI AG, Bad Homburg v.d. Höhe, FERI Institutional & Family Office GmbH, Bad 
Homburg v.d. Höhe, FERI Trust GmbH, Bad Homburg v.d. Höhe, FEREAL AG, Bad Homburg 
v.d. Höhe (since September 30, 2013 including FERI Institutional Services GmbH, which was 
merged with FEREAL AG), FERI Trust (Luxembourg) S. A., Luxembourg, as well as ZSH GmbH 
Finanzdienstleistungen, Heidelberg. As a deposit-taking bank, MLP Finanzdienstleistungen 
AG, Wiesloch is a controlling institution according to § 10a (3) No. 4 of the German Banking 
Act (KWG).

The following means and measures for controlling and adjusting the equity capital are available 
to MLP: (I) increasing shareholders’ equity, (II) making transfers to the statutory reserve as 
core capital or as Tier 2 capital, (III) issuing new shares, (IV) buying back and redemption of 
treasury stock. To strengthen core capital, the revenue reserve was increased by € 14,000 thsd 
and the contingency reserve was increased by € 2,000 thsd pursuant to § 340g of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB) in 2013.

As a financial holding group, MLP is obliged to back its capital adequacy requirements for coun-
terparty default risks and capital adequacy requirements for operational risk with at least 8% 
of eligible own funds (own funds ratio) according to § 2 (6) of the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV 
- ordinance governing the capital adequacy of institutions, groups of institutions and financial 
holding groups) of December 14, 2006. MLP applies the standardised approach to credit risk 
for determining the risk-weighted exposure values (counterparty default risks) in accordance 
with § 24 et seq. of the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV). The amount eligible for inclusion in the 
operational risk is determined using the basic indicator approach (§§ 269 (2) and § 270 et seq. 
of the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV)).

The backing of risk assets with eligible own funds for the core capital (tier 1 capital) generally 
requires a minimum ratio of 4%. As in the previous year, these requirements have not changed 
during the financial year 2013. The same also applies for MLP’s internal processes, objectives 
and measures for equity control.

The core capital is made up, inter alia, of the following equity items of the relevant groups of 
institutions in line with § 10a of the German Banking Act (KWG): share capital, capital reserves, 
statutory reserve and contingency reserve as per Section 340g of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB). The following reduce core capital: intangible assets, treasury stock, investment carrying 
amounts in companies belonging to the relevant groups of institutions, goodwill.

As in the previous year, MLP has fulfilled all legal requirements relating to the minimum share-
holders’ equity backing during the financial year 2013. The relationship between the risk assets 
and core capital at year-end closing is illustrated below. 
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All figures in €’000 2013 2012

Core capital 245,089 265,949

Tier  capital – –

Tier  capital – –

Eligible own funds 245,089 265,949

Capital adequacy requirements for counterparty default risks 70,725 72,693

Capital adequacy requirements for operational risk 49,819 50,721

Equity ratio min. 8% 16.27 17.24

Core capital ratio min. 4% 16.27 17.24

44	 Events after the balance sheet date 

There were no appreciable events after the balance sheet date affecting the MLP Group’s finan-
cial or asset situation.

 
45	 Release of consolidated financial statements

The Executive Board prepared the consolidated financial statements on February 24, 2014 and 
will present them to the Supervisory Board on March 20, 2014 for publication.

Wiesloch, February 24, 2014

MLP AG

Executive Board 

Dr. Uwe Schroeder-Wildberg                                                                        Manfred Bauer

Reinhard Loose                                                                                        Muhyddin Suleiman
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Auditor’s Report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by the MLP AG, Wiesloch, 
comprising the consolidated income statement and statement of comprehensive income, con-
solidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of cash flow and consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and the notes to the consolidated financial statements and its joint 
management report on the position of the Company and the Group for the business year from  
January 1 to December 31, 2013. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and 
the joint management report in accordance with IFRSs, as adopted by the EU, and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch 
“German Commercial Code”] are the responsibility of the parent company’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on the joint 
management report based on our audit.
 
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB 
[Handelsgesetzbuch „German Commercial Code“] and German generally accepted standards for 
the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute 
of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
[German] principles of proper accounting and in the joint management report are detected with 
reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environ-
ment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the 
determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control 
system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and 
the joint management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the 
audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those entities included in 
consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and 
consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as eval-
uating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and joint management 
report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
Our audit has not led to any reservations.
 
In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements com-
ply with IFRSs, as adopted by the EU, the additional requirements of German commercial law 
pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial posi-
tion and results of operations of the Group in accordance with these requirements. The joint 
management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole 
provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and 
risks of future development.
 
Frankfurt/ Main, February 27, 2014

KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Dr. Hübner              	 Fust
Wirtschaftsprüfer            	 Wirtschaftsprüfer
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“To the best of our knowledge and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the 
consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations of the Group, and the joint management report gives a fair view of the 
performance of the business including business results and the overall position of the Group, 
together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected 
development of the Group.”

Wiesloch, February 24, 2o14

MLP AG 

Executive Board

Responsibility statement

Dr. Uwe Schroeder-Wildberg					     Manfred Bauer

Reinhard Loose							       Muhyddin Suleiman
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Glossary

Amortised cost
Amortised cost is the historical cost less scheduled depreciation
and impairments.
 
Available for sale
Available-for-sale securities are securities that are not to be held to maturity 
and have not been acquired for sale in the near term. These securities are 
shown at fair value.
 
Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement illustrates flows of cash and cash equivalents during a 
financial year, broken down into cash flows from operating activities, cash 
flows from investing activities and cash flows from financing activities.
 
Consolidation
Consolidation involves combining the separate financial statements of compa- 
nies belonging to the Group so as to prepare a set of consolidated financial 
statements. Transactions between the individual Group companies are elimi- 
nated on consolidation.

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are liabilities whose occurrence is improbable. Although 
they are not carried in the balance sheet, they must be disclosed in the notes, 
e. g. as liabilities on account of sureties.
 
Corporate Governance
Corporate Governance refers to the legal and practical framework for managing 
and monitoring companies. Corporate Governance regulations serve to offer 
greater transparency, thereby increasing confidence in responsible company 
management and supervision oriented toward added value.
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are based on limited-time differences in the 
methods of balancing of accounts according to the International Financial  
Reporting Standards and the corresponding national tax law (so-called tempo-
rary differences). If, in the consolidated financial statements in line with IFRS, 
assets are stated at a lower (higher) level or liabilities at a higher (lower) level 
than in the tax balance sheet of the respective Group company, the future tax 
relief that arises from this must be recorded as deferred tax asset (liability). 
Deferred tax assets can also be recorded as tax loss carryforwards. Deferred tax 
assets are value-adjusted if it seems unlikely that the corresponding level of 
tax receivables will arise.
 
Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are financial instruments whose value de-
pends on the price performance of an underlying asset. Examples of derivative 
financial instruments include swaps.
 
Earnings per share
Earnings per share is the ratio of the consolidated profit or loss for the year to 
the average number of shares issued. For diluted earnings per share, the num-
ber of shares and the consolidated profit or loss for the year are adjusted by the 
dilutive effects of any subscription rights that have been or can still be exer-
cised. Subscription rights arise in connection with issues of convertible deben- 
tures and share options.

EBT
Earnings before tax.
 
EBIT
Earnings before interest and tax.
 

Fair value
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability 
settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s-length transaction. 
Fair value usually corresponds to the stock market or market value or to a value 
derived from this. In some cases, the fair value is calculated as the present 
value.
 
Goodwill
Goodwill is recognised by the acquirer as an asset from the acquisition date and 
is initially assessed as the excess of the cost of the business combination over 
the acquirer’s share of the net fair values of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities. Any goodwill resulting from business com-
binations after March 31, 2004 is not amortised but is subject to an impairment 
review. If necessary, an impairment loss is recognised (impairment only ap-
proach).

Held-to-maturity securities
The company holds held to maturity securities with the intent and ability to 
hold these securities to maturity.

Interest rate swaps
Interest rate swaps are used to exchange payment obligations that are denom-
inated in the same currency but subject to different interest terms (fixed/ vari-
able).

IAS and IFRS
International Accounting Standards (IAS) and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) are accounting standards promulgated by the International  
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), which is responsible for issuing IASs/IFRSs. 
Since 2002, the standards issued by the IASB are known as “IFRS”; the stan-
dards issued previously were called “IAS”.
 
Segment reporting
Segment reporting is financial information based on the consolidated financial 
statements, reported by business segment and region.
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Financial calendar

NOVEMBER
November 13, 2o14   
Publication of the financial results for the first nine months and the third quarter 2014 

AUGUST
August 14, 2o14
Publication of the financial results for the first half year and the second quarter 2014

JUNE
June 5, 2o14
Annual General Meeting of the MLP AG in Mannheim
MLP AG convenes for the Annual General Meeting at the Rosengarten Mannheim

MAY
May 15, 2o14
Publication of the financial results for the first quarter 2014

MARCH
March 27, 2o14
Publication of the Annual Report 2013

FEBRUARY
February 27, 2o14
Annual press conference and analyst conference in Frankfurt
MLP announces results for the business year 2013

More information at

www.mlp-ag.com, Investor Relations, Calendar

211glossary | financial calendar | further information



Publisher
MLP AG
Alte Heerstraße 4o, 69168 Wiesloch, Germany
www.mlp-ag.com

Concept, design and production
heureka GmbH – einfach kommunizieren, Essen

Photography
Thorsten Schmidtkord Fotografie, Düsseldorf  
(Photos of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board)
Michael Gernhuber, Essen (Cover Story Photos)

Translation
com·be·nations GmbH, Heidelberg

Editorial Office
RR Donnelley, London 

Printing
druckpartner
Druck- und Medienhaus GmbH, Essen

Investor Relations
Telephone	 +49 (o) 6222 • 3o8 • 832o
Fax	 +49 (o) 6222 • 3o8 • 1131
E-Mail 	 investorrelations@mlp.de

Public Relations
Telephone	 +49 (o) 6222 • 3o8 • 831o
Fax	 +49 (o) 6222 • 3o8 • 1131
E-Mail	 publicrelations@mlp.de

Imprint Contact

annual report mlp 2013212



MLP AG

Alte Heerstraße 40

69168 Wiesloch

Telephone	 +49 (0) 6222•308 • 8320

Fax	 +49 (0) 6222•308 • 1131

www.mlp-ag.com




